

"El saber de mis hijos hará mi grandeza"



UNIVERSIDAD DE SONORA

División de Ciencias Exactas y Naturales

Posgrado en Matemáticas

Cohomological Aspects in Semilocal Poisson Geometry

TESIS

Que para obtener el grado de:

Doctor en Ciencias (Matemáticas)

Presenta:

M.C. Eduardo Velasco Barreras

Directores de Tesis: Dr. Andrés Pedroza Dr. Yury Vorobev

Hermosillo, Sonora, México, 22 de Febrero de 2019

Universidad de Sonora

Repositorio Institucional UNISON





Excepto si se señala otra cosa, la licencia del ítem se describe como openAccess

SINODALES

Dr. Yury Vorobev Universidad de Sonora

Dr. Guillermo Dávila Rascón Universidad de Sonora

Dr. José Antonio Vallejo Rodríguez Universidad Autónoma de San Luis Potosí

Dr. Andrés Pedroza Universidad de Colima

Dr. Misael Avendaño Camacho Universidad de Sonora

Agradecimientos

El haber llegado a la conclusión de esta etapa tan significativa de mi formación me mueve a dirigir una mirada retrospectiva hacia mis primeros pasos en este camino de las matemáticas y me doy cuenta que tengo muchísimo que agradecer. Quiero empezar dándole las gracias a cada uno de los profesores del Departamento de Matemáticas que me han acompañado de alguna manera en diferentes etapas de este caminar.

Agradezco a los profesores Martín Eduardo Frías y Fernando Verduzco, quienes hace más de catorce años fueron quienes nos recibieron a mí y a otros estudiantes cuando por vez primera, visitábamos el Departamento de Matemáticas. Les agradezco también que en esa misma ocasión nos pusieran a trabajar y a resolver problemas.

También agradezco a los profesores Ramiro Ávila, José Luis Soto y Nancy Larios, por su acompañamiento durante mis primeras etapas como olímpico y por su cariño, apoyo y amistad que hasta hoy perduran. No puedo dejar de agradecerle al profesor Ramiro sus asesorías externas; al profesor Soto el aguantarme cuando ya no me tocaba entrenamiento para la olimpiada y yo seguía asistiendo con él, y el que años después bajo su tutoría yo pudiera presentar mi primera ponencia en seminarios del departamento y en un congreso de nivel nacional; y a la profesora Nancy por cuidarnos y hasta consentirnos cuando íbamos a las olimpiadas nacionales. Un afectuoso abrazo para cada uno.

Tengo además mucho que agradecer por el apoyo de los profesores Eduardo Tellechea y Adolfo Minjárez, quienes fueron el Coordinador de la Licenciatura y Jefe del Departamento de Matemáticas durante mis cuatro años de carrera. Además, doblemente agradecido con Adolfo por el mucho apoyo que nos ha brindado como coordinador del Posgrado. Curiosamente, no tuve la oportunidad de tomar clases con ellos, pero aunque no conocí su calidad académica de primera mano en el aula, en cambio sí su gran calidad humana.

Cómo dejar de agradecerle también al profesor Carlos Robles. Fueron varios años de cercanía, acompañamiento, asesoría y de una amistad continua. En gran medida fue gracias a él mi gusto por la topología y también el que yo pudiera realizar mi primera estancia de verano de investigación, así como la presentación de alguna ponencia en el seminario de estudiantes. Como estudiante de licenciatura, el apoyo que me brindó ha resultado invaluable. Muchísimas gracias.

Asimismo, agradezco profundamente a cada uno de los profesores que me impartieron uno o varios cursos durante mis diez años de formación profesional en matemáticas. Creo que cada uno de ellos supo dejar huella en mí tanto en el aspecto humano como en el académico y científico. Tal vez en su momento no pude valorar y aprovechar todo lo que de ustedes pude aprender, pero el haber llegado a este momento sin duda también es gracias a ustedes: Marco Antonio Valencia, Martín Gildardo García, María Esmeralda Carreño, María Teresa Robles, Rubén Flores Espinoza, Martín Eduardo Frías, Irene Rodríguez, Jacobo Núñez, Misael Avendaño, Arturo Fragoso, Ana Guadalupe del Castillo, Oscar Vega Amaya, Inna Shingareva, Fernando Verduzco, Jorge Ruperto Vargas, Guadalupe Ávila, Guillermo Dávila Rascón, Fernando Luque, Rodrigo González, José Antonio Montoya, José Luis Soto, Carlos Robles, Yury Vorobev, José Antonio Vallejo, Martha Guzmán, Francisco Armando Carrillo, Rafael Ramos y Jesús Francisco Espinoza.

Es más que justo agradecer también a mis amigos y compañeros de batallas, quienes me acompañaron y que acompañé durante nuestros estudios de licenciatura: Jocelyn Castro, Sergio Martínez, Francisco Figueroa, Ana Luisa Llanes Luna, Valeria Cienfuegos y Arcelia Moreno. Gracias por la amistad que perdura hasta hoy, por todo lo que he seguido aprendiendo de ustedes, por las experiencias compartidas, las fiestas que hoy parecen lejanas, la alegrías y también por los momentos no tan buenos. Considero prudente agradecer aquí a David Gustavo Toache, que aunque no es matemático su amistad me ha acompañado toda la vida. También les agradezco mucho a Dennise García, Rosalia Hernández y Jairo Rodríguez, con quienes compartí amistad durante mis estudios de maestría porque, aunque ustedes ya iban en el doctorado, pudimos compartir más allá del trabajo del grupo de investigación en su momento. A Carolina Espinoza, Adrián Acuña, Jesús Noyola y Alejandro Orozco, con quienes también he tenido buena amistad durante mis estudios de doctorado, espero que podamos seguir compartiendo más experiencias, seguir aprendiendo un poco de lo mucho que ustedes pueden enseñarme en lo académico y en lo personal, que sigamos creciendo humana y profesionalmente. Lo mismo agradezco a Carmen Higuera y Genaro Hernández, con quieres he compartido mucha historia en las olimpiadas de matemáticas, desde el principio hasta el día de hoy. A todos ustedes, espero que la vida los lleve por caminos de mucha satisfacción personal y que cosechen muchos éxitos.

Panta, Isaac: ahora me toca escribir de ustedes, pero como no encuentro palabras culparé a mi desvelo. Con ustedes fue mayor la convivencia en este grupo de investigación durante estos cuatro años de doctorado con Isaac y diez desde la licenciatura con Panta. Doy gracias a Dios por haberlos tenido de compañeros, porque sus muchos buenos ejemplos me ayudaron a crecer y me siguen inspirando a ser mejor y a seguir creciendo en todos los aspectos. Estos años han sido una gran experiencia y en buena parte fue por vivirla al lado de ustedes. Espero que podamos seguir en contacto, conviviendo, colaborando y cultivando la amistad. Hoy que parece que la vida nos separa, confiemos en que habrá tiempos o momentos donde nos vuelva a reunir. Les deseo el mejor de los éxitos.

Misael: media vida ha pasado desde mis primeras incursiones en el ámbito de las matemáticas, y en esa media vida tú has estado siempre presente. En ese sentido, te ha tocado desde el principio verme crecer como matemático y como persona desde muy cerca. Muchas gracias por tu gran amistad, cariño y apoyo a lo largo de todos estos años. Primero como entrenador, después como maestro y siempre como amigo. Confío en que la vida nos seguirá llevando para seguir en este camino de las matemáticas. Sin duda, una bendición tenerte en mi vida.

Definitivamente, una de las personas que ha sido de inspiración para buscar seguir creciendo en las matemáticas ha sido el profesor José Antonio Vallejo, quien desde que lo conozco ha sabido movernos y motivarnos a aprender cosas nuevas, a mirar más allá y al mismo tiempo a esforzarnos al máximo para aprovechar las oportunidades que a lo largo de la vida estudiantil hemos tenido. Creo que hablo por varios de los compañeros estudiantes y amigos profesores al afirmar que él ha sabido aportar mucho tanto como matemático, como persona y como amigo. Espero poder seguir aprendiendo mucho más de usted.

El profesor Andrés Pedroza es alguien a quien debo agradecerle bastante el que este proyecto de tesis doctoral halla llegado a buen término. Siempre estuvo al pendiente de los avances de trabajo, buscando encaminar el proyecto hacia metas definidas. Asimismo, le agradezco todo el tiempo que dedicó para profundizar en la línea de investigación, para venir a Hermosillo y para llevarnos a Colima a trabajar, por habernos dado la oportunidad de conocer otro ambiente y otra dinámica de trabajo, por la paciencia que nos tuvo las veces que no supimos corresponder como era debido y por haber seguido confiando en nosotros a pesar de eso. Un gran abrazo profe, estamos pendientes con lo que sigue. Al profesor Guillermo Dávila Rascón le agradezco profundamente el haberme abierto las puertas para trabajar en este excelente grupo de investigación. Sin duda, es una de las oportunidades que han cambiado y delineado mi vida. Además, le agradezco que desde siempre he podido contar con su amistad y su cariño. Gracias también por los muchos cursos que tomé con usted en la licenciatura: Álgebra Lineal Avanzada, Cálculo IV, y los dos cursos de Álgebra Moderna creo que han rendido sus frutos. Muchísimas gracias por todo su apoyo a lo largo de este caminar.

Al profesor Rubén Flores le agradezco por las grandes experiencias que fueron los cursos que tomé con él. ¡Cómo olvidar en Cálculo II que nos haya evaluado en una sola semana todos los parciales del curso, en el cual además aprendimos existencia y unicidad de ecuaciones diferenciales, integrales dobles y hasta "introducción a la introducción al análisis matemático"! Fue un curso completísimo tanto en lo que se abarcó como lo que se profundizó. Posteriormente, cuando empezaba a trabajar con Yura, éste me indicó asistir de oyente al curso de Geometría Diferencial que Rubén impartía en la maestría. Fue éste el primer contacto, duro pero necesario, que tuve con las variedades diferenciales, que son el pan de cada día de mi trabajo. Luego me impartió en la licenciatura Geometría Diferencial I y II, aunque este último junto con Jairo que iba en la maestría. De estas experiencias he aprendido a ver en las dificultades matemáticas un desafío que se debe vencer, con trabajo y esfuerzo, y que ese mismo espíritu se debe de transmitir a los estudiantes de matemáticas. Gracias por ese ejemplo y ese espíritu.

Finalmente, es tiempo de agradecer al profesor Yury Vorobey. Mi asesor y director de tesis de licenciatura, maestría y doctorado. Difícilmente bastarán las palabras para agradecerle por todo: la oportunidad de trabajar con usted desde hace nueve años y todo lo que en ese tiempo he podido aprender de usted. Le agradezco profundamente las oportunidades que me ha dado, el poder participar en diferentes congresos y eventos, la manera en que usted trabaja con cada uno de nosotros, porque a pesar de toda su experiencia tiene siempre apertura a lo que podamos proponerle, y en general por el gran ambiente de trabajo en equipo que se ha formado. Muchas veces nos han dicho por fuera que este grupo de investigación trabaja muy bien y ha crecido mucho, y evidentemente todo eso es en gran medida gracias a usted. No es fácil dimensionar lo que significa para cada uno de nosotros el formar parte de algo así, lo cual no siempre se puede tener. ¡Muchas gracias por todo esto! Por otro lado, le agradezco porque de usted he aprendido geometría de Poisson y especialmente el método de acoplamiento. En este trabajo de tesis he querido por un lado, presentar los resultados que hemos obtenido en varios años de trabajo y al mismo tiempo tratar de hacer una especie de homenaje a usted y a lo que nos ha enseñado. Gracias profe, por su amistad y sus enseñanzas. Y lo que decía para los demás maestros también se lo digo muy especialmente a usted: Ojalá vo hubiera sido capaz de valorar más y aprender más de usted en todas las oportunidades que tuve.

Por supuesto, hay muchos otros profesores a los que he tenido oportunidad de tratar fuera del salón de clase, a los cuales también agradezco por su amistad y su apoyo. También agradezco a todos mis maestros desde el kinder hasta preparatoria. A todos ellos les agradezco lo mucho que me dieron en aquellas etapas de mi formación, que sin duda gran parte de lo que soy ahora es también por ellos.

A toda mi familia, que también han participado conmigo y contemplado estos años de mi caminar en las matemáticas, les agradezco profundamente su apoyo y su comprensión hacia esta carrera tan poco convencional que he escogido seguir. Gracias a mis tíos José, Roberto, Isabel e Irasema por estar constantemente al pendiente de mi mamá, de mi nana y de mí y nunca dejarnos solos. A mis tíos Julio y Nelly, que han sido un baluarte durante toda mi vida, gracias por su cercanía y cariño, por su apoyo constante y también por su paciencia. Espero saber corresponderle a todos el apoyo y cariño que me han brindado. A mis primos Óscar, Irasema, Janeth, Roberto, Giuliana, Julio, Jorge y José, a cada uno de ustedes, gracias por su apoyo y porque también se alegran conmigo de este nuevo logro.

A mi nana, mi profundo agradecimiento por cuidarme desde toda la vida y por quererme tanto. Y aunque el día de hoy no puedes dimensionar este logro obtenido, es sin duda alguna un logro tuyo también. Que el tiempo que Dios nos conceda tenerte aún entre nosotros sepamos devolverte una parte del mucho amor que nos has dado.

A mi mamá, que durante toda mi vida me ha apoyado en todo y me ha impulsado a lograr mis metas, este logro refleja lo que has sabido hacer de mí. Gracias por todo el amor y por buscar siempre lo mejor para mi persona, por enseñarme a perseverar, trabajar y esforzarme, por enseñarme con tu propio ejemplo la alegría de seguir aunque las cosas se tornen difíciles, y en general, a poner en práctica muchas de tus virtudes.

Reyna Verónica Díaz: te agradezco todo tu amor, tu cariño y tu paciencia para conmigo. Sé que no todo el tiempo resulta fácil, pero siempre estás a mi lado con tu apoyo y llenas mis días de inmensa alegría. Gracias por ser en mi vida la bendición más hermosa. Te quiero muchísimo, mi corazón.

A todos ustedes, profesores, amigos, familiares, que a lo largo de estos años han dejado huella en mi formación y en mi vida: Que Dios les conceda todo lo que anhela su corazón y mucho más.

Finalmente, agradezco a Cristo, Señor y Dios nuestro, que a lo largo de mi vida ha puesto a tantas personas que me han querido, acompañado y enseñado tanto, muchas de las cuales he recordado en este escrito y a través quienes Él ha manifestado su misericordia para conmigo. Gracias Señor por lo mucho que me has dado y que no siempre he sabido dimensionar. Te ruego que, con ayuda de tu Santo Espíritu, mi vida sea una ofrenda agradable a ti, siempre para mayor gloria tuya. Amén.

Contents

Introduction		
Ι	Preliminaries	13
Introduction to Part I		
1	Generalities on Poisson Geometry 1.1 Poisson manifolds 1.2 Lie algebroids 1.2.1 Equivalent definitions 1.2.2 The characteristic foliation 1.3 Dirac structures 1.3.1 Courant algebroids and Dirac structures 1.3.2 Twisted Dirac structures	 17 17 19 20 22 22 22 22 24 27
2	The Coupling Method and Semilocal Poisson Geometry 2.1 The coupling method in the vector space category 2.2 Generalities on foliations and connections 2.3 Geometric data 2.4 The coupling method on foliated manifolds 2.5 Coupling neighborhoods of a symplectic leaf	27 33 33 35 39 42 44
Π	The Cohomology of Coupling Structures	47
In	troduction to Part II	49
3	The Cohomology of a Bigraded Cochain Complex3.1Bigraded cochain complexes and its cohomology3.2Describing the cohomology3.3The recursive point of view3.4Cohomology in low degree3.5Particular cases	51 54 56 58 64
4	Bigraded Cohomological Models in Poisson Geometry 4.1 Bigrading on Lie algebroids 4.1.1 Geometric applications	67 67 69

CONTENTS

	4.2	The bigraded model for coupling structures	71	
		4.2.1 The Dirac structure of a foliation	71	
		4.2.2 Derivations induced by bivectors and 3-forms.	73	
	4.9	4.2.3 Extension of the Schouten bracket	76	
	4.3	Coupling twisted Dirac structures and its cohomology	82	
		4.3.1 Geometric data and coupling structures with background	82	
		4.3.2 The bigraded cochain complex	84	
II	IA	Applications	89	
In	trod	uction to Part III	91	
5	Sen	nilocal Splitting of the First Cohomology	93	
	5.1	Covariant exterior derivatives	93	
	5.2	Coupling neighborhoods	95	
	5.3	Infinitesimal automorphisms of coupling Poisson structures	98	
	5.4	Vanishing of the first Poisson cohomology	105	
	5.5	Isotropy algebras of compact semisimple type	109	
	5.6	Projectability of Casimir functions	110	
	5.7	First cohomology of coupling Dirac structures	113	
	5.8	Detailing the open book foliation case	115	
6	The	e Modular Class of Poisson Structures on Foliated Manifolds	123	
	0.1 6 0	The moduler close of a Deisson foliation	123	
	0.2	Modular vestor fields of coupling Poisson structures	120	
	0.3 6.4	Caugo transformations	129	
	65	Unimodularity criteria	131	
	0.0 6.6	Flat Poisson foliations	132	
	6.7	Coupling neighborhoods of a symplectic leaf	137	
	6.8	The generalized Reeb class of a symplectic leaf	130	
	0.0		100	
IV	/ A	Appendix	141	
A	Son	ne algebraic properties of coupling structures	143	
в	Coi	rant algebroids from 3-forms	145	
-	B.1	Some useful formulas	145	
	B.2	The Courant algebroid of a Lie algebroid with background	147	
С	Big	raded models on algebraic Lie algebroids	149	
р	Bibliography			
В	101108			

х

Introduction

This thesis is devoted to the study of the low-degree Poisson cohomology in the semilocal context, that is, in neighborhoods of symplectic leaves.

The cohomology theory of Poisson manifolds was introduced by Lichnerowicz, together with the description of Poisson brackets in terms of bivector fields [44]. Indeed, he observed that the Jacobi identity for a Poisson bracket can be translated to its associated bivector field in terms of the Schouten-Nijenhuis bracket for multivector fields. On the other hand, by the properties of the Schouten-Nijenhuis bracket, every bivector field induces a graded derivation of degree 1 on the algebra of multivector fields, namely, the adjoint operator with respect to this bracket. It turns out that such operator is a coboundary exactly when the given bivector field is associated with a Poisson bracket. This gives rise to the *Lichnerowicz-Poisson complex*, and its cohomology is known as the *Poisson cohomology* of the Poisson manifold.

From a geometric perspective, the Poisson cohomology in low degree has important interpretations. For example, the zeroth Poisson cohomology is isomorphic to the algebra of *Casimir functions*, being these functions the ones which are constant along the symplectic leaves of the Poisson manifold. Also, the first Poisson cohomology is the quotient of the Lie algebra of the *infinitesimal automorphisms* of the Poisson manifold by its ideal of *Hamiltonian vector fields* [44, 74].

On the other hand, the Poisson cohomology is a well-suited algebraic framework to express obstructions. For example, the *unimodularity* of an orientable Poisson manifold, which is the existence of a volume form invariant under every Hamiltonian flow, is controlled by the *modular class*, which lies in the first cohomology of the Poisson manifold [83]: the modular class vanishes if and only if such invariant volume form exists. The modular class is one of the most important Poisson cohomology classes, and is the first of the so-called *characteristic classes* [23]. On the other hand, the second Poisson cohomology is related to obstructions in quantization theory [63], [64, Chapter 6], and semilocal linearizability [73]. Second and higher-degree Poisson cohomology has applications, for instance, in deformation theory [21, Subsection 2.1.2].

As a cohomological theory, Poisson cohomology has many desirable properties. For example, there exists a natural morphism from the de Rham to the Poisson cohomology of the manifold. On the other hand, the Mayer-Vietoris sequence holds for Poisson cohomology, which allows to reduce the problem of global computation to smaller open sets. Moreover, the Lichnerowicz-Poisson complex admits a natural filtration whose associated spectral sequence is convergent to the Poisson cohomology [62, Section 1]. In the case of regular Poisson manifolds, there exists a recursive procedure for its computation, which was introduced first by Karasev and Vorobiev in the context of symplectic fibrations [74], and then adapted by Vaisman to any regular Poisson manifold [62, Section 2]. Also, Xu presented a method for the computation of Poisson cohomology in the regular case by means of symplectic groupoids [84].

In spite of its good properties, the computation of Poisson cohomology for general Poisson manifolds is not an easy task. In fact, the difficulties for its computation are mainly related to the singularities of the Poisson manifold. Several approaches have been developed for the computation of the Poisson cohomology in many particular cases of Poisson manifolds with singularities. For instance,

INTRODUCTION

Conn showed that if the isotropy algebra of a Poisson structure at a vanishing point is semisimple of compact type, then the Poisson structure is linearizable around that given point and its first Poisson cohomology group is trivial [12]. On the other hand, based on some classification results of Arnold [2], Monnier computed the cohomology of 2-dimensional Poisson manifolds around simple singularities [49]. These results may be interpreted as the computation of *germified Poisson cohomology*. Global computations of the cohomology of 3-dimensional linear Poisson structures can be found in works of Nakanishi [52, 53, 54]. In the context of 2-dimensional Poisson manifolds, a global computation was done by Radko, who obtained the cohomology of *topologically stable* Poisson structures on orientable closed surfaces [56, Section 4]. Furthermore, Lanius computed the Poisson cohomology of the so-called *partitionable* log *symplectic structures* [42], generalizing Radko's cohomological results.

The purpose of this work is to describe and compute Poisson cohomology in neighborhoods of symplectic leaves. As is well known, the semilocal model for Poisson manifolds is given by *coupling Poisson structures* [77]. Indeed, for each embedded symplectic leaf of a Poisson manifold, there exists a tubular neighborhood around it in which the Poisson structure is coupling. This means that the geometry around the symplectic leaf is controlled by some geometric data satisfying certain compatibility relations which are equivalent to the Jacobi identity of the Poisson structure [77, 78]. In fact, each coupling Poisson structure on a regular foliated manifold is equivalent to a triple consisting of a leaf-tangent Poisson structure equipped with an Ehresmann connection with Hamiltonian curvature, whose Hamiltonian is given by a covariantly constant 2-form vanishing along the leaves of the regular foliation [65, 77]. Such 2-form parameterizing the Hamiltonian of the curvature is called the *coupling form*.

In the semilocal context, the regular foliation which allows to apply the coupling method is provided by the fibers of a tubular neighborhood around the symplectic leaf [77]. The leaf-tangent (vertical) Poisson structure defines a locally trivial Poisson bundle [78, Prop. 3.3], and each fiber coincides with the transverse Poisson structure given by Weinstein Splitting Theorem [82, Theorem 2.1]. An adequate change of the tubular structure on a neighborhood of the symplectic leaf corresponds to the action of a group of an special class of diffeomorphisms around the zero section of its normal bundle. This corresponds to a gauge transformation of the Poisson structure, which allows to describe the change of the geometric data associated with each tubular structure [78, Sections 2 and 3]. In particular, the transverse Poisson bundles are isomorphic [78, Theorem 3.2].

Roughly speaking, the coupling method in Poisson geometry provides a geometric splitting into tangential and transversal components, which in the semilocal context is compatible with the singularities of the Poisson structure. Indeed, the singularities of a Poisson structure near an embedded symplectic leaf are encoded in the transverse Poisson bundle over the symplectic leaf. In this sense, the tangential component of the Poisson structure is regular, while the transversal part is singular. In the particular case when the symplectic leaf is regular, the tubular neighborhood can be chosen so that the transverse Poisson structure is trivial. This compatibility between the coupling method and the singularities of the Poisson structure is one of the key properties for which this method is a suitable tool for the study of Poisson cohomology in the semilocal context. Furthermore, since the semilocal model for Poisson manifolds is provided by coupling Poisson structures, we may restrict our attention in the computation of the Poisson cohomology of coupling Poisson structures.

A natural problem in semilocal Poisson geometry is to describe and compute the cohomology of coupling Poisson structures in terms of its associated geometric data. Some preliminary results in this direction were obtained by Itskov, Karasev, and Vorobiev in [75] and [33], where it is found a relation between the Poisson cohomology around symplectic leaves and the cohomology of some bigraded

 $(\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}$ -graded) complex. A further step in the description of the Poisson cohomology in the semilocal context was given by Crainic and Fernandes, who showed that the Lichnerowicz-Poisson complex of a coupling Poisson structure on a vector bundle is isomorphic to a bigraded cochain complex [15, Prop. 5.3]. In fact, they observed that the geometric data of a coupling Poisson structure induce differential operators on some bigraded Poisson algebra of degree (0, -1): the vertical Poisson structure and the coupling form act via the adjoint of the bracket, and the Ehresmann connection induces the covariant exterior derivative. It turns out that this operators induce a coboundary if and only if they correspond to the geometric data of a coupling Poisson structure. In this case, the induced cochain complex is isomorphic to the Lichnerowicz-Poisson of the coupling structure. Finally, by considering a more general algebraic framework, Mărcuţ extended this result to the case of coupling Dirac structures on fibred manifolds [50, Subsection 4.2]. In this setting, the covariant exterior derivative is also presented as an adjoint operator (see also [16]).

In virtue of the above results, the approach adopted in this work for the description of the Poisson cohomology in the semilocal context is to compute the cohomology of a certain class of bigraded cochain complexes. More precisely, we consider a cochain complex ($\mathcal{C}^{\bullet}, \partial$) with the following property: the \mathcal{R} -module \mathcal{C} is endowed with a compatible bigrading $\mathcal{C}^{\bullet,\bullet} = \bigoplus_{p,q \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{C}^{p,q}$ in the sense that the coboundary operator is the sum of three operators of given bigraded type,

$$\mathcal{C}^{k} = \bigoplus_{p+q=k} \mathcal{C}^{p,q}, \qquad \text{and} \qquad \partial = \partial_{0,1} + \partial_{1,0} + \partial_{2,-1}. \tag{1}$$

It is important to remark that this class of cochain complexes appear in many different algebraic and geometric contexts. For instance, a particular case which is very well-studied in the literature is the double complex ($\mathcal{C}^{\bullet,\bullet}, \partial = \partial_{0,1} + \partial_{1,0}$) (see, for example, [46, Chapter XI, Section 6], [6, Chapter II], [47, Section 2.4]), which is obtained from our general framework in the case when $\partial_{2,-1} = 0$. Another example is provided by the de Rham complex of a fibred manifold. In fact, Vaisman observed that given a regular foliated manifold (M, \mathcal{V}) , and fixing an Ehresmann connection γ on (M, \mathcal{V}) , the de Rham differential has the following bigraded decomposition [61]:

$$\mathbf{d} = \mathbf{d}_{0,1}^{\gamma} + \mathbf{d}_{1,0}^{\gamma} + \mathbf{d}_{2,-1}^{\gamma} \,.$$

Here, $d_{0,1}^{\gamma}$ is the γ -covariant exterior derivative, $d_{1,0}^{\gamma}$ is the foliated exterior derivative, and $d_{2,-1}^{\gamma} = -i_{R^{\gamma}}$ is the negative of the insertion of the curvature R^{γ} of γ . These facts were also observed by Brahic as a particular case of cochain complexes arising in the context of extensions of Lie algebroids [7, Prop. 3.2], [8, Section 2]. Also, as a particular case of their constructions, García-Beltrán, Vallejo, and Vorobiev obtained some Lie algebroids on the tangent bundle whose de Rham complex is of the type in (1), [26, Section 4]. As a final example, we consider the case of a Poisson foliation (M, \mathcal{F}, P) . For a fixed subbundle normal to the regular foliation \mathcal{F} , the Lichnerowicz-Poisson complex of (M, P) is of the form $(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet,\bullet}TM), \partial_P = (\partial_P)_{1,0} + (\partial_P)_{2,-1})$. This can be regarded as a particular case of our general framework, in which the operator of bigraded type (0, 1) vanishes. It is important to mention that the recursive procedures presented by Karasev and Vorobiev in [74], and by Vaisman in [62] for the computation of the cohomology of a regular Poisson manifold, are based on the given decomposition of the coboundary operator. In some sense, these results on the regular case motivate the approach and the results presented in this work.

Now we describe how a bigraded cochain complex of the form (1) arises in the context of coupling structures on foliated manifolds. Consider a regular foliation \mathcal{V} on M, and a Poisson structure Π which

is \mathcal{V} -coupling. Let us denote its associated geometric data by (P, γ, σ) . This means that (M, \mathcal{V}, P) is a Poisson foliation with Poisson connection γ , and σ is a coupling form, which is a γ -covariantly constant 2-form, vanishing along the \mathcal{V} -leaves, and which is the Hamiltonian of the curvature of γ . Let us denote by $H^{\gamma} := \ker(\gamma)$ the horizontal distribution of γ . Since (P, γ, σ) are associated with the bivector Π , the coupling form σ is horizontally non-degenerated, in the sense that the image of its flat mapping $\sigma^{\flat}: TM \to T^*M$ is the whole annihilator bundle of $T\mathcal{V}, \sigma^{\flat}(TM) = \operatorname{Ann}(T\mathcal{V})$. Therefore, we have an isomorphism from $TM = H^{\gamma} \oplus T\mathcal{V}$ to $\mathbb{V} := \operatorname{Ann}(T\mathcal{V}) \oplus T\mathcal{V}$, namely $X + Y \mapsto -\sigma^{\flat}(X) \oplus Y$, which can be extended to an isomorphism of bigraded exterior algebras $\flat_{\sigma} : \wedge^{\bullet,\bullet}TM \to \wedge^{\bullet,\bullet}\mathbb{V}$. It turns out that under this correspondence, the Lichnerowicz-Poisson complex $(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet,\bullet}TM), \partial_{\Pi})$ is isomorphic to a bigraded cochain complex, $(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet,\bullet}\mathbb{V}), \partial_{0,1}^P + \partial_{1,0}^{\gamma} + \partial_{2,-1}^{\sigma})$, where the differential is the sum of three bigraded operators: the adjoint operator of $P, \partial_{0,1}^{P}$; the covariant exterior derivative of $\gamma, \partial_{1,0}^{\gamma}$; and the insertion of the differential of the coupling form $\sigma, \partial_{2,-1}^{\sigma}$. In this sense, the problem of the computation of the Poisson cohomology of (M, Π) turns into computing the cohomology of a bigraded cochain complex.

Based on the previous discussion, the structure of this work consists in three main parts: the computation of the cohomology of general bigraded complexes from an algebraic perspective (Chapter 3), the introduction of new geometric structures in which such algebraic formalism can be applied (Chapter 4), and the application of the general results to the first cohomology of coupling Poisson and Dirac structures on fibred and foliated manifolds (Chapters 5 and 6).

The cohomology of a bigraded complex

The most important contribution of this work is to provide a scheme for the computation of Poisson cohomology in the semilocal context. To this end, we have derived a general procedure which allows to compute the cohomology of a bigraded complex ($\mathcal{C}^{\bullet,\bullet}, \partial$) with $\partial = \partial_{0,1} + \partial_{1,0} + \partial_{2,-1}$, as described above. Here we present the results we have obtained in the cases of first, second, and third cohomology, but our procedure may be applied to derive similar results in any degree. In particular, we have recovered the results developed in [70, Chapter 1] for the cohomology of degree 1.

Among our main results, we mention the following.

Theorem (First Cohomology). We have the following short exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow H^1(\mathcal{N}_0,\overline{\partial}) \longrightarrow H^1(\mathcal{C},\partial) \longrightarrow \frac{\ker(\rho_1)}{B^1(\mathcal{C}^{0,\bullet},\partial_{0,1})} \longrightarrow 0,$$

which describe the first cohomology of a bigraded cochain complex $(\mathcal{C}^{\bullet,\bullet},\partial)$.

This result on the first cohomology of $(\mathcal{C}, \overline{\partial})$ is the bottom row of the diagram appearing in Theorem 3.11, and involves the map $\rho_1 : \mathcal{A}^1 \to H^2(\mathcal{N}_0, \overline{\partial})$, which is related to the second cohomology of $(\mathcal{N}_0, \overline{\partial})$.

Theorem (Second Cohomology). The following are short exact sequences which allow to describe the second cohomology of a bigraded cochain complex $(\mathcal{C}^{\bullet,\bullet}, \partial)$:

$$0 \longrightarrow \frac{Z^2(\mathcal{N}_0,\bar{\partial})}{B^2(\mathcal{C},\partial)\cap\mathcal{C}^{2,0}} \longrightarrow H^2(\mathcal{C},\partial) \longrightarrow \frac{\ker(\rho_2)}{\mathcal{B}_1^2} \longrightarrow 0,$$
$$0 \longrightarrow \frac{\ker(\rho_2)}{\mathcal{B}_1^2\cap\mathcal{C}^{1,1}} \longrightarrow \frac{\ker(\rho_2)}{\mathcal{B}_1^2} \longrightarrow \frac{Z_2^2}{B^2(\mathcal{C}^{0,\bullet},\bar{\partial}_{0,1})} \longrightarrow 0.$$

This result consists of the bottom rows of the diagrams appearing in Theorem 3.13. Moreover, it involves the maps $\rho_2 : \mathcal{A}^2 \to H^3(\mathcal{N}_0,\overline{\partial})$ and $\varrho_2 : \mathcal{J}^2 \to H^3(\mathcal{N}_0,\overline{\partial})$, related to the third cohomology of $(\mathcal{N}_0,\overline{\partial})$. Also, the subspace \mathcal{Z}_2^2 is related to the 3-coboundaries of $(\mathcal{N}_1,\overline{\partial})$.

Theorem (Third Cohomology). The third cohomology of $(\mathcal{C}^{\bullet,\bullet}, \eth)$ is described by the following short exact sequences:

$$\begin{split} 0 &\longrightarrow \frac{Z^3(\mathcal{N}_0,\bar{\partial})}{B^3(\mathcal{C},\partial)\cap\mathcal{C}^{3,0}} \longrightarrow H^3(\mathcal{C},\bar{\partial}) \longrightarrow \frac{\ker(\rho_3)}{\mathcal{B}_1^3} \longrightarrow 0\\ 0 &\longrightarrow \frac{\ker(\varrho_3)}{\mathcal{B}_1^3\cap\mathcal{C}^{2,1}} \longrightarrow \frac{\ker(\rho_3)}{\mathcal{B}_1^3} \longrightarrow \frac{\mathcal{Z}_2^3}{\mathcal{B}_2^3} \longrightarrow 0,\\ 0 &\longrightarrow \frac{\mathcal{B}_2^3\cap\mathcal{C}^{1,2}}{\mathcal{Z}_2^3\cap\mathcal{C}^{1,2}} \longrightarrow \frac{\mathcal{Z}_2^3}{\mathcal{B}_2^3} \longrightarrow \frac{\mathcal{Z}_3^3}{B^3(\mathcal{C}^{0,\bullet},\bar{\partial}_{0,1})} \longrightarrow 0. \end{split}$$

These short exact sequences are the bottom rows appearing in the diagrams of Theorem 3.15. We note that this result on the third cohomology of $(\mathcal{C}^{\bullet,\bullet},\overline{\partial})$ involves the maps $\rho_3: \mathcal{A}^3 \to H^4(\mathcal{N}_0,\overline{\partial})$ and $\varrho_3: \mathcal{J}^3 \to H^4(\mathcal{N}_0,\overline{\partial})$, related to the fourth cohomology of $(\mathcal{N}_0,\overline{\partial})$. Also, the subspace \mathcal{Z}_3^3 is related to the 4-coboundaries of $(\mathcal{N}_1,\overline{\partial})$.

Tools and the idea of the proof. The problem on the computation of the cohomology of a bigraded cochain complex $(\mathcal{C}^{\bullet}, \partial)$ with $\partial = \partial_{0,1} + \partial_{1,0} + \partial_{2,-1}$ is addressed in Chapter 3. First of all, we tried to apply the spectral sequence technique. In fact, due to the particular decomposition of the coboundary operator, the filtration $F^p\mathcal{C} := \bigoplus_{i,j\in\mathbb{Z},i\geq p} \mathcal{C}^{i,j}$ induces a first quadrant spectral sequence $E_r^{p,q}$, which converges to the cohomology $H^{\bullet}(\mathcal{C}, \partial)$. Since in the context of our applications we deal with cochain complexes over the field of real numbers, the convergence property implies $H^k(\mathcal{C}, \partial) \cong \bigoplus_{p+q=k} E_{\infty}^{p,q}$. In this sense, the problem of the computation of $H^k(\mathcal{C}, \partial)$ is just the computation of each $E_{\infty}^{p,q}$. Actually, the standard formula found in the modern literature to compute the spectral sequence of a graded filtered complex is $E_r^{p,q} = \frac{Z_r^{p+1,q-1}}{Z_{r-1}^{p+1,q-1} + B_{r-1}^{p,q}}$ (see, for instance, [47, Theorem 2.6, Proposition 2.11]). However, the application of this formula to the case of our bigraded complex (1) did not produce something which could be adequately interpreted. Even in the case of the first cohomology, we did not recovered our previous results presented in [70, Chapter 1]. Fortunately, we were graced to found in [21, Eq. (2.46)] a different but equivalent formula for the computation of the spectral sequence: $E_r^{p,q} = \frac{Z_r^{p,q} + F^{p+1}C^{p+q}}{B_{r-1}^{p,q} + F^{p+1}C^{p+q}}$ (see also [46, p. 346]). this formula gives something manageable in the case of bigraded complexes, namely $E_{\infty}^{p,q} = \frac{Z_q^k \cap C^{p,q}}{B_q^k \cap C^{p,q}}$. Here, the elements of \mathcal{Z}_q^k are called *pre-cocycles*, since are those which can be completed to a *k*-cocycle, in some sense. Similarly, the elements of \mathcal{B}_q^k are called *pre-coboundaries*. In the case of the first cohomology, this formula coincides with some of the results in [70, Chapter 1] (see Lemma 5.14 and the discussion below).

As we have explained, the spectral sequence technique applied to a bigraded complex $(\mathcal{C}^{\bullet}, \partial)$ leads to splitting-type results which allow to compute the Poisson cohomology in the semilocal context. However, such results are weaker versions of the main results presented above, in the sense that, up to our knowledge, these splittings are not canonical. This fact is reflected, for instance, in the description of the modular class of coupling Poisson structures which we present below: the *generalized Reeb class* only exists when certain Poisson foliation is unimodular. If the splitting for the first cohomology were canonical, then such generalized Reeb class would always exist, regardless the unimodularity of the Poisson foliation. However, it is unlikely that this occurs, due to the way it is defined. For this reason, we tried to find a different approach that provides a broader view on the computation of the cohomology. We have found that, for each $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, the \mathcal{R} -modules of k-cocycles $Z^k(\mathcal{C}, \partial)$, k-coboundaries $B^k(\mathcal{C}, \partial)$, and k-cohomologies $H^k(\mathcal{C}, \partial)$ can be described by means of k commuting diagrams with exact rows and columns, given for each $q = 0, \ldots, k - 1$, and p := k - q as follows:

This result is presented in Theorem 3.7. The fact that this family of diagrams describes the coboundaries, cocycles, and cohomology of degree k readily follows from $\mathcal{Z}_0^k = Z^k(\mathcal{C}, \partial)$, and $\mathcal{B}_0^k = B^k(\mathcal{C}, \partial)$. In particular, the cohomology of degree k is described by means of the bottom row of each of the k diagrams. In the case of the cohomology in low degree, the module \mathcal{Z}_1^k can be described in terms of the kernel of some natural mappings $\rho_k : \mathcal{A}^k \to H^{k+1}(\mathcal{N}_0, \overline{\partial})$ and $\varrho_k : \mathcal{J}^k \to H^{k+1}(\mathcal{N}_0, \overline{\partial})$. Combining this with some other calculations, we obtain an effective description of the cohomology in low degree. In particular, we get the main results presented above in the cases k = 1, 2, 3.

Generalized coupling structures

Another goal of this work is to enlarge the class of geometric structures for which its associated cochain complex naturally admits a bigrading of the type (1). As we explained above, there are many well-known examples of geometric structures with a cochain complexes of this kind. In fact, we observe that these examples can be presented as part of the following general framework: suppose that on the total space of a Lie algebroid $(E, q, [\cdot, \cdot]_E)$ we are given a pair of subbundles $H, V \subseteq E$ such that $H \oplus V = E$, and $\Gamma(V)$ is closed under the bracket $[\cdot, \cdot]_E$. In this case, the de Rham complex of the Lie algebroid E, $(\wedge^{\bullet}E^*, \partial)$, carries a natural bigrading such that $\partial = \partial_{0,1} + \partial_{1,0} + \partial_{2,-1}$. In fact, consider the projection map $p: E \to E$ such that $H = \ker(p)$ and $p|_V = Id_V$, and its curvature $R^p \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 E^* \otimes E)$. If, for each $K \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}E^* \otimes E)$, i_K is the insertion on $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}E^*)$, and $L^{\partial}_K := [i_K, \partial]$ is given by the graded commutator of endomorphisms, then we have:

Theorem (Bigrading on Lie algebroids). The bigraded components of the de Rham differential ∂ of $(E, q, [\cdot, \cdot]_E)$ satisfy

$$\partial_{1,0} = L^{\partial}_{\mathrm{Id}_E - p} + 2 \, i_{R^p}, \qquad \qquad \partial_{0,1} = L^{\partial}_p - i_{R^p}, \qquad \qquad \partial_{2,-1} = - \, i_{R^p} \,.$$

This result is presented in Theorem 4.1, but a detailed proof of it, given in a general algebraic context, can be found in the Appendix C. For the case E = TM, see [70, Corollary 2.5.7], [26, Section

5]. Under this general framework, we can present the cochain complex of some geometric structures, such as regular Poisson structures [74, 62], Poisson foliations [66, Lemma 4.1], the de Rham complex on a foliated manifold [61, 8], and the cohomology of an extension of a Lie algebroids [7, Prop. 3.2].

Now we observe how this theorem can be applied in the context of *coupling twisted Poisson and* Dirac structures on foliated manifolds. As we show in Section 4.3, each coupling twisted Dirac structure D with associated ψ -Dirac elements (P, γ, σ) admits the following splitting

$$D = \operatorname{Graph}(P^{\sharp}|_{A^{\gamma}}) \oplus \operatorname{Graph}(-\sigma^{\flat}|_{H^{\gamma}}),$$

in which $\Gamma(\operatorname{Graph}(P^{\sharp}|_{A^{\gamma}}))$ is closed under the ψ -Dorfman bracket. So, our previous theorem applies for this splitting, which means that the cochain complex of a coupling twisted Poisson or Dirac structure is of the kind described above, and our main results on the computation of its cohomology may be applied. Furthermore, this observation suggests that we may be able to find an adequate bigraded model for the associated cochain complexes of a coupling twisted structure on a foliated manifold, to effectively describe its cohomology.

Recall that a bigraded model for the cochain complex of coupling Poisson and Dirac structures was given in [15, Prop. 5.3] and [50, Prop. 4.2.8] in the category of fibred manifolds. However, as is known, the notion of coupling structures is not exclusive for fibred manifolds, and can be naturally extended to foliated manifolds [65, 67]. In this sense, Section 4.2 is devoted to adapt constructions presented in [50, Subsection 4.2] to the category of foliated manifolds by using Vinogradov calculus.

We believe that the construction of this generalization to the case of foliated manifolds gives more insight in the understanding of the algebraic aspects of the coupling method in Poisson geometry. In particular, we have found that it is possible to extend the notion of *coupling* to the case of Poisson and Dirac structures *with background* [79]. This straightforward generalization is presented in Section 4.3, where it is shown that the de Rham complex of the Lie algebroid of a coupling twisted Poisson and Dirac structure on a foliated manifolds is isomorphic to a bigraded cochain complex of the same type as before. More precisely, the results we have obtained are the following:

Theorem (Coupling Twisted Poisson structures). Let $\psi \in \Gamma(\wedge^3 T^*M)$ be a closed 3-form on the foliated manifold (M, \mathcal{V}) , and denote $V := T\mathcal{V}$, $V^\circ := \operatorname{Ann}(V)$. For each ψ -Poisson structure $\Pi \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 TM)$ such that $\Pi^{\sharp}(V^\circ) \oplus V = TM$, there exist unique $P \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 V)$, $\gamma \in \Gamma(T^*M \otimes V)$, and $\sigma \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 V^\circ)$ such that:

- 1. (M, \mathcal{V}, P) is a ψ -Poisson foliation.
- 2. γ is a ψ -Poisson connection on (M, \mathcal{V}, P) , with horizontal distribution $H^{\gamma} := \ker \gamma$.
- 3. The curvature R^{γ} of γ is locally Hamiltonian, via the closed 3-form $(d \sigma + \psi)$.
- 4. $d\sigma + \psi$ vanishes on $\Gamma(\wedge^3 H^{\gamma})$.

In this case, we say that the ψ -Poisson structure Π is *coupling* on (M, \mathcal{V}) , and (P, γ, σ) is called its associated ψ -Dirac elements. Of course, in the case $\psi = 0$ we recover the standard results for Poisson structures [77, 65]. We also note that this fact is proven in the more general context of Dirac structures with background (see Theorem 4.21). The first part of this result, relative to the existence of the geometric data, is proved by pure linear algebra, and then adapted to foliated manifolds in Proposition 2.23. The second part, which describes the structure equations of the geometric data, is obtained in Subsection 4.3.1 by straightforward computations with the Dorfman bracket on the Pontryagin bundle.

As mentioned above, there is a bigraded model for the cochain complex of a coupling twisted Poisson structure.

Theorem (Cohomological model for twisted structures). Let $\Pi \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 TM)$ be a coupling ψ -Poisson structure on the foliated manifold (M, \mathcal{V}) with geometric data (P, γ, σ) . The cochain complex $(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}TM), \partial_{\Pi, \psi})$ is isomorphic to a bigraded cochain complex $(\mathcal{C}^{\bullet}, \partial = \partial_{0,1} + \partial_{1,0} + \partial_{2,-1})$, given by $\mathcal{C}^{\bullet} := \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}(V \oplus V^{\circ}))$, and $\partial_{0,1} = \partial_P + j_{P,\psi}^{(0,1)}$, $\partial_{0,1} = \partial_{\gamma} + j_{P,\psi}^{(1,0)}$, and $\partial_{2,-1} = \partial_{\sigma} + j_{\gamma,\psi}^{(2,-1)}$.

In the case $\psi = 0$, the bigraded components $\partial_{0,1}^P$, $\partial_{1,0}^\gamma$, and $\partial_{2,-1}^\sigma$ of the coboundary operator ∂ are in correspondence with the Dirac elements (P, γ, σ) . However, in the general case, the presence of the background 3-form produces some intertwine of the Dirac elements in the description of the bigraded components.

Applications to cohomology in low degree in semilocal Poisson geometry

In the last part of this work, we present some applications of our general algebraic results, obtained the context of bigraded cochain complexes, to describe the infinitesimal Poisson automorphisms of coupling Poisson structures, the first cohomology, and the modular class.

Infinitesimal Poisson automorphisms around symplectic leaves. Given a coupling Poisson structure Π on a foliated manifold (M, \mathcal{V}) with associated geometric data (P, γ, σ) , there are three geometric objects involved in the description of the first cohomology [70]: a cochain complex $(\mathcal{N}_0^{\bullet}, \overline{\partial}^{\gamma})$, called the *de Rham-Casimir complex*, a Lie subalgebra \mathcal{A} of \mathcal{V} -tangent infinitesimal automorphisms of P, and a mapping $\rho : \mathcal{A} \to H^2(\mathcal{N}_0^{\bullet}, \overline{\partial}^{\gamma})$ from \mathcal{A} to the second cohomology of $(\mathcal{N}_0^{\bullet}, \overline{\partial}^{\gamma})$. In fact, the short exact sequence describing the first Poisson cohomology reads

$$0 \to H^1(\mathcal{N}_0, \overline{\partial}^{\gamma}) \xrightarrow{\sharp_H} H^1(M, \Pi) \xrightarrow{\gamma^*} \frac{\ker \rho^{\gamma}}{\operatorname{Ham}(M, P)} \to 0.$$
⁽²⁾

Here, \sharp_H is the sharp map of the horizontal component of Π , and γ^* is the map induced in cohomology by the projection $\gamma : TM \to T\mathcal{V}$. We should note that the coboundary operator $\overline{\partial}^{\gamma}$ only depends on γ . Moreover, since \mathcal{N}_0 only depends on the Casimir functions of P, a Hamiltonian change of γ does not alter the coboundary operator. On the other hand, if the first cohomology of the associated Poisson foliation vanishes, $H^1(M, \mathcal{V}, P) = \{0\}$, then the right term in (2) is zero. Furthermore, one has $H^1(M, \Pi) \cong H^1(\mathcal{N}_0, \overline{\partial}^{\gamma_0})$ for any Poisson connection γ_0 on (M, \mathcal{V}, P) . Assuming that a flat Poisson connection exists, and under some projectability conditions, $H^1(M, \Pi)$ can be embedded in the first cohomology of a foliated de Rham complex. These conditions can be realized geometrically and, for instance, allows to present the following generalization of the cohomological part of Conn's results to neighborhoods of symplectic leaves:

Theorem (Triviality of the first cohomology). Let $S \subset M$ be an embedded symplectic leaf of the Poisson manifold (M, Ψ) such that the normal bundle of S (viewing as a Lie-Poisson bundle) is trivial. Assume that the isotropy algebra of the symplectic leaf S is a semisimple Lie algebra of compact type. If S is compact and simply connected, then there exists a tubular neighborhood N of S in M such that every Poisson vector field of Ψ is Hamiltonian on N. This fact readily follows from Proposition 5.21 in Chapter 5. We also give some other examples and classes of coupling Poisson and Dirac structures for which our general results can be effectively applied in the computation of the first Poisson cohomology.

Reeb and modular classes of Poisson structures on foliated manifolds

Poisson foliations and the modular class. As in the problem of the general computation of the cohomology, our results on the modular class are inspired in some sense by what occurs in the case of regular Poisson manifolds. Recall that the modular vector field of a regular Poisson manifold is always tangent to the symplectic foliation. So, the modular class of a regular Poisson manifold can be regarded as a foliated de Rham cohomology class of its characteristic foliation. More precisely, for a regular Poisson manifold (M,Π) with symplectic foliation (\mathcal{S}, ω) of rank 2k, the modular class $Mod(M,\Pi)$ of the Poisson manifold is equivalent to the *Reeb class* $Mod(M, \mathcal{S})$ of its characteristic foliation, in the sense that

$$Mod(M,\Pi) = -\Pi^{\sharp} Mod(M,\mathcal{S}).$$
(3)

In particular, for regular Poisson manifolds, the unimodularity of (M,Π) only depends on its characteristic foliation S, rather than in the leaf-wise symplectic form ω . The relationship between the Reeb and modular class was first observed by Weinstein [83, Section 5], and then formalized by Abouqateb and Boucetta [1] in the form (3). Geometrically, the Reeb class of a regular foliation is the obstruction to the existence of a transverse volume element invariant under the flow of every tangent vector field. On the other hand the *leaf-wise Liouville volume form* $\omega^k \in$ $\Gamma(\wedge^{2k}T^*S)$ gives a correspondence between volume forms Ω on M, and transverse volume elements $\eta \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\text{top}}(TM/TS)^*)$, namely, $\Omega = \omega^k \wedge \eta$. Since, tangentially, the leaf-wise Liouville volume form ω^k is already invariant under Hamiltonian flows, the problem of finding an invariant volume form Ω turns into finding an invariant transverse volume element η .

We first give a generalization of these results in the context of Poisson foliations. Recall that a regular Poisson manifold can be regarded as a Poisson foliation such that the leaf-tangent Poisson structure is symplectic at each leaf. As described in above, the fact that in this case the leaf-wise Liouville volume form is invariant under every Hamiltonian flow led to the cohomological relation of equation (3). However, for a general Poisson foliation (M, \mathcal{V}, P) , such an invariant leaf-wise volume form may not exists. Instead, we get a new cohomology class, called *the modular class of the Poisson foliation* Mod (M, \mathcal{V}, P) . In fact, each leaf-wise volume form $\tau \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\text{top}}T^*\mathcal{V})$ induces the so-called *modular vector field of the Poisson foliation* Z_P^{τ} . This vector field $Z_P^{\tau} \in \Gamma(T\mathcal{V})$ coincides on each leaf L of \mathcal{V} with the modular vector field of the Poisson submanifold (L, P_L) induced by the volume form $\tau|_L$. It turns out that the family of such modular vector fields define a Poisson cohomology class, namely, $Mod(M, \mathcal{V}, P)$, which is the obstruction to the existence of a leaf-wise volume form invariant under every Hamiltonian flow. As is shown in Proposition 6.3, the following more general cohomological relation is satisfied:

Theorem (Modular class of Poisson foliations). Let Mod(M, P) be the modular class of (M, P) as Poisson manifold, Mod(M, V) the Reeb class of the regular foliation V, and Mod(M, V, P) the modular class of the Poisson foliation (M, V, P). Then,

$$\operatorname{Mod}(M, P) = -P^{\sharp} \operatorname{Mod}(M, \mathcal{V}) + \operatorname{Mod}(M, \mathcal{V}, P).$$

Semilocal unimodularity and the generalized Reeb class. We also present a description of the modular class in neighborhoods of symplectic leaves. Besides the results of [83, Section 5] and [1], which says that the unimodularity of regular Poisson manifolds is determined by the tangential geometry, it is convenient to recall what occurs in the local context. By Weinstein Splitting Theorem [82, Theorem 2.1], the local structure of a Poisson manifold at a given point is given as the product of a symplectic structure with the so called transverse Poisson structure. In this sense, the local unimodularity property is determined by the transverse Poisson structure, because symplectic manifolds are always unimodular. This means that, locally, the unimodularity is determined by the transversal geometry. Therefore, it is natural to expect that, in the semilocal context, the unimodularity is described by the interaction between the tangential and transversal geometry of the leaf.

This interaction can be effectively described in terms of coupling Poisson structures. Let Π be a coupling Poisson structure on the foliated manifold (M, \mathcal{V}) with associated geometric data (P, γ, σ) . The first key observation in this context is that volume forms on M are in correspondence with leaf-wise volume forms on \mathcal{V} . In fact, due to the non-degeneracy of σ , every volume form Ω on M can be factored as $\Omega = \sigma^l \wedge \tau$. Here, $2l = \operatorname{rank} H^{\gamma}$, and τ is a leaf-wise volume form on \mathcal{V} . In terms of this correspondence, the modular vector field of (M, Π) induced by Ω splits into horizontal and vertical components depending on τ , namely,

$$Z_{\Pi}^{\Omega} = \Pi^{\sharp} \theta_{\tau}^{\gamma} + Z_{P}^{\tau}.$$
(4)

The vertical component Z_P^{τ} is the modular vector field of the Poisson foliation (M, \mathcal{V}, P) induced by τ . The horizontal component is the image under Π^{\sharp} of the so-called *divergence form* θ_{τ}^{γ} , which is the 1-form vanishing along the \mathcal{V} -leaves characterized by $\theta_{\tau}^{\gamma}(X) = \operatorname{div}^{\tau}(X)$ for all $X \in \Gamma(H^{\gamma}) \cap \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$. So, formula (4) says that the leaf-tangent component of the modular vector field Z_{Π}^{Ω} is modular vector field Z_{Π}^{ρ} of (M, \mathcal{V}, P) : $\gamma(Z_{\Pi}^{\Omega}) = Z_P^{\tau}$.

Our previous formula implies that at the level of cohomology one has

$$\gamma_* \operatorname{Mod}(M, \Pi) = \operatorname{Mod}(M, \mathcal{V}, P).$$

This means that an obstruction to the unimodularity of (M, Π) is the modular class of the Poisson foliation (M, \mathcal{V}, P) . However, the vanishing of $Mod(M, \mathcal{V}, P)$ may be not sufficient for the vanishing of $Mod(M, \Pi)$. In fact, due to the exactness of (2), we found that, under the unimodularity of (M, \mathcal{V}, P) , there exists a cohomology class in $H^1(\mathcal{N}_0, \overline{\mathfrak{d}}^{\gamma})$ whose image under Π^{\sharp} is the modular class. Furthermore, this cohomology class is the family of divergence 1-forms $\theta_{\tau_0}^{\gamma} \in \mathcal{N}_0^1$, where τ_0 varies over the leaf-wise volume forms invariant under every Hamiltonian flow of P, that is, $Z_P^{\tau_0} = 0$. More precisely, if $Mod(M, \mathcal{V}, P) = 0$, then $[\theta_{\tau_0}^{\gamma}]$ exists, and we have

$$\operatorname{Mod}(M,\Pi) = -\Pi^{\sharp}[\theta^{\gamma}_{\tau_0}]. \tag{5}$$

If we take a look at the cohomological relation (3) for regular Poisson manifolds, we find that the cohomology class $[\theta_{\tau_0}^{\gamma}]$ in (5) plays an analogous role to the Reeb class, in the sense that it controls the unimodularity property. For this reason, we call it the *generalized Reeb class* of (M, \mathcal{V}, Π) , which only exists when the Poisson foliation (M, \mathcal{V}, P) is unimodular. Furthermore, it is important to note that, given P and γ , the corresponding objects Z_P^{τ} and θ_{τ}^{γ} only depend on τ and, henceforth, their cohomology classes are well defined. This means that the unimodularity of (M, Π) is independent of the coupling form σ , which is an analog to the fact that, in the regular case, the unimodularity property is independent of the leaf-wise symplectic form.

These facts are translated to the semilocal context as follows:

Theorem (Generalized Reeb class). Let (M, Π) be an orientable Poisson manifold and S an embedded symplectic leaf. There exists a tubular neighborhood N of S such that

$$\Pi = \Pi_H + \Pi_V \text{ on } N.$$

Here, Π_H is a bivector field on N with rank $\Pi_H = \dim S$, and Π_V is the transverse Poisson structure of S. Moreover, if $\operatorname{Mod}(N, \Pi_V) = 0$, then there exists a cohomology class $\operatorname{Reeb}(S)$ of the de Rham -Casimir complex of S, such that

$$\operatorname{Mod}(N,\Pi) = -(\Pi_H^{\sharp})^* \operatorname{Reeb}(S).$$

Observe that the question on the definition of the generalized Reeb class Reeb(S) of the symplectic leaf S is nontrivial. The main difficulty is to show that its construction is independent of the choice of a tubular neighborhood of the symplectic leaf (see Proposition 6.21).

Structure of the text

This thesis is organized as follows. The first part, which consists of the first two chapters, is devoted to review the preliminary notions which are needed throughout this work. In Chapter 1 we review the notions of Poisson manifolds, Dirac structures, Lie algebroids, and Poisson cohomology, while in Chapter 2 we present the coupling method on foliated manifolds. In the second part, we describe the cohomology of coupling Poisson structures. Chapter 3 presents an algebraic framework for the computation of the cohomology of a bigraded cochain complex. In Chapter 4, we describe some of the geometric structures which give rise to a bigraded cochain complex. In particular, we focus on the case of coupling twisted Poisson and Dirac structures. The third part of this work is devoted to the applications to the first cohomology of coupling Poisson and Dirac structures. In Chapter 5, the algebraic results on the computation of the first cohomology are reviewed from a geometric point of view. We also present different cases in which the first Poisson cohomology can be effectively described. Chapter 6 is devoted to the description of the modular class of Poisson structures on foliated manifolds, such as Poisson foliations, and coupling Poisson structures, with applications to the semilocal context. In particular, we discuss on the generalized Reeb class.

INTRODUCTION

Part I Preliminaries

Introduction to Part I

The main objective of this part is to present a brief summary of the basic notions in Poisson geometry and cohomology, as well as a description of the coupling method and semilocal Poisson geometry from an algebraic point of view.

Poisson geometry is a branch of mathematics which lies in the intersection of differential geometry and mathematical physics. For example, Poisson manifolds are the reduced phase space for Hamiltonian systems with symmetry. Furthermore, the formalism of Poisson manifolds arises in several contexts, such as Hamiltonian mechanics, integrable systems, topological field theories, deformation theory, representation theory and non-commutative geometry, to mention a few.

Given a point on a Poisson manifold, there exists a neighborhood of it which is Poisson isomorphic to the direct product of a symplectic manifold with a Poisson manifold vanishing at a point [82, Theorem 2.1]. The symplectic factor is just the symplectic leaf through the given point. The Poisson structure on the second factor is the so-called *transverse Poisson structure*, and encodes the singular behavior of the Poisson manifold at that given point. Thus, the problem of the local equivalence of Poisson manifolds reduces to the study of the transverse Poisson structure: two Poisson structures on a manifold are locally equivalent if and only if their transverse Poisson structures are isomorphic.

On the other hand, given two points on the same symplectic leaf, the corresponding transverse Poisson structures are isomorphic. In that sense, a natural problem is the existence of a way of gluing the transverse Poisson structures along the symplectic leaf to get a *transverse Poisson bundle*. Indeed, the answer to this question is affirmative: given an embedded symplectic leaf, there exists a tubular neighborhood of it which is a locally trivial Poisson bundle whose typical fiber is the transverse Poisson structure at some (any) point of the leaf. This transverse Poisson bundle is one of the invariants around the embedded symplectic leaf.

A second question, given in the context of the equivalence of Poisson structures around symplectic leaves, would be the following: if two Poisson structures share an embedded symplectic leaf with the same transverse Poisson bundle, do the Poisson structures are equivalent on a neighborhood of the symplectic leaf? Although the transverse Poisson structure at a given point is the only local invariant, the problem of equivalence of Poisson structures around symplectic leaves is more subtle, and the answer to this question is negative. This problem, as well as the existence of the transverse Poisson bundle, belong to the field of *semilocal Poisson geometry*.

In general, the term "semilocal Poisson geometry" refers to Poisson geometry in the context of neighborhoods of embedded submanifolds, such as symplectic, cosymplectic, or Poisson submanifolds.

The emergence of semilocal Poisson geometry is closely related with the coupling method. The origins of this method go back to Sternberg, who developed a covariant version of it to construct the symplectic form which gives the Hamiltonian structure to the Wong's equations describing the motion of a particle in a Yang-Mills field [59]. Later on, Vorobiev developed a contravariant version of it to describe the geometry of a Poisson manifold in neighborhoods of embedded symplectic leaves [77]. In fact, he showed that the class of coupling Poisson structures provides the semilocal model for Poisson manifolds around symplectic leaves. It is important to mention that the coupling method can be

applied to any embedded symplectic leaf, regardless the possibly singular nature of it.

The coupling method allows to formulate some equivalence criteria between Poisson structures with a common symplectic leaf [78]. It also allows to define the linearized structure of a Poisson manifold around a symplectic leaf [77], and to formulate some linearizability criteria for Hamiltonian systems and Poisson structures [72, 73]. Also, coupling Poisson structures realize any transitive Lie algebroid with symplectic base as the restricted Lie algebroid of a coupling Poisson structure to a symplectic leaf [76].

Roughly speaking, the semilocal structure of a Poisson manifold around a symplectic leaf is described by the transverse Poisson bundle of the leaf, which is coupled with a horizontally non-degenerated 2-form, called the *coupling form*, via a possibly nonlinear Ehresmann connection on the tubular neighborhood. This triplet of geometric structures is said to be the *geometric data* of the Poisson manifold around the symplectic leaf [77, Theorem 2.1], also called *Dirac elements* [50, Definition 4.2.3]. In terms of the geometric data, the characteristic distribution is generated by the one of the transverse Poisson structure and the horizontal distribution of the connection. Similarly, the leaf-wise symplectic structure is the sum of the one of the transverse Poisson structure with the coupling form.

Later on, some generalizations of the coupling method were introduced. For example, Dufour and Wade applied it to describe the local and semilocal structure of Dirac manifolds [20]. They found out that, in neighborhoods of embedded presymplectic leaves, Dirac structures are described by a triple of geometric data for which the coupling form can be degenerated. In the same year, Vaisman introduced the notions of coupling Poisson, Dirac, and Jacobi structures on foliated manifolds [65, 67], giving an important step in the understanding the algebraic nature of the coupling method. In this sense, a coupling Dirac structure is Poisson if and only if its coupling form is horizontally non-degenerated. Moreover, Vaisman also introduced the more general notions of almost-coupling Poisson and Dirac structures, which appear in the context of slow-fast Hamiltonian systems and of the averaging method [4, 3, 68, 69].

There are some other important and recent contributions in the field of semilocal Poisson geometry. In [50, 51], some normal form theorems around Poisson submanifolds are presented. Furthermore, for several geometric structures in Poisson Geometry, splitting theorems around transversal submanifolds are given in [10] (for the case of Poisson structures and cosymplectic submanifolds, see also [24]). Since in this work, we are focused in the geometry and cohomology of Poisson manifolds around symplectic leaves, by the term "semilocal" we will refer to neighborhoods of symplectic leaves.

Chapter 1

Generalities on Poisson Geometry

Here we give a brief review of some structures in Poisson Geometry, which are used throughout this work. For a more detailed presentation of these notions we recommend [13, 18, 19, 21, 39, 79, 64, 82].

1.1 Poisson manifolds

Let M be a manifold, and $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}TM)$ the algebra of multivector fields with the exterior product \wedge . Consider the Schouten-Nijenhuis bracket $[\cdot, \cdot]$ of multivector fields, defined on the in such a way that $(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}TM), \wedge, [\cdot, \cdot])$ is a Poisson algebra of degree -1 (see, for instance, [21, Theorem 1.8.1]). A bivector field $\Pi \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 TM)$ on M is said to be a Poisson structure, or Poisson bivector field, if

 $[\Pi,\Pi]=0.$

This equation is called the Jacobi identity. The pair (M, Π) is said to be a Poisson manifold [44, Section 1], [27, Section 6], [82, Section 1]. The Poisson structure Π defines an \mathbb{R} -bilinear operation on $C^{\infty}(M)$ by

$$\{f,g\} := \Pi(\mathrm{d}\,f,\mathrm{d}\,g) \qquad \qquad \forall f,g \in C^{\infty}(M),$$

which is a Poisson bracket on $C^{\infty}(M)$ due to the Jacobi identity.

Consider the vector bundle map $\Pi^{\sharp}: T^*M \to TM$ given on $\alpha \in T_p^*M$ by $\beta(\Pi^{\sharp}\alpha) := \Pi_p(\alpha, \beta)$ for all $\beta \in T_p^*M$. This map can be extended to a morphism of exterior algebras $\Pi^{\sharp} : \wedge^k T^*M \to \wedge^k TM$ by setting $\Pi^{\sharp}\Theta(\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_k) := (-1)^k \Theta(\Pi^{\sharp}\alpha_1, \ldots, \Pi^{\sharp}\alpha_k)$. Given a smooth function $f \in C^{\infty}(M)$, then $\Pi^{\sharp} d f \in \Gamma(TM)$ is said to be the Hamiltonian vector field of f. In this case, f is said to be the Hamiltonian function of $\Pi^{\sharp} d f$. It follows from the Jacobi identity that

$$[\Pi^{\sharp} d f, \Pi^{\sharp} d g] = \Pi^{\sharp} d\{f, g\} \qquad \forall f, g \in C^{\infty}(M),$$

which, together with the \mathbb{R} -linearity of d and Π^{\sharp} , implies that the Hamiltonian vector fields define an \mathbb{R} -Lie algebra, denoted by $\operatorname{Ham}(M, \Pi)$. Again, by the Jacobi identity, for all $Z \in \operatorname{Ham}(M, \Pi)$, we have

 $\mathcal{L}_Z \Pi = 0.$

In general, whenever a vector field $Z \in \Gamma(TM)$ satisfies the previous relation, we say that Z is an infinitesimal Poisson automorphism of Π , or, shortly, a Poisson vector field. It follows from the graded Jacobi identity for the Schouten-Nijenhuis bracket that the Poisson vector fields also define a Lie algebra, denoted by $\operatorname{Poiss}(M, \Pi)$, for which $\operatorname{Ham}(M, \Pi)$ is an ideal. Moreover, $\operatorname{Poiss}(M, \Pi)$ is just the Lie algebra of derivations of the Poisson algebra $(C^{\infty}(M), \cdot, \{\cdot, \cdot\})$. Furthermore, Z is an infinitesimal Poisson automorphism of Π if and only if its flow Fl_Z^t satisfies the following relation for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$: $(\operatorname{Fl}_Z^t)^*\Pi = \Pi$.

▼

Example 1.1. A symplectic manifold (M, ω) consists of a manifold M equipped with a closed and non-degenerated 2-form $\omega \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 T^*M)$: $d \omega = 0$, and $\omega^{\flat} : TM \to T^*M$ is an isomorphism. Then,

$$\Pi_{\omega}(\alpha,\beta) := \omega((\omega^{\flat})^{-1}\alpha,(\omega^{\flat})^{-1}\beta), \qquad \forall \alpha,\beta \in \Gamma(T^*M),$$

defines a bivector field $\Pi_{\omega} \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 TM)$ which is Poisson, due to the closedness of ω . The Hamiltonian vector field X of f is given by $i_X \omega = -df$, and the Poisson vector fields Z of Π_{ω} are those of the form $Z = \Pi_{\omega}^{\sharp} \alpha$, for some closed 1-form $\alpha \in \Gamma(T^*M)$.

Example 1.2. Let \mathfrak{g}^* be the dual of a finite-dimensional \mathbb{R} -Lie algebra $(\mathfrak{g}, [\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathfrak{g}})$. A Poisson bracket on \mathfrak{g}^* can be canonically defined as follows: for $f, g \in C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{g}^*)$, the Poisson bracket $\{f, g\} \in C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{g}^*)$ is given on $p \in \mathfrak{g}^*$ by

$$\{f,g\}(p) := p([\mathrm{d}_p f, \mathrm{d}_p g]_{\mathfrak{g}}).$$

Here we are using the identification $T_p^*(\mathfrak{g}^*) \cong \mathfrak{g}$. On the other hand, consider the identification $\mathfrak{g} \cong (\mathfrak{g}^*)^*$ in which each $\xi \in \mathfrak{g}$ is viewed as a linear function $\xi : \mathfrak{g}^* \to \mathbb{R}$. The Hamiltonian vector field of ξ is precisely the infinitesimal generator $\xi_{\mathfrak{g}^*} \in \Gamma(\mathfrak{g}^*)$ of the coadjoint action on \mathfrak{g}^* of the connected and simply connected Lie group G integrating \mathfrak{g} .

Example 1.3. On a two-dimensional manifold M, every bivector field Π is Poisson since $[\Pi, \Pi] \in \Gamma(\wedge^3 TM) = \{0\}$. On a 3-dimensional manifold, the set of Poisson vector fields in invariant under multiplication by smooth functions. Indeed, if $\Pi \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 TM)$ is a Poisson structure on M, and $f \in C^{\infty}(M)$, then

$$[f\Pi, f\Pi] = 2f[f,\Pi] \wedge \Pi + f^2[\Pi,\Pi] = -2f\Pi^{\sharp} df \wedge \Pi = -f i_{df}(\Pi \wedge \Pi)$$

In the case when dim M = 3, we have $\Pi \wedge \Pi \in \Gamma(\wedge^4 TM) = \{0\}$, and hence, $f\Pi$ is Poisson.

Symplectic foliations. Given a Poisson manifold (M, Π) , its characteristic distribution $C^{\Pi} \subseteq TM$ is the image of $\Pi^{\sharp} : T^*M \to TM$. It is clear from the definition of C^{Π} that for each $p \in M$, and $v \in C_p^{\Pi}$, there exists $f \in C^{\infty}(M)$ such that $v = \Pi_p^{\sharp} d_p f$. In other words, C^{Π} is generated by $\operatorname{Ham}(M, \Pi)$. Now, let $\varphi := \operatorname{Fl}_X^t$ be the flow of $X := \Pi^{\sharp} df$ at some time $t \in \mathbb{R}$. Then,

$$(\varphi_*)_p(v) = (\varphi_*)_p(\Pi_p^{\sharp} \operatorname{d}_p f) = \Pi_{\varphi(p)}^{\sharp}(\varphi_{\varphi(p)}^* \operatorname{d}_p f) = \Pi_{\varphi(p)}^{\sharp}(\operatorname{d}_{\varphi(p)}\varphi^* f) \in C_{\varphi(p)}^{\Pi}.$$

The second equality uses the fact that $X \in \text{Poiss}(M, \Pi)$, and the third equality is just the chain rule. Since $v \in C_p^{\Pi}$ is arbitrary, we get $((\text{Fl}_X^t)_*)_p(C_p^{\Pi}) \subseteq C_{\text{Fl}_X^t(p)}^{\Pi}$ for all $p \in M$, $X \in \text{Ham}(M, \Pi)$, and $t \in \mathbb{R}$. This and the fact that $\text{Ham}(M, \Pi)$ generates C^{Π} imply that C^{Π} is involutive and, therefore, integrable in the sense of Stefan-Sussmann [58, Corollary 1], [60, Theorem 4.2]. In other words, there exists a foliation S of M integrating the characteristic distribution, that is, $C^{\Pi} = TS$.

On the other hand, there exists $\omega_{\mathcal{S}} \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 T^*\mathcal{S})$, well defined by $\omega_{\mathcal{S}}(\Pi^{\sharp} d f, \Pi^{\sharp} d g) = \Pi(d f, d g)$, which is closed and non-degenerated along the leaves of \mathcal{S} . Each leaf S of \mathcal{S} , together with the leaf-wise symplectic structure $\omega_S := \omega_{\mathcal{S}}|_S$, is said to be a *symplectic leaf* of (M, Π) . The pair $(\mathcal{S}, \omega_{\mathcal{S}})$ is the *symplectic foliation* of (M, Π) , which fully characterize the Poisson structure Π .

Example 1.4. For a symplectic manifold (M, ω) , the symplectic foliation consists of the connected components of M, and the leaf-wise symplectic structure is just ω .

1.2. LIE ALGEBROIDS

Example 1.5. For the coalgebra \mathfrak{g}^* of a Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} with integrating connected and simply connected Lie group G, the symplectic leaves of \mathfrak{g}^* are the coadjoint G-orbits. This follows from the fact that the Hamiltonian vector fields, which generate the symplectic foliation, coincide with the infinitesimal generators of the coadjoint action, which generate the tangent space to the coadjoint orbits. The leaf-wise symplectic form is given by $\omega_{\mathcal{S}}(\xi_{\mathfrak{g}^*}, \eta_{\mathfrak{g}^*})(p) = p([\xi, \eta]_{\mathfrak{g}})$ for all $\xi, \eta \in \mathfrak{g}$.

1.2 Lie algebroids

The idea of a Lie algebroid is to have a vector bundle endowed with a structure which is similar to the one of the tangent bundle of a manifold. Indeed, many geometric structures naturally induce a Lie algebroid, which encodes, for instance, the cohomological information of the geometric structure.

Definition 1.6. A Lie algebroid is a triple $(E, q, [\cdot, \cdot]_E)$ which consists of a vector bundle $E \to M$ whose sections are endowed with a Lie bracket $[\cdot, \cdot]_E : \Gamma(E) \times \Gamma(E) \to \Gamma(E)$, and a vector bundle map $q: E \to TM$ satisfying

$$[a, fb]_E = f[a, b]_E + \mathcal{L}_{q(a)} f \cdot b, \qquad \forall a, b \in \Gamma(E), f \in C^{\infty}(M).$$

$$(1.1)$$

The vector bundle map $q: E \to TM$ is called the *anchor* of the Lie algebroid, and the identity (1.1) is called the *Leibniz rule*. It follows from the definition of a Lie algebroid that the anchor map is a Lie algebra morphism [21, Lemma 8.1.4]:

$$q[a,b]_E = [q(a),q(b)] \qquad \qquad \forall a,b \in \Gamma(E).$$
(1.2)

Example 1.7 (Tangent Lie algebroid and regular foliations). The simplest example of a Lie algebroid is the triple $(TM, \mathrm{Id}_{TM}, [\cdot, \cdot])$, consisting of the tangent bundle of M, the identity map, and the Lie bracket of vector fields. Similarly, on a foliated manifold (M, \mathcal{F}) , the triple $(T\mathcal{F}, \iota, [\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathcal{F}})$ is a Lie algebroid, where $T\mathcal{F}$ is the tangent bundle to the \mathcal{F} -leaves, $\iota : T\mathcal{F} \hookrightarrow TM$ is the natural inclusion, and $[\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathcal{F}}$ is the restriction of the Lie bracket to the tangent vector fields $\Gamma(T\mathcal{F})$.

Example 1.8 (Poisson manifolds). Every Poisson structure on a manifold induces a Lie algebroid structure on the cotangent bundle. More precisely, if (M, Π) is a Poisson manifold, then the triple $(T^*M, \Pi^{\sharp}, \{\cdot, \cdot\}_{\Pi})$, where

$$\{\alpha,\beta\}_{\Pi} := \mathcal{L}_{\Pi^{\sharp}\alpha} \beta - \mathcal{i}_{\Pi^{\sharp}\beta} \,\mathrm{d}\,\alpha, \qquad \qquad \forall \alpha,\beta \in \Gamma(T^*M), \tag{1.3}$$

is a Lie algebroid. In particular, the morphism property $\Pi^{\sharp}\{\alpha,\beta\}_{\Pi} = [\Pi^{\sharp}\alpha,\Pi^{\sharp}\beta]$ holds for all $\alpha,\beta \in \Gamma(T^*M)$. Conversely, if Π is a bivector field satisfying the morphism property, then Π is Poisson, and hence the triple $(T^*M,\Pi^{\sharp},\{\cdot,\cdot\}_{\Pi})$ is a Lie algebroid.

Example 1.9 (Principal bundles). Let $P \xrightarrow{p} M$ be a *G*-principal bundle, and consider the tangent lift of the action on *P* to the tangent bundle *TP*. The orbit space TP/G is a vector bundle over *M* whose sections naturally identify with the invariant vector fields on *P*,



Hence, the Lie bracket of invariant vector fields on P induces a Lie bracket $[\cdot, \cdot]_{TP/G}$ on $\Gamma_M(TP/G)$. Furthermore, the differential $TP \xrightarrow{p_*} TM$ induces a vector bundle map $TP/G \xrightarrow{q} TM$ satisfying the Leibniz rule. Therefore $(TP/G, q, [\cdot, \cdot]_{TP/G})$ is a Lie algebroid, called the *Atiyah algebroid* of P.

Example 1.10 (Restriction to a symplectic leaf). Let $\iota : S \hookrightarrow M$ be a symplectic leaf of a Poisson manifold (M, Π) . The triple $(T_S M := \iota^*(TM), \Pi_S^{\sharp}, \{\cdot, \cdot\}_S)$ is a Lie algebroid over S, where $\iota_* \circ \Pi_S^{\sharp} \circ \iota^* = \Pi^{\sharp}$, and $\{\iota^*\alpha, \iota^*\beta\}_S = \iota^*\{\alpha, \beta\}_{\Pi}$, holds for all $\alpha, \beta \in \Gamma(TM)$.

The last two are examples of a *transitive* Lie algebroid, that is, the anchor map is surjective. In Example 1.10, S can be replaced by any submanifold N of M such that $\Pi^{\sharp}(T_N^*M) \subseteq TN$. Such submanifolds $\iota : N \hookrightarrow M$ are said to be *Poisson*, due to the fact that the Poisson structure Π can be naturally restricted to N, in the sense that there exists a Poisson structure $\Pi_N \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 TN)$ such that $\iota_* \circ \Pi_N^{\sharp} \circ \iota^* = \Pi^{\sharp}$.

Remark 1.11. For $n \in \mathbb{N}$, consider the group of permutations S_n of $\{1, \ldots, n\}$. Given $\sigma \in S_n$, and $k \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, we denote by $\sigma_k := \sigma(k)$ the value of σ on k. Explicitly,

$$\sigma = \left(\begin{array}{ccc} 1 & 2 & \cdots & n \\ \sigma_1 & \sigma_2 & \cdots & \sigma_n \end{array}\right)$$

We will also denote by $(-1)^{\sigma}$ the sign of σ . On the other hand, for $i, j \in \mathbb{N}$, we denote by

$$S_{(i,j)} := \{ \sigma \in S_{i+j} \mid \sigma_1 < \sigma_2 < \dots < \sigma_i, \text{ and } \sigma_{i+1} < \sigma_{i+2} < \dots < \sigma_{i+j} \}$$

the subset of shuffle permutations of S_{i+j} . The subset $S_{(i,j,k)} \subseteq S_{i+j+k}$ is defined similarly.

1.2.1 Equivalent definitions

There exist some alternative ways to define a Lie algebroid structure on a vector bundle $E \to M$ [21, Sections 8.2 and 8.6], [57, Sections 2.2 and 3.2]. For the purposes of this work, here we revise the following:

- A graded derivation $\partial_E \in \text{Der}(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}E^*))$ of degree 1 and of square zero, $\partial_E^2 = 0$.
- A graded Poisson bracket $[\cdot, \cdot]_E$ of degree -1 on $(\Gamma(\wedge E), \wedge)$.
- A Poisson structure Π_E on E^* preserving the fiber-wise linear functions.

The de Rham differential. Let $(E, q, [\cdot, \cdot]_E)$ be a Lie algebroid. For each $\alpha \in \Gamma(\wedge^k E^*)$, $\partial_E \alpha \in \Gamma(\wedge^{k+1} E^*)$ is given on $a_1, \ldots, a_{k+1} \in \Gamma(E)$ by the Koszul's formula

$$\partial_E \alpha(a_1, \dots, a_{k+1}) := \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(1,k)}} (-1)^{\sigma} \operatorname{L}_{q(a_{\sigma_1})}(\alpha(a_{\sigma_2}, \dots, a_{\sigma_{k+1}})) - \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(2,k-1)}} (-1)^{\sigma} \alpha([a_{\sigma_1}, a_{\sigma_2}]_E, a_{\sigma_3}, \dots, a_{\sigma_{k+1}}).$$

This defines a graded derivation $\partial_E \in \text{Der}^1(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}E^*))$. The fact that $\partial_E^2 = 0$ follows from observing that $\partial_E^2 = \frac{1}{2}[\partial_E, \partial_E]$, where $[\cdot, \cdot]$ denotes the graded commutator of endomorphisms of $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}E^*)$. Thus, ∂_E^2 is also a graded derivation of degree 2 vanishing on $C^{\infty}(M)$ and $\Gamma(E^*)$, due to (1.2) and the

Jacobi identity for $[\cdot, \cdot]_E$, respectively. Conversely, the anchor map q and the Lie bracket $[\cdot, \cdot]_E$ can be recovered from ∂_E by reversing the Koszul's formula for k = 0, 1, as follows:

$$\mathcal{L}_{q(a)} f := \partial_E f(a), \qquad \qquad \alpha([a,b]_E) := \mathcal{L}_{q(a)}(\alpha(b)) - \mathcal{L}_{q(b)}(\alpha(a)) - \partial_E \alpha(a,b),$$

where $a, b \in \Gamma(E)$, $f \in C^{\infty}(M)$, and $\alpha \in \Gamma(E)$. It is also important to note from (1.2) that the dual of the anchor map $q^* : \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}T^*M) \to \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}E^*)$ is a cochain complex morphism between the de Rham complexes of $(E, q, [\cdot, \cdot]_E)$ and $(TM, \operatorname{Id}_{TM}, [\cdot, \cdot])$, where the latter is the standard de Rham complex.

The Schouten bracket. Given a Lie algebroid $(E, q, [\cdot, \cdot]_E)$ and its differential ∂ , we can associate to each $A \in \Gamma(\wedge^k E)$ the differential operator $i_A \in \operatorname{End}^{-k}(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet} E^*))$ given as follows: if $A = a_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge a_k$ for some $a_1, \ldots, a_k \in \Gamma(E)$, then $i_A := i_{a_1} \circ \cdots \circ i_{a_k}$, where i_{a_i} is the insertion operator. For a general $A \in \Gamma(\wedge^k E)$, i_A is defined by \mathbb{R} -linear extension. Moreover, we define $L_A^{\partial} \in \operatorname{End}^{-k+1}(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet} E^*))$ by $L_A^{\partial} := [\partial, i_A]$, where $[\cdot, \cdot]$ is the graded commutator of graded endomorphisms. Explicitly, $L_A^{\partial} = \partial \circ i_A - (-1)^k i_A \circ \partial$. Now, for $A \in \Gamma(\wedge^k E)$ and $B \in \Gamma(\wedge^l E)$, there exists a unique $[A, B]_E \in \Gamma(\wedge^{k+l-1} E)$ such that

$$\mathbf{i}_{[A,B]_E} = [\mathbf{L}_A^{\mathbf{\partial}}, \mathbf{i}_B]$$

This gives an \mathbb{R} -bilinear operation $[\cdot, \cdot]_E : \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}E) \times \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}E) \to \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}E)$ such that $(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}E), \wedge, [\cdot, \cdot]_E)$ is a graded Poisson algebra of degree -1. Indeed, the graded skew-symmetry, Leibniz rule, and Jacobi identity follow from the corresponding ones of the graded commutator on $\operatorname{End}^{\bullet}(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}E^*))$. It is also important to mention that $[\cdot, \cdot]_E$ agrees on $\Gamma(E)$ with the original bracket of the Lie algebroid, so there is no ambiguity in the usage of this notation. Furthermore, $[a, f]_E = L_{q(a)} f$ for all $a \in \Gamma(E)$ and $f \in C^{\infty}(M)$. These facts allow to recover the Lie algebroid structure on E from a graded Poisson bracket $[\cdot, \cdot]_E$ on $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}E)$.

Definition 1.12. The derivation $\partial_E \in \text{Der}^1(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}E^*))$ and the bracket $[\cdot, \cdot]_E$ described above are called the de Rham differential and the Schouten bracket of the Lie algebroid $(E, q, [\cdot, \cdot]_E)$, respectively.

Fiber-wise linear Poisson structures. Let $E \xrightarrow{p} M$ be a vector bundle. For each $a \in \Gamma(E)$, let $\varphi_a \in C^{\infty}(E^*)$ be the corresponding fiber-wise linear function $\varphi_a : E^* \to \mathbb{R}$ defined by the natural pairing: $\varphi_a(\alpha) := \alpha(a_{p(\alpha)})$. Given a Lie algebroid $(E, q, [\cdot, \cdot]_E)$, there exists a unique Poisson structure $\Pi_E \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 T(E^*))$, defined on the total space of its dual bundle $E^* \xrightarrow{\pi} M$, by

$$\Pi_E(\mathrm{d}\,\varphi_a,\mathrm{d}\,\varphi_b) := \varphi_{[a,b]_E}.\tag{1.4}$$

The uniqueness of Π_E follows from the fact that, for all $\alpha \in E^*$, $T^*_{\alpha}(E^*) = \{ d_{\alpha} \varphi_a \mid a \in \Gamma(E) \}$, and the Jacobi identity for Π_E follows for the one for $[\cdot, \cdot]_E$. As a consequence of the Leibniz rule (1.1) and the fact that $\varphi_{fa} = \pi^* f \varphi_a$ for all $f \in C^{\infty}(M)$ and $a \in \Gamma(E)$, we get

$$\Pi_E(\mathrm{d}\,\varphi_a,\mathrm{d}\,\pi^*f) = \pi^*\,\mathrm{L}_{q(a)}\,f.\tag{1.5}$$

Relations (1.4) and (1.5) allow to recover a Lie algebroid structure $(E, q, [\cdot, \cdot])$ on E from a fiber-wise linear Poisson structure Π_E on E^* .

1.2.2 The characteristic foliation

It is well known that every Lie algebroid induces on the base manifold a generalized foliation.

Let $(E \to M, q, [\cdot, \cdot]_E)$ be a Lie algebroid. Its *characteristic distribution* is the image of the anchor map, $C^E := q(E)$. Now, consider its Poisson structure Π_E on the dual bundle $E^* \xrightarrow{\pi} M$. We claim that, for all $a \in \Gamma(E)$, the Hamiltonian vector field $X_a := \Pi_E^{\sharp} d \varphi_a \in \Gamma(T(E^*))$ is π -related to $q(a) \in \Gamma(TM)$. This follows from (1.5),

$$\mathcal{L}_{X_a} \pi^* f = \prod_E (\mathrm{d} \,\varphi_a, \mathrm{d} \,\pi^* f) = \pi^* \mathcal{L}_{q(a)} f, \qquad \forall f \in C^\infty(M).$$

Moreover, since the characteristic distribution C^{Π_E} of Π_E in E^* is generated by the Hamiltonian vector fields X_a of the fiber-wise linear functions φ_a , and the characteristic distribution of E is generated by the q(a)'s, our previous claim implies

$$\pi_{*\alpha}(C^{\Pi_E}_{\alpha}) = C^E_{\pi(\alpha)} \qquad \qquad \forall \alpha \in E^*$$

and $\pi \circ \operatorname{Fl}_{X_a}^t = \operatorname{Fl}_{q(a)}^t \circ \pi$, for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$ and $a \in \Gamma(E)$. Thus, denoting $\Phi := \operatorname{Fl}_{X_a}^t$, and $\phi := \operatorname{Fl}_{q(a)}^t$, and by applying the fact that C^{Π_E} is an involutive distribution on E^* , we get

$$\phi_{*_{\pi(\alpha)}}(C^{E}_{\pi(\alpha)}) = \phi_{*_{\pi(\alpha)}}(\pi_{*_{\alpha}}(C^{\Pi_{E}}_{\alpha})) = \pi_{*_{\Phi(\alpha)}}(\Phi_{*_{\alpha}}(C^{\Pi_{E}}_{\alpha})) = \pi_{*_{\Phi(\alpha)}}(C^{\Pi_{E}}_{\Phi(\alpha)}) = C^{E}_{\pi(\Phi(\alpha))} = C^{E}_{\phi(\pi(\alpha))}$$

Therefore, the characteristic distribution C^E of the Lie algebroid E is also involutive in the sense of Stefan-Sussmann. Hence, it induces a foliation \mathcal{L} of M such that $T\mathcal{L} = C^E$, which is also called the *characteristic foliation* of E.

1.3 Dirac structures

The formalism of Dirac structures gives a natural generalization of the notion of presymplectic and Poisson manifolds, unifying the covariant and contravariant approaches. This is achieved by endowing the Pontryagin bundle of a manifold, which is the Whitney sum of the tangent and cotangent bundles, with a suitable algebraic-geometric structure, called *Courant algebroid* [45, Definition 2.1]. In general, Courant algebroids are the natural framework to work with Dirac structures [13, Definition 2.3.1] and with some of its generalizations such as *twisted Dirac structures* [79].

1.3.1 Courant algebroids and Dirac structures

Let $\mathbb{E} \to M$ be a vector bundle, $p : \mathbb{E} \to TM$ a vector bundle map, $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle : \mathbb{E} \times \mathbb{E} \to \mathbb{R}$ a bilinear, symmetric, and non-degenerated product form on \mathbb{E} , and $\llbracket \cdot, \cdot \rrbracket : \Gamma(\mathbb{E}) \times \Gamma(\mathbb{E}) \to \Gamma(\mathbb{E})$ an \mathbb{R} -bilinear bracket.

Definition 1.13. The tetrad $(\mathbb{E}, p, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle, [\![\cdot, \cdot]\!])$ is said to be a Courant algebroid whenever the following axioms are satisfied for all $f \in C^{\infty}(M)$ and $\eta, \eta_1, \eta_2 \in \Gamma(\mathbb{E})$ [37, Definition 2.1]:

- $(CA1) \ \llbracket \eta, \llbracket \eta_1, \eta_2 \rrbracket \rrbracket = \llbracket \llbracket \eta, \eta_1 \rrbracket, \eta_2 \rrbracket + \llbracket \eta_1, \llbracket \eta, \eta_2 \rrbracket \rrbracket,$
- $(CA2) \ \mathcal{L}_{p(\eta)}\langle \eta_1, \eta_2 \rangle = \langle \llbracket \eta, \eta_1 \rrbracket, \eta_2 \rangle + \langle \eta_1, \llbracket \eta, \eta_2 \rrbracket \rangle,$
- (CA3) $\langle \eta_1, \llbracket \eta_2, \eta_2 \rrbracket \rangle = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{L}_{p(\eta_1)} \langle \eta_2, \eta_2 \rangle.$

1.3. DIRAC STRUCTURES

Furthermore, on every Courant algebroid, the following properties also hold for all $\eta, \eta' \in \Gamma(\mathbb{E})$ and $f \in C^{\infty}(M)$ [37, Theorem 2.1]:

(CA4)
$$\llbracket \eta, f\eta' \rrbracket = f\llbracket \eta, \eta' \rrbracket + \mathcal{L}_{p(\eta)} f \cdot \eta',$$

(CA5) $p[\![\eta, \eta']\!] = [p(\eta), p(\eta')].$

Axiom (CA1) is the Jacobi identity for the bracket $[\![\cdot, \cdot]\!]$, written in Leibniz form. Property (CA4) is called the Leibniz rule, and (CA5) says that $p: \Gamma(\mathbb{E}) \to \Gamma(TM)$ is a Loday algebra morphism. Note from (CA3) that $[\![\cdot, \cdot]\!]$ is not a Lie bracket in general.

Example 1.14. Let $(E, q, [\cdot, \cdot]_E)$ be a Lie algebroid, and ∂ its de Rham differential. The tetrad $(E \oplus E^*, q \circ \operatorname{pr}_E, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle, [\![\cdot, \cdot]\!])$ is a Courant algebroid, where $\operatorname{pr}_E : E \oplus E^* \to E$ is the natural projection,

$$\langle a \oplus \alpha, b \oplus \beta \rangle := \alpha(b) + \beta(a),$$
 and $\llbracket a \oplus \alpha, b \oplus \beta \rrbracket := [a, b]_E \oplus (L_a^{\partial} \beta - i_b \partial \alpha)$

for all $a, b \in \Gamma(E)$ and $\alpha, \beta \in \Gamma(E^*)$. In particular, when E = TM we obtain the standard Courant algebroid on the Pontryagin bundle of M (see Subsection 1.3.2 below).

As mentioned above, the failure of a Courant algebroid to be a Lie algebroid follows from the fact that the bracket is not always skew-symmetric, since the symmetric product gives an obstruction to this property. However, whenever we restrict the Courant algebroid structure to a subbundle in which the symmetric product vanishes, we indeed obtain a Lie algebroid.

Let $(\mathbb{E}, p, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle, \llbracket \cdot, \cdot \rrbracket)$ be a Courant algebroid. Given subbundle $L \subseteq \mathbb{E}$, we denote by $L^{\perp} \subseteq \mathbb{E}$ its $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ -orthogonal complement,

$$L^{\perp} := \{ \eta \in \mathbb{E} \mid \langle \eta, \zeta \rangle = 0, \ \forall \zeta \in L \}.$$

We say that L is isotropic, coisotropic, or Lagrangian, if $L \subseteq L^{\perp}$, $L \supseteq L^{\perp}$, or $L = L^{\perp}$, respectively. Lagrangian subbundles are also called *maximally isotropic*, and, because of the non-degeneracy of $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$, their rank must be equal to half of the rank of \mathbb{E} (in particular, there are no maximally isotropic subbundles if the Courant algebroid has odd rank).

Suppose we are given an isotropic subbundle $L \subset \mathbb{E}$. By definition, the restriction of $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ to L is zero. If, in addition, the sections of L are closed under the bracket of \mathbb{E} ,

$$\llbracket \Gamma(L), \Gamma(L) \rrbracket \subseteq \Gamma(L),$$

then the restriction $[\cdot, \cdot]_L := \llbracket \cdot, \cdot \rrbracket|_{\Gamma(L) \times \Gamma(L)}$ is a Lie bracket. Indeed, the Jacobi identity follows from (CA1), and the skew-symmetry is consequence of (CA3) and the isotropy of L. Furthermore, for the restriction $q := p|_L : L \to TM$, property (CA4) implies that the Leibniz rule for $[\cdot, \cdot]_L$ and q also holds. In other words, the triple $(L \to M, q, [\cdot, \cdot]_L)$ is a Lie algebroid.

Therefore, each isotropic subbundle $L \subset \mathbb{E}$ whose sections are closed under the bracket on \mathbb{E} induces a foliation of the base manifold M, which integrates the characteristic distribution q(L). We now restrict our attention to the case of maximally isotropic subbundles.

Definition 1.15. Let $\mathbb{E} \to M$ be a Courant algebroid. A Dirac subbundle of \mathbb{E} is a maximally isotropic subbundle $D \subset \mathbb{E}$ such that the sections of D are closed under the bracket of \mathbb{E} .

As we have explained, Dirac structures are endowed with a Lie algebroid structure. On the other hand, for a maximally isotropic subbundle $D \subset \mathbb{E}$, the property of being Dirac is equivalent to

$$\langle \eta, \llbracket \xi, \zeta \rrbracket \rangle = 0 \qquad \qquad \forall \eta, \xi, \zeta \in \Gamma(D). \tag{1.6}$$

Indeed, observe that this property is equivalent to $[\![\xi, \zeta]\!] \in \Gamma(D^{\perp})$ for all $\xi, \zeta \in \Gamma(D)$. Since, D is maximally isotropic, by definition we have $D^{\perp} = D$, so $[\![\xi, \zeta]\!] \in \Gamma(D)$ for all $\xi, \zeta \in \Gamma(D)$.

1.3.2 Twisted Dirac structures

Let TM and T^*M the tangent and cotangent bundles of a manifold M, respectively. Let us denote by $\mathbb{T}M := TM \oplus T^*M$ the Pontryagin bundle of M. Observe that $\mathbb{T}M$ is endowed with a canonical and non-trivial Courant algebroid structure, given as in Example 1.14. Consider the canonical projections $p_{TM} : \mathbb{T}M \to TM$ and $p_{T^*M} : \mathbb{T}M \to T^*M$, the canonical bilinear symmetric product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle : \mathbb{T}M \times \mathbb{T}M \to \mathbb{R}$, given by

$$\langle X \oplus \alpha, Y \oplus \beta \rangle := \alpha(Y) + \beta(X), \qquad \forall X \oplus \alpha, Y \oplus \beta \in \mathbb{T}M, \qquad (1.7)$$

and the Dorfman bracket $[\![\cdot, \cdot]\!] : \Gamma(\mathbb{T}M) \times \Gamma(\mathbb{T}M) \to \Gamma(\mathbb{T}M)$ [18, eq. (2.15)], [19, p. 242],

$$\llbracket X \oplus \alpha, Y \oplus \beta \rrbracket := [X, Y] \oplus (L_X \beta - i_Y d \alpha), \qquad \forall X \oplus \alpha, Y \oplus \beta \in \Gamma(\mathbb{T}M).$$
(1.8)

It is straightforward to verify that the tetrad $(\mathbb{T}M, p_{TM}, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle, [\![\cdot, \cdot]\!])$ is a Courant algebroid, that is, axioms (CA1)-(CA3) hold.

Dirac structures. Let M be a manifold, and $\mathbb{T}M$ its Pontryagin bundle. A *Dirac structure* on M is simply a Dirac subbundle $D \subset \mathbb{T}M$ of the Pontryagin bundle with respect its canonical Courant algebroid structure. Explicitly, a Dirac structure on M is a maximally isotropic subbundle $D \subset \mathbb{T}M$ whose sections are closed with respect to the Dorfman bracket (1.8). In this case, the pair (M, D) is sometimes called *Dirac manifold* [20].

Given a maximally isotropic subbundle $D \subset \mathbb{T}M$, the condition for D to be Dirac is equivalent to

$$\mathbf{i}_{X_3} \mathbf{L}_{X_1} \alpha_2 + \mathbf{i}_{X_1} \mathbf{L}_{X_2} \alpha_3 + \mathbf{i}_{X_2} \mathbf{L}_{X_3} \alpha_1 = 0 \qquad \qquad \forall X_i \oplus \alpha_i \in \Gamma(D).$$

This integrability condition is just (1.6) written in expanded form.

Observe that every Poisson manifold (M,Π) naturally induces a Dirac structure on M. Indeed,

$$D^{\Pi} := \{ \Pi^{\sharp} \alpha \oplus \alpha \mid \alpha \in T^* M \}$$

is a maximally isotropic subbundle which is closed with respect to the Dorfman bracket due to the Jacobi identity of Π . In a similar fashion, the graph

$$D^{\omega} := \{ X \oplus (-i_X \, \omega) \mid X \in TM \}$$

of a 2-form $\omega \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 T^*M)$ is a maximally isotropic subbundle which is a Dirac structure if and only if $d\omega = 0$. For a detailed explanation, we refer to Examples 1.17 and 1.18 below. Another family of Dirac structures on M are given by regular foliations. Indeed, as we explain in Subsection 4.2.1, if \mathcal{F} is a regular foliation on M, then $D^{\mathcal{F}} := T\mathcal{F} \oplus \operatorname{Ann}(T\mathcal{F})$ is a Dirac structure, due to the involutivity of $T\mathcal{F}$.

1.3. DIRAC STRUCTURES

Dirac structures with background. The most important example of a Courant algebroid is the Pontryagin bundle of a manifold endowed with the standard Dorfman bracket. However, we can slightly *twist the background* by means of a closed 3-form in order to generate new Courant algebroids.

Let $\psi \in \Gamma(\wedge^3 T^*M)$ be a closed 3-form on M. The ψ -Dorfman bracket $[\![\cdot, \cdot]\!]_{\psi} : \Gamma(\mathbb{T}M) \times \Gamma(\mathbb{T}M) \to \Gamma(\mathbb{T}M)$ is given by

$$\llbracket X \oplus \alpha, Y \oplus \beta \rrbracket_{\psi} := [X, Y] \oplus (L_X \beta - i_Y d\alpha - i_Y i_X \psi), \qquad \forall X \oplus \alpha, Y \oplus \beta \in \Gamma(\mathbb{T}M).$$
(1.9)

We claim that the tetrad $\mathbb{T}M_{\psi} := (\mathbb{T}M, p_{TM}, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle, \llbracket \cdot, \cdot \rrbracket_{\psi})$, where $p_{TM} : \mathbb{T}M \to TM$ is the canonical projection, and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ is given as in (1.7), is a Courant algebroid. Indeed, axioms (CA2) and (CA3) hold because of the skew-symmetry of ψ , and the Jacobi identity (CA1) follows from the closedness of ψ . We call $\mathbb{T}M_{\psi}$ the Courant algebroid on $\mathbb{T}M$ with background ψ or, shortly, the ψ -Courant algebroid on $\mathbb{T}M$. For a detailed proof of the fact that $\mathbb{T}M_{\psi}$ is indeed a Courant algebroid, see Proposition B.5 of the Appendix.

We now recall the notion of Dirac and Poisson structures with background, which are also called *twisted structures*.

Definition 1.16. A Dirac structure with background ψ or, shortly, ψ -Dirac structure on M, is a Lagrangian subbundle $D \subseteq \mathbb{T}M$ such that $\llbracket \Gamma(D), \Gamma(D) \rrbracket_{\psi} \subseteq \Gamma(D)$.

In other words, a ψ -Dirac structure on M is a Dirac subbundle of the Courant algebroid $\mathbb{T}M_{\psi}$. For a maximally isotropic subbundle $D \subset \mathbb{T}M$, the integrability condition reads

$$i_{X_3} L_{X_1} \alpha_2 + i_{X_1} L_{X_2} \alpha_3 + i_{X_2} L_{X_3} \alpha_1 = \psi(X_1, X_2, X_3), \qquad \forall X_i \oplus \alpha_i \in \Gamma(D).$$
(1.10)

Example 1.17 (Presymplectic structures with background). Let $\omega \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 T^*M)$ be a 2-form on M. Then, the graph of $-\omega^{\flat}: TM \to T^*M$,

$$D^{\omega} := \{ X \oplus (-\mathbf{i}_X \,\omega) \mid X \in \Gamma(TM) \}$$

is Lagrangian. Let us describe when D^{ω} is a ψ -Dirac structure. Fix $X_1, X_2, X_3 \in \Gamma(TM)$, and set $\alpha_i := -i_{X_i} \omega$, so that $X_i \oplus \alpha_i \in \Gamma(D^{\omega})$ for all i = 1, 2, 3. Then,

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{i}_{X_3} \, \mathbf{L}_{X_1} \, \alpha_2 + \mathbf{i}_{X_1} \, \mathbf{L}_{X_2} \, \alpha_3 + \mathbf{i}_{X_2} \, \mathbf{L}_{X_3} \, \alpha_1 &= -\sum_{(1,2,3)} \mathbf{i}_{X_2} \, \mathbf{L}_{X_3} \, \mathbf{i}_{X_1} \, \omega \\ &= -\sum_{(1,2,3)} \mathbf{L}_{X_3} \, \mathbf{i}_{X_2} \, \mathbf{i}_{X_1} \, \omega + \mathbf{i}_{[X_2,X_3]} \, \mathbf{i}_{X_1} \, \omega \\ &= - \mathrm{d} \, \omega(X_1, X_2, X_3) \end{split}$$

Because of (1.10), D^{ω} is a ψ -Dirac structure if and only if $d\omega + \psi = 0$ [79, p. 3].

Example 1.18 (Poisson structures with background). Let $\Pi \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 TM)$ be a 2-vector field on M. Then, the graph of $\Pi^{\sharp}: TM \to T^*M$,

$$D^{\Pi} := \{ \Pi^{\sharp} \alpha \oplus \alpha \mid \alpha \in \Gamma(T^*M) \}$$

N

is Lagrangian. Let us describe when D^{Π} is a ψ -Dirac structure. Fix $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3 \in \Gamma(T^*M)$, and set $X_i = \Pi^{\sharp} \alpha_i$, so that $X_i \oplus \alpha_i \in \Gamma(D^{\Pi})$ for all i = 1, 2, 3. By straightforward computations,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{i}_{X_3} \, \mathbf{L}_{X_1} \, \alpha_2 + \mathbf{i}_{X_1} \, \mathbf{L}_{X_2} \, \alpha_3 + \mathbf{i}_{X_2} \, \mathbf{L}_{X_3} \, \alpha_1 &= -\sum_{(1,2,3)} \Pi(\alpha_1, \mathrm{d} \, \Pi(\alpha_2, \alpha_3)) - \alpha_3 [\Pi^{\sharp} \alpha_1, \Pi^{\sharp} \alpha_2] \\ &= \frac{1}{2} [\Pi, \Pi] (\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3), \end{aligned}$$

where in the last equality we have applied Lemma B.1. Because of (1.10), D^{Π} is a ψ -Dirac structure if and only if $\frac{1}{2}[\Pi,\Pi] = -\Pi^{\sharp}\psi$ [79, p. 3].

Definition 1.19. We say that $\omega \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 T^*M)$ is a presymplectic form with background ψ , or, shortly, ψ -presymplectic form, if $d \omega + \psi = 0$. Similarly, $\Pi \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 TM)$ is a Poisson structure with background ψ , or, shortly, ψ -Poisson structure, if $\frac{1}{2}[\Pi,\Pi] = -\Pi^{\sharp}\psi$.

As a consequence of Example 1.17, M admits ψ -presymplectic structures if and only if ψ is cohomologically trivial. On the other hand, given a ψ -Poisson structure Π on M, the projection $p_{T^*M}: D^{\Pi} \to T^*M$ is an isomorphism which induces the Lie algebroid $(T^*M, \Pi^{\sharp}, \{\cdot, \cdot\}_{\Pi, \psi})$, where

$$\{\alpha,\beta\}_{\Pi,\psi} := \mathcal{L}_{\Pi^{\sharp}\alpha}\,\beta - \mathbf{i}_{\Pi^{\sharp}\beta}\,\mathbf{d}\,\alpha - \mathbf{i}_{\Pi^{\sharp}\beta}\,\mathbf{i}_{\Pi^{\sharp}\alpha}\,\psi, \qquad \qquad \forall \alpha,\beta \in \Gamma(T^*M). \tag{1.11}$$

In terms of the closedness of the graph D^{Π} with respect to the ψ -Dorfman bracket, a bivector field $\Pi \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 TM)$ is ψ -Poisson if and only if

$$[\Pi^{\sharp}\alpha,\Pi^{\sharp}\beta] = \Pi^{\sharp}\{\alpha,\beta\}_{\Pi,\psi} \qquad \qquad \forall \alpha,\beta \in \Gamma(T^*M)$$

Remark 1.20. In the case when $\psi = 0$, we recover the usual notions of presymplectic and Poisson structures as particular cases of Dirac structures. In particular, the bracket of 1-forms of Poisson structures is

$$\{\alpha,\beta\}_{\Pi,\psi} := \mathcal{L}_{\Pi^{\sharp}\alpha} \beta - \mathcal{i}_{\Pi^{\sharp}\beta} \,\mathrm{d}\,\alpha, \qquad \qquad \forall \alpha,\beta \in \Gamma(T^*M). \tag{1.12}$$

Presymplectic foliations with background. Recall that every Dirac structure is equipped with a Lie algebroid structure, which induces a foliation on the base manifold. In the case of Dirac structures with background, the foliation is endowed with a leaf-wise presymplectic structure with background. The converse is also true: every presymplectic foliation with background is the characteristic foliation of the Lie algebroid of some Dirac structure with background. This generalizes the fact that Poisson structures are in correspondence with symplectic foliations.

Let $\psi \in \Gamma(\wedge^3 T^*M)$ be a background form, and consider the Pontryagin bundle $\mathbb{T}M_{\psi}$ equipped with the Courant algebroid structure given by the ψ -Dorfman bracket (1.9). Let also D be a Dirac structure. Let us denote by C^D its characteristic distribution, and by \mathcal{S} its characteristic foliation, $T\mathcal{S} = C^D$. Let us define $\omega_{\mathcal{S}} \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 T^*\mathcal{S})$ by

$$\omega_{\mathcal{S}}(X,Y) := \beta(X),$$

where $X, Y \in \Gamma(TS)$ and $\beta \in \Gamma(T^*M)$ is such that $Y \oplus \beta \in \Gamma(D)$. We claim that ω_S is well defined. Indeed, if $\beta' \in \Gamma(T^*M)$ is another such that $Y \oplus \beta' \in \Gamma(D)$, then $0 \oplus (\beta - \beta') \in \Gamma(D)$. So, for any $\alpha \in \Gamma(T^*M)$ such that $X \oplus \alpha \in \Gamma(D)$, we have by the isotropy of D,

$$0 = \langle 0 \oplus (\beta - \beta'), X \oplus \alpha \rangle = \beta(X) - \beta'(X).$$
This proves that the value $\omega_{\mathcal{S}}(X, Y)$ is independent of the choice of β . On the other hand, since D is isotropic, $0 = \langle X \oplus \alpha, Y \oplus \beta \rangle = \alpha(Y) + \beta(X)$, which implies

$$\omega_{\mathcal{S}}(Y,X) = \alpha(Y) = -\beta(X) = -\omega_{\mathcal{S}}(X,Y),$$

proving that $\omega_{\mathcal{S}}$ is skew-symmetric.

Finally, we will show that $\omega_{\mathcal{S}}$ is ψ -presymplectic along the \mathcal{S} -leaves. For a fixed leaf $\iota : S \hookrightarrow M$ of \mathcal{S} , let d_S be the de Rham differential of S, and $\omega_S \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 T^*S)$ the restriction of ω_S to S. For $X_1, X_2, X_3 \in \Gamma(TS)$, and picking $\alpha_i \in \Gamma(T^*M)$ such that $X_i \oplus \alpha_i \in \Gamma(D)$, we get

$$d_S \,\omega_S(X_1|_S, X_2|_S, X_3|_S) = \iota^* \sum_{(1,2,3)} \mathcal{L}_{X_3} \,\mathbf{i}_{X_2} \,\mathbf{i}_{X_1} \,\omega_S - \mathbf{i}_{[X_3,X_2]} \,\mathbf{i}_{X_1} \,\omega_S$$
$$= \iota^* \sum_{(1,2,3)} \mathbf{i}_{X_2} \,\mathcal{L}_{X_3} \,\mathbf{i}_{X_1} \,\omega_S = -\iota^* \sum_{(1,2,3)} \mathbf{i}_{X_2} \,\mathcal{L}_{X_3} \,\alpha_1$$
$$= -\iota^* (\psi(X_1, X_2, X_3)) = -\iota^* \psi(X_1|_S, X_2|_S, X_3|_S),$$

due to (1.10). In other words, the manifold (S, ω_S) is $\iota^* \psi$ -presymplectic.

Conversely, if $(\mathcal{S}, \omega_{\mathcal{S}})$ is a foliation such that each leaf $\iota : S \hookrightarrow M$ is $\iota^* \psi$ -presymplectic with the structure $\omega_S := \iota^* \omega_S$, then

$$D^{\omega_{\mathcal{S}}} := \{ X \oplus \alpha \in \mathbb{T}M \mid \alpha|_{T\mathcal{S}} = -i_X \,\omega_{\mathcal{S}} \}$$

is a ψ -Dirac structure, provided that D^{ω_S} is smooth. We have proved the following:

Theorem 1.21. There exists a one-to-one correspondence between Dirac structures with background and presymplectic foliations with background.

1.4 Poisson cohomology

Here, we review some basic notions in Poisson cohomology. For more details, see [21, Chapter 2], [62].

Let (M, Π) be a Poisson manifold. Because of the Leibniz rule of the Schouten-Nijenhuis bracket, the map

$$\partial_{\Pi}: \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}TM) \to \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}TM)$$

given by $\partial_{\Pi}(A) := [\Pi, A]$ is a graded derivation of degree 1. Furthermore, ∂_{Π} is a coboundary operator, $\partial_{\Pi}^2 = 0$, due to the Jacobi identities of Π and $[\cdot, \cdot]$. Thus, the pair $(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}TM), \partial_{\Pi})$ is a cochain complex, which is called the *Lichnerowicz-Poisson complex* of (M, Π) [44, Section 3]. The cohomology of this cochain complex is denoted by $H_{\Pi}^{\bullet}(M)$, and is called the *Poisson cohomology* of the Poisson manifold (M, Π) . We also use the notation $Z_{\Pi}^{\bullet}(M)$ and $B_{\Pi}^{\bullet}(M)$ for the sets of cocycles and coboundaries.

The 0-cocycles are the *Casimir functions*, which are the smooth functions $f \in C^{\infty}(M)$ such that its Hamiltonian vector field vanishes, $\Pi^{\sharp} d f = 0$, [44, Section 8], [74, p. 3]. Equivalently, a function is Casimir if and only if it is constant along the symplectic leaves. The algebra of Casimir functions is denoted by $\operatorname{Casim}(M, \Pi)$, and it is precisely the center of the Lie algebra $(C^{\infty}(M), \{\cdot, \cdot\})$.

The 1-coboundaries are just the Hamiltonian vector fields, $B^1_{\Pi}(M) = \text{Ham}(M, \Pi)$, which are the inner infinitesimal automorphisms of $(C^{\infty}(M), \{\cdot, \cdot\})$, and the 1-cocycles are the infinitesimal Poisson

automorphisms, $Z_{\Pi}^{1}(M) = \text{Poiss}(M, \Pi)$. Thus, the Poisson cohomology of degree 1, which is given by [44, Section 8], [74, p. 3]

$$H^1(M,\Pi) = \frac{\operatorname{Poiss}(M,\Pi)}{\operatorname{Ham}(M,\Pi)},$$

may be interpreted as the space of *outer* infinitesimal automorphisms of Π [21, Subsection 2.1.2].

Now, suppose that $\Psi \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 TM)$ is a 2-cocycle of ∂_{Π} , $[\Pi, \Psi] = 0$. Then, for $\varepsilon > 0$, we have

$$[\Pi + \varepsilon \Psi, \Pi + \varepsilon \Psi] = 0 \mod \varepsilon^2$$

Thus, the 2-cocycles are the *infinitesimal deformations* of the Poisson structure Π [21, Subsection 2.1.2]. In this sense, the 2-coboundaries are the *trivial deformations*. Indeed, if $\Psi = [\Pi, X]$ for some $X \in \Gamma(TM)$, then

$$(\operatorname{Fl}_X^{\varepsilon})^*(\Pi + \varepsilon \Psi) = \Pi \mod \varepsilon^2.$$

Since ∂_{Π} is a derivation of the Poisson algebra $(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}TM), \wedge, [\cdot, \cdot])$, the space of coboundaries $B^{\bullet}_{\Pi}(M)$ is an ideal of the Poisson subalgebra of cocycles $Z^{\bullet}_{\Pi}(M)$. Hence, the exterior product and the Schouten-Nijenhuis bracket induce well-defined operations in cohomology, so that $(H^{\bullet}_{\Pi}(M), \wedge, [\cdot, \cdot])$ is also a graded Poisson algebra of degree -1 [21, Remark 2.1.5] [64, p. 64]. In particular, $H^{\bullet}_{\Pi}(M)$ is a module over the ring $H^{0}_{\Pi}(M) = \operatorname{Casim}(M, \Pi)$. Therefore, if there exists a non-constant Casimir function, and $H^{k}_{\Pi}(M) \neq \{0\}$, then $H^{k}_{\Pi}(M)$ is infinite-dimensional over \mathbb{R} (regardless of the topological properties of the manifold).

By using the fact that Poisson manifolds induce a Lie algebroid, one can find a Koszul's type formula for the coboundary operator of the Lichnerowicz-Poisson complex. In fact, recall that the cotangent bundle of a Poisson manifold is a Lie algebroid, which induces a cochain complex structure on the exterior algebra of its dual bundle. It turns out that this cochain complex is precisely the Lichnerowicz-Poisson complex. More precisely, given a Poisson manifold (M, Π) and its cotangent Lie algebroid $(T^*M, \Pi^{\sharp}, \{\cdot, \cdot\}_{\Pi})$, the coboundary operator ∂_{Π} of the Lichnerowicz-Poisson complex can be computed on $A \in \Gamma(\wedge^k TM)$ and $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_{k+1} \in \Gamma(T^*M)$ as follows [5]:

$$\partial_{\Pi} A(\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_{k+1}) := \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(1,k)}} (-1)^{\sigma} \operatorname{L}_{\Pi^{\sharp} \alpha_{\sigma_1}}(A(\alpha_{\sigma_2}, \dots, \alpha_{\sigma_{k+1}})) - \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(2,k-1)}} (-1)^{\sigma} A(\{\alpha_{\sigma_1}, \alpha_{\sigma_2}\}_{\Pi}, \dots, \alpha_{\sigma_{k+1}}).$$

As a consequence of this fact, the map $\Pi^{\sharp} : \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}T^*M) \to \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}TM)$ is a cochain complex morphism between the Lichnerowicz-Poisson and the de Rham complexes. In particular, we have a well-defined map induced in cohomology,

$$(\Pi^{\sharp})^* : H^{\bullet}_{\mathrm{dR}}(M) \to H^{\bullet}_{\Pi}(M).$$

Example 1.22 (Symplectic manifolds). On a symplectic manifold (M, ω) , the map $\Pi_{\omega}^{\sharp} : T^*M \to TM$ is an isomorphism, with inverse map $-\omega^{\flat}$. Therefore, the Lichnerowicz-Poisson complex is isomorphic to the de Rham complex of M.

Example 1.23. Let N be any manifold endowed the zero Poisson bracket, (M, ω) a symplectic manifold, and $M \times N$ the product Poisson manifold. Then, (the lift of) every multivector field $A \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}TN)$ on N is a cocycle on $M \times N$.

1.4. POISSON COHOMOLOGY

Example 1.24 (The Poisson manifold $\mathfrak{sl}^*(2)$). Consider $M = \mathbb{R}^3$ endowed with the Poisson structure

$$\Pi := x^1 \frac{\partial}{\partial x^2} \wedge \frac{\partial}{\partial x^3} + x^2 \frac{\partial}{\partial x^3} \wedge \frac{\partial}{\partial x^1} - x^3 \frac{\partial}{\partial x^1} \wedge \frac{\partial}{\partial x^2}.$$

Then, $k(x) := (x^1)^2 + (x^2)^2 - (x^3)^2$ is a Casimir function. Now, let $f : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ be given by

$$f(t) := \begin{cases} e^{-1/t^2} & \text{if } t > 0, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise}, \end{cases}$$

and $K \in C^{\infty}(M)$ by $K := f \circ k$. Then, the vector field $Z \in \Gamma(TM)$ given by

$$Z := x^1 \frac{K(x)}{(x^1)^2 + (x^2)^2} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^1} + x^2 \frac{K(x)}{(x^1)^2 + (x^2)^2} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^2}$$

is an infinitesimal Poisson automorphism [52, p. 74]. Moreover, it is not Hamiltonian since it is not tangent to the symplectic foliation at each (x^1, x^2, x^3) with $(x^3)^2 < (x^1)^2 + (x^2)^2$. Therefore, $H^1_{\Pi}(M)$ is infinite dimensional. Furthermore,

$$H^1_{\Pi}(M)/\mathbb{R} \cong \{ f \circ k \in C^{\infty}(M) \mid f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}) \text{ is flat at } 0 \}.$$

The article [54] is devoted to the proof of this result.



Figure 1.1: The characteristic foliation of $\mathfrak{sl}^*(2)$ consists of one- and two-sheeted hyperboloids, the upper and lower portions of the cone, and the origin as zero-dimensional leaf.

Example 1.25 (The Poisson manifold $\mathfrak{so}^*(3)$). Let $M = \mathbb{R}^3$ be endowed with the Poisson structure

$$\Pi := x^1 \frac{\partial}{\partial x^2} \wedge \frac{\partial}{\partial x^3} + x^2 \frac{\partial}{\partial x^3} \wedge \frac{\partial}{\partial x^1} + x^3 \frac{\partial}{\partial x^1} \wedge \frac{\partial}{\partial x^2}.$$

For $k(x) := (x^1)^2 + (x^2)^2 + (x^3)^2$, we have $\operatorname{Casim}(M, \Pi) = \{f \circ k \mid f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})\}$. Therefore, $H^0_{\Pi}(M)$ is infinite-dimensional. However, since $\mathfrak{so}^*(3)$ is a Lie algebra which is semi-simple and of compact type, one must have [12, Therefore 4.1]

$$H^1_{\Pi}(M) = \{0\}$$

(see also [53, Theorem 1.2]). To see this, observe that the symplectic foliation consists of spheres centered at the origin with different symplectic areas. Thus, infinitesimal Poisson automorphisms must be tangent to the symplectic foliation. Since the sphere is simply connected, such vector fields must be Hamiltonian. \checkmark

▼



Figure 1.2: The characteristic foliation of $\mathfrak{so}^*(3)$ consists of concentric spheres at the origin, and the origin itself as zero-dimensional leaf.

Example 1.26. On $M = \mathbb{R}^3$, consider the Lie-Poisson structure

$$\Pi := \frac{\partial}{\partial x^3} \wedge \left(x^1 \frac{\partial}{\partial x^1} + x^2 \frac{\partial}{\partial x^2} \right).$$

The following vector fields

$$Z_1 = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1}, \qquad \qquad Z_2 = x_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2} - x_3 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_3}, \qquad \qquad Z_3 = x_3 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2}, \qquad \qquad Z_4 = x_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_3}$$

are generators of the first Poisson cohomology (see Section 5.8). Therefore,

$$H^1_{\Pi}(M) \cong \mathbb{R} \times \mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$$

as a Lie algebra [71, Example 7.1].



Figure 1.3: The Lie-Poisson structure described in Example 1.26 has characteristic foliation of open-book type. The two-dimensional leaves are half-planes whose boundary is the z-axis, which each of its points is a zero-dimensional leaf.

▼

Cohomology of Poisson structures with background. Let $\psi \in \Gamma(\wedge^3 T^*M)$ be a closed 3-form on the manifold M, and $\Pi \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 TM)$ a ψ -Poisson structure, $\frac{1}{2}[\Pi,\Pi] = -\Pi^{\sharp}\psi$. The corresponding Lie algebroid is $(T^*M,\Pi^{\sharp}, \{\cdot,\cdot\}_{\Pi,\psi})$, where

$$\{\alpha,\beta\}_{\Pi,\psi} := \mathcal{L}_{\Pi^{\sharp}\alpha}\,\beta - \mathcal{i}_{\Pi^{\sharp}\beta}\,\mathcal{d}\,\alpha - \mathcal{i}_{\Pi^{\sharp}\beta}\,\mathcal{i}_{\Pi^{\sharp}\alpha}\,\psi, \qquad \qquad \forall \alpha,\beta \in \Gamma(T^*M).$$

The de Rham differential $\partial_{\Pi,\psi} : \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}TM) \to \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}TM)$ is $\partial_{\Pi,\psi} = \partial_{\Pi} + j_{\Pi,\psi}$, where $\partial_{\Pi} := \operatorname{ad}_{\Pi}$ is the usual adjoint operator of Π with respect to the Schouten-Nijenhuis bracket of $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}TM)$, and $j_{\Pi,\psi} : \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}TM) \to \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}TM)$ is given on $A \in \Gamma(\wedge^{k}TM)$ and $\alpha_{1}, \ldots, \alpha_{k+1} \in \Gamma(T^{*}M)$ by

$$\mathbf{j}_{\Pi,\psi} A(\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_{k+1}) := -\sum_{\sigma \in S_{(2,k-1)}} (-1)^{\sigma} A(\mathbf{i}_{\Pi^{\sharp}\alpha_{\sigma_1}} \, \mathbf{i}_{\Pi^{\sharp}\alpha_{\sigma_2}} \, \psi, \alpha_{\sigma_3},\ldots,\alpha_{\sigma_{k+1}}).$$
(1.13)

There is a nice description of $j_{\Pi,\psi}$ as the insertion of a *1-form-valued bivector*. In fact, define $Q \equiv Q_{\Pi,\psi} \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 TM \otimes T^*M)$ by $Q(\alpha,\beta,X) := -\psi(\Pi^{\sharp}\alpha,\Pi^{\sharp}\beta,Y)$. Then, the right-hand side of (1.13) is simply the insertion $i_Q A$ evaluated on $(\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_{k+1})$. In other words, $j_{\Pi,\psi} = i_{Q_{\Pi,\psi}}$.

The 0-coboundaries are such $f \in C^{\infty}(M)$ satisfying $\Pi^{\sharp} df = 0$. In other words, $Z^{0}_{\Pi,\psi}(M) = H^{0}_{\Pi,\psi}(M)$ consists of the functions which are constant along the ψ -symplectic leaves. The 1-cocycles $X \in Z^{1}_{\Pi,\psi}(M)$ are those $X \in \Gamma(TM)$ such that

$$[\Pi, X](\alpha, \beta) - X(i_{\Pi^{\sharp}\alpha} i_{\Pi^{\sharp}\beta} \psi) = 0 \qquad \qquad \forall \alpha, \beta \in \Gamma(T^*M).$$

This is equivalent to $[X,\Pi] = \Pi^{\sharp} i_X \psi$.

1. GENERALITIES ON POISSON GEOMETRY

Chapter 2

The Coupling Method and Semilocal Poisson Geometry

In this chapter, we give a brief review of the coupling method for Poisson and Dirac structures on foliated manifolds. In Section 2.1, we describe the coupling method in the category of vector spaces. Sections 2.2-2.3 are devoted to the description of the geometric structures which appear in the context of the coupling method, such as Poisson foliations, connections, and curvature. The coupling method on foliated manifolds is described in Section 2.4. Finally, in Section 2.5 we apply the coupling method to describe Poisson geometry around symplectic leaves.

2.1 The coupling method in the vector space category

Let W be a finite dimensional vector space, and W^* its dual space. Denote $W := W \oplus W^*$. Consider the canonical projections $p_W : W \to W$, $p_{W^*} : W \to W^*$, and the bilinear symmetric pairing $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ on W given by

$$\langle X \oplus \alpha, Y \oplus \beta \rangle := \alpha(Y) + \beta(X), \qquad \forall X, Y \in W, \alpha, \beta \in W^*.$$

Consider a subspace $L \subseteq \mathbb{W}$. The orthogonal complement L^{\perp} of L with respect to $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ is

$$L^{\perp} := \{ \eta \in \mathbb{W} \mid \langle \eta, \zeta \rangle = 0, \ \forall \zeta \in L \}.$$

We say that L is isotropic, coisotropic, or Lagrangian if $L \subseteq L^{\perp}$, $L \supseteq L^{\perp}$, or $L = L^{\perp}$, respectively. Lagrangian subspaces are also called *maximally isotropic*, and their dimension equals to the one of W. Given an isotropic subspace $L \subset W$, the *characteristic subspace* $C^{L} \subseteq W$ is given by $C^{L} := p_{W}(L)$. An example of a Lagrangian subspace is the graph of a bivector $\Pi \in \wedge^{2}W$, given by $\operatorname{Graph}(\Pi^{\sharp}) := {\Pi^{\sharp} \alpha \oplus \alpha \mid \alpha \in W^{*}}$. A maximally isotropic subspace D is the graph of a bivector if and only if $D \cap (W \oplus \{0\}) = \{0\}$.

Now, consider a fixed subspace $V \subseteq W$, and denote by

$$V^{\circ} := \operatorname{Ann}(V) = \{ \alpha \in W^* \mid \alpha(v) = 0 \,\,\forall v \in V \}$$

its annihilator. Also, denote $\mathbb{V} := V \oplus V^{\circ} \subset \mathbb{W}$.

Definition 2.1. Let $D \subset W$ be a maximally isotropic subspace. We say that D is a coupling space on (W, V), or, shortly, a V-coupling subspace if

$$D \oplus \mathbb{V} = \mathbb{W}.$$

If D is a maximally isotropic subspace, then $\dim D + \dim \mathbb{V} = \dim \mathbb{W}$ for any subspace $V \subset W$. Therefore, D is V-coupling if and only if $D \cap \mathbb{V} = \{0\}$. **Definition 2.2.** A triple (P, γ, σ) of geometric data on (W, V) consists of a bivector $P \in \wedge^2 V$; a linear map $\gamma: W \to W$ such that $\operatorname{im}(\gamma) = V$, and $\gamma^2 = \gamma$; and a 2-form $\sigma \in \wedge^2 V^\circ$.

The goal of this part is to show the existence of a one-to-one correspondence between V-coupling subspaces of \mathbb{W} and geometric data on (W, V). To do so, we need some preliminary constructions.

Given a Lagrangian subspace $D \subset W$, let us define the subspaces $H \equiv H(D,V) \subset W$ and $A \equiv A(D,V) \subset W^*$ by

$$H(D,V) := \{ X \in W \mid \exists \alpha \in V^{\circ} : X \oplus \alpha \in D \} = p_W(D \cap (W \oplus V^{\circ})),$$
(2.1)

$$A(D,V) := \{ \mu \in W^* \mid \exists v \in V : v \oplus \mu \in D \} = p_{W^*}(D \cap (V \oplus W^*)).$$
(2.2)

Observe that $A \subseteq \operatorname{Ann}(H)$. Indeed, for $\mu \in A$ and $X \in H$, there exist $v \in V$ and $\alpha \in V^{\circ}$ such that $v \oplus \mu, X \oplus \alpha \in D$. Taking into account that $\alpha(v) = 0$ and the isotropy of D, we get

$$0 = \langle v \oplus \mu, X \oplus \alpha \rangle = \mu(X).$$

Since $X \in H$ is arbitrary, $\mu \in Ann(H)$, as claimed. This property is stronger in the coupling case.

Lemma 2.3. For the Lagrangian subspace $D \subset W$, the following assertions are equivalent:

- (a) D is V-coupling.
- (b) $H \oplus V = W$.
- (c) $V^{\circ} \oplus A = W^*$.

In this case, Ann(H) = A.

See Lemma A.1 of the Appendix for a detailed proof.

Given a linear map $\gamma: W \to W$ such that $\gamma^2 = \gamma$ and $\operatorname{im} \gamma = V$, denote $H^{\gamma} := \ker \gamma \subset W$, and $A^{\gamma} := \operatorname{im} \gamma^* \subset W^*$. Then, it follows that $A^{\gamma} = \operatorname{Ann}(H^{\gamma})$.

Proposition 2.4. There exists a one-to-one correspondence between V-coupling Lagrangian subspaces $D \subset W$ and geometric data (P, γ, σ) on (W, V).

Proof. Given some geometric data (P, γ, σ) , the subspace $D_{P,\gamma,\sigma} \subseteq \mathbb{W}$ given by

$$D_{P,\gamma,\sigma} := \{ (P^{\sharp}\mu + X) \oplus (\mu - i_X \sigma) \mid X \in H^{\gamma}, \mu \in A^{\gamma} \} = \operatorname{Graph}(P^{\sharp}|_{A^{\gamma}}) \oplus \operatorname{Graph}(-\sigma^{\flat}|_{H^{\gamma}})$$

is Lagrangian and V-coupling, due to Lemma A.2 of the Appendix. Conversely, each V-coupling Lagrangian subspace $D \subset W$ induces a triple $(P_D, \gamma_D, \sigma_D)$ of geometric data given as follows: the linear map $\gamma_D : W \to W$ is the projection over V along the splitting $H \oplus V = W$ of Lemma 2.3 (b); the bivector $P_D \in \wedge^2 V$ and the 2-form $\sigma_D \in \wedge^2 V^\circ$ are defined by the following relations:

$$P_D^{\sharp} \mu \oplus \mu \in D, \quad \forall \mu \in A, \qquad X \oplus (-i_X \sigma_D) \in D, \quad \forall X \in H.$$

The fact that P_D and σ_D are well defined follows from Lemma A.3. Finally, the proof of the fact that this correspondence is one to one is given in Proposition A.4 of the Appendix.

Definition 2.5. Given a V-coupling Lagrangian subspace $D \subset W$, we say that (P, γ, σ) given by Proposition 2.4 is the geometric data associated with D.

2.2. GENERALITIES ON FOLIATIONS AND CONNECTIONS

Let $\Pi \in \wedge^2 W$ be a bivector. Since the graph $\operatorname{Graph}(\Pi^{\sharp})$ of Π is a maximally isotropic subspace of \mathbb{W} , it is natural to find conditions for which $\operatorname{Graph}(\Pi^{\sharp})$ is V-coupling.

Proposition 2.6. The graph $\text{Graph}(\Pi^{\sharp})$ of a bivector $\Pi \in \wedge^2 W$ is V-coupling if and only if

$$\Pi^{\sharp}(V^{\circ}) \oplus V = W.$$

Moreover, if (P, γ, σ) is the geometric data associated with a V-coupling Lagrangian subspace $D \subseteq W$, then D is the graph of a bivector if and only if ker $\sigma^{\flat} = V$.

Proof. For $D^{\Pi} := \operatorname{Graph}(\Pi^{\sharp})$, one has

 $H(D^{\Pi}, V) = \{ X \in W \mid X \oplus \alpha \in D^{\Pi}, \alpha \in V^{\circ} \} = \{ \Pi^{\sharp} \alpha \mid \alpha \in V^{\circ} \} = \Pi^{\sharp}(V^{\circ}).$

By Lemma 2.3, we have that D^{Π} is V-coupling if and only if $\Pi^{\sharp}(V^{\circ}) \oplus V = W$. Now, if (P, γ, σ) is some geometric data and D is the corresponding V-coupling subspace, then

$$D \cap (W \oplus \{0\}) = \{ (X + P^{\sharp}\mu) \oplus (\mu - \mathbf{i}_X \sigma) \mid X \in H^{\gamma}, \mu \in A^{\gamma}, \mu - \mathbf{i}_X \sigma = 0 \}$$
$$= \{ X \oplus 0 \mid X \in H^{\gamma}, \mathbf{i}_X \sigma = 0 \} = \ker(\sigma^{\flat}|_{H^{\gamma}}) \oplus \{0\}.$$

Thus, D is the graph of a bivector if and only if $\ker(\sigma^{\flat}|_{H^{\gamma}}) = \{0\}$. Since $H^{\gamma} \oplus V = TM$, and $V \subseteq \ker \sigma^{\flat}$, we conclude that the condition for D to be the graph of a bivector is equivalent to $\ker \sigma^{\flat} = V$.

2.2 Generalities on foliations and connections

For the purposes of this work, we are interested in the application of our previous description of coupling structures on vector spaces to the smooth category. More precisely, we apply our previous characterization to Dirac structures on foliated manifolds. In this sense, we need to review some basics on regular foliations, as well as some other structures that interrelate to describe the geometry of coupling structures, such as Ehresmann connections.

Regular foliations. Suppose we are given a regular foliation \mathcal{V} on M, and let $V := T\mathcal{V}$ be the tangent bundle of \mathcal{V} . A multivector field $A \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}TM)$ on the foliated manifold (M, \mathcal{V}) is said to be *leaf-tangent* if $A \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V)$. Since V is involutive, the Schouten-Nijenhuis bracket of leaf-tangent multivector fields is again leaf-tangent. This implies that $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V)$ is a graded Poisson subalgebra of the algebra of multivector fields.

A vector field $u \in \Gamma(TM)$ is said to be an *infinitesimal automorphism of* (M, \mathcal{V}) , or, shortly, \mathcal{V} -projectable, if $[u, Y] \in \Gamma(V)$ for all $Y \in \Gamma(V)$. The set of \mathcal{V} -projectable vector fields will be denoted by $\operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$. Algebraically, $\operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$ is the normalizer of the Lie subalgebra of leaf-tangent vector fields $\Gamma(V)$, so $\operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$ is an \mathbb{R} -Lie algebra containing $\Gamma(V)$. As a consequence, $[\operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V}), \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V)] \subseteq \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V)$. It is important to remark that, for any regular foliation \mathcal{V} , the tangent bundle TM is locally finitely generated by \mathcal{V} -projectable vector fields.

Denote by $V^{\circ} := \operatorname{Ann}(V)$ the annihilator of the tangent bundle of \mathcal{V} . Then, $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V^{\circ})$ is the exterior subalgebra of differential forms which vanish if any of its arguments is leaf-tangent. Moreover, the algebra of \mathcal{V} -projectable vector fields preserves $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V^{\circ})$, in the sense that $L_u \alpha \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V^{\circ})$ for all $u \in \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$ and $\alpha \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V^{\circ})$. Finally, note that $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V^{\circ})$ is not a cochain subcomplex of the de Rham complex of M. In fact, the involutivity of V is equivalent to $i_Y d\alpha \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V^{\circ})$ for all $\alpha \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V^{\circ})$ and $Y \in \Gamma(V)$.

The contravariant analog of the \mathcal{V} -projectable vector fields are the basic differential forms. A k-form $\alpha \in \Gamma(\wedge^k V^\circ)$ is said to be *basic* if $d\alpha \in \Gamma(\wedge^{k+1}V^\circ)$. The \mathbb{R} -space of basic k-forms is denoted by $\Gamma_{\rm b}(\wedge^k V^\circ)$. It is clear that $\Gamma_{\rm b}(\wedge^{\bullet}V^\circ) := \bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \Gamma_{\rm b}(\wedge^k V^\circ)$ is a subalgebra of the differential forms with the exterior product, and a subcomplex of the de Rham complex ($\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}T^*M)$, d). Furthermore, for all $u \in \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$, and $\alpha \in \Gamma_{\rm b}(\wedge^{\bullet}V^\circ)$, we have $i_u \alpha \in \Gamma_{\rm b}(\wedge^{\bullet}V^\circ)$. In particular, the algebra $\Gamma_{\rm b}(\wedge^{\bullet}V^\circ)$ of basic forms is preserved by the \mathcal{V} -projectable vector fields,

$$\mathcal{L}_{u} \alpha \in \Gamma_{\mathbf{b}}(\wedge^{\bullet} V^{\circ}), \qquad \forall u \in \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V}), \alpha \in \Gamma_{\mathbf{b}}(\wedge^{\bullet} V^{\circ}).$$

For any regular foliation \mathcal{V} , the basic forms locally generate $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V^{\circ})$.

Associated with a foliation \mathcal{V} on M, the algebra of *leaf-wise differential forms* is $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V^*)$. The leaf-tangent multivector fields naturally act on $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V^*)$ by insertion, and for each $\mu \in \Gamma(\wedge^k V^*)$ and $u \in \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$, the Lie derivative $L_u \mu$ is well defined by the standard formula

$$L_{u} \mu(Y_{1}, \dots, Y_{k}) := L_{u}(\mu(Y_{1}, \dots, Y_{k})) - \sum_{i=1}^{k} \mu(Y_{1}, \dots, [u, Y_{i}], \dots, Y_{k}), \qquad \forall Y_{i} \in \Gamma(V).$$

Moreover, the foliated exterior derivative $d_{\mathcal{V}}: \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V^*) \to \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V^*)$, is defined on $\mu \in \Gamma(\wedge^k V^*)$ by

$$d_{\mathcal{V}}\mu(Y_1,\ldots,Y_{k+1}) := \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(1,k)}} (-1)^{\sigma} L_{Y_{\sigma_1}}(\mu(Y_{\sigma_2},\ldots,Y_{\sigma_{k+1}})) - \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(2,k-1)}} (-1)^{\sigma} \mu([Y_{\sigma_1},Y_{\sigma_2}],Y_{\sigma_3},\ldots,Y_{\sigma_{k+1}})$$

for all $Y_1, \ldots, Y_{k+1} \in \Gamma(V)$. This is a graded derivation of degree 1 and a coboundary operator, $d_{\mathcal{V}}^2 = 0$. The cochain complex $(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V^*), d_{\mathcal{V}})$ is called the *foliated de Rham complex*. It is immediate to see that the foliated de Rham complex is precisely the de Rham complex of the tangent Lie algebroid $(V, \iota, [\cdot, \cdot]_V)$, where $\iota : V \to TM$ is the natural inclusion, and $[\cdot, \cdot]_V$ the restriction of the Lie bracket to the leaf-tangent vector fields (see Example 1.7). Its cohomology is called *foliated de Rham cohomology* and denoted by $H^{\bullet}_{dR}(\mathcal{V})$.

The Frölicher-Nijenhuis bracket. Consider the Cartan's algebra $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}T^*M)$ with the exterior product \wedge . Recall that, for each vector-valued form $K \in \Gamma(\wedge^k T^*M \otimes TM)$, one has the graded derivation i_K of $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}T^*M)$ given on $\alpha \in \Gamma(\wedge^p T^*M)$ and $X_1, \ldots, X_{p+k-1} \in \Gamma(TM)$ by

$$i_K \alpha(X_1, \dots, X_{p+k-1}) := \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(k,p-1)}} (-1)^{\sigma} \alpha(K(X_{\sigma_1}, \dots, X_{\sigma_k}), X_{\sigma_{k+1}}, \dots, X_{\sigma_{p+k-1}}).$$

The graded derivation i_K has degree k-1 and is called the *insertion* of K. Similarly, if $\alpha \in \Gamma(\wedge^p T^*M \otimes TM)$, we define $i_K \alpha \in \Gamma(\wedge^{p+k-1}T^*M \otimes TM)$ by the formula in above.

On the other hand the vector-valued form $K \in \Gamma(\wedge^k T^*M \otimes TM)$ induces the graded derivation \mathcal{L}_K of degree k, defined in terms of the graded commutator with the exterior differential d,

$$\mathbf{L}_K := [\mathbf{i}_K, \mathbf{d}] = \mathbf{i}_K \circ \mathbf{d} + (-1)^k \, \mathbf{d} \circ \mathbf{i}_K.$$

The graded derivation L_K is called the *Lie derivative* along *K*. Moreover, because of the Jacobi identity of the graded commutator, it follows that $[L_K, d] = 0$. Also, $L_K = [i_K, d] = 0$ if and only if K = 0.

2.2. GENERALITIES ON FOLIATIONS AND CONNECTIONS

It can be shown that every graded derivation of the Cartan's algebra is the sum of a Lie derivative and a insertion of vector-valued forms. More precisely,

Theorem 2.7 (Frölicher-Nijenhuis). Let $D : \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}T^*M) \to \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}T^*M)$ be a derivation of degree k. There exist unique vector-valued forms $K \in \Gamma(\wedge^k T^*M \otimes TM)$, $L \in \Gamma(\wedge^{k+1}T^*M \otimes TM)$ such that

$$D = \mathcal{L}_K + \mathcal{i}_L \,.$$

The proof of this fact can be found in [35, Subsection 8.3].

The Frölicher-Nijenhuis theorem, and the fact that the correspondence $K \mapsto L_K$ is injective, implies that the only graded derivations commuting with the exterior differential are Lie derivatives,

$$[D, \mathbf{d}] = 0 \Leftrightarrow D = \mathbf{L}_K.$$

As a consequence, we have the following fact: given $K \in \Gamma(\wedge^k T^*M \otimes TM)$ and $L \in \Gamma(\wedge^l T^*M \otimes TM)$, the graded derivation $[\mathcal{L}_K, \mathcal{L}_L]$ of degree k + l commutes with d, due to the Jacobi identity. Therefore, $[\mathcal{L}_K, \mathcal{L}_L]$ must be a Lie derivative. In other words, there exists a unique vector-valued form $[K, L]_{FN} \in \Gamma(\wedge^{k+l}T^*M \otimes TM)$ such that

$$\mathcal{L}_{[K,L]_{FN}} = [\mathcal{L}_K, \mathcal{L}_L].$$

This defines an \mathbb{R} -bilinear operation

$$[\cdot, \cdot]_{FN} : \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}T^*M \otimes TM) \times \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}T^*M \otimes TM) \to \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}T^*M \otimes TM),$$

called the *Frölicher-Nijenhuis bracket*. Because of the definition of the Frölicher-Nijenhuis bracket, the Lie derivative is a faithful representation of the vector-valued forms on the algebra of graded derivations with the graded commutator. In particular, the Frölicher-Nijenhuis bracket is a graded Lie bracket on $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}T^*M \otimes TM)$ of degree zero.

We now present some properties regarding the Frölicher-Nijenhuis bracket. For more details, see [35, Section 8].

Lemma 2.8. Let $K \in \Gamma(\wedge^k T^*M \otimes TM)$ and $L \in \Gamma(\wedge^l T^*M \otimes TM)$ be vector-valued forms. Then,

$$[L_K, i_L] = i_{[K,L]_{FN}} - (-1)^{kl} L_{i_L K}$$

In the case when $K, L \in \Gamma(\wedge^1 T^*M \otimes TM)$, we have for $X, Y \in \Gamma(TM)$ that

$$[K, L]_{FN}(X, Y) = [KX, LY] - [KY, LX] - L([KX, Y] - [KY, X]) - K([LX, Y] - [LY, X]) + (LK + KL)[X, Y].$$

Connections. Following [35, Section 8.13], recall that a connection form on M is a vector-valued 1-form $\gamma \in \Gamma(T^*M \otimes TM)$ corresponding to a vector bundle map $\gamma : TM \to TM$ such that $\gamma^2 = \gamma$. If we denote $H^{\gamma} := \ker(\gamma)$, and $V^{\gamma} := \operatorname{im}(\gamma)$, then we have

$$H^{\gamma} \oplus V^{\gamma} = TM. \tag{2.3}$$

In this case, H^{γ} and V^{γ} are said to be the *horizontal* and *vertical* distributions of γ , respectively. The curvature $R^{\gamma} \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 T^*M \otimes V^{\gamma})$ and the cocurvature $S^{\gamma} \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 T^*M \otimes H^{\gamma})$ of γ are

$$R^{\gamma}(X,Y) := \gamma[(\mathrm{Id} - \gamma)X, (\mathrm{Id} - \gamma)Y], \qquad S^{\gamma}(X,Y) = (\mathrm{Id} - \gamma)[\gamma X, \gamma Y], \qquad \forall X, Y \in \Gamma(TM),$$

which are the obstructions to the integrability of the distributions H^{γ} and V^{γ} , respectively.

Due to Lemma 2.8, the curvature and cocurvature of γ are related with the Frölicher-Nijenhuis bracket by

$$\frac{1}{2}[\gamma,\gamma]_{FN} = R^{\gamma} + S^{\gamma}.$$

Splitting (2.3) induces γ -dependent bigradings of the exterior algebras of multivector fields and differential forms on M. To see this, denote $\wedge^{p,q}TM := \wedge^p H^{\gamma} \otimes \wedge^q V^{\gamma}$ and $\wedge^{p,q}T^*M := \wedge^p \operatorname{Ann}(V^{\gamma}) \otimes \wedge^q \operatorname{Ann}(H^{\gamma})$, where $\operatorname{Ann}(H^{\gamma})$ and $\operatorname{Ann}(V^{\gamma})$ are the annihilators of H^{γ} and V^{γ} , respectively. Then,

$$\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}TM) = \bigoplus_{p,q \in \mathbb{Z}} \Gamma(\wedge^{p,q}TM), \qquad \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}T^*M) = \bigoplus_{p,q \in \mathbb{Z}} \Gamma(\wedge^{p,q}T^*M).$$
(2.4)

For a multivector field A, the term of bidegree (p,q) in decomposition (2.4) is denoted by $A_{p,q}$. We follow same notation for differential forms. In a similar manner, we have a bigraded decomposition for any linear operator on these exterior algebras. For instance, and as a consequence of Proposition C.4 of the Appendix, the exterior differential splits as $d = d_{2,-1}^{\gamma} + d_{1,0}^{\gamma} + d_{0,1}^{\gamma} + d_{-1,2}^{\gamma}$.

Connections on foliated manifolds. Suppose we are given a regular foliation \mathcal{V} on M, and denote $V := T\mathcal{V}$. A connection on the foliated manifold (M, \mathcal{V}) is a connection γ on M such that $V^{\gamma} = V$. In this case, the horizontal distribution $H := \ker \gamma$ is a subbundle normal to \mathcal{V} , $H \oplus T\mathcal{V} = TM$. Furthermore, it follows from the involutivity of V that the cocurvature of γ is trivial, $S^{\gamma} = 0$. This implies the following relation between γ , its curvature R^{γ} , and the Frölicher-Nijenhuis bracket:

$$R^{\gamma} = \frac{1}{2} [\gamma, \gamma]_{FN}. \tag{2.5}$$

By Corollary C.6, $d = d_{2,-1}^{\gamma} + d_{1,0}^{\gamma} + d_{0,1}^{\gamma}$, and $(d_{0,1}^{\gamma})^2 = 0$. Here, $d_{1,0}^{\gamma}$ is the covariant exterior derivative of γ , and $d_{2,-1}^{\gamma} = -i_{R^{\gamma}}$. Furthermore, $d_{0,1}^{\gamma}$ corresponds to the *foliated exterior derivative* introduced in Section 2.2. More precisely, the natural inclusion of the \mathcal{V} -leaves in M induces a cochain complex isomorphism, $(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V^*), d_{\mathcal{V}}) \cong (\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}H^{\circ}), d_{0,1}^{\gamma})$.

Now, observe that $(\mathrm{Id} - \gamma) \in \Gamma(V^{\circ} \otimes TM)$ can be viewed as a map $(\mathrm{Id} - \gamma) : TM \to TM$ such that

$$(\mathrm{Id} - \gamma) \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V}) = \Gamma(H^{\gamma}) \cap \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V}).$$

To see this, fix $u \in \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$. Since $\operatorname{im}(\gamma) = \Gamma(V) \subseteq \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$, one has $(\operatorname{Id} - \gamma)u = u - \gamma(u)$, which is the difference of elements in $\operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$. Hence, $(\operatorname{Id} - \gamma)u \in \Gamma(H^{\gamma}) \cap \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$.

Remark 2.9. For an arbitrary regular foliation \mathcal{V} , global \mathcal{V} -projectable vector fields transversal to \mathcal{V} do not necessarily exist. Therefore, given a connection γ on (M, \mathcal{V}) , the γ -horizontal \mathcal{V} -projectable vector fields $\operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V}) \cap \Gamma(H^{\gamma})$ are considered as local vector fields. Of course, if the foliation \mathcal{V} is given by the fibers of a submersion $\pi : M \to B$, then the horizontal lifts $\operatorname{hor}^{\gamma}(u)$ of $u \in \Gamma(TB)$ are \mathcal{V} -projectable, $\operatorname{hor}^{\gamma}(u) \in \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V}) \cap \Gamma(H^{\gamma})$.

Finally, we say that a connection γ on (M, \mathcal{V}) is *flat* if the horizontal distribution H^{γ} is involutive, $R^{\gamma} = 0$. In this case, $d = d_{0,1}^{\gamma} + d_{1,0}^{\gamma}$, where $d_{0,1}^{\gamma}$ and $d_{1,0}^{\gamma}$ are graded commutative coboundary operators corresponding to the foliated exterior derivatives of \mathcal{V} and the foliation \mathcal{H} integrating H^{γ} , $T\mathcal{H} = H^{\gamma}$.

2.3 Geometric data

Roughly speaking, a Poisson foliation is a regular foliation such that each leaf is endowed with a Poisson structure varying smoothly from leaf to leaf. Contrary to the case of leaf-wise differential forms, a leaf-wise multivector field defines a global leaf-tangent multivector field whose restriction to the leaves coincides with the leaf-wise one.

Definition 2.10. A Poisson foliation is a triple (M, \mathcal{V}, P) , where \mathcal{V} is a regular foliation on M, and P is a leaf-tangent Poisson structure: [P, P] = 0, and $P \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 T \mathcal{V})$.

Given a Poisson foliation (M, \mathcal{V}, P) , the Hamiltonian vector fields of P are leaf-tangent, $P^{\sharp} df \in \Gamma(T\mathcal{V})$ for all $f \in C^{\infty}(M)$. Therefore, the symplectic leaves of P are contained in the leaves of \mathcal{V} . On the other hand, the infinitesimal Poisson automorphisms of P can be transversal to the foliation \mathcal{V} . In particular, this occurs whenever a Poisson foliation admits a *Poisson connection*.

Definition 2.11. A Poisson connection γ on the Poisson foliation (M, \mathcal{V}, P) is a connection on (M, \mathcal{V}) such that P is γ -parallel.

The γ -parallel condition for P can be expressed in infinitesimal terms as $\Gamma(H^{\gamma}) \cap \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V}) \subseteq \operatorname{Poiss}(M, P)$. In other words, the γ -horizontal \mathcal{V} -projectable vector fields are Poisson,

$$\mathcal{L}_u P = 0 \qquad \qquad \forall u \in \Gamma(H^\gamma) \cap \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V}).$$

Denote by $A^{\gamma} := \operatorname{Ann}(H^{\gamma})$ the annihilator of H^{γ} . Then, for arbitrary elements in $\Gamma(H^{\gamma})$, the condition for γ to be Poisson on (M, \mathcal{V}, P) becomes

$$\mathcal{L}_X P(\mu, \nu) = 0 \qquad \qquad \forall X \in \Gamma(H^\gamma), \mu, \nu \in \Gamma(A^\gamma).$$

Example 2.12 (Regular Poisson structures). A Poisson structure Π such that the map $\Pi^{\sharp} : TM \to T^*M$ is of locally constant rank is said to be *regular*. In this case, the symplectic foliation (S, ω_S) can be considered as a very special Poisson foliation (M, S, Π_{ω_S}) , such that Π_{ω_S} is leaf-wise symplectic. If such Poisson foliation admits a Poisson connection, then Π is said to be transversally constant [62, pp. 959-960], [64, pp. 49-50].

An special class of Poisson foliations are, of course, Poisson fibrations.

Definition 2.13. A Poisson fibration is a pair $(E \xrightarrow{\pi} M, P)$ in which π is a surjective submersion and $P \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 V)$ is a vertical Poisson structure. Given two Poisson fibrations $(E_1 \xrightarrow{\pi_1} M, P_1)$, and $(E_2 \xrightarrow{\pi_2} M, P_2)$ over M, a morphism of Poisson fibrations is a Poisson map $\phi : (E_1, P_1) \to (E_1, P_1)$ such that $\pi_2 \circ \phi = \pi_1$. A Poisson fibration $(E \xrightarrow{\pi} M, P)$ is said to be locally trivial if there exists a Poisson manifold (N, Υ) , and an open cover \mathcal{U} of M such that, for all $U \in \mathcal{U}, \pi^{-1}(U)$ and $U \times N$ are isomorphic as a Poisson foliations. If the open cover can be chosen as $\mathcal{U} = \{M\}$, then the Poisson fibration $(E \xrightarrow{\pi} M, P)$ is said to be trivial.

Example 2.14 (Lie-Poisson bundles). Let $(A \to M, q, [\cdot, \cdot]_A)$ be a transitive Lie algebroid. The isotropy bundle $I := \ker(q)$ has constant rank and hence is a vector subbundle of A. Furthermore, because of the Leibniz rule, $\Gamma(I)$ is closed with respect to $[\cdot, \cdot]_A$. Moreover, the restriction $[\cdot, \cdot]_I := [\cdot, \cdot]_A|_{\Gamma(I) \times \Gamma(I)}$ is $C^{\infty}(M)$ -linear. So, one can think of $(I \to M, [\cdot, \cdot]_I)$ as a bundle of Lie algebras.

Therefore, the coisotropy bundle $E := I^*$ is a fiber-wise linear Poisson fibration over M. The fiber-wise linear Poisson structure P is defined as in (1.4), viewing I as a Lie algebroid. Furthermore, in this case $(E \xrightarrow{\pi} M, P)$ is a Poisson fibration. Indeed, since the anchor of I is zero, we get that $P^{\sharp} d \pi^* f = 0$ for all $f \in C^{\infty}(M)$, which implies that $P \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 V)$. Since P is fiber-wise linear, $(E \xrightarrow{\pi} M, P)$ is in this case a Lie-Poisson bundle. Conversely, every Lie-Poisson bundle is the dual of a bundle of Lie algebras.

Example 2.15. Let $P \xrightarrow{p} M$ be a principal *G*-bundle. Then, A := TP/G is a transitive Lie algebroid (see Example 1.9). The isotropy bundle is $I = P \times_G \mathfrak{g}$, where \mathfrak{g} is the Lie algebra of *G*, together with the adjoint action. This is a vector bundle over *M*, which is locally trivial as a bundle of Lie algebras with typical fiber \mathfrak{g} . Therefore, the coisotropy bundle $E := I^*$ is locally trivial as a Lie-Poisson bundle.

It is clear that trivial Poisson fibrations are endowed with a Poisson connection. Furthermore, this is also true for locally trivial Poisson fibrations.

Example 2.16 (Trivial Poisson fibrations). Let M be a manifold, (N, Υ) a Poisson manifold, and consider the corresponding trivial Poisson fibration $(M \times N, P)$. Consider also the tangent bundle to the foliation $\mathcal{F} := \{M \times \{n\} \mid n \in N\}$ as the horizontal distribution of a connection γ on $(M \times N, P)$. It is clear that γ is a flat Poisson connection.

Example 2.17 (Locally trivial Poisson fibrations). Every locally trivial Poisson fibration admits a Poisson connection. In fact, let $(E \xrightarrow{\pi} M, P)$ be a locally trivial Poisson fibration, and \mathcal{U} an open cover of M satisfying the triviality condition. For each $U \in \mathcal{U}$, denote by γ_U the Poisson connection defined on the trivial Poisson fibration $\pi^{-1}(U)$. Given a partition of unity $\{\rho_U : U \in \mathcal{U}\}$ on M subordinated to \mathcal{U} , it follows that $\gamma := \sum_{U \in \mathcal{U}} \pi^* \rho_U \gamma_U$ is a Poisson connection on E. This follows from the facts that $\sum_{U \in \mathcal{U}} \rho_U = 1$ and $\pi^* f \in \text{Casim}(E, P)$ for all $f \in C^{\infty}(M)$.

Example 2.18 (Coisotropy bundles). Let $(A \to M, q, [\cdot, \cdot]_A)$ be a transitive Lie algebroid, and let $I := \ker(q)$ be the isotropy bundle. As explained above, the coisotropy bundle $E := I^*$ is a Lie-Poisson bundle, endowed with a fiber-wise linear and vertical Poisson structure P. Consider any subbundle $H \subset A$ complementary to $I, H \oplus I = A$. We claim that H induces a linear Poisson connection on $(E \xrightarrow{\pi} M, P)$. Since A is transitive, rank $H = \operatorname{rank} A - \operatorname{rank} I = \operatorname{rank} = \operatorname{rank} TM$, which implies that $q|_H : H \to TM$ is an isomorphism of vector bundles. Let $h : TM \to H$ be the inverse of $q|_H$. Now, consider the map

$$\nabla: TM \times I \to I,$$
$$(u, a) \mapsto \nabla_u a := [h(u), a]_A.$$

Since q is a Lie algebra morphism and q(a) = 0, it follows that $q([h(u), a]_A) = 0$, so ∇ is well defined. Furthermore, by the Leibniz rule,

$$\nabla_{fu}a = [h(fu), a] = [fh(u), a] = f[h(u), a] - \mathcal{L}_{q(a)} f \cdot h(u) = f[h(u), a] = f\nabla_{u}a,$$

$$\nabla_{u}(fa) = [h(u), fa] = f[h(u), a] + \mathcal{L}_{q(h(u))} f \cdot a = f\nabla_{u}a + \mathcal{L}_{u} f \cdot a,$$

which means that ∇ is a linear connection on I. Furthermore, the dual connection $\nabla : TM \times E \to E$ is a Poisson connection on $(E \xrightarrow{\pi} M, P)$. In fact, for each $a \in \Gamma(I)$, consider the linear function

2.3. GEOMETRIC DATA

 $\varphi_a: E \to \mathbb{R}$ given by $\varphi_a \alpha := \alpha(a_{\pi(\alpha)})$. Then, for each $u \in \Gamma(TM)$, the horizontal lift hor^{∇}(u) with respect to such dual connection is given by

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{hor}}\nabla_{(u)}\varphi_a = \varphi_{\nabla_u a}, \qquad \qquad \forall a \in \Gamma(I).$$

Now, fix $u \in TM$, $a, b \in I$. By the Jacobi identity of $[\cdot, \cdot]_A$,

$$\nabla_u[a,b]_A = [h(u), [a,b]_A]_A = [[h(u),a]_A, b]_A + [a, [h(u),b]_A]_A = [\nabla_u a, b]_A + [a, \nabla_u b]_A.$$

By applying φ on both sides and using the fact that $P(d\varphi_a, d\varphi_b) = \varphi_{[a,b]_A}$, we get

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{hor}^{\nabla}(u)}(P(\mathrm{d}\,\varphi_{a},\mathrm{d}\,\varphi_{b})) = P(\mathrm{d}\,\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{hor}^{\nabla}(u)}\,\varphi_{a},\mathrm{d}\,\varphi_{b}) + P(\mathrm{d}\,\varphi_{a},\mathrm{d}\,\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{hor}^{\nabla}(u)}\,\varphi_{b}).$$

Therefore, $\operatorname{hor}^{\nabla}(u) \in \operatorname{Poiss}(E, P)$ for all $u \in \Gamma(TM)$, proving that ∇ is a Poisson connection.

Curvature. Given a Poisson connection γ on a Poisson foliation (M, \mathcal{V}, P) , the curvature $R^{\gamma} \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 T^*M \otimes V)$ takes values in infinitesimal Poisson automorphisms,

$$R^{\gamma}(X,Y) \in \Gamma(V) \cap \text{Poiss}(M,P), \qquad \forall X,Y \in \text{aut}(M,\mathcal{V}).$$

To see this, fix $X, Y \in \Gamma(H^{\gamma}) \cap \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$. Since $\operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V}) \cap \operatorname{Poiss}(M, P)$ is a Lie algebra, one has $[X, Y] \in \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V}) \cap \operatorname{Poiss}(M, P)$. On the other hand, since $(\operatorname{Id} - \gamma)$ maps $\operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$ to $\Gamma(H^{\gamma}) \cap \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$, one has $(\operatorname{Id} - \gamma)[X, Y] \in \Gamma(H^{\gamma}) \cap \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V}) \subseteq \operatorname{Poiss}(M, P)$. Therefore, $R^{\gamma}(X, Y)$ can be expressed as the difference of infinitesimal Poisson automorphisms, as follows:

$$R^{\gamma}(X,Y) = [X,Y] - (\mathrm{Id} - \gamma)[X,Y] \in \mathrm{Poiss}(M,P).$$

A more special situation is when the curvature of a Poisson connection takes values in Hamiltonian vector fields.

Definition 2.19. Let γ be a Poisson connection on (M, \mathcal{V}, P) . We say that the curvature R^{γ} of γ is locally Hamiltonian if there exists a closed 3-form $\Theta \in \Gamma(\wedge^{3}T^{*}M)$ such that

$$R^{\gamma}(X,Y) = -P^{\sharp} i_Y i_X \Theta, \qquad \forall X,Y \in \Gamma(TM).$$

In this case, we say that R^{γ} is locally Hamiltonian via Θ . If, in addition, $\Theta = d\sigma$ for some $\sigma \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 V^{\circ})$, then R^{γ} is called Hamiltonian, and σ is said to be the Hamiltonian form of R^{γ} .

Clearly, if the curvature R^{γ} of γ is Hamiltonian, then R^{γ} is locally Hamiltonian. In terms of \mathcal{V} -projectable vector fields, the Hamiltonian condition for R^{γ} reads

$$R^{\gamma}(X,Y) = -P^{\sharp} d(\sigma(X,Y)), \qquad \forall X,Y \in \Gamma(H^{\gamma}) \cap \operatorname{aut}(M,\mathcal{V}),$$

which is indeed a Hamiltonian vector field.

Example 2.20. Suppose that $(A, q, [\cdot, \cdot]_A)$ is a transitive Lie algebroid, and let $E \xrightarrow{\pi} M$ be the coisotropy bundle, $E := I^*$, $I := \ker(q)$, endowed with the fiber-wise Lie-Poisson structure P and the linear Poisson connection $\nabla : TM \times E \to E$ induced by the choice of some $H \subset A$ complementary to

I. We refer to Examples 2.14 and 2.18 for details. Let us show that the curvature of ∇ is Hamiltonian. In fact, first consider $\sigma^H \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 TM \otimes I)$ given by

$$\sigma^{H}(u,v) := [h(u), h(v)]_{A} - h[u,v].$$

Since $q \circ h = \operatorname{Id}_{TM}$, it follows that $q(\sigma^H(u, v)) = 0$, so in fact $\sigma^H(u, v) \in I$. Now, consider the curvature $R^{\nabla} \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 TM \otimes V)$ of the linear connection ∇ on E. Observe that for $u, v \in \Gamma(TM)$ and $a \in \Gamma(I)$,

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{L}_{R\nabla(u,v)} \varphi_{a} &= \mathcal{L}_{[\operatorname{hor}\nabla(u),\operatorname{hor}\nabla(v)]} \varphi_{a} - \mathcal{L}_{\operatorname{hor}\nabla[u,v]} \varphi_{a} \\ &= \varphi_{\nabla_{u}\nabla_{v}a} - \nabla_{v}\nabla_{u}a - \varphi_{\nabla_{[u,v]}a} = \varphi_{[h(u),[h(v),a]_{A}]_{A} - [h(v),[h(u),a]_{A}]_{A}} - \varphi_{[h[u,v],a]_{A}} \\ &= \varphi_{[[h(u),h(v)]_{A} - h[u,v],a]_{A}} = \varphi_{[\sigma^{H}(u,v),a]} \\ &= P(\operatorname{d}\varphi_{\sigma^{H}(u,v)}, \operatorname{d}\varphi_{a}) = \mathcal{L}_{P^{\sharp}\operatorname{d}\varphi_{\sigma^{H}(u,v)}} \varphi_{a} \end{split}$$

This shows that $R^{\nabla}(u,v) = P^{\sharp} d\varphi_{\sigma^{H}(u,v)}$. In other words, the curvature of ∇ is Hamiltonian. A similar computation shows that $\nabla \sigma^{H} = 0$, which means that σ^{H} is ∇ -covariantly constant.

Cohomology of Poisson foliations. Associated with a Poisson foliation (M, \mathcal{V}, P) , there exists an intrinsic Lie algebroid $(V^*, \iota \circ P^{\sharp} \circ \iota^*, \{\cdot, \cdot\}_P)$, where $V := T\mathcal{V}, \iota : V \hookrightarrow TM$ is the inclusion map, and

$$\{\mu,\nu\}_P = \mathcal{L}_{P^{\sharp}\mu}\nu - \mathcal{i}_{P^{\sharp}\nu} \, \mathrm{d}_{\mathcal{V}}\,\mu, \qquad \forall \mu,\nu\in\Gamma(V^*).$$

Here, $d_{\mathcal{V}} \in \text{Der}^1 \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet} V^*)$ is the foliated exterior derivative, and the Lie derivatives are defined by the standard formula (see Section 2.3). The de Rham differential $\partial_P : \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet} V) \to \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet} V)$ of $(V^*, \iota \circ P^{\sharp} \circ \iota^*, \{\cdot, \cdot\}_P)$ coincides with the Lichnerowicz-Poisson operator of the Poisson manifold (M, P) restricted to the algebra of leaf-tangent multivector fields, $\partial_P := [P, \cdot]$. The Lie algebroid cohomology is denoted by $H^{\bullet}_P(M, \mathcal{V})$. The map $P^{\sharp} : V^* \to V$ is a morphism from the Lie algebroid on V^* to $(V, \iota, [\cdot, \cdot]_V)$, which induces a linear mapping in cohomology $(P^{\sharp})^* : H^{\bullet}_{dR}(\mathcal{V}) \to H^{\bullet}_P(M, \mathcal{V})$. If we denote the space of cocycles of $(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet} V), \partial_P)$ by $Z^{\bullet}_P(M, \mathcal{V})$, then it is clear that $Z^{\bullet}_P(M, \mathcal{V}) = Z^{\bullet}_P(M) \cap \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet} V)$, which are the leaf-tangent cocycles of the Poisson manifold (M, P). In particular,

$$H^1_P(M, \mathcal{V}) = \frac{\operatorname{Poiss}_{\mathcal{V}}(M, P)}{\operatorname{Ham}(M, P)}$$

is the quotient of the leaf-tangent infinitesimal Poisson automorphisms $\operatorname{Poiss}_{\mathcal{V}}(M, P) := \Gamma(V) \cap \operatorname{Poiss}(M, P)$ by the Hamiltonian vector fields of P.

2.4 The coupling method on foliated manifolds

Let M be a manifold and consider its Pontryagin bundle $\mathbb{T}M := TM \oplus T^*M$. Let also $V \subseteq TM$ be a regular distribution on M and $V^\circ := \operatorname{Ann}(V) \subseteq T^*M$ be its annihilator. Let us also denote $\mathbb{V} := V \oplus V^\circ \subset \mathbb{T}M$.

Definition 2.21. A Lagrangian subbundle $D \subseteq \mathbb{T}M$ is said to be V-coupling if

$$D \oplus \mathbb{V} = \mathbb{T}M. \tag{2.6}$$

Definition 2.22. A triple (P, γ, σ) of geometric data on (M, V) consists of a bivector field $P \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 V)$, a connection form $\gamma \in \Gamma(T^*M \otimes V)$, and a 2-form $\sigma \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 V^\circ)$.

The following result means that the correspondence given in Proposition 2.4 can be extended from vector spaces to the category of smooth manifolds.

Proposition 2.23. There exists a correspondence between V-coupling Lagrangian subbundles and geometric data on (M, V).

Proof. Because of Proposition 2.4, there exists a point-wise one-to-one correspondence between V-coupling Lagrangian subbundles and geometric data on (M, V). Furthermore, given geometric data (P, γ, σ) , it is clear that $D_{P,\gamma,\sigma}$ is a (smooth) Lagrangian subbundle. Conversely, given a V-coupling subbundle $D \subseteq \mathbb{T}M$, observe that the distributions $H(D, V) \subseteq TM$ and $A(D, V) \subseteq T^*M$ defined as in (2.1) and (2.2) are smooth. Indeed, since projection $p_{TM} : D \cap (TM \oplus V^\circ) \to H(D, V)$ is a pointwise isomorphism, the distribution $D \cap (TM \oplus V^\circ)$ has constant rank. On the other hand, $D \cap (TM \oplus V^\circ)$ is the orthogonal complement of the smooth subbundle $(D + V \oplus \{0\}) \subseteq \mathbb{T}M$. Since $D \cap (TM \oplus V^\circ)$ has constant rank, so it has $(D + V \oplus \{0\})$. This and the smoothness of $(D + V \oplus \{0\})$ implies that $D \cap (TM \oplus V^\circ)$ is smooth. Hence, $H(D, V) = p_{TM}(D \cap (TM \oplus V^\circ))$ is smooth. In particular, its annihilator A(D, V) is also smooth. Therefore,

$$P_D^{\sharp}|_{A(D,V)} = p_{TM} \circ (p_{T^*M} : D \to A(D,V))^{-1},$$

$$\gamma_D = \operatorname{pr}_V : H(D,V) \oplus V \to V,$$

$$\sigma_D^{\flat}|_{H(D,V)} = p_{T^*M} \circ (p_{TM} : D \to H(D,V))^{-1}$$

are smooth.

Now, suppose we are given a foliated manifold (M, \mathcal{V}) . We have the following result [77, 20, 65, 67]:

Theorem 2.24. There is a one-to-one correspondence between coupling Dirac structures $D \subset \mathbb{T}M$ on (M, \mathcal{V}) and geometric data (P, γ, σ) satisfying

$$[P, P] = 0, \qquad [X, P](\mu, \nu) = 0, \qquad R^{\gamma}(X, Y) = -P^{\sharp} i_Y i_X d\sigma, \qquad d\sigma(X, Y, Z) = 0,$$

for all $X, Y, Z \in \Gamma(H^{\gamma})$ and $\mu, \nu \in \Gamma(A^{\gamma})$. Under this correspondence, D is the graph of a Poisson structure if and only if ker $\sigma^{\flat} = V$.

The proof of this fact is given in the more general context of Poisson and Dirac structures with background in Chapter 4 (see Theorem 4.21).

A natural example of coupling Poisson structures are the so-called *Vorobiev-Poisson structures* [65, Section 4], [66, Section 6]. These coupling Poisson structures, which arise in the total space of the coisotropy bundle of a transitive Lie algebroid over a symplectic base, were introduced by Vorobiev in [77, Section 4]. In fact, one of the applications of this class of Poisson structures is that they arise as the Hamiltonian setting of the Wong's equations for a colored particle in a Yang-Mills filed [77, Example 4.2]. Another application, which is given in the context of the linearization problem, is that they provide the linear model for Poisson structures around symplectic leaves [77, Section 5], [78, Section 4], [73]. Finally, it can be shown that every transitive Lie algebroid around the zero section is isomorphic to the restricted Lie algebroid of a Vorobiev-Poisson structure [76].

Example 2.25 (Vorobiev-Poisson structures). Let $(A \xrightarrow{p} S, q, [\cdot, \cdot]_A)$ be a transitive Lie algebroid. Following Examples 2.14, 2.18, and 2.20, recall that on the coisotropy bundle $E := \ker(\rho)^*$ has a natural structure of a Lie-Poisson bundle $(E \xrightarrow{\pi} S, P)$. On the other hand, the choice of a subbundle $H \subset A$ such that $H \oplus \ker(\rho) = A$ gives a linear connection $\nabla \equiv \nabla^H : TM \times E \to E$ which is Poisson on $(E \xrightarrow{\pi} S, P)$. Furthermore, the curvature R^{∇} of ∇ is Hamiltonian, with Hamiltonian form $-\varphi \circ \sigma^H$,

$$R^{\vee}(u,v) = P^{\sharp} \operatorname{d} \varphi_{\sigma^{H}(u,v)} \forall u, v \in \Gamma(TM).$$

$$(2.7)$$

Because of Theorem 2.24, there exists a coupling Dirac structure D_H on E associated with the linear geometric data $(P, \nabla^H, -\varphi \circ \sigma^H)$, depending on the choice of the subbundle H. It is important to observe that since $\varphi \circ \sigma^H$ takes values on linear functions on E, it vanishes along the zero section. In particular D_H cannot be the graph of a Poisson structure. Now suppose that the base manifold S is symplectic, with a symplectic structure $\omega \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 T^*S)$. Defining $\sigma^{\omega,H} := -\varphi \circ \sigma^H + \pi^*\omega$, we get that $(P, \nabla^H, \sigma^{\omega,H})$ defines again some geometric data, and defines a Dirac structure $D_{H,\omega}$. Furthermore, since ω is non-degenerated, there exists a neighborhood U of the zero section in which $D_{H,\omega}$ is the graph of a coupling Poisson structure $\Pi_{H,\omega} \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 TU)$.

As described in the previous example, Vorobiev-Poisson structures admit a natural generalization to Dirac structures. In fact, in the particular case of the Atiyah algebroid of a principal bundle, this setting is called *the classical Yang-Mills-Higgs setup* [81, Section 3].

2.5 Coupling neighborhoods of a symplectic leaf

One of the most relevant applications of the coupling method in Poisson geometry is that coupling Poisson structures serve as the semilocal model for Poisson manifolds around symplectic leaves. In other words, given an embedded symplectic leaf, there exists a tubular neighborhood of it in which the Poisson structure is coupling. Let us recall how this fact is achieved.

Let $S \hookrightarrow M$ be an embedded symplectic leaf of the Poisson manifold (M, Π) . By the Tubular Neighborhood Theorem [43, Appendix 1.6], there exists a tubular neighborhood $N \xrightarrow{\pi} S$ of S in M. In particular, N is endowed with the foliation \mathcal{V} provided by the fibers of the tubular structure of N. Let us show that the neighborhood N can be shrunk so that the Poisson structure Π is coupling on (N, \mathcal{V}) .

We begin by showing that the coupling condition holds at S. Since $N \xrightarrow{\pi} S$ is a tubular neighborhood of S, we have the splitting $TS \oplus T_S \mathcal{V} = T_S M$. This induces the dual splitting $\operatorname{Ann}(TS) \oplus \operatorname{Ann}(T_S \mathcal{V}) = T_S^* M$, where $\operatorname{Ann}(TS) = \ker \Pi_S^{\sharp}$. Then,

$$TS = \Pi^{\sharp}(T_{S}^{*}M) = \Pi^{\sharp}(\operatorname{Ann}(TS) \oplus \operatorname{Ann}(T_{S}\mathcal{V})) = \Pi^{\sharp}(\operatorname{Ann}(T_{S}\mathcal{V})),$$

so $\Pi^{\sharp}(\operatorname{Ann}(T_{S}\mathcal{V})) \oplus T_{S}\mathcal{V} = TS \oplus T_{S}\mathcal{V} = T_{S}M$. This proves that the coupling condition holds at S. By continuity, it follows that the neighborhood N can be shrunk so that the coupling condition holds on all N.

Definition 2.26. A tubular neighborhood N of the symplectic leaf S of (M, Π) is said to be a coupling neighborhood if the restriction $\Pi|_N$ is a coupling Poisson structure on the fiber bundle $\pi : N \to S$.

The above discussion means that coupling Poisson structures provide a semilocal model for Poisson structures around symplectic leaves. Furthermore, we have [78, Prop. 3.1]

Proposition 2.27. Let (S, ω) be an embedded symplectic leaf of a Poisson manifold (M, Π) . Then, there exists a coupling neighborhood N of S. Moreover, if (P, γ, σ) are the associated geometric data of $\Pi|_N$, then

rank
$$P_S = 0,$$
 $H_S^{\gamma} = TS,$ $\iota_S^* \sigma = \omega.$

Parametrization via exponential maps. Observe that the associated geometric data given in the above proposition are not unique, since they depend on the choice of the exponential map. In fact, given a coupling neighborhood of an embedded symplectic leaf, its tubular structure depends on the choice of a exponential map. In particular, the geometric data, which is defined in terms of the tubular structure, varies if the exponential map is changed.

Let $S \hookrightarrow M$ be an embedding and let $E := T_S M/TS$ be the normal bundle of S. Let $\nu : T_S M \to E$ be the canonical quotient map, and let $\tau : T_S E \to E$ be the projection along the splitting $T_S E = TS \oplus E$.

Definition 2.28. A diffeomorphism onto its image $\mathbf{f} : E \to M$ is called exponential map over S if $\mathbf{f}|_S = \mathrm{Id}_S$ and $\nu \circ \mathrm{d}_S \mathbf{f} = \tau$.

We remark that the existence of tubular neighborhoods follows in fact from the existence of exponential maps. More precisely, the fiber bundle structure $\pi : N \to S$ of a tubular neighborhood is defined in such a way that $\mathbf{f} : E \to N$ is a vector bundle isomorphism. Therefore, it is clear that the foliation \mathcal{V} given by the fibers of N depends on the choice of \mathbf{f} , as well as the induced geometric data of Proposition 2.27.

Let us describe the transformation of the geometric data under the change of the exponential map. Let $i: E \to T_S E$ be the natural inclusion. Consider the pseudogroup $\text{Ex}_S(E) \subset \text{Diff}(E)$ given by

$$\operatorname{Ex}_{S}(E) := \{ (\phi, \operatorname{Dom} \phi) \mid \phi \in \operatorname{Diff}(E), \phi \mid_{S} = \operatorname{Id}_{S}, S \operatorname{Dom} \phi, \tau \circ \operatorname{d}_{S} \phi \circ i = \operatorname{Id}_{E} \}.$$

We first observe that $\operatorname{Ex}_S(E)$ is contained in the connected component of the identity in $\operatorname{Diff}(E)$. In fact, for each $t \in \mathbb{R}$, let us denote by $\rho_t : E \to E$ the fiberwise scalar multiplication by t. By fixing $\phi \in \operatorname{Ex}_S(E)$, and an open convex subset $U \subset \operatorname{Dom} \phi$ containing S, one can show that

$$\phi^t := \rho_{-t} \circ \phi \circ \varrho_t : N \to E$$

is a curve of diffeomorphisms connecting $\phi^1 = \phi$ with $\phi^0 = \mathrm{Id}_E$. Furthermore, one can show by straighforward computations that the exponential maps are parameterized by the pseudogroup $\mathrm{Ex}_S(E)$. More precisely,

Lemma 2.29. If $\mathbf{f}, \mathbf{\tilde{f}} : E \to M$ are exponential maps, then $\mathbf{\tilde{f}}^{-1} \circ \mathbf{f} \in \operatorname{Ex}_{S}(E)$. Conversely, if $\phi \in \operatorname{Ex}_{S}(E)$, then $\mathbf{f} \circ \phi$ is an exponential map.

In terms of this class of diffeomorphisms we can establish the uniqueness of the transverse Poisson structure of a symplectic leaf [78, Theorem 3.2, Theorem 3.4]:

Theorem 2.30 (Geometric Data). Let (S, ω) be a symplectic leaf of a Poisson manifold (M, Π) , and let $\mathbf{f}, \widetilde{\mathbf{f}} : E \to M$ be exponential maps over S. Let (P, γ, σ) and $(\widetilde{P}, \widetilde{\gamma}, \widetilde{\sigma})$ be the geometric data associated with $\mathbf{f}^*\Pi$, and $\widetilde{\mathbf{f}}^*\Pi$ on E. Then, there exist $g \in \operatorname{Ex}_S(E)$ preserving the fibers of E, and $Q \in \Gamma(V^\circ)$ such that

$$g^*\widetilde{P} = P,$$
 $\gamma - g^*\widetilde{\gamma} = P^{\sharp}(\mathrm{d}\,Q)^{\flat},$ $g^*\widetilde{\sigma} = \sigma - (\mathrm{d}^{\gamma}_{1,0}\,Q + \frac{1}{2}\{Q \wedge Q\}_P).$

Part II

The Cohomology of Coupling Structures

Introduction to Part II

This part is devoted to provide a general scheme for the computation of the cohomology of Poisson and Dirac structures near presymplectic leaves.

The relationship between bigraded cochain complexes and the computation of Poisson cohomology in neighborhoods of symplectic leaves has been observed since long ago. In fact, in [74], Karasev and Vorobiev gave the first steps in a semilocal description of Poisson cohomology in terms of bigraded operators. Later on, by means of the coupling method, Crainic and Fernandes showed the existence of a cochain complex isomorphism between the Lichnerowicz-Poisson complex near a symplectic leaf and a bigraded cochain complex [15, Prop. 5.3]. This fact also holds for Dirac structures, as shown by Mărcuț in [50, Prop. 4.2.8]. În fact, recall form Chapter 2 that coupling structures on a fiber bundle $E \to S$ are described by triples (P, γ, σ) of geometric data, consisting of a vertical bivector field P. an Ehresmann connection γ , and a horizontal 2-form σ satisfying some structure equations. Then, one can associate to (P, γ, σ) some linear bigraded operators $\partial_{0,1}^P, \partial_{1,0}^\gamma, \partial_{2,-1}^\sigma$ on a certain bigraded space $\mathscr{V}^{\bullet,\bullet}$ defined in terms of the base S and the fibration on E. The coboundary condition for the total operator $\partial_{P,\gamma,\sigma} := \partial_{0,1}^P + \partial_{1,0}^\gamma + \partial_{2,-1}^\sigma$ turns out to be equivalent to the structure equations for (P, γ, σ) . Furthermore, the resulting bigraded cochain complex is isomorphic to the cochain complex of the Lie algebroid of the coupling structure. In other words, $(\mathcal{V}^{\bullet,\bullet},\partial_{P,\gamma,\sigma})$ is a bigraded model for the description of the cohomology of coupling Poisson and Dirac structures, in which the differential operator admits a bigraded decomposition of the form

$$\partial_{P,\gamma,\sigma} := \partial_{0,1} + \partial_{1,0} + \partial_{2,-1}.$$

The fact that the cohomology can be modelled by a bigraded complex of the above bigraded type is not exclusive of coupling Poisson and Dirac structures. In fact, one of the first examples in geometry leading to this class of complexes are foliated manifolds. In [61], Vaisman explains in detail that the de Rham complex ($\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}T^*M)$, d) of a foliated manifold (M, \mathcal{F}) endowed with a complementary distribution H is bigraded, and the de Rham differential is the sum of three operators of bigraded types (0,1), (1,0), and (2,-1), d = $d_{0,1}^{\gamma} + d_{1,0}^{\gamma} + d_{2,-1}^{\gamma}$. Here, $\gamma \equiv \gamma^{H}$ is the Ehresmann connection associated with H.

Another example in which a cochain complex with a bigrading arises is the case of regular Poisson manifolds. In [74], Karasev and Vorobiev provided a recursive procedure to compute the cohomology of a Poisson manifold (M, Π) in which its symplectic foliation is a fibration. This procedure is based in the fact that the choice of an Ehresmann connection on the fibration leads to a bigrading of the Lichnerowicz-Poisson complex $(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}T^*M), \partial_{\Pi})$ such that the differential is the sum of two operators of bigraded types (1,0) and (2,-1), $\partial_{\Pi} = (\partial_{\Pi})_{1,0} + (\partial_{\Pi})_{2,-1}$. Furthermore, Vaisman explains in [62] that this property holds for any regular Poisson manifold endowed with a complementary distribution to the symplectic foliation¹.

¹The bigraded type of the operators in [62] are (0,1) and (-1,2), but this apparent discrepancy is simply due to a difference on the bidegree convention.

Transitive Lie algebroids also provide examples of cochain complexes endowed with a bigrading. In fact, given a transitive Lie algebroid $(A \to M, q, [\cdot, \cdot]_A)$ with isotropy bundle $I := \ker(q)$, there exists a short exact sequence of Lie algebroids over M, given by

$$0 \to I \hookrightarrow A \xrightarrow{q} TM \to 0.$$

The choice of some $h: TM \to A$ with $q \circ h = \operatorname{Id}_{TM}$ induces a bigrading of the de Rham complex $(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}A^*), \partial_A)$ so that $\partial_A = (\partial_A)_{0,1} + (\partial_A)_{1,0} + (\partial_A)_{2,-1}$. In [33], Itskov, Karasev, and Vorobiev present several cohomological results on the cohomology of the transitive Lie algebroids obtained by the restriction of the Lie algebroid to a leaf of the characteristic foliation.

The case of a transitive Lie algebroid can be described as a particular case of an extension of Lie algebroids. Given two Lie algebroids $E \to M$ and $A \to N$, we say that E is an extension of A if we have a Lie algebroid epimorphism $\pi : E \to A$ covering a submersion base map $p : M \to N$. The kernel $V := \ker(\pi)$ is an involutive subbundle of E, so inherits a Lie algebroid structure such that

$$0 \to V \hookrightarrow E \xrightarrow{\pi} A \to 0$$

is a short exact sequence of Lie algebroids. This is described in detail by Brahic in [7]. Furthermore, it is shown that the choice of a map $h : A \to E$ such that $\pi \circ h = \text{Id}_E$ also induces a bigrading of the de Rham complex of A, just as in the case of a transitive Lie algebroid. Furthermore, Brahic provides a bigraded model for the cochomology of a Lie algebroid extension.

These facts are indeed a motivation for the results presented in this part. Indeed, we consider an abstract bigraded cochain complex $(\mathcal{C}^{\bullet,\bullet}, \partial)$ such that $\partial = \partial_{0,1} + \partial_{1,0} + \partial_{2,-1}$, and describe its cohomology in terms only of the bigrading. In particular, we present explicit computations for the cohomology in degree 1, 2 and 3 (see Section 3.4). We also provide the following general setting in which all of the previous geometric examples fit: Suppose we are given a Lie algebroid $(E, q, [\cdot, \cdot]_E)$ endowed with a fixed involutive subbundle $V \subset E$. Then, it is straightforward to verify that the choice of a complementary subbundle $H \subset E, H \oplus V = E$ gives a bigrading of the de Rham complex $(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}E^*, \partial)$ such that $\partial = \partial_{0,1} + \partial_{1,0} + \partial_{2,-1}$. Furthermore, the exterior algebra $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet,\bullet}(V^{\circ} \oplus V^*))$ is a bigraded model, in which the bigrading and the operator of bidegree (0,1) is independent of H, and is associated with the de Rham differential of the Lie subalgebroid $V \subset E$. The operator $\partial_{1,0}^H$ is a sort of covariant exterior derivative, and $\partial_{2,-1}^H$ only depends on the curvature of H.

Another of the results in this part is to show that the cohomology of coupling twisted Poisson and Dirac structures on foliated manifolds can be also described in terms of a bigraded cochain complex. To this end in Section 4.3 we extend the coupling method to twisted Poisson and Dirac structures on foliated manifolds. To this end, we based on the algebraic description of the coupling method given in Chapter 2, and some computations with the Dorfman bracket. Finally, by means of some Vinogadov calculus we propose a bigraded cohomological model which allows us to describe the cochain complex associated with coupling twisted Poisson and Dirac structures. This bigraded model is based on the one constructed in [50, Subsection 4.2] for the case of coupling structures on fiber bundles.

Chapter 3

The Cohomology of a Bigraded Cochain Complex

This chapter is devoted to the study of the cohomology of a special class of bigraded cochain complexes. For several examples of this clss of cochain complexes arising from geometric structures see [6, 7, 8, 26, 46, 47, 74, 75, 61, 62].

We begin in Section 3.1 by setting the algebraic framework in which this study is developed, and present a few steps in the direction of establish our main results. In Section 3.2, we introduce some of the objects which allows us to describe the cohomology of bigraded complexes. Section 3.3 is devoted to present our results in a recursive perspective, which is useful to describe particular cohomology classes. In Section 3.4 we give a more detailed description of the cohomology in degree 1, 2, and 3. Finally, Section 3.5 is devoted to the description of the cohomology of some special classes of bigraded complexes which are common in the literature.

3.1 Bigraded cochain complexes and its cohomology

Notations and conventions. Recall that a cochain complex is a pair $(\mathcal{C}^{\bullet}, \partial)$ consisting of a graded (\mathbb{Z} -graded) \mathbb{R} -linear space $\mathcal{C}^{\bullet} = \bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{C}^k$ and an \mathbb{R} -linear operator $\partial \in \operatorname{End}^1_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathcal{C})$ on \mathcal{C} of degree 1 such that $\partial^2 = 0$.

Suppose that, in addition, C is a bigraded (\mathbb{Z}^2 -graded) linear space such that the bigrading is compatible with the original \mathbb{Z} -grading in the following sense:

$$\mathcal{C}^{k} = \bigoplus_{p+q=k} \mathcal{C}^{p,q} \qquad \forall k \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
(3.1)

We also assume that $C^{p,q} = \{0\}$ whenever p or q is negative. Moreover, suppose that the coboundary operator ∂ splits in the sum of three bigraded operators with respect to the bigrading (3.1),

$$\partial = \partial_{2,-1} + \partial_{1,0} + \partial_{0,1}, \tag{3.2}$$

where $\partial_{i,j}(\mathcal{C}^{p,q}) \subseteq \mathcal{C}^{p+i,q+j}$ for $(i,j) \in \{(2,-1), (1,0), (0,1)\}$. The right-hand side of (3.2) is called the *bigraded decomposition* of ∂ .

In terms of the decomposition (3.2), the coboundary condition $\partial^2 = 0$ reads

$$\partial_{2-1}^2 = 0,$$
 (3.3)

$$\partial_{2,-1}\partial_{1,0} + \partial_{1,0}\partial_{2,-1} = 0, \tag{3.4}$$

$$\partial_{2,-1}\partial_{0,1} + \partial_{0,1}\partial_{2,-1} + \partial_{1,0}^2 = 0, \tag{3.5}$$

$$\partial_{1,0}\partial_{0,1} + \partial_{0,1}\partial_{1,0} = 0, \tag{3.6}$$

$$\partial_{0,1}^2 = 0. (3.7)$$

Here, the left-hand sides of equations (3.3)-(3.7) are the bigraded components of ∂^2 . In particular, (3.7) implies that $(\mathcal{C}^{p,\bullet}, \partial_{0,1})$ is a cochain complex for each $p \in \mathbb{Z}$. For any cochain complex, we use the notation Z^{\bullet} , B^{\bullet} , and H^{\bullet} to indicate the linear spaces of cocycles, coboundaries, and cohomology, respectively.

Spectral sequence. Consider the decreasing filtration F of C given by

$$F^p\mathcal{C} := \bigoplus_{\substack{i,j \in \mathbb{Z} \\ i \ge p}} \mathcal{C}^{i,j}.$$

For every subspace $S \subseteq \mathcal{C}$, denote $F^p S := F^p \mathcal{C} \cap S$. In particular, $F^p \mathcal{C}^k = \bigoplus_{i \ge p} \mathcal{C}^{i,k-i}$. Moreover, since $\mathcal{C}^{\bullet,\bullet}$ lies in the first quadrant, we have $F^0 \mathcal{C}^k = \mathcal{C}^k$ and $F^{k+1} \mathcal{C}^k = \{0\}$, so the filtration is bounded. Furthermore, it follows from the bigraded decomposition (3.2) that $\partial(F^p \mathcal{C}) \subseteq F^p \mathcal{C}$ for all $p \in \mathbb{Z}$. Hence, the triple $(\mathcal{C}^{\bullet}, \partial, F)$ is a graded filtered complex.

Let $(E_r^{\bullet,\bullet}, d_r)$ be the spectral sequence associated with $(\mathcal{C}^{\bullet}, \partial, F)$, that is, for each $p, q, r \in \mathbb{Z}$, $E_r^{p,q} := \frac{Z_r^{p,q} + F^{p+1}\mathcal{C}^{p+q}}{B_{r-1}^{p,q} + F^{p+1}\mathcal{C}^{p+q}}$ [21, Eq. (2.46)], where

$$Z_r^{p,q} := F^p \mathcal{C}^{p+q} \cap \partial^{-1}(F^{p+r} \mathcal{C}^{p+q}), \qquad \qquad B_{r-1}^{p,q} := F^p \mathcal{C}^{p+q} \cap \partial(F^{p-r+1} \mathcal{C}^{p+q}),$$

the sums $Z_r^{p,q} + F^{p+1}\mathcal{C}^{p+q}$, and $B_{r-1}^{p,q} + F^{p+1}\mathcal{C}^{p+q}$ are as \mathbb{R} -vector subspaces of \mathcal{C}^{\bullet} , and $d_r : E_r^{p,q} \to E_r^{p+r,q+1-r}$ is induced by the restriction of ∂ to $Z_r^{p,q}$. In particular, $E_0^{p,q} = \frac{F^p\mathcal{C}^{p+q}}{F^{p+1}\mathcal{C}^{p+q}} \cong \mathcal{C}^{p,q}$, so $(E_r^{\bullet,\bullet}, d_r)$ is a first quadrant spectral sequence. Therefore, $E_N^{p,q} = E_\infty^{p,q}$ for all $N \ge \max\{p+1, q+2\}$, where

$$E^{p,q}_{\infty} := \frac{Z^{p+q}(\mathcal{C}, \mathfrak{d}) \cap F^p \mathcal{C}^{p+q} + F^{p+1} \mathcal{C}^{p+q}}{B^{p+q}(\mathcal{C}, \mathfrak{d}) \cap F^p \mathcal{C}^{p+q} + F^{p+1} \mathcal{C}^{p+q}}.$$

Since the filtration F is bounded, the spectral sequence converges to the cohomology of $(\mathcal{C}^{\bullet}, \partial)$. Furthermore, taking into account that $(\mathcal{C}^{\bullet}, \partial)$ is an \mathbb{R} -vector space, we get the following splitting for the k-th cohomology of $(\mathcal{C}^{\bullet}, \partial)$:

$$H^{k}(\mathcal{C}, \partial) \cong \bigoplus_{p+q=k} E_{\infty}^{p,q}.$$
(3.8)

In what follows, we give a more explicit description of the summands in the splitting (3.8). For each $q \in \mathbb{Z}$, define $G^q \mathcal{C} := \bigoplus_{\substack{i,j \in \mathbb{Z} \\ j \geq q}} \mathcal{C}^{i,j}$, and consider the projection

$$\pi_a: \mathcal{C}^{\bullet} \to G^q \mathcal{C}$$

along the splitting induced by the bigrading. In particular, $\pi_q = \text{Id}_{\mathcal{C}}$ if $q \leq 0$. For simplicity, we use the same notation for the restriction of π_q to any subspace of \mathcal{C} .

Lemma 3.1. For each $p,q \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that p+q=k, we have $E_{\infty}^{p,q} \cong \frac{\pi_q(Z^k(\mathcal{C},\partial)) \cap \mathcal{C}^{p,q}}{\pi_q(B^k(\mathcal{C},\partial)) \cap \mathcal{C}^{p,q}}$.

Proof. Consider the projection $\operatorname{pr}_{p,q} : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{C}^{p,q}$ along the splitting (3.1). Observe that, for each subspace $S \subset \mathcal{C}^k$, we have

$$S \cap F^p \mathcal{C}^k + F^{p+1} \mathcal{C}^k = \operatorname{pr}_{p,q}(S \cap F^p \mathcal{C}^k) \oplus F^{p+1} \mathcal{C}^k.$$

On the other hand, it is straightforward to verify that every element of $\operatorname{pr}_{p,q}(S \cap F^p \mathcal{C}^k)$ is of the form $y_{p,q}$, for some $y \in S$ with bigraded decomposition $y = \sum_{i \geq p} y_{i,k-i}$. Thus,

$$\operatorname{pr}_{p,q}(S \cap F^p \mathcal{C}^k) = \pi_q(S) \cap \mathcal{C}^{p,q}.$$

Setting $S = Z^k(\mathcal{C}, \partial)$ and $S = B^k(\mathcal{C}, \partial)$, we get

$$E_{\infty}^{p,q} = \frac{Z^{k}(\mathcal{C},\partial) \cap F^{p}\mathcal{C}^{k} + F^{p+1}\mathcal{C}^{k}}{B^{k}(\mathcal{C},\partial) \cap F^{p}\mathcal{C}^{k} + F^{p+1}\mathcal{C}^{k}} = \frac{\operatorname{pr}_{p,q}(Z^{k}(\mathcal{C},\partial) \cap F^{p}\mathcal{C}^{k}) \oplus F^{p+1}\mathcal{C}^{k}}{\operatorname{pr}_{p,q}(B^{k}(\mathcal{C},\partial) \cap F^{p}\mathcal{C}^{k}) \oplus F^{p+1}\mathcal{C}^{k}} = \frac{(\pi_{q}(Z^{k}(\mathcal{C},\partial)) \cap \mathcal{C}^{p,q}) \oplus F^{p+1}\mathcal{C}^{k}}{(\pi_{q}(B^{k}(\mathcal{C},\partial)) \cap \mathcal{C}^{p,q}) \oplus F^{p+1}\mathcal{C}^{k}} \cong \frac{\pi_{q}(Z^{k}(\mathcal{C},\partial)) \cap \mathcal{C}^{p,q}}{\pi_{q}(B^{k}(\mathcal{C},\partial)) \cap \mathcal{C}^{p,q}}.$$

Splittings for cocycles and coboundaries. We now derive similar splittings for the spaces of k-cocycles and k-coboundaries. Observe that for each subspace $S \subset C^k$, we have a family of short exact sequences, given by

$$0 \to \pi_q(S) \cap \mathcal{C}^{p,q} \hookrightarrow \pi_q(S) \xrightarrow{\pi_{q+1}} \pi_{q+1}(S) \to 0, \qquad 0 \le q \le k-1,$$
(3.9)

where p := k - q. In the case of cocycles and coboundaries, we get the following result.

Proposition 3.2. For each $p, q \in \mathbb{Z}$, with p + q = k, we have the following commutative diagram with exact rows and columns which all describe the spaces of k-coboundaries $B^k(\mathcal{C}, \partial)$, k-cocycles $Z^k(\mathcal{C}, \partial)$, and k-cohomology $H^k(\mathcal{C}, \partial)$:

$$0 \longrightarrow \pi_{q}(B^{k}(\mathcal{C},\partial)) \cap \mathcal{C}^{p,q} \longrightarrow \pi_{q}(B^{k}(\mathcal{C},\partial)) \xrightarrow{\pi_{q+1}} \pi_{q+1}(B^{k}(\mathcal{C},\partial)) \longrightarrow 0$$

$$0 \longrightarrow \pi_{q}(Z^{k}(\mathcal{C},\partial)) \cap \mathcal{C}^{p,q} \longrightarrow \pi_{q}(Z^{k}(\mathcal{C},\partial)) \xrightarrow{\pi_{q+1}} \pi_{q+1}(Z^{k}(\mathcal{C},\partial)) \longrightarrow 0.$$

$$0 \longrightarrow \frac{\pi_{q}(Z^{k}(\mathcal{C},\partial)) \cap \mathcal{C}^{p,q}}{\pi_{q}(B^{k}(\mathcal{C},\partial)) \cap \mathcal{C}^{p,q}} \xrightarrow{\pi_{q}(Z^{k}(\mathcal{C},\partial))} \xrightarrow{\pi_{q+1}(Z^{k}(\mathcal{C},\partial))} \longrightarrow 0.$$

$$0 \longrightarrow \frac{\pi_{q}(Z^{k}(\mathcal{C},\partial)) \cap \mathcal{C}^{p,q}}{\pi_{q}(B^{k}(\mathcal{C},\partial)) \cap \mathcal{C}^{p,q}} \xrightarrow{\pi_{q}(Z^{k}(\mathcal{C},\partial))} \xrightarrow{\pi_{q+1}(Z^{k}(\mathcal{C},\partial))} \longrightarrow 0.$$

$$0 \longrightarrow \frac{\pi_{q}(Z^{k}(\mathcal{C},\partial)) \cap \mathcal{C}^{p,q}}{\pi_{q}(B^{k}(\mathcal{C},\partial))} \xrightarrow{\pi_{q}(B^{k}(\mathcal{C},\partial))} \longrightarrow 0.$$

Here, the mappings from the second to the third row are the canonical projections, and the maps $\frac{\pi_q(Z^k(\mathcal{C},\partial))\cap \mathcal{C}^{p,q}}{\pi_q(B^k(\mathcal{C},\partial))\cap \mathcal{C}^{p,q}} \to \frac{\pi_q(Z^k(\mathcal{C},\partial))}{\pi_q(B^k(\mathcal{C},\partial))}$ and $\frac{\pi_q(Z^k(\mathcal{C},\partial))}{\pi_q(B^k(\mathcal{C},\partial))} \to \frac{\pi_{q+1}(Z^k(\mathcal{C},\partial))}{\pi_{q+1}(B^k(\mathcal{C},\partial))}$ are defined in such a way that the lower 2×2 blocks commute.

Proof of Proposition 3.2. The upper 2×2 diagrams are clearly commutative because the arrows \hookrightarrow are natural inclusions, and the arrows with a π_{q+1} are the restriction of the same mapping. On the other hand, the exactness of the first row is obtained from (3.9) by setting $S := B^k(\mathcal{C}, \partial)$. Similarly, the exactness of the second row follows from setting $S := Z^k(\mathcal{C}, \partial)$ in (3.9). Moreover, each column is exact by definition. Finally, the exactness of the last row follows from the commutativity and the exactness of the rest of the diagram.

Corollary 3.3. The coboundary, cocycle, and cohomology spaces of degree k admit the following splittings:

$$B^{k}(\mathcal{C}, \eth) \cong \bigoplus_{p+q=k} \pi_{q}(B^{k}(\mathcal{C}, \eth)) \cap \mathcal{C}^{p,q}, \qquad Z^{k}(\mathcal{C}, \eth) \cong \bigoplus_{p+q=k} \pi_{q}(Z^{k}(\mathcal{C}, \eth)) \cap \mathcal{C}^{p,q}, \qquad and$$
$$H^{k}(\mathcal{C}, \eth) \cong \bigoplus_{p+q=k} \frac{\pi_{q}(Z^{k}(\mathcal{C}, \eth)) \cap \mathcal{C}^{p,q}}{\pi_{q}(B^{k}(\mathcal{C}, \eth)) \cap \mathcal{C}^{p,q}}.$$

Note that the splitting for $H^k(\mathcal{C}, \partial)$ in Corollary 3.3 coincides with (3.8) under Lemma 3.1

Remark 3.4. Every result of this part is valid if the bigraded decomposition of ∂ has the more general form $\partial = \sum_{r\geq 0} \partial_{r,1-r}$. Moreover, Lemma 3.1 and Proposition 3.2 still hold if $(\mathcal{C}^{\bullet}, \partial)$ is a cochain complex over a ring, while the non-canonical splittings in (3.8) and in Corollary 3.3 only hold in the vector spaces category.

Otherwise stated, we assume in what follows that $(\mathcal{C}^{\bullet}, \partial)$ is a cochain complex over a ring \mathcal{R} . In the cases when we require that the ring of scalars is a field, this condition will be explicitly indicated.

3.2 Describing the cohomology

In this Section, we introduce some useful objects which allow us to improve our description of the splittings in Corollary 3.3 and the diagram of Proposition 3.2.

The null subcomplexes. For simplicity, for each $p, q, k \in \mathbb{Z}$ we denote

$$\ker^{k}(\partial_{i,j}) := \ker(\partial_{i,j} : \mathcal{C}^{k} \to \mathcal{C}^{k+1}), \qquad \text{and} \qquad \ker^{p,q}(\partial_{i,j}) := \ker(\partial_{i,j} : \mathcal{C}^{p,q} \to \mathcal{C}^{p+i,q+j}),$$

for all $(i, j) \in \{(0, 1), (1, 0), (2, -1)\}$. Let us denote

$$\mathcal{N} := \ker(\partial_{0,1} : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{C}) \cap \ker(\partial_{2,-1} : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{C}),$$

 $\mathcal{N}^{k} := \ker^{k}(\partial_{0,1}) \cap \ker^{k}(\partial_{2,-1}), \ \mathcal{N}^{p,q} := \ker^{p,q}(\partial_{0,1}) \cap \ker^{p,q}(\partial_{2,-1}), \ \text{and} \ \mathcal{N}_{q} := \bigoplus_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{N}^{p-q,q}.$ Since $\partial_{0,1}$ and $\partial_{2,-1}$ are bigraded operators, we have $\mathcal{N} = \bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{N}^{k}$ and $\mathcal{N}^{k} = \bigoplus_{p+q=k} \mathcal{N}^{p,q}.$ Moreover,

Lemma 3.5. The graded \mathcal{R} -module \mathcal{N} is a cochain subcomplex of (\mathcal{C}, ∂) . Moreover, for each $q \in \mathbb{Z}$, \mathcal{N}_q is also a cochain subcomplex of (\mathcal{C}, ∂) .

Proof. Since $\mathcal{N} = \bigoplus_{q \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{N}_q$, it suffices to show that each \mathcal{N}_q is a cochain subcomplex of (\mathcal{C}, ∂) . By definition, $\partial_{0,1}$ and $\partial_{2,-1}$ vanish on \mathcal{N}_q . Thus,

$$\partial(\mathcal{N}^{p-q,q}) = \partial_{1,0}(\mathcal{N}^{p-q,q}) \subseteq \partial_{1,0}(\mathcal{C}^{p-q,q}) \subseteq \mathcal{C}^{(p+1)-q,q}$$

To complete the proof, we just need to verify that $\partial_{1,0}(\mathcal{N}) \subseteq \mathcal{N}$. Fix $\eta \in \mathcal{N}$. Then, $\partial_{2,-1}\eta = 0$ and $\partial_{0,1}\eta = 0$. By applying equations (3.4) and (3.6),

$$\partial_{2,-1}(\partial_{1,0}\eta) = -\partial_{1,0}\partial_{2,-1}\eta = 0, \qquad \text{and} \qquad \partial_{0,1}(\partial_{1,0}\eta) = -\partial_{1,0}\partial_{0,1}\eta = 0,$$

proving that $\partial_{1,0}\eta \in \mathcal{N}$. Thus, $\partial(\mathcal{N}_q) \subseteq \mathcal{N}_q$, as claimed.

3.2. DESCRIBING THE COHOMOLOGY

We denote by $\overline{\partial} := \partial|_{\mathcal{N}}$ the coboundary operator on \mathcal{N} . We use the same notation for any of the cochain subcomplexes \mathcal{N}_q . The cochain complexes $(\mathcal{N},\overline{\partial})$ and $(\mathcal{N}_q,\overline{\partial})$ are called *the null subcomplexes* of (\mathcal{C},∂) . Finally, recall that $\mathcal{C}^{p,q} = \{0\}$ whenever p or q is negative. In particular, $\mathcal{C}^{\bullet,0} \subseteq \ker(\partial_{2,-1})$. Therefore, $\mathcal{N}_0 = \ker(\partial_{0,1} : \mathcal{C}^{\bullet,0} \to \mathcal{C}^{\bullet,1})$. In other words, for q = 0, the restriction of $\partial_{1,0}$ to the $\partial_{0,1}$ -cocycles of bidegree (p, 0) gives the null subcomplex \mathcal{N}_0 .

Pre-coboundaries and pre-cocycles. Recall that the terms appearing in the upper row of the diagrams of Proposition 3.2 are of the form $\pi_q(B^k(\mathcal{C},\partial))$ or $\pi_q(B^k(\mathcal{C},\partial)) \cap \mathcal{C}^{p,q}$, whose elements are obtained by projecting a k-coboundary under $\pi_q : \mathcal{C} \to G^q \mathcal{C}$. We call the elements of $\pi_q(B^{\bullet}(\mathcal{C},\partial))$ pre-coboundaries, and the elements of $\pi_q(B^{\bullet}(\mathcal{C},\partial)) \cap \mathcal{C}^{p,q}$, homogeneous pre-coboundaries. In a similar fashion, we call the elements of $\pi_q(Z^{\bullet}(\mathcal{C},\partial))$ pre-cocycles, and the elements of $\pi_q(Z^{\bullet}(\mathcal{C},\partial)) \cap \mathcal{C}^{p,q}$, homogeneous pre-coboundaries.

In this part, we give a detailed description of the \mathcal{R} -module of pre-cocycles. In fact, although a pre-cocycle is defined as the projection of a cocycle, we describe a bigger \mathcal{R} -module containing the cocycles such that the projection of its elements is again a pre-cocycle. In this sense, we have found some degrees of freedom in the construction of pre-cocycles.

Observe that $\eta \in \mathcal{C}^1$ is a 1-cocycle if and only if

$$\partial_{2,-1}\eta_{0,1} + \partial_{1,0}\eta_{1,0} = 0,$$
 $\partial_{1,0}\eta_{0,1} + \partial_{0,1}\eta_{1,0} = 0,$ $\partial_{0,1}\eta_{0,1} = 0.$

The left-hand sides of each equation correspond to the bigraded components of $\partial \eta$. Similarly, $\eta \in C^2$ is a 2-cocycle if and only if

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{2,-1}\eta_{1,1} + \partial_{1,0}\eta_{2,0} &= 0, \\ \partial_{1,0}\eta_{0,2} + \partial_{0,1}\eta_{1,1} &= 0, \end{aligned} \qquad \qquad \partial_{2,-1}\eta_{0,2} + \partial_{1,0}\eta_{1,1} + \partial_{0,1}\eta_{2,0} &= 0, \\ \partial_{0,1}\eta_{0,2} &= 0. \end{aligned}$$

In general, for each $\eta \in \mathcal{C}^k$ with bigraded components $\eta_{p,q} \in \mathcal{C}^{p,q}$ (p+q=k), the bigraded components of $\partial \eta$ are

$$(\partial \eta)_{i,j} = \partial_{0,1}\eta_{i,j-1} + \partial_{1,0}\eta_{i-1,j} + \partial_{2,-1}\eta_{i-2,j+1}, \qquad i+j=k+1.$$

Let us consider the graded \mathcal{R} -modules

$$\mathcal{M} := \{ \eta \in \mathcal{C} \mid \partial \eta \in B(\mathcal{N}, \overline{\partial}) \}, \tag{3.10}$$

and

$$\mathcal{M}^k := \{ \eta \in \mathcal{C}^k \mid (\partial \eta)_{i,j} \in B^{k+1}(\mathcal{N}_j, \overline{\partial}), \ i+j=k+1 \}$$

Then, $\mathcal{M}^{\bullet} = \bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{M}^k$. Moreover, it is clear that $Z(\mathcal{C}, \partial) \subseteq \mathcal{M}$. Now, for each $q \in \mathbb{Z}$, define

 $\mathcal{Z}_q := \{ \pi_q(\eta) \mid \eta \in \mathcal{M}, \text{ and } \pi_q(\partial \eta) = 0 \}, \text{ and } \mathcal{Z}_q^k := \{ \pi_q(\eta) \mid \eta \in \mathcal{M}^k, \text{ and } \pi_q(\partial \eta) = 0 \}.$

In other words, the elements of $\mathcal{Z}_q \subseteq G^q \mathcal{C}$ are of the form $\pi_q(\eta)$, for some $\eta \in \mathcal{C}$ satisfying

$$\partial_{0,1}\eta_{i,j-1} + \partial_{1,0}\eta_{i-1,j} + \partial_{2,-1}\eta_{i-2,j+1} \in \begin{cases} \{0\} & \text{if } j \ge q, \\ B(\mathcal{N}_j,\overline{\partial}) & \text{if } j < q. \end{cases}$$

Note that $\mathcal{Z}_q^{\bullet} = \bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{Z}_q^k$. Furthermore, we claim that \mathcal{Z}_q is precisely the \mathcal{R} -module of pre-cocycles in $G^q \mathcal{C}$.

Proposition 3.6. For each $q \in \mathbb{Z}$, we have $\pi_q(Z(\mathcal{C}, \partial)) = \mathcal{Z}_q$. In particular, $\xi \in \mathcal{C}^{p,q}$ is a pre-cocycle if and only if $\partial_{0,1}\xi = 0$ and there exist $\eta \in F^p\mathcal{M}^{p+q}$ such that $\eta_{p,q} = \xi$, and $\partial_{1,0}\eta_{p,q} + \partial_{0,1}\eta_{p+1,q-1} = 0$.

Proof. The inclusion $\pi_q(Z(\mathcal{C},\partial)) \subseteq \mathcal{Z}_q$ simply follows from the already mentioned fact $Z(\mathcal{C},\partial) \subseteq \mathcal{M}$. Conversely, pick $\xi \in \mathcal{Z}_q^k$, of the form $\xi = \sum_{j \ge q} \xi_j$, where $\xi_j \in \mathcal{C}^{k-j,j}$. Then, there exists $\eta \in \mathcal{M}^k$ such that $\pi_q(\eta) = \xi$ and $\pi_q(\partial \eta) = 0$. Let $\eta_j \in \mathcal{C}^{k-j,j}$ be the bigraded components of η . The condition $\eta \in \mathcal{M}^k$ implies that for each j < q there exists $\eta'_j \in \mathcal{N}^{k-j,j}$ such that

$$\partial_{0,1}\eta_{j-1} + \partial_{1,0}\eta_j + \partial_{2,-1}\eta_{j+1} = \partial_{1,0}\eta'_j,$$

Finally, set $\tilde{\xi} := \eta - \sum_{j < q} \eta'_j$. Since $\partial_{0,1} \eta'_j = 0$ and $\partial_{2,-1} \eta'_j = 0$, it is straightforward to verify that $\partial \tilde{\xi} = 0$. Furthermore, $\pi_q(\tilde{\xi}) = \xi$, which proves that $\xi \in \pi_q(Z^k(\mathcal{C}, \partial))$.

For each $q, k \in \mathbb{Z}$ denote by $\mathcal{B}_q^k := \pi_q(B^k(\mathcal{C}, \partial))$ the \mathcal{R} -module of pre-coboundaries. As a consequence, of Propositions 3.2 and 3.6, we have:

Theorem 3.7. For each $p, q \in \mathbb{Z}$ with p + q = k, we have the following commutative diagrams with exact rows and columns describing the coboundary, cocycle, and cohomology of $(\mathcal{C}^{\bullet,\bullet}, \partial)$:

Corollary 3.8. In the case when \mathcal{R} is a field, we get the following splittings:

$$B^{k}(\mathcal{C}, \mathfrak{d}) \cong \bigoplus_{p+q=k} \mathcal{B}_{q}^{k} \cap \mathcal{C}^{p,q}, \qquad Z^{k}(\mathcal{C}, \mathfrak{d}) \cong \bigoplus_{p+q=k} \mathcal{Z}_{q}^{k} \cap \mathcal{C}^{p,q}, \qquad H^{k}(\mathcal{C}, \mathfrak{d}) \cong \bigoplus_{p+q=k} \frac{\mathcal{Z}_{q}^{k} \cap \mathcal{C}^{p,q}}{\mathcal{B}_{q}^{k} \cap \mathcal{C}^{p,q}}.$$

3.3 The recursive point of view

Before going further in the description of the diagrams appearing in Theorem 3.7 in the low-degree case, let us interpret this result from a recursive point of view. This perspective is particularly useful when we are interested in understanding an specific cohomology class of (\mathcal{C}, ∂) .

Recall from Theorem 3.7 that the cocycles, coboundaries, and cohomology of (\mathcal{C}, ∂) is described by a family of diagrams, one for each $q = 0, 1, \ldots, k$. By denoting $\mathcal{H}_q^{p,q} := \frac{\mathcal{Z}_q^k \cap \mathcal{C}^{p,q}}{\mathcal{B}_q^k \cap \mathcal{C}^{p,q}}, \ \mathcal{H}_q^k := \frac{\mathcal{Z}_q^k}{\mathcal{B}_q^k}$, and p = k - q, the bottom row of the q-th diagram is

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}_q^{p,q} \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}_q^k \xrightarrow{\pi_{q+1}} \mathcal{H}_{q+1}^k \longrightarrow 0.$$
(3.11)

3.3. THE RECURSIVE POINT OF VIEW

Now, pick some $\eta \in Z^k(\mathcal{C}, \partial)$, with bigraded decomposition

$$\eta = \sum_{i+j=k} \eta_{i,j} = \eta_{0,k} + \eta_{1,k-1} + \dots + \eta_{k,0}.$$

Since $H^k(\mathcal{C}, \partial) = \mathcal{H}_0^k$, we have $[\eta] \in \mathcal{H}_0^k$. Denote $[\eta]_0 := [\eta]$, and for each $q = 1, \ldots, k$, recursively define $[\eta]_q \in \mathcal{H}_q^k$ by $[\eta]_q := \bar{\pi}_q[\eta]_{q-1}$. It is clear that $[\eta]_q$ is well defined for each q. Explicitly, we have $[\eta]_{k+1} = 0, \ [\eta]_k = \eta_{0,k} + \mathcal{B}_k^k$, and in general

$$[\eta]_q = \sum_{\substack{i+j=k\\j \ge q}} \eta_{k-j,j} + \mathcal{B}_q^k.$$

In what follows, let us describe the obstructions for the vanishing of the cohomology class $[\eta] \in H^k(\mathcal{C}, \partial)$. By the relation $[\eta]_{q+1} = \bar{\pi}_{q+1}[\eta]_q$, a necessary condition for $[\eta]_q = 0$ is that $[\eta]_{q+1} = 0$. Conversely, if $[\eta]_{q+1} = 0$, then the exactness of (3.11) implies that $[\eta]_q = \eta_{p,q} + \mathcal{B}_q^k \cap \mathcal{C}^{p,q}$, where $\eta_{p,q} \in \mathbb{Z}_q^k \cap \mathcal{C}^{p,q}$. So, under the vanishing of $[\eta]_{q+1}$, the class $[\eta_{p,q}] \in \mathcal{H}_q^{p,q}$ is well defined, and the property $[\eta]_q = 0$ is equivalent to the vanishing of $[\eta_{p,q}]$.

To get more insight in the previous facts, let us describe them in an explicit fashion. Consider the bigraded decomposition $\eta = \sum_{i+j=k} \eta_{i,j}$. Clearly, $\pi_k \eta = \eta_{0,k}$, so $[\eta]_k = [\eta_{0,k}] \in \mathcal{H}_k^{0,k}$. Now, suppose that $[\eta_{0,k}] = 0$. Then, there exists $\eta' = \partial \xi \in B^k(\mathcal{C}, \partial)$ such that $\eta_{0,k} = \eta'_{0,k}$. Since $[\eta] = [\eta - \eta']$, the representative $\eta - \eta'$ is such that the component of bidegree (0, k) vanishes. So, without loss of generality, we may assume that $\eta_{0,k} = 0$. Then, $[\eta]_{k-1} = [\eta_{1,k-1}] \in \mathcal{H}_{k-1}^{1,k-1}$. Assuming that $[\eta_{1,k-1}] = 0$, there exists $\eta'' = \partial \xi'$ such that $\pi_{k-1}\eta'' = \eta_{1,k-1}$ (so, in particular, $\eta''_{0,k} = 0$). The difference $\eta - \eta''$ is a representative of $[\eta]$ such that the components of bidegree (0, k) and (1, k - 1) vanish, so we may assume that $\pi_{k-1}\eta = 0$. Thus, $[\eta]_{k-2} = [\eta_{2,k-2}] \in \mathcal{H}_{k-1}^{1,k-1}$, and so on.

In summary, the short exact sequences given by the bottom diagrams can be described in the following way. Given $[\eta] \in H^k(\mathcal{C}, \partial)$, an obstruction to $[\eta] = 0$ is the cohomology class $[\eta_{0,k}] \in \mathcal{H}_k^{0,k}$. If $[\eta_{0,k}] = 0$, then the class $[\eta_{1,k-1}] \in \mathcal{H}_{k-1}^{1,k-1}$ is well defined, and is a new obstruction to the vanishing of $[\eta]$. If in addition $[\eta_{1,k-1}] = 0$, then $[\eta_{2,k-2}] \in \mathcal{H}_{k-2}^{2,k-2}$ is well defined and is a new obstruction to the vanishing of $[\eta]$. On every stage, under the vanishing of $[\eta_{p,q}] \in \mathcal{H}_q^{p,q}$, the class $[\eta_{p+1,q-1}] \in \mathcal{H}_{q-1}^{p+1,q-1}$ is well defined, independent of the choice of the representative η , and is an obstruction to $[\eta] = 0$. In the last stage, our cohomology class is of the form $[\eta] = [\eta_{k,0}] \in \mathcal{H}_0^{k,0}$.

Low degree. Given $\eta \in Z^k(\mathcal{C}, \partial)$, it is important to remark that $[\eta_{p,q}] \in \mathcal{H}_q^{p,q}$ is well defined only in the case when $[\eta_{p-1,q+1}] \in \mathcal{H}_{q+1}^{p-1,q+1}$ also is well defined and vanishes, $[\eta_{p-1,q+1}] = 0$. As explained in the previous paragraphs, the vanishing of a cohomology class of degree k is controlled by a sequence of (k+1) "simpler" cohomology classes, and each of them is obtained by projecting into the bigraded components of the original one, as long as the previous cohomology class vanishes. Let us illustrate this in some low-degree cases.

If k = 1, then the cohomology is described by only one short exact sequence,

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}_0^{1,0} \longrightarrow H^1(\mathcal{C}, \mathfrak{d}) \xrightarrow{\bar{\pi}_1} \mathcal{H}_1^{0,1} \longrightarrow 0.$$

In this case, the vanishing of a cohomology class $[\eta] \in H^1(\mathcal{C}, \partial)$ is controlled by at most two cohomology classes. In fact, a necessary condition for $[\eta] = 0$ is that $[\eta_{0,1}] \in \mathcal{H}_1^{0,1}$ vanishes. Conversely, under

 $[\eta_{0,1}] = 0$, the cohomology class $[\eta_{1,0}] \in \mathcal{H}_0^{1,0}$ is well-defined and satisfies $[\eta] = [\eta_{1,0}]$, due to the exactness of the sequence. Thus, if $[\eta_{0,1}] = 0$, then the vanishing of $[\eta]$ is equivalent to $[\eta_{1,0}] = 0$. For k = 2, the cohomology is described by means of two short exact sequences, namely

 $0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}_0^{2,0} \longrightarrow H^2(\mathcal{C}, \partial) \xrightarrow{\bar{\pi}_1} \mathscr{H}_1^2 \longrightarrow 0, \qquad 0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}_1^{1,1} \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}_1^2 \xrightarrow{\bar{\pi}_2} \mathcal{H}_2^{0,2} \longrightarrow 0.$

In this case, the vanishing of $[\eta] \in H^2(\mathcal{C}, \partial)$ is controlled by at most three cohomology classes. A necessary condition is $[\eta_{0,2}] = 0$. Under this condition, the cohomology class $[\eta_{1,1}] \in \mathcal{H}_1^{1,1}$ is well defined and satisfies $[\eta_{1,1}] = [\eta]_1$, due to the exactness of the second sequence. In this case, a necessary condition for the vanishing of $[\eta]$ is $[\eta_{1,1}] = 0$. Under this condition, the cohomology class $[\eta_{2,0}] \in \mathcal{H}_0^{2,0}$ is well defined and satisfies $[\eta_{2,0}] = [\eta]$, due to the exactness of the first sequence. Hence, if $[\eta_{0,2}] = 0$ and $[\eta_{1,1}] = 0$, then the vanishing of $[\eta]$ is equivalent to $[\eta_{2,0}] = 0$.

3.4 Cohomology in low degree

In this section, we describe the diagrams of Theorem 3.7 for the cases k = 1, 2, 3 in more detail.

Following the notation of Section 3.2, observe that the homogeneous pre-cocycles of bidegree (k, 0) are just the k-cocycles in $(\mathcal{N}_0, \overline{\partial})$,

$$\mathcal{Z}_0^k \cap \mathcal{C}^{k,0} = \{ \eta \in \mathcal{C}^{k,0} \mid \partial_{1,0}\eta = 0, \partial_{0,1}\eta = 0 \} = Z^k(\mathcal{N}_0, \overline{\partial}).$$
(3.12)

On the other hand, the homogeneous pre-coboundaries of bidegree (0, k) are precisely the k-coboundaries of the complex $(\mathcal{C}^{0,\bullet}, \partial_{0,1})$,

$$\mathcal{B}_k^k \cap \mathcal{C}^{0,k} = B^k(\mathcal{C}^{0,\bullet}, \partial_{0,1}). \tag{3.13}$$

We now refine our description of the \mathcal{R} -module \mathcal{Z}_1^k of pre-cocycles for q = 1.

The mappings $\rho : \mathcal{A} \to H(\mathcal{N},\overline{\partial})$ and $\varrho : \mathcal{J} \to H(\mathcal{N},\overline{\partial})$. For each $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, consider the linear modules \mathcal{A}^k and \mathcal{J}^k , where

$$\mathcal{A}^{k} := \{ \pi_{1}(\eta) \mid \eta \in \mathcal{C}^{k}, \ \pi_{1}(\partial \eta) = 0 \}, \text{ and } \mathcal{J}^{k} := \mathcal{A}^{k} \cap \mathcal{C}^{k-1,1}.$$
(3.14)

Explicitly, $\xi \in G^1 \mathcal{C}^k$ lies in \mathcal{A}^k if and only if $\pi_2(\partial \xi) = 0$ and there exists $\eta \in \mathcal{C}^{k,0}$ such that $\partial_{0,1}\eta + \partial_{1,0}\xi_{k-1,1} + \partial_{2,-1}\xi_{k-2,2} = 0$. In particular, $\xi \in \mathcal{C}^{k-1,1}$ lies in \mathcal{J}^k if and only if $\partial_{0,1}\xi = 0$ and there exists $\eta \in \mathcal{C}^{k,0}$ such that $\partial_{0,1}\eta + \partial_{1,0}\xi = 0$.

Lemma 3.9. For each $\eta \in \mathcal{C}^k$ such that $\pi_1(\partial \eta) = 0$, one has $\operatorname{pr}_{k+1,0}(\partial \eta) \in Z^{k+1}(\mathcal{N}_0,\overline{\partial})$.

Proof. One must show that $\operatorname{pr}_{k+1,0}(\partial \eta) \in \ker \partial_{1,0} \cap \ker \partial_{0,1}$. First note that

$$\operatorname{pr}_{k+1,0}(\partial \eta) = \partial_{2,-1}\eta_{k-1,1} + \partial_{1,0}\eta_{k,0}.$$

By applying (3.5) and (3.6),

$$\partial_{0,1}(\mathrm{pr}_{k+1,0}(\partial\eta)) = \partial_{0,1}\partial_{2,-1}\eta_{k-1,1} + \partial_{0,1}\partial_{1,0}\eta_{k,0} = -\partial_{1,0}^2\eta_{k-1,1} - \partial_{2,-1}\partial_{0,1}\eta_{k-1,1} - \partial_{1,0}\partial_{0,1}\eta_{k,0}.$$
(3.15)

3.4. COHOMOLOGY IN LOW DEGREE

The condition $\pi_1(\partial \eta) = 0$ implies that $\operatorname{pr}_{k,1}(\partial \eta) = \partial_{0,1}\eta_{k,0} + \partial_{1,0}\eta_{k-1,1} + \partial_{2,-1}\eta_{k-2,2} = 0$ which, together with (3.15), leads to

$$\partial_{0,1}(\mathrm{pr}_{k+1,0}(\partial\eta)) = \partial_{0,1}(\mathrm{pr}_{k+1,0}(\partial\eta)) + \partial_{1,0}(\mathrm{pr}_{k,1}(\partial\eta)) = -\partial_{2,-1}\partial_{0,1}\eta_{k-1,1} + \partial_{1,0}\partial_{2,-1}\eta_{k-2,2}.$$
(3.16)

Now, from (3.4), we get

$$\partial_{0,1}(\mathrm{pr}_{k+1,0}(\partial\eta)) = -\partial_{2,-1}\partial_{0,1}\eta_{k-1,1} - \partial_{2,-1}\partial_{1,0}\eta_{k-2,2}.$$
(3.17)

Again, from $\pi_1(\partial \eta) = 0$ we get $\operatorname{pr}_{k-1,2}(\partial \eta) = \partial_{0,1}\eta_{k-1,1} + \partial_{1,0}\eta_{k-2,2} + \partial_{2,-1}\eta_{k-3,3} = 0$. By (3.17),

$$\partial_{0,1}(\mathrm{pr}_{k+1,0}(\partial\eta)) = \partial_{0,1}(\mathrm{pr}_{k+1,0}(\partial\eta)) + \partial_{2,-1}(\mathrm{pr}_{k-1,2}(\partial\eta)) = \partial_{2,-1}^2\eta_{k-3,3}.$$

Therefore, $\partial_{0,1}(\mathrm{pr}_{k+1,0}(\partial \eta)) = 0$, due to (3.3). In a similar fashion, by applying (3.4) and (3.5) we obtain

$$\partial_{1,0}(\mathrm{pr}_{k+1,0}(\partial\eta)) = -\partial_{2,-1}\partial_{1,0}\eta_{k-1,1} - \partial_{0,1}\partial_{2,-1}\eta_{k,0} - \partial_{2,-1}\partial_{0,1}\eta_{k,0}.$$

Note that $\partial_{2,-1}\eta_{k,0} = 0$, due to its negative bidegree. Taking into account that $\operatorname{pr}_{k,1}(\partial \eta) = \partial_{0,1}\eta_{k,0} + \partial_{1,0}\eta_{k-1,1} + \partial_{2,-1}\eta_{k-2,2} = 0$, we get

$$\partial_{1,0}(\mathrm{pr}_{k+1,0}(\partial\eta)) = \partial_{2,-1}^2 \eta_{k-2,2},$$

which is zero because of (3.3).

Now, by definition, for each $\xi \in \mathcal{A}^k$ there exist $\eta \in \mathcal{C}^k$ such that $\pi_1 \eta = \xi$ and $\pi_1(\partial \eta) = 0$. By Lemma 3.9, η induces a cohomology class

$$[\partial_{2,-1}\eta_{k-1,1} + \partial_{1,0}\eta_{k,0}] \in H^{k+1}(\mathcal{N}_0,\overline{\partial}).$$

We claim that the cohomology class only depends on ξ , that is, it is independent of the choice of η . Indeed, pick another $\tilde{\eta} \in C^k$ such that $\pi_1 \tilde{\eta} = \xi$ and $\pi_1(\partial \tilde{\eta}) = 0$. Since $\eta_{k-1,1} = \tilde{\eta}_{k-1,1} = \xi_{k-1,1}$, we get

$$(\partial_{2,-1}\widetilde{\eta}_{k-1,1} + \partial_{1,0}\widetilde{\eta}_{k,0}) - (\partial_{2,-1}\eta_{k-1,1} + \partial_{1,0}\eta_{k,0}) = \partial_{1,0}(\widetilde{\eta}_{k,0} - \eta_{k,0}).$$

To see that η and $\tilde{\eta}$ induce the same cohomology class, we just need to check that $\tilde{\eta}_{k,0} - \eta_{k,0} \in \mathcal{N}_0$. From $\pi_1(\partial \eta) = 0$ and $\pi_1(\partial \tilde{\eta}) = 0$ we get that $\partial_{0,1}\eta + \partial_{0,1}\xi_{k,0} = 0$ and $\partial_{0,1}\tilde{\eta} + \partial_{0,1}\xi_{k,0} = 0$. Therefore, $\tilde{\eta}_{k,0} - \eta_{k,0} \in \ker^{k,0}\partial_{0,1} = \mathcal{N}^{k,0}$. Hence, the cohomology class is well defined.

This can be summarized in the following fact.

Lemma 3.10. There exists a well-defined linear map $\rho_k : \mathcal{A}^k \to H^{k+1}(\mathcal{N}_0,\overline{\partial})$ given by

$$\rho_k(\xi) := [\partial_{2,-1}\xi_{k-1,1} + \partial_{1,0}\eta_{k,0}]$$

where $\eta \in \mathcal{C}^k$ is such that $\pi_1 \eta = \xi$ and $\pi_1(\partial \eta) = 0$. Moreover, we have the identity $\mathcal{Z}_1^k = \ker(\rho_k)$.

Proof. The fact that $\rho_k(\xi)$ is well defined follows from our previous discussion, in which we have explained that $[\partial_{2,-1}\xi_{k-1,1} + \partial_{1,0}\eta_{k,0}]$ only depends of ξ . Moreover, the linearity of ρ_k follows from the linearity of $\partial_{2,-1}$, $\partial_{1,0}$, and π_1 . So, it is left to show that $\ker(\rho_k) = \mathcal{Z}_1^k$. Recall that, by definition, the elements of \mathcal{Z}_1^k are of the form $\pi_1(\eta)$, where $\partial_{2,-1}\eta_{k-1,1} + \partial_{1,0}\eta_{k,0} \in B^{k+1}(\mathcal{N}_0,\overline{\partial})$, and $\pi_1(\partial\eta) = 0$. Therefore,

$$\ker(\rho_k) = \{\pi_1(\eta) \mid \eta \in \mathcal{C}^k, \ \pi_1(\partial \eta) = 0, \ \text{and} \ \partial_{2,-1}\eta_{k-1,1} + \partial_{1,0}\eta_{k,0} \in B^{k+1}(\mathcal{N}_0,\overline{\partial})\} = \mathcal{Z}_1^k.$$

For each $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$, define $\rho_k : \mathcal{J}^k \to H^{k+1}(\mathcal{N}_0, \overline{\partial})$ by the restriction $\rho_k := \rho_k|_{\mathcal{J}^k}$. As a consequence of Lemma 3.10, we have

$$\ker(\varrho_k) = \mathcal{Z}_1^k \cap \mathcal{C}^{k-1,1}.$$

Refining the splittings for the low-degree cohomology. By applying Theorem 3.7, we describe the first, second, and third cohomology of the bigraded cochain complex $(\mathcal{C}, \overline{\partial})$ in terms of the cochain complexes $(\mathcal{C}^{p,\bullet}, \overline{\partial}_{0,1}), (\mathcal{N}_q, \overline{\partial})$, and the mappings $\rho : \mathcal{A} \to H(\mathcal{N}, \overline{\partial})$ and $\varrho : \mathcal{J} \to H(\mathcal{N}, \overline{\partial})$ given in Lemmas 3.5 and 3.10.

First cohomology. Here we state our main result on the first cohomology of (\mathcal{C}, ∂) .

Theorem 3.11. We have the following commutative diagram with exact rows and columns,

Observe that this result on the first cohomology of $(\mathcal{C}, \overline{\partial})$ involves the map $\rho_1 : \mathcal{A}^1 \to H^2(\mathcal{N}_0, \overline{\partial})$, which is related to the second cohomology of $(\mathcal{N}_0, \overline{\partial})$.

Proof of Theorem 3.11. The fact that the diagram of Theorem 3.11 coincides with the one given in Theorem 3.7 for k = 1 follows from equations (3.12) and (3.13), the definition of ρ_k , and from Lemma 3.10. We also need the following identity,

$$\mathcal{B}_0^1 \cap \mathcal{C}^{1,0} = \{ \partial_{1,0} f \mid \partial_{0,1} f = 0, f \in \mathcal{C}^0 \} = B^1(\mathcal{N}_0, \overline{\partial}).$$

3.4. COHOMOLOGY IN LOW DEGREE

Corollary 3.12. In the case when \mathcal{R} is a field, the coboundary, cocycle, and cohomology spaces of degree 1 admit the following splittings as vector spaces:

$$B^{1}(\mathcal{C}, \overline{\partial}) \cong B^{1}(\mathcal{N}_{0}, \overline{\partial}) \oplus B^{1}(\mathcal{C}^{0, \bullet}, \overline{\partial}_{0, 1}), \qquad Z^{1}(\mathcal{C}, \overline{\partial}) \cong Z^{1}(\mathcal{N}_{0}, \overline{\partial}) \oplus \ker(\rho_{1}),$$
$$H^{1}(\mathcal{C}, \overline{\partial}) \cong H^{1}(\mathcal{N}_{0}, \overline{\partial}) \oplus \frac{\ker(\rho_{1})}{B^{1}(\mathcal{C}^{0, \bullet}, \overline{\partial}_{0, 1})}.$$

Explicitly,

$$B^{1}(\mathcal{N}_{0},\overline{\partial}) = \{\partial_{1,0}f \mid f \in \mathcal{C}^{0,0}, \partial_{0,1}f = 0\},\$$

$$B^{1}(\mathcal{C}^{0,\bullet},\partial_{0,1}) = \{\partial_{0,1}f \mid f \in \mathcal{C}^{0,0}\},\$$

$$\mathcal{A}^{1} = \{Y \in \mathcal{C}^{0,1} \mid \partial_{0,1}Y = 0, \ \exists \alpha_{Y} \in \mathcal{C}^{1,0} : \partial_{0,1}\alpha_{Y} + \partial_{1,0}Y = 0\},\$$

$$Z^{1}(\mathcal{N}_{0},\overline{\partial}) = \{\alpha \in \mathcal{C}^{1,0} \mid \partial_{0,1}\alpha = 0, \partial_{1,0}\alpha = 0\},\$$

$$\ker(\rho_{1}) = \{Y \in \mathcal{A}^{1} \mid \partial_{2,-1}Y + \partial_{1,0}\alpha_{Y} \in B^{1}(\mathcal{N}_{0},\overline{\partial})\}.$$

Second cohomology. Similarly, the \mathcal{R} -modules of cocycles, coboundaries, and cohomology of degree 2 of the bigraded cochain complex (\mathcal{C}, ∂) are described by the following more explicit diagrams.

Theorem 3.13. We have the following commutative diagrams with exact rows and columns,

Observe that this result on the second cohomology of $(\mathcal{C}, \overline{\partial})$ involves the maps $\rho_2 : \mathcal{A}^2 \to H^3(\mathcal{N}_0, \overline{\partial})$ and $\rho_2 : \mathcal{J}^2 \to H^3(\mathcal{N}_0, \overline{\partial})$, related to the third cohomology of $(\mathcal{N}_0, \overline{\partial})$. Also, the submodule \mathcal{Z}_2^2 is related to the 3-coboundaries of $(\mathcal{N}_1, \overline{\partial})$.

Corollary 3.14. In the case when \mathcal{R} is a field, the coboundary, cocycle, and cohomology spaces of degree 2 admit the following splittings as vector spaces:

$$B^{2}(\mathcal{C}, \overline{\partial}) \cong (B^{2}(\mathcal{C}, \overline{\partial}) \cap \mathcal{C}^{2,0}) \oplus (\mathcal{B}_{1}^{2} \cap \mathcal{C}^{1,1}) \oplus B^{2}(\mathcal{C}^{0,\bullet}, \overline{\partial}_{0,1}),$$

$$Z^{2}(\mathcal{C}, \overline{\partial}) \cong Z^{2}(\mathcal{N}_{0}, \overline{\overline{\partial}}) \oplus \ker(\varrho_{2}) \oplus \mathcal{Z}_{2}^{2},$$

$$H^{2}(\mathcal{C}, \overline{\partial}) \cong \frac{Z^{2}(\mathcal{N}_{0}, \overline{\overline{\partial}})}{B^{2}(\mathcal{C}, \overline{\partial}) \cap \mathcal{C}^{2,0}} \oplus \frac{\ker(\varrho_{2})}{\mathcal{B}_{1}^{2} \cap \mathcal{C}^{1,1}} \oplus \frac{\mathcal{Z}_{2}^{2}}{B^{2}(\mathcal{C}^{0,\bullet}, \overline{\partial}_{0,1})}.$$

In a more explicit fashion, the modules appearing in Theorem 3.13 are

$$\begin{split} B^{2}(\mathcal{C},\bar{\partial}) \cap \mathcal{C}^{2,0} &= \{\partial_{1,0}\alpha + \partial_{2,-1}Y \mid \alpha \in \mathcal{C}^{1,0}, Y \in \mathcal{C}^{0,1}, \partial_{0,1}\alpha + \partial_{1,0}Y = 0, \partial_{0,1}Y = 0\}, \\ \mathcal{B}^{2}_{1} \cap \mathcal{C}^{1,1} &= \{\partial_{1,0}Y + \partial_{0,1}\alpha \mid \alpha \in \mathcal{C}^{1,0}, Y \in \mathcal{C}^{0,1}, \partial_{0,1}Y = 0\}, \\ B^{2}(\mathcal{C}^{0,\bullet},\partial_{0,1}) &= \{\partial_{0,1}Y \mid Y \in \mathcal{C}^{0,1}\}, \\ \mathcal{J}^{2} &= \{Q \in \mathcal{C}^{1,1} \mid \partial_{0,1}Q = 0, \exists \beta_{Q} \in \mathcal{C}^{2,0} : \partial_{0,1}\beta_{Q} + \partial_{1,0}Q = 0\}, \\ Z^{2}(\mathcal{N}_{0},\overline{\partial}) &= \{\beta \in \mathcal{C}^{2,0} \mid \partial_{1,0}\beta = 0, \partial_{0,1}\beta = 0\}, \\ \ker(\varrho_{2}) &= \{Q \in \mathcal{J}^{2} \mid \partial_{2,-1}Q + \partial_{1,0}\beta_{Q} \in B^{3}(\mathcal{N},\overline{\partial})\}, \\ \mathcal{Z}^{2}_{2} &= \left\{ V \in \ker^{0,2}\partial_{0,1} \mid \exists Q \in \mathcal{C}^{1,1}, \beta \in \mathcal{C}^{2,0} : \partial_{0,1}\beta + \partial_{1,0}Q + \partial_{2,-1}V \in B^{3}(\mathcal{N},\overline{\partial}), \\ \partial_{1,0}\beta + \partial_{2,-1}Q \in B^{3}(\mathcal{N},\overline{\partial}). \end{array} \right\}. \end{split}$$

Third cohomology. Finally, the following result gives a more explicit presentation of the \mathcal{R} -modules involved in the description of coboundaries, cocycles, and cohomology of degree 3.

Theorem 3.15. We have the following commutative diagrams with exact rows and columns,

$$\begin{array}{c} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \downarrow & \downarrow & \downarrow \\ 0 \longrightarrow B^{3}(\mathcal{C}, \partial) \cap \mathcal{C}^{3,0} \longrightarrow B^{3}(\mathcal{C}, \partial) \xrightarrow{\pi_{1}} \mathcal{B}_{1}^{3} \longrightarrow 0 \\ \downarrow & \downarrow & \downarrow \\ 0 \longrightarrow Z^{3}(\mathcal{N}_{0}, \overline{\partial}) \longrightarrow Z^{3}(\mathcal{C}, \partial) \xrightarrow{\pi_{1}} \ker(\rho_{3}) \longrightarrow 0, \\ \downarrow & \downarrow & \downarrow \\ 0 \longrightarrow B^{3}(\mathcal{C}, \partial) \cap \mathcal{C}^{3,0} \longrightarrow H^{3}(\mathcal{C}, \partial) \longrightarrow \frac{\ker(\rho_{3})}{B_{1}^{3}} \longrightarrow 0 \\ \downarrow & \downarrow & \downarrow \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{array}$$


We note that this result on the third cohomology of $(\mathcal{C}, \overline{\partial})$ involves the maps $\rho_3 : \mathcal{A}^3 \to H^4(\mathcal{N}_0, \overline{\partial})$ and $\rho_3 : \mathcal{J}^3 \to H^4(\mathcal{N}_0, \overline{\partial})$, related to the fourth cohomology of $(\mathcal{N}_0, \overline{\partial})$. Also, the submodule \mathcal{Z}_3^3 is related to the 4-coboundaries of $(\mathcal{N}_1, \overline{\partial})$.

Corollary 3.16. In the case when \mathcal{R} is a field, the coboundary, cocycle, and cohomology spaces of degree 3 admit the following splittings as vector spaces:

$$B^{3}(\mathcal{C},\partial) \cong (B^{3}(\mathcal{C},\partial) \cap \mathcal{C}^{3,0}) \oplus (\mathcal{B}_{1}^{3} \cap \mathcal{C}^{2,1}) \oplus (\mathcal{B}_{2}^{3} \cap \mathcal{C}^{1,2}) \oplus B^{3}(\mathcal{C}^{0,\bullet},\partial_{0,1}),$$

$$Z^{3}(\mathcal{C},\partial) \cong Z^{3}(\mathcal{N}_{0},\overline{\partial}) \oplus \ker(\varrho_{3}) \oplus (\mathcal{Z}_{2}^{3} \cap \mathcal{C}^{1,2}) \oplus \mathcal{Z}_{3}^{3},$$

$$H^{3}(\mathcal{C},\partial) \cong \frac{Z^{3}(\mathcal{N}_{0},\overline{\partial})}{B^{3}(\mathcal{C},\partial) \cap \mathcal{C}^{3,0}} \oplus \frac{\ker(\varrho_{3})}{\mathcal{B}_{1}^{3} \cap \mathcal{C}^{2,1}} \oplus \frac{\mathcal{Z}_{2}^{3} \cap \mathcal{C}^{1,2}}{\mathcal{B}_{2}^{3} \cap \mathcal{C}^{1,2}} \oplus \frac{\mathcal{Z}_{3}^{3}}{B^{3}(\mathcal{C}^{0,\bullet},\partial_{0,1})}.$$

Each of the terms appearing in the splittings of Corollary 3.16 are given as follows:

$$\begin{split} B^{3}(\mathcal{C},\partial) \cap \mathcal{C}^{3,0} &= \begin{cases} \partial_{1,0}\beta + \partial_{2,-1}Q & \beta \in \mathcal{C}^{2,0}, Q \in \mathcal{C}^{1,1}, \exists V \in \mathcal{C}^{0,2} : \partial_{0,1}Q + \partial_{1,0}V = 0, \\ \partial_{0,1}V = 0. & 0 \end{cases} \\ B^{3}_{1} \cap \mathcal{C}^{2,1} &= \{\partial_{0,1}\beta + \partial_{1,0}Q + \partial_{2,-1}V \mid \beta \in \mathcal{C}^{2,0}, Q \in \mathcal{C}^{1,1}, V \in \mathcal{C}^{0,2}, \partial_{0,1}Q + \partial_{1,0}V = 0, \partial_{0,1}V = 0 \}, \\ B^{3}_{2} \cap \mathcal{C}^{1,2} &= \{\partial_{0,1}Q + \partial_{1,0}V = 0 \mid Q \in \mathcal{C}^{1,1}, V \in \mathcal{C}^{0,2}, \partial_{0,1}Q + \partial_{1,0}V = 0, \partial_{0,1}V = 0 \}, \\ B^{3}(\mathcal{C}^{0,\bullet},\partial_{0,1}) &= \{\partial_{0,1}V \mid V \in \mathcal{C}^{0,2}\}, \\ \mathcal{J}^{3} &= \{R \in \mathcal{C}^{2,1} \mid \partial_{0,1}R = 0, \exists \varphi_{R} \in \mathcal{C}^{3,0} : \partial_{0,1}\varphi_{R} + \partial_{1,0}R = 0 \}, \\ Z^{3}(\mathcal{N}_{0},\overline{\partial}) &= \{\varphi \in \mathcal{C}^{3,0} \mid \partial_{1,0}\varphi = 0, \partial_{0,1}\varphi = 0 \}, \\ \ker(\varrho_{3}) &= \{R \in \mathcal{J}^{3} \mid \partial_{2,-1}R + \partial_{1,0}\varphi_{R} \in B^{3}(\mathcal{N}_{0},\overline{\partial})\}, \\ Z^{3}_{2} \cap \mathcal{C}^{1,2} &= \begin{cases} S \in \mathcal{C}^{1,2} \\ \exists R \in \mathcal{C}^{2,1}, \varphi \in \mathcal{C}^{3,0} : \partial_{0,1}\varphi + \partial_{1,0}R + \partial_{2,-1}S \in B^{4}(\mathcal{N}_{0},\overline{\partial}), \\ \partial_{1,0}\varphi + \partial_{2,-1}R \in B^{4}(\mathcal{N}_{0},\overline{\partial}), \end{cases} \\ \end{bmatrix}, \\ Z^{3}_{3} &= \begin{cases} W \in \ker^{0,3}(\partial_{0,1}) \\ \exists S \in \mathcal{C}^{1,2}, R \in \mathcal{C}^{2,1}, \varphi \in \mathcal{C}^{3,0} : \partial_{0,1}R + \partial_{1,0}S + \partial_{2,-1}S \in B^{4}(\mathcal{N}_{0},\overline{\partial}), \\ \partial_{0,1}\varphi + \partial_{1,0}R + \partial_{2,-1}S \in B^{4}(\mathcal{N}_{0},\overline{\partial}), \\ \partial_{0,1}\varphi + \partial_{1,0}R + \partial_{2,-1}S \in B^{4}(\mathcal{N}_{0},\overline{\partial}), \\ \partial_{1,0}\varphi + \partial_{2,-1}R \in B^{4}(\mathcal{N}_{0},\overline{\partial}), \end{cases} \\ \end{cases} \end{split}$$

,

The proofs of Theorems 3.13, and 3.15 are analogous to the proof of Theorem 3.11.

3.5 Particular cases

In this part we consider some particular cases regarding the bigraded cochain complex (\mathcal{C}, ∂) ,

$$\partial = \partial_{0,1} + \partial_{1,0} + \partial_{2,-1}.$$

The case $\partial_{2,-1} = 0$. In this part, we assume that $\partial_{2,-1} = 0$, which corresponds to the well-known case of a *double complex*. Namely, (\mathcal{C}, ∂) is a bigraded cochain complex, such that the bigraded decomposition of the coboundary operator is

$$\partial = \partial_{0,1} + \partial_{1,0}$$
.

The coboundary equations (3.3)-(3.7) read in this case

$$\partial_{0,1}^2 = 0,$$
 $\partial_{0,1}\partial_{1,0} + \partial_{1,0}\partial_{0,1} = 0,$ $\partial_{1,0}^2 = 0,$

which means that the bigraded components $\partial_{0,1}$ and $\partial_{1,0}$ are coboundary operators which commute with each other in the graded sense.

The case of the double complex is a standard topic in the literature, since it naturally arises both from algebraic and geometric contexts [46, Chapter XI, Section 6], [47, Section 2.4], and has several applications [6, Chapter II]. However, the description of its cohomology is limited to explain that the natural filtration

$$F^p \mathcal{C}^{\bullet} := \bigoplus_{\substack{i,j \in \mathbb{Z} \\ i \ge p}} \mathcal{C}^{i,j}$$

induces a spectral sequence which converges to the cohomology, and whose second page is explicitly described in terms of the double complex, namely, $E_2^{p,q} = H^p(H^q(\mathcal{C}, \partial_{0,1}), \partial_{1,0})$. For several applications discussed in the literature, the computation of the second page of the spectral sequence is sufficient to describe the cohomology. In this sense, we have not found a general scheme for the computation of the cohomology of a double complex.

Theorems 3.11, 3.13, and 3.15 provide an explicit description of the low-degree cohomology of a bigraded cochain complex which, of course, also holds for the double complex. We remark that in this case, the null subcomplex is simply $\mathcal{N} = \ker \partial_{0,1}$, so the cocycles and coboundaries of $(\mathcal{N}, \overline{\partial})$ are

$$Z(\mathcal{N},\overline{\partial}) = \ker \partial_{0,1} \cap \ker \partial_{1,0},$$
 and $B(\mathcal{N},\overline{\partial}) = \partial_{1,0}(\ker \partial_{0,1}).$

Furthermore, in the description of the cohomology of degree 1 provided by Theorem 3.11, we have

$$\ker(\rho_1) = \{ Y \in \mathcal{C}^{0,1} \mid \partial_{0,1}Y = 0, \exists \alpha_Y \in \mathcal{C}^{1,0} : \partial_{1,0}Y + \partial_{0,1}\alpha_Y = 0, \partial_{1,0}\alpha_Y \in B^1(\mathcal{N}_0,\overline{\partial}) \}.$$

3.5. PARTICULAR CASES

On the other hand, the terms which simplify in the description of the cohomology of degree 2 of a double complex are

$$B^{2}(\mathcal{C}, \overline{\partial}) \cap \mathcal{C}^{2,0} = \{ \overline{\partial}_{1,0} \alpha \mid \alpha \in \mathcal{C}^{1,0}, \ \exists Y \in \mathcal{C}^{0,1} : \ \overline{\partial}_{0,1} \alpha + \overline{\partial}_{1,0} Y = 0, \overline{\partial}_{0,1} Y = 0 \}, \\ \ker(\varrho_{2}) = \{ Q \in \mathcal{C}^{1,1} \mid \overline{\partial}_{0,1} Q = 0, \exists \beta_{Q} \in \mathcal{C}^{2,0} : \overline{\partial}_{0,1} \beta_{Q} + \overline{\partial}_{1,0} Q = 0, \overline{\partial}_{1,0} \beta_{Q} \in B^{3}(\mathcal{N}, \overline{\partial}) \}, \\ \mathcal{Z}_{2}^{2} = \left\{ V \in \ker^{0,2} \overline{\partial}_{0,1} \mid \exists Q \in \mathcal{C}^{1,1}, \beta \in \mathcal{C}^{2,0} : \overline{\partial}_{0,1} \beta + \overline{\partial}_{1,0} Q \in B^{3}(\mathcal{N}, \overline{\partial}), \\ \overline{\partial}_{1,0} \beta \in B^{3}(\mathcal{N}, \overline{\partial}). \right\}.$$

In a similar fashion, the terms appearing in the description of the cohomology of degree three that simplify in the case of the double complex are $\mathcal{B}_1^3 \cap \mathcal{C}^{2,1}$, $\mathcal{B}_2^3 \cap \mathcal{C}^{1,2}$, $\mathcal{Z}_2^3 \cap \mathcal{C}^{1,2}$, and \mathcal{Z}_3^3 .

The case $\partial_{0,1} = 0$. We now consider a cochain complex $(\mathcal{C}^{\bullet}, \partial)$ endowed with a compatible bigrading such that the decomposition of the coboundary operator is of the form $\partial = \partial_{1,0} + \partial_{2,-1}$. This can be regarded as a particular case of our general scheme in which the operator of type (0,1) vanishes, $\partial_{0,1} = 0$. In this case, the coboundary property $\partial^2 = 0$ is equivalent to

$$\partial_{1,0}^2 = 0,$$
 $\partial_{1,0}\partial_{2,-1} + \partial_{2,-1}\partial_{1,0} = 0,$ $\partial_{2,-1}^2 = 0,$

which means that the bigraded components $\partial_{1,0}$ and $\partial_{2,-1}$ are graded commutative coboundary operators. Moreover, the null subcomplex is $\mathcal{N} = \ker \partial_{2,-1}$. In particular, $(\mathcal{N}_0, \overline{\partial}) = (\mathcal{C}^{\bullet,0}, \partial_{1,0})$,

$$Z^{p}(\mathcal{N}_{0},\overline{\partial}) = \ker(\partial_{1,0}: \mathcal{C}^{p,0} \to \mathcal{C}^{p+1,0}), \quad \text{and} \quad B^{p}(\mathcal{N}_{0},\overline{\partial}) = \partial_{1,0}(\mathcal{C}^{p-1,0}), \quad \forall p \ge 0.$$

It is well known that this class of cochain complexes arise in the context of regular Poisson manifolds. In fact, the choice of a subbundle normal to the symplectic foliation of a regular Poisson manifold induces a bigrading of the Lichnerowicz-Poisson complex such that the coboundary operator is of this kind. Moreover, based on this fact, and motivated by the results in [74], a recursive scheme for the computation of the cohomology of regular Poisson manifolds is provided in [62, Section 2]. Such recursive scheme is similar to the one we have presented in Section 3.3, and leads to a description of the Poisson cohomology in terms of short exact sequences that coincide with the bottom rows of the diagrams of Proposition 3.2.

Finally, we remark that this class of cochain complexes also arise in the literature in the more general context of Poisson foliations [65, Proposition 2.2], [66, Lemma 4.1], which are Poisson structures such that the symplectic foliation admits an outer regularization.

The terms which appear in the description of the first cohomology which simplify in this case are

$$B^{1}(\mathcal{N}_{0},\overline{\partial}) = \partial_{1,0}(\mathcal{C}^{0,0}),$$

$$B^{1}(\mathcal{C}^{0,\bullet},\partial_{0,1}) = \{0\},$$

$$\mathcal{A}^{1} = \{Y \in \mathcal{C}^{0,1} \mid \partial_{1,0}Y = 0\},$$

$$Z^{1}(\mathcal{N}_{0},\overline{\partial}) = \{\alpha \in \mathcal{C}^{1,0} \mid \partial_{1,0}\alpha = 0\},$$

$$\ker(\rho_{1}) = \{Y \in \mathcal{A}^{1} \mid \partial_{2,-1}Y \in \partial_{1,0}(\mathcal{C}^{0,0})\}.$$

In the description of the cohomology of degree two, the terms simplify to

$$\begin{split} B^{2}(\mathcal{C},\overline{\partial}) \cap \mathcal{C}^{2,0} &= \{\overline{\partial}_{1,0}\alpha + \overline{\partial}_{2,-1}Y \mid \alpha \in \mathcal{C}^{1,0}, Y \in \mathcal{C}^{0,1}, \overline{\partial}_{1,0}Y = 0\}, \\ \mathcal{B}^{2}_{1} \cap \mathcal{C}^{1,1} &= \{\overline{\partial}_{1,0}Y \mid Y \in \mathcal{C}^{0,1}\}, \\ B^{2}(\mathcal{C}^{0,\bullet},\overline{\partial}_{0,1}) &= \{0\}, \\ \mathcal{J}^{2} &= \{Q \in \mathcal{C}^{1,1} \mid \overline{\partial}_{1,0}Q = 0\}, \\ \mathcal{J}^{2} &= \{Q \in \mathcal{C}^{2,0} \mid \overline{\partial}_{1,0}\beta = 0\}, \\ ker(\varrho_{2}) &= \{Q \in \mathcal{J}^{2} \mid \overline{\partial}_{2,-1}Q + \overline{\partial}_{1,0}\beta_{Q} \in B^{3}(\mathcal{N},\overline{\partial})\}, \\ \mathcal{Z}^{2}_{2} &= \begin{cases} V \in \mathcal{C}^{0,2} \\ V \in \mathcal{C}^{0,2} \end{cases} \mid \exists Q \in \mathcal{C}^{1,1}, \beta \in \mathcal{C}^{2,0} : \overline{\partial}_{1,0}Q + \overline{\partial}_{2,-1}V \in B^{3}(\mathcal{N},\overline{\partial}), \\ \overline{\partial}_{1,0}\beta + \overline{\partial}_{2,-1}Q \in B^{3}(\mathcal{N},\overline{\partial}). \end{cases} \end{cases}. \end{split}$$

In a similar fashion, most of the terms appearing in the description of the cohomology of degree three simplify.

Chapter 4

Bigraded Cohomological Models in Poisson Geometry

In this chapter, we review some of the geometric structures which induce a bigraded cochain complex such that the algebraic schemes developed in Chapter 3 can be applied. Furthermore, we show that the cochain complex of a coupling twisted Poisson or Dirac structure on a foliated manifold is endowed with a natural bigrading of this kind.

This chapter is organized as follows. Section 4.1 is devoted to describe the bigraded model on the general setting of Lie algebroids with fixed involutive subbundle. Also, we describe how the geometric structures described above fit in this general construction. In Section 4.2, we describe the algebraic structure of the bigraded model for coupling structures. Finally, in Section 4.3 we introduce the notions of coupling twisted Poisson and Dirac structures, show the correspondence with twisted Dirac elements, and describe the bigraded model for the cohomology.

4.1 Bigrading on Lie algebroids

Let $(E \to M, q, [\cdot, \cdot]_E)$ be a Lie algebroid, and let $\partial_E : \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}E^*) \to \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}E^*)$ be its de Rham differential, in the sense of Definition 1.12. Suppose we are given a regular distribution $V \subset E$ whose sections are closed under the bracket of the Lie algebroid, $[\Gamma(V), \Gamma(V)]_E \subseteq \Gamma(V)$. Such regular distributions will be called *involutive*. In addition, suppose we are given a vector bundle map $p: E \to E$ such that $p^2 = p$ and im(p) = V. We say that p is a *connection* on E adapted to V. Denote $H \equiv H^p := ker(p)$, and let $V^{\circ}, H^{\circ} \subset E^*$ be the annihilators of V and H in E^* , respectively. Then, we have the splittings $H^p \oplus V = E$, and $V^{\circ} \oplus H^{\circ} = E^*$. For simplicity, let us denote for each $p, q \in \mathbb{Z}$, $\wedge^{p,q}E^* := \wedge^p V^{\circ} \otimes \wedge^q H^{\circ}$. Then,

$$\wedge^{\bullet} E^* = \bigoplus_{p,q \in \mathbb{Z}} \wedge^{p,q} E^*, \tag{4.1}$$

Moreover, the curvature $R^{p}(a,b) \in \Gamma(\wedge^{2}V^{\circ} \otimes V)$ of p is given by

$$R^{\mathbf{p}}(a,b) := \mathbf{p}[(\mathrm{Id}_E - \mathbf{p})a, (\mathrm{Id}_E - \mathbf{p})b]_E, \qquad \forall a, b \in \Gamma(E),$$

and is the obstruction to the involutivity of H^p . On the other hand, for each $K \in \Gamma(\wedge^k E^* \otimes E)$, we consider the insertion operator $i_K : \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet} E^*) \to \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet} E^*)$ of degree k-1 given on $\alpha \in \Gamma(\wedge^p E^*)$ by

$$i_K \alpha(a_1, \dots, a_{p+k-1}) = \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(k,p-1)}} (-1)^{\sigma} \alpha(K(a_{\sigma_1}, \dots, a_{\sigma_k}), a_{\sigma_{k+1}}, \dots, a_{\sigma_{p+k-1}}) \quad \forall a_1, \dots, a_{p+k-1} \in \Gamma(E).$$

Here, $S_{(k,p-1)}$ is the set of *shuffle permutations* (see Remark 1.11). Moreover, the ∂_E -Lie derivative $\mathcal{L}_K^{\partial_E} : \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet} E^*) \to \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet} E^*)$ of degree k is defined in terms of the commutator of graded endomorphisms by $\mathcal{L}_K^{\partial_E} := [i_K, \partial_E] = i_K \circ \partial_E + (-1)^k \partial_E \circ i_K$.

Following the Appendix C, we get the following result on the bigraded decomposition of the de Rham differential.

Theorem 4.1. Let $\mathbf{p} \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 E^* \otimes V)$ be a connection on the Lie algebroid $(E, q, [\cdot, \cdot]_E)$ adapted to the involutive subbundle $V \subseteq E$. The bigraded decomposition of the de Rham differential is

$$\partial_E = (\partial_E^{\mathbf{p}})_{0,1} + (\partial_E^{\mathbf{p}})_{1,0} + (\partial_E^{\mathbf{p}})_{2,-1}$$

where, for each $i, j \in \mathbb{Z}$, one has the property $(\partial_E^p)_{i,j}(\Gamma(\wedge^{p,q}E^*)) \subseteq \Gamma(\wedge^{p+i,q+j}E^*)$ for all $p, q \in \mathbb{Z}$. In terms of the connection p, the bigraded components of ∂_E are given by

$$(\partial_E^{\rm p})_{0,1} = \mathcal{L}_{\rm p}^{\partial_E} - i_{R^{\rm p}}, \qquad (\partial_E^{\rm p})_{1,0} = \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{Id}_E - \mathrm{p}}^{\partial_E} + 2\,i_{R^{\rm p}}, \qquad (\partial_E^{\rm p})_{2,-1} = -\,i_{R^{\rm p}}\,.$$

This result implies that, whenever a Lie algebroid $(E, q, [\cdot, \cdot]_E)$ is endowed with a projection map $p: E \to E, p^2 = p$, with involutive image V = im(p), its de Rham complex is bigraded in the sense of the complexes studied in Chapter 3. In other words, the results of Chapter 3 may be applied for the computation of the Lie algebroid cohomology.

Let us propose an adequate bigraded model for the description of the cohomology of a Lie algebroid $(E, q, [\cdot, \cdot]_E)$ in which an involutive subbundle $V \subseteq E$ is fixed. To this end, recall that the closedness of $\Gamma(V)$ under the bracket of $\Gamma(E)$ implies that, the triple $(V, q|_V, [\cdot, \cdot]_V)$ is a Lie algebroid such that $[\cdot, \cdot]_V := [\cdot, \cdot]_E|_{\Gamma(V) \times \Gamma(V)}$ is the restriction, and the natural inclusion $\iota : V \hookrightarrow E$ is a morphism. In particular, V has its own de Rham complex $(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V^*), \partial_V)$.

Note that each complementary subbundle $H \subset E$, $H \oplus V = E$ corresponds to a unique connection $\mathbf{p} \in \Gamma(E^* \otimes V)$ on the Lie algebroid adapted to V, via the relation $\ker(\mathbf{p}) = H$. We also observe that the splitting $V^{\circ} \oplus H^{\circ} = E^*$ induces an isomorphism $H^{\circ} \cong V^*$, given by the dual of the inclusion map $\iota^* : E^* \twoheadrightarrow V^*$ restricted to H° . For each $p, q \in \mathbb{Z}$, this induces an isomorphism $\wedge^{p,q}E^* \cong \wedge^p V^{\circ} \otimes \wedge^q V^*$. Let us denote $C^{p,q} := \wedge^p V^{\circ} \otimes \wedge^q V^*$, $\mathcal{C}^{p,q} := \Gamma(C^{p,q})$, and $\mathcal{C}^{\bullet,\bullet} := \bigoplus_{p,q \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{C}^{p,q}$. We then have a bigraded exterior algebra isomorphism $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet,\bullet}E^*) \cong \mathcal{C}^{\bullet,\bullet}$. Moreover, under this correspondence, the de Rham complex $(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}E^*), \partial_E)$ induces a cochain complex structure on \mathcal{C}^{\bullet} .

Observe that the bigraded model $\mathcal{C}^{\bullet,\bullet}$ only depends of V, but the bigraded exterior algebra isomorphism between $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}E^*)$ and \mathcal{C}^{\bullet} do depend of the choice of p. So, the coboundary operator induced on \mathcal{C}^{\bullet} also depends on p. Since the de Rham complex $(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}E^*), \partial_E)$ is bigraded and such that $\partial_E = (\partial_E^p)_{0,1} + (\partial_E^p)_{1,0} + (\partial_E^p)_{2,-1}$, it follows that the coboundary operator ∂^p on \mathcal{C}^{\bullet} has a bigraded decomposition of the same type, $(\mathcal{C}^{\bullet,\bullet}, \partial^p = \partial_{0,1} + \partial_{1,0} + \partial_{2,-1})$.

We now describe each of the bigraded components $\partial_{0,1}$, $\partial_{1,0}$, and $\partial_{2,-1}$ of the coboundary operator $\partial^p : \mathcal{C}^{\bullet} \to \mathcal{C}^{\bullet}$.

• The operator $\partial_{0,1}^V$. Observe that the coboundary operator $\partial_{0,1}$ is independent of the choice of the connection p. In fact, the bigraded operator $\partial_{0,1}$ is an extension of the de Rham differential ∂_V of $\mathcal{C}^{0,\bullet} = \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V^*)$ to the whole bigraded space $\mathcal{C}^{\bullet,\bullet}$, in the sense that $\partial_{0,1}|_{\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V^*)} = \partial_V$. In fact, the value of $\partial_{0,1}\alpha$, with $\alpha \in \Gamma(\wedge^p V^\circ)$, on $v \in \Gamma(V)$ and $a_1, \ldots, a_p \in \Gamma(E)$ is

$$\partial_{0,1}\alpha(v;a_1,\ldots,a_p) = \mathcal{L}_v^{\partial}\alpha(a_1,\ldots,a_p) = \mathcal{L}_{q(v)}(\alpha(a_1,\ldots,a_p)) - \sum_{i=1}^p \alpha(a_1,\ldots,[v,a_i]_E,\ldots,a_p).$$

Since $\partial_{0,1}$ is a derivation, these relations determine its value on the whole $\mathcal{C}^{\bullet,\bullet}$. It now becomes clear that $\partial_{0,1}$ is in fact independent of the choice of p.

68

4.1. BIGRADING ON LIE ALGEBROIDS

• The operator $\partial_{1,0}^p$. Proceeding as before, the differential $\partial_{1,0}^p$ on $\alpha \in \Gamma(\wedge^p V^\circ)$ is given on a_1, \ldots, a_{p+1} by

$$\partial_{1,0}^{p} \alpha(a_{1}, \dots, a_{p+1}) = \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(1,p)}} (-1)^{\sigma} L_{q((\mathrm{Id} - p)a_{\sigma_{1}})}(\alpha(a_{\sigma_{2}}, \dots, a_{\sigma_{p+1}})) \\ - \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(2,p-1)}} (-1)^{\sigma} \alpha((\mathrm{Id} - p)[a_{\sigma_{1}}, a_{\sigma_{2}}]_{E}, a_{\sigma_{3}}, \dots, a_{\sigma_{p+1}}).$$

Similarly, if $\mu \in \Gamma(\wedge^q V^*)$, then for $v_1, \ldots, v_q \in \Gamma(V)$, and $a \in \Gamma(E)$,

$$\partial_{1,0}^{\mathbf{p}}\mu(a;v_1,\ldots,v_q) = \mathcal{L}_{q((\mathrm{Id}-\mathbf{p})a)}(\mu(v_1,\ldots,v_q)) - \sum_{i=1}^{q}\mu(v_1,\ldots,\mathbf{p}[(\mathrm{Id}-\mathbf{p})a,v_i]_E,\ldots,v_q).$$

• The operator $\partial_{2,-1}^{p}$. This operator is given by the curvature $R^{p} \in \Gamma(\wedge^{2}V^{\circ} \otimes V)$ of p. Viewing each $\eta \in C^{p,q}$ as a *p*-linear skew-symmetric map $\eta : \Gamma(E) \times \cdots \times \Gamma(E) \to \Gamma(\wedge^{q}V^{*})$ vanishing if any argument lies in $\Gamma(V)$, the operator $\partial_{2,-1}^{p}$ is readily described by the curvature, as follows:

$$\partial_{2,-1}^{p}\eta(a_{1},\ldots,a_{p+2}) = -(-1)^{p} \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(2,p)}} (-1)^{\sigma} i_{R^{p}(a_{\sigma_{1}},a_{\sigma_{2}})}(\eta(a_{\sigma_{3}},\ldots,a_{\sigma_{p}+2})).$$

The operator $\partial_{0,1}^V$ is the extension of the de Rham differential of V, and $\partial_{1,0}^p$ is the *covariant* exterior derivative of p. The operator $\partial_{2,-1}^p$ is the negative of the insertion of the curvature.

In some particular contexts, the formulas presented in the previous general context of a Lie algebroid with an involutive subbundle can be simplified. This is in fact the case when $V \subset E$ can be realized as the kernel of a surjective Lie algebroid morphism $\pi : E \to A$ onto $(A \to N, q_A, [\cdot, \cdot]_A)$ covering some map $M \to N$ [7, Section 3]. In this case, E is called an *extension* of A via V, and the above formulas get a simpler formula when applied to the H^p -lifting of sections of A. Another case in which such formulas simplify are E = TM is the tangent Lie algebroid. In such context, Frobenius Theorem implies that V is the tangent bundle of some foliation $\mathcal{V}, V = T\mathcal{V}$. By evaluating in local \mathcal{V} -projectable vector fields, the above formulas also simplify.

4.1.1 Geometric applications

We now briefly describe some well-known geometric settings in which the corresponding Lie algebroid is naturally equipped with a connection.

Example 4.2 (Regular Poisson structures). Let (M, Π) be a regular Poisson manifold, with symplectic foliation (S, ω_S) , and consider its cotangent Lie algebroid $(T^*M, \Pi^{\sharp}, \{\cdot, \cdot\}_{\Pi})$. The annihilator of the characteristic distribution $V := \operatorname{Ann}(TS)$ is a subbundle of T^*M which coincides with the kernel of the anchor map, $V = \ker(\Pi^{\sharp})$. Then, it is clear from (1.12) that $\{\Gamma(V), \Gamma(V)\}_{\Pi} = \{0\}$. Furthermore, the involutivity of TS implies $\{\Gamma(V), \Gamma(T^*M)\}_{\Pi} \subseteq \Gamma(V)$. Therefore, by taking any vector subbundle $H \subset T^*M$ such that $H \oplus V = T^*M$, it follows from Corollary C.7 that the corresponding bigrading of the Lichnerowicz-Poisson operator is

$$\partial_{\Pi} = (\partial_{\Pi})_{1,0} + (\partial_{\Pi})_{2,-1}.$$

Furthermore, Corollary C.6 implies that $(\partial_{\Pi})_{2,-1}$ is the zero operator if and only if the subbundle $H \subseteq T^*M$ is involutive, $\{\Gamma(H), \Gamma(H)\}_{\Pi} \subseteq \Gamma(H)$. Because of Lemma B.3, this is equivalent to the following geometric condition: if $N \subseteq T^*M$ is the annihilator of H, then every $X \in \Gamma(N) \cap \operatorname{aut}(M, S)$ is Poisson, $X \in \operatorname{Poiss}(M, \Pi)$. In other words, N is a Poisson connection if and only if $(\partial_{\Pi})_{2,-1} = 0$ (see Example 2.12). In particular, this implies that Π must be transversally constant [62, pp. 959-960], [64, pp. 49-50].

Example 4.3 (Poisson foliations). All of the arguments in the previous example are valid for the case of regular Poisson foliations. Given a Poisson foliation (M, \mathcal{F}, P) , one can take $V := \operatorname{Ann}(T\mathcal{F})$. Then, it is clear that V is an Abelian ideal of $(T^*M, \{\cdot, \cdot\}_P)$ such that $V \subseteq \ker(P^{\sharp})$. By fixing H such that $H \oplus V = T^*M$, the Lichnerowicz-Poisson operator has the form $\partial_P = (\partial_P)_{1,0} + (\partial_P)_{2,-1}$ [65, Proposition 2.2], [66, Lemma 4.1], and the term $(\partial_P)_{2,-1}$ vanishes if and only if V is the annihilator of a Poisson connection.

Example 4.4 (Extensions of Lie algebroids). Let $\pi : E \to A$ be a Lie algebroid epimorphism covering the base map $p: M \to N$, and let $V := \ker(\pi)$. Observe that for each $m \in M$, the image of dual map $\pi_m^* : A_{p(m)}^* \to E_m^*$ is V_m° . This implies that the image of $\pi^* : \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet} A^*) \to \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet} E^*)$ generates $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet} V^{\circ})$. Moreover, for each $v, w \in \Gamma(V)$, and $\alpha \in \Gamma(A^*)$, we have

$$\pi^* \alpha[v, w]_E = \mathcal{L}_{q(v)}(\pi^* \alpha(w)) - \mathcal{L}_{q(w)}(\pi^* \alpha(v)) - \pi^* \, \mathrm{d}_A \, \alpha(v, w) = 0.$$

Since $\alpha \in \Gamma(A^*)$ is arbitrary, this implies that $[v, w]_E \in \Gamma(\operatorname{Ann}(V^\circ)) = \Gamma(V)$. Therefore, V is involutive. Now, consider the bigraded model $\mathcal{C}^{\bullet, \bullet} = \bigoplus_{p,q \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{C}^{p,q}$ described above, where $\mathcal{C}^{p,q} = \Gamma(\wedge^p V^\circ \otimes \wedge^q V^*)$. Then, the $C^{\infty}(N)$ -module isomorphism $\pi^* : \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet} A^*) \to \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet} V^\circ)$ extends to

$$\pi^*: \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet} A^*) \otimes_{C^{\infty}(N)} \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet} V^*) \to \mathcal{C}^{\bullet, \bullet}$$

Now, consider a connection p adapted to $V \subset E$. For each $a \in \Gamma(A)$, define $h(a) \in \Gamma(H)$ by the relation, and $\pi^*\alpha(h(a)) = p^*(\alpha(a))$, for all $\alpha \in \Gamma(A)$. This induces a linear A-connection $\nabla \equiv \nabla^h$ on V, given by

$$\nabla^h : \Gamma(A) \times \Gamma(V) \to \Gamma(V), \qquad \nabla^h_a v := [h(a), v]_E, \quad \forall a \in \Gamma(A), v \in \Gamma(V).$$

Consider also the curvature 2-form $\sigma^{\mathbf{p}} \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 A^*) \otimes_{C^{\infty}(N)} \Gamma(V)$, given on $a, b \in \Gamma(A)$ by $\sigma^{\mathbf{p}}(a, b) := [h(a), h(b)] - h[a, b]$. Our last isomorphism induces a coboundary operator $\partial^{\mathbf{p}}$ on $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet} A^*) \otimes_{C^{\infty}(N)} \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet} V^*)$, and the formulas for $\partial_{1,0}^{\mathbf{p}}, \partial_{0,1}^{V}, \partial_{2,-1}^{\mathbf{p}}$ simplify to [7, Prop. 3.2]

$$\partial_{1,0}^{V} \eta(a_{1},\ldots,a_{p}) = (-1)^{p} d_{V}(\eta(a_{1},\ldots,a_{p})),$$

$$\partial_{0,1}^{p} \eta(a_{1},\ldots,a_{p+1}) = \sum_{(1,p)} (-1)^{\sigma} \nabla_{a_{\sigma_{1}}}^{*}(\eta(a_{\sigma_{2}},\ldots,a_{\sigma_{p+1}})) - \sum_{(2,p-1)} (-1)^{\sigma} \eta([a_{\sigma_{1}},a_{\sigma_{2}}]_{A},a_{\sigma_{3}},\ldots,a_{\sigma_{p+1}}),$$

$$\partial_{2,-1}^{p} \eta(a_{1},\ldots,a_{p+2}) = -(-1)^{p} \sum_{(2,p)} (-1)^{\tau} i_{\sigma^{p}(a_{\tau_{1}},a_{\tau_{2}})} \eta(a_{\tau_{3}},\ldots,a_{\tau_{p+1}}),$$

for all $\eta \in \Gamma(\wedge^p A^*) \otimes_{C^{\infty}(N)} \Gamma(\wedge^q V^*)$, and $a_1, \ldots, a_{p+2} \in \Gamma(A)$.

Example 4.5 (De Rham complex on foliated manifolds). Let (M, \mathcal{V}) be a foliated manifold, and let $V := T\mathcal{V}$. As a consequence of Theorem 4.1, for any connection γ on (M, \mathcal{V}) , the bigraded

▼

decomposition of the exterior derivative is of the form $d = d_{0,1}^{\gamma} + d_{1,0}^{\gamma} + d_{2,-1}^{\gamma}$ [61]. Observe that in the particular case when the leaves of \mathcal{V} are given by the fibers of a surjective submersion $p: M \to N$, V is the kernel of the Lie algebroid map $\pi = p_*: TM \to TN$, so this example fits in the previous case of extensions of Lie algebroids. However, even though the leaves \mathcal{V} of M are not the fibers of a submersion, locally they are. So, the formulas of the previous example still hold for the bigraded model $\mathcal{C}^{\bullet,\bullet} = \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V^{\circ} \otimes \wedge^{\bullet}V^{*})$ when we evaluate on \mathcal{V} -projectable vector fields. In fact, for $u_1, \ldots, u_{p+2} \in \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$, and $\eta \in \mathcal{C}^{p,q}$ we have

$$\partial_{1,0}^{V} \eta(u_{1}, \dots, u_{p}) = (-1)^{p} d_{V}(\eta(u_{1}, \dots, u_{p})),$$

$$\partial_{0,1}^{p} \eta(u_{1}, \dots, u_{p+1}) = \sum_{(1,p)} (-1)^{\sigma} L_{u_{\sigma_{1}}}(\eta(u_{\sigma_{2}}, \dots, u_{\sigma_{p+1}})) - \sum_{(2,p-1)} (-1)^{\sigma} \eta([u_{\sigma_{1}}, u_{\sigma_{2}}], u_{\sigma_{3}}, \dots, u_{\sigma_{p+1}}),$$

$$\partial_{2,-1}^{p} \eta(u_{1}, \dots, u_{p+2}) = -(-1)^{p} \sum_{(2,p)} (-1)^{\sigma} i_{R^{p}(u_{\sigma_{1}}, u_{\sigma_{2}})} \eta(u_{\sigma_{3}}, \dots, u_{\sigma_{p+1}}).$$

4.2 The bigraded model for coupling structures

4.2.1 The Dirac structure of a foliation

There are two Lie algebroids associated with a regular foliation. One of them is the Lie algebroid of the tangent bundle to the foliation. The other one is the Lie algebroid of the Dirac structure of the regular foliation.

Let \mathcal{V} be a regular foliation on the manifold M, with tangent bundle $V := T\mathcal{V}$. Let us denote by $V^{\circ} := \operatorname{Ann}(V)$ its annihilator. We also denote the Whitney sum of V and V° by $\mathbb{V} := V \oplus V^{\circ}$. It is clear that $\mathbb{V} \subset \mathbb{T}M$ is a maximally isotropic subbundle of $\mathbb{T}M$ with respect to the canonical pairing. Furthermore, \mathbb{V} is a Dirac structure (with the standard Dorfman bracket (1.8)). Indeed, given $X, Y \in \Gamma(V)$, and $\alpha, \beta \in \Gamma(V^{\circ})$, we have

$$\llbracket X \oplus \alpha, Y \oplus \beta \rrbracket = [X, Y] \oplus (L_X \beta - i_Y d \alpha) = [X, Y] \oplus (L_X \beta - L_Y \alpha).$$

Here, we have applied the fact that $i_Y \alpha = 0$ and Cartan's formula. Since V is involutive, the vectorial component is again leaf-tangent, $[X, Y] \in \Gamma(V)$. Furthermore, the fact that each of $L_X \beta$ and $L_Y \alpha$ are sections of V° follow from standard computations and the involutivity of V. Therefore, $[X \oplus \alpha, Y \oplus \beta] \in \Gamma(\mathbb{V})$, and hence \mathbb{V} is a Dirac structure. As explained in Subsection 1.3.1, this means that \mathbb{V} has a natural structure of Lie algebroid, where the Lie bracket $[\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathbb{V}}$ is just the restriction of the Dorfman bracket.

The bigrading of the Lie algebroid \mathbb{V} . Consider the Lie algebroid $(\mathbb{V}, q, [\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathbb{V}})$, where the anchor map and the bracket are the restrictions of the projection $p_{TM} : \mathbb{T}M \to TM$ and of the Dorfman bracket $[\![\cdot, \cdot]\!]$, respectively. Let us describe the bigraded properties of its de Rham differential $\partial_{\mathbb{V}}$,

$$\partial_{\mathbb{V}}: \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}\mathbb{V}^*) \to \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}\mathbb{V}^*),$$

with respect to the canonical splitting $\mathbb{V} = V \oplus V^{\circ}$. Denote by $p : \mathbb{V} \to \mathbb{V}$ the projection over V along the splitting $\mathbb{V} = V \oplus V^{\circ}$. The horizontal and vertical distributions of p are $\{0\} \oplus V^{\circ}$ and

 $V \oplus \{0\}$, respectively. Then, the vector bundle $\wedge^{\bullet} \mathbb{V}$ acquires structure of bigraded ($\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}$ -graded) vector bundle. Denoting, for each $p, q \in \mathbb{Z}, \wedge^{p,q} \mathbb{V} := \wedge^p V^{\circ} \otimes \wedge^q V$, we get

$$\wedge^{\bullet,\bullet}\mathbb{V}:=\bigoplus_{p,q\in\mathbb{Z}}\wedge^{p,q}\mathbb{V}.$$

Following the Appendix C, by the definition of the anchor and Dorfman bracket, we observe that the p-vertical distribution $V \oplus \{0\}$ is involutive, and the p-horizontal distribution satisfies $\{0\} \oplus V^{\circ} = \ker(q)$. Since each of the hypotheses of Corollary C.8 hold, we conclude that the de Rham differential of the Lie algebroid \mathbb{V} has bidegree $(0, 1), \partial_{\mathbb{V}} = (\partial_{\mathbb{V}}^{p})_{0,1}$.

Let us use this fact to describe also the bigraded properties of the Schouten bracket of the Lie algebroid on \mathbb{V} ,

$$[\cdot,\cdot]_{\mathbb{V}}:\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}\mathbb{V})\times\Gamma(\wedge^{*}\mathbb{V})\to\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet+*-1}\mathbb{V})$$

(see Section 1.2). Recall that the Schouten bracket is characterized in terms of the graded commutator of endomorphisms on $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}\mathbb{V}^*)$ by

$$\mathbf{i}_{[\eta,\eta']_{\mathbb{V}}} = [[\mathbf{i}_{\eta}, \partial_{\mathbb{V}}], \mathbf{i}_{\eta'}] \qquad \qquad \forall \eta, \eta' \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet} \mathbb{V}).$$

$$(4.2)$$

We claim that the Schouten bracket has bidegree (0, -1). Indeed, suppose that $\eta \in \Gamma(\wedge^{p,q}\mathbb{V})$ and $\eta' \in \Gamma(\wedge^{p',q'}\mathbb{V})$. Then, i_{η} and $i_{\eta'}$ have bidegree (-p, -q) and (-p', -q'), respectively. Since the bidegree of $\partial_{\mathbb{V}}$ is (0, 1), it follows from (4.2) that $i_{[\eta,\eta']_{\mathbb{V}}}$ has bidegree (-p - p', -q - q' + 1) (the sum of the bidegrees of $\partial_{\mathbb{V}}$, i_{η} , and $i_{\eta'}$). In consequence, $[\eta, \eta']_{\mathbb{V}}$ must have bidegree (p + p', q + q' - 1), which is the sum of (p,q) (the bidegree of η), (p',q') (the bidegree of η') and (0, -1). Since $\eta \in \Gamma(\wedge^{p,q}\mathbb{V})$ and $\eta' \in \Gamma(\wedge^{p',q'}\mathbb{V})$ are arbitrary, we conclude that the Schouten bracket of $(\mathbb{V}, q, [\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathbb{V}})$ has bidegree (0, -1). In other words, $(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet, \bullet}\mathbb{V}), [\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathbb{V}})$ is a bigraded \mathbb{R} -Lie algebra of bidegree (0, -1).

Viewing $\eta \in \Gamma(\wedge^{p,q}\mathbb{V})$ and $\eta' \in \Gamma(\wedge^{p',q'}\mathbb{V})$ as $C^{\infty}(M)$ -multilinear maps $\Gamma(TM) \times \cdots \times \Gamma(TM) \to \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V)$, their exterior product $\eta \wedge \eta'$ and the Schouten bracket $[\eta, \eta']_{\mathbb{V}}$ evaluated on \mathcal{V} -projectable vector fields $u_1, \ldots, u_{p+p'} \in \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$ are given by

$$(\eta \wedge \eta')(u_1, \dots, u_{p+p'}) = (-1)^{p'q} \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(p,p')}} (-1)^{\sigma} \eta(u_{\sigma_1}, \dots, u_{\sigma_p}) \wedge \eta'(u_{\sigma_{p+1}}, \dots, u_{\sigma_{p+p'}}),$$

$$[\eta, \eta']_{\mathbb{V}}(u_1, \dots, u_{p+p'}) = (-1)^{p'(q-1)} \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(p,p')}} (-1)^{\sigma} [\eta(u_{\sigma_1}, \dots, u_{\sigma_p}), \eta'(u_{\sigma_{p+1}}, \dots, u_{\sigma_{p+p'}})].$$

Here, the wedge products and brackets on each summand in the right-hand sides are the standard exterior product and Schouten-Nijenhuis bracket of multivector fields. If $\eta = \alpha \otimes A$, and $\eta' = \beta \otimes B$, where $\alpha, \beta \in \Gamma_{\rm b}(\wedge^{\bullet}V^{\circ})$, and $A, B \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V)$, then

$$(\alpha \otimes A) \wedge (\beta \otimes B) = (-1)^{p'q} (\alpha \wedge \beta) \otimes (A \wedge B), \tag{4.3}$$

$$[\alpha \otimes A, \beta \otimes B]_{\mathbb{V}} = (-1)^{p'(q-1)}(\alpha \wedge \beta) \otimes [A, B].$$

$$(4.4)$$

In particular, for leaf-tangent multivector fields $A, B \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V) = \Gamma(\wedge^{0,\bullet}\mathbb{V})$, the Schouten bracket on $\Gamma(\wedge^{0,\bullet}\mathbb{V})$ coincides with the Schouten-Nijenhuis bracket of multivector fields restricted to $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V)$.

Finally, we remark that, for each $\eta \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}\mathbb{V})$, the adjoint operator $\mathrm{ad}_{\eta} : \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}\mathbb{V}) \to \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}\mathbb{V})$, given by $\mathrm{ad}_{\eta}(\eta') := [\eta, \eta']_{\mathbb{V}}$, is a graded derivation of the graded Poisson algebra $(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}\mathbb{V}), \wedge, [\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathbb{V}})$ of bidegree (p, q - 1).

4.2.2 Derivations induced by bivectors and 3-forms.

Recall from Section 1.4 that the de Rham differential of the Lie algebroid of a twisted Poisson structure is the sum of two operators: the first of them is, as usual, the adjoint of the bivector with respect to the Schouten-Nijenhuis bracket of multivector fields. The other one is defined in terms of both the bivector and the background 3-form. This idea suggest that one can define bigraded derivations on the exterior algebra of the Dirac structure of a regular foliation, by means of a leaf-tangent bivector field and a 3-form.

In what follows, let (M, \mathcal{V}) be a regular foliation, and denote $V := T\mathcal{V}, V^{\circ} := \operatorname{Ann}(T\mathcal{V}), \mathbb{V} := V \oplus V^{\circ}, \wedge^{p,q} \mathbb{V} := \wedge^{p} V^{\circ} \otimes \wedge^{q} V$. Also, consider a leaf-tangent bivector field $P \in \Gamma(\wedge^{2} V)$, and a 3-form $\psi \in \Gamma(\wedge^{3} T^{*} M)$.

Derivations of bidegree (0,1). Consider the derivation $j_{P,\psi} : \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V) \to \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V)$ of degree 1, defined as in (1.13). Let us extend it to a bigraded derivation $j_{P,\psi}^{(0,1)} : \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet,\bullet}\mathbb{V}) \to \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet,\bullet}\mathbb{V})$ of bidegree (0,1) by means of the formula

$$\mathbf{j}_{P,\psi}^{(0,1)}(\alpha \otimes A) := (-1)^p \alpha \otimes \mathbf{j}_{P,\psi} A, \qquad \forall \alpha \in \Gamma(\wedge^p V^\circ), A \in \Gamma(\wedge^q V).$$
(4.5)

The fact that $j_{P,\psi}$ vanishes on $C^{\infty}(M)$ implies that $j_{P,\psi}^{(0,1)}$ is well defined. On the other hand, the derivation property readily follows from (4.3). In fact, given $\eta \in \Gamma(\wedge^{p,q}\mathbb{V})$, and $\eta' \in \Gamma(\wedge^{p',q'}\mathbb{V})$ of the form $\eta = \alpha \otimes A$, and $\eta' = \beta \otimes B$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{j}_{P,\psi}^{(0,1)}(\eta \wedge \eta') &= (-1)^{p'q} \mathbf{j}_{P,\psi}^{(0,1)}((\alpha \wedge \beta) \otimes (A \wedge B)) = (-1)^{p'q+p+p'}(\alpha \wedge \beta) \otimes \mathbf{j}_{P,\psi}(A \wedge B) \\ &= (-1)^{p'q+p+p'}(\alpha \wedge \beta) \otimes (\mathbf{j}_{P,\psi} A \wedge B + (-1)^q A \wedge \mathbf{j}_{P,\psi} B) \\ &= (-1)^p(\alpha \otimes \mathbf{j}_{P,\psi} A) \wedge (\beta \otimes B) + (-1)^{p+p'+q}(\alpha \otimes A) \wedge (\beta \otimes \mathbf{j}_{P,\psi} B) \\ &= \mathbf{j}_{P,\psi}^{(0,1)}(\alpha \otimes A) \wedge (\beta \otimes B) + (-1)^{p+q}(\alpha \otimes A) \wedge \mathbf{j}_{P,\psi}^{(0,1)}(\beta \otimes B) \\ &= \mathbf{j}_{P,\psi}^{(0,1)}\eta \wedge \eta' + (-1)^{|\eta|}\eta \wedge \mathbf{j}_{P,\psi}^{(0,1)}\eta'. \end{aligned}$$

So, $j_{P,\psi}^{(0,1)}$ is the graded derivation which coincides with $j_{P,\psi}$ on $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V)$ and vanishing on $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V^{\circ})$.

Derivations of degree (1,0). We now define a graded derivation $j_{P,\psi}^{(1,0)} : \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet,\bullet}\mathbb{V}) \to \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet,\bullet}\mathbb{V})$ of bidegree (1,0) as follows. For each $\eta \in \Gamma(\wedge^{p,q}\mathbb{V})$, $u_1, \ldots, u_{p+1} \in \Gamma(V)$, and $\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_q \in \Gamma(T^*M)$, set

$$\mathbf{j}_{P,\psi}^{(1,0)} \eta(u_1,\ldots,u_{p+1};\mu_1,\ldots,\mu_q) := (-1)^p \sum_{\substack{\sigma \in S_{(p,1)}\\\tau \in S_{(1,q)}}} (-1)^\sigma (-1)^\tau \eta(u_{\sigma_1},\ldots,u_{\sigma_p};\mathbf{i}_{P^{\sharp}\mu_{\tau_1}} \,\mathbf{i}_{u_{\sigma_{p+1}}} \,\psi,\mu_{\tau_2},\ldots,\mu_{\tau_q}).$$

Since $P \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 V)$, it is clear that $j_{P,\psi}^{(1,0)} \eta$ vanishes if any of μ_i lies in $\Gamma(V^\circ)$.

Lemma 4.6. For each $P \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 V)$ and $\psi \in \Gamma(\wedge^3 T^*M)$, the operator $j_{P,\psi}^{(1,0)} : \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet,\bullet} \mathbb{V}) \to \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet,\bullet} \mathbb{V})$ is a derivation.

Proof. To save some space, denote $(-1)^{\sigma+\tau} := (-1)^{\sigma}(-1)^{\tau}$, and consider the tensor field $\mathfrak{t} \equiv \mathfrak{t}_{P,\psi}$ given by

$$\mathfrak{t}: \Gamma(T^*M) \times \Gamma(TM) \to \Gamma(T^*M), \qquad \qquad \mathfrak{t}_{\mu,u} := \mathbf{i}_{P^{\sharp}\mu} \, \mathbf{i}_u \, \psi.$$

Now, take $\eta \in \Gamma(\wedge^{p,q}\mathbb{V}), \eta' \in \Gamma(\wedge^{p',q'}\mathbb{V}), u_1, \ldots, u_{p+p'+1} \in \Gamma(TM)$, and $\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_{q+q'} \in \Gamma(T^*M)$. By definition, we have

$$\mathbf{j}_{P,\psi}^{(1,0)}(\eta \wedge \eta')(u_1, \dots, u_{p+p'+1}; \mu_1, \dots, \mu_{q+q'}) = \\ (-1)^{p+p'} \sum_{\substack{\sigma \in S_{(p+p',1)} \\ \tau \in S_{(1,q+q'-1)}}} (-1)^{\sigma+\tau} (\eta \wedge \eta')(u_{\sigma_1}, \dots, u_{\sigma_{p+p'}}; \mathfrak{t}_{\mu_{\tau_1}, u_{\sigma_{p+p'+1}}}, \mu_{\tau_2}, \dots, \mu_{\tau_{q+q'}}) = \\ (-1)^{p+p'+p'q} \sum_{\substack{\sigma \in S_{(p,p',1)} \\ \tau \in S_{(1,q+q'-1)}}} (-1)^{\sigma+\tau} [\eta(u_{\sigma_1}, \dots, u_{\sigma_p}) \wedge \eta'(u_{\sigma_{p+1}}, \dots, u_{\sigma_{p'}})](\mathfrak{t}_{\mu_{\tau_1}, u_{\sigma_{p+p'+1}}}, \mu_{\tau_2}, \dots, \mu_{\tau_{q+q'}}).$$

Now, observe that $[\eta(u_{\sigma_1},\ldots,u_{\sigma_p}) \wedge \eta'(u_{\sigma_{p+1}},\ldots,u_{\sigma_{p'}})](\mathfrak{t}_{\mu_{\tau_1},u_{\sigma_{p+p'+1}}},\mu_{\tau_2},\ldots,\mu_{\tau_{q+q'}})$ is the insertion of $\mathfrak{t}_{\mu_{\tau_1},u_{\sigma_{p+p'+1}}}$ in the exterior product of the multivector fields $\eta(u_{\sigma_1},\ldots,u_{\sigma_p})$, and $\eta'(u_{\sigma_{p+1}},\ldots,u_{\sigma_{p'}})$, all evaluated in $\mu_{\tau_2},\ldots,\mu_{\tau_{q+q'}}$. Since the insertion is a graded derivation on multivector fields, the previous sum splits into two, namely,

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{\substack{\sigma \in S_{(p,p',1)} \\ \tau \in S_{(1,q+q'-1)}}} (-1)^{\sigma+\tau} [\eta(u_{\sigma_{1}}, \dots, u_{\sigma_{p}}) \wedge \eta'(u_{\sigma_{p+1}}, \dots, u_{\sigma_{p'}})](\mathfrak{t}_{\mu_{\tau_{1}}, u_{\sigma_{p+p'+1}}}, \mu_{\tau_{2}}, \dots, \mu_{\tau_{q+q'}}) = \\ &\sum_{\substack{\sigma \in S_{(p,p',1)} \\ \tau \in S_{(1,q-1,q')}}} (-1)^{\sigma+\tau} \eta(u_{\sigma_{1}}, \dots, u_{\sigma_{p}}; \mathfrak{t}_{\mu_{\tau_{1}}, u_{\sigma_{p+p'+1}}}, \mu_{\tau_{2}}, \dots, \mu_{\tau_{q}}) \eta'(u_{\sigma_{p+1}}, \dots, u_{\sigma_{p+p'}}; \mu_{\tau_{q+1}}, \dots, \mu_{\tau_{q+q'}}) + \\ &(-1)^{q} \sum_{\substack{\sigma \in S_{(p,p',1)} \\ \tau \in S_{(1,q,q'-1)}}} (-1)^{\sigma+\tau} \eta(u_{\sigma_{1}}, \dots, u_{\sigma_{p}}; \mu_{\tau_{2}}, \dots, \mu_{\tau_{q+1}}) \eta'(u_{\sigma_{p+1}}, \dots, u_{\sigma_{p+p'}}; \mathfrak{t}_{\mu_{\tau_{1}}, u_{\sigma_{p+p'+1}}}, \mu_{\tau_{q+2}}, \dots, \mu_{\tau_{q+q'}}) \\ &= (-1)^{p'} \sum_{\substack{\sigma \in S_{(p,p',1)} \\ \tau \in S_{(1,q-1,q')}}} (-1)^{\sigma+\tau} \eta(u_{\sigma_{1}}, \dots, u_{\sigma_{p}}; \mathfrak{t}_{\mu_{\tau_{1}}, u_{\sigma_{p+1}}}, \mu_{\tau_{2}}, \dots, \mu_{\tau_{q}}) \eta'(u_{\sigma_{p+1}}, \dots, u_{\sigma_{p+p'}}; \mathfrak{t}_{\mu_{\tau_{q+1}}, u_{\sigma_{p+p'+1}}}, \mu_{\tau_{q+2}}, \dots, \mu_{\tau_{q+q'}}) \\ &+ \sum_{\substack{\sigma \in S_{(p,p',1)} \\ \tau \in S_{(q,1,q'-1)}}} (-1)^{\sigma+\tau} \eta(u_{\sigma_{1}}, \dots, u_{\sigma_{p}}; \mu_{\tau_{1}}, \dots, \mu_{\tau_{q}}) \eta'(u_{\sigma_{p+1}}, \dots, u_{\sigma_{p+p'}}; \mathfrak{t}_{\mu_{\tau_{q+1}}, u_{\sigma_{p+p'+1}}}, \mu_{\tau_{q+2}}, \dots, \mu_{\tau_{q+q'}}). \end{split}$$

Here, we have rearranged the indices of each of the two sums, while keeping track of the corresponding changes of sign. On the other hand, straightforward computations give

$$(\mathbf{j}_{P,\psi}^{(1,0)} \eta \wedge \eta')(u_{\sigma_1}, \dots, u_{\sigma_{p+p'+1}}; \mu_{\tau_1}, \dots, \mu_{\tau_{q+q'}}) = (-1)^{p+p'q} \sum_{\substack{\sigma \in S_{(p,1,p')} \\ \tau \in S_{(1,q-1,q')}}} (-1)^{\sigma+\tau} \eta(u_{\sigma_1}, \dots, u_{\sigma_p}; \mathbf{t}_{\mu_{\tau_1}, u_{\sigma_{p+1}}}, \mu_{\tau_2}, \dots, \mu_{\tau_q}) \eta'(u_{\sigma_{p+2}}, \dots, u_{\sigma_{p+p'+1}}; \mu_{\tau_{q+1}}, \dots, \mu_{\tau_{q+q'}}),$$

and

$$(-1)^{p'+q+p'q}(\eta \wedge \mathbf{j}_{P,\psi}^{(1,0)} \eta')(u_{\sigma_1}, \dots, u_{\sigma_{p+p'+1}}; \mu_{\tau_1}, \dots, \mu_{\tau_{q+q'}}) = \sum_{\substack{\sigma \in S_{(p,p',1)} \\ \tau \in S_{(q,1,q'-1)}}} (-1)^{\sigma+\tau} \eta(u_{\sigma_1}, \dots, u_{\sigma_p}; \mu_{\tau_1}, \dots, \mu_{\tau_q}) \eta'(u_{\sigma_{p+1}}, \dots, u_{\sigma_{p+p'}}; \mathbf{t}_{\mu_{\tau_{q+1}}, u_{\sigma_{p+p'+1}}}, \mu_{\tau_{q+2}}, \dots, \mu_{\tau_{q+q'}})$$

Taking into account the fact that the sum at the beginning of the proof has the factor $(-1)^{p+p'+p'q}$, the result follows.

Derivations of bidegree (k, -1). Now suppose we are given a (k + 1)-form $\Theta \in \Gamma(\wedge^{k+1}T^*M)$ vanishing whenever two of its arguments are leaf-tangent vector fields, that is, $\Theta \in \Gamma(\wedge^k V^{\circ} \otimes T^*M)$. Let us define $\mathbf{j}_{\Theta}^{(k,-1)} : \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet,\bullet}\mathbb{V}) \to \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet,\bullet}\mathbb{V})$ on $\eta \in \Gamma(\wedge^{p,q}\mathbb{V})$ and $u_1, \ldots, u_{k+p} \in \Gamma(TM)$ by

$$\mathbf{j}_{\Theta}^{(k,-1)} \eta(u_1,\dots,u_{k+p}) := (-1)^{p+k-1} \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(k,p)}} (-1)^{\sigma} \mathbf{i}_{\Theta(u_{\sigma_1},\dots,u_{\sigma_k})} \eta(u_{\sigma_{k+1}},\dots,u_{\sigma_{k+p}}).$$
(4.6)

Observe that each summand is the insertion of the 1-form $\Theta(u_{\sigma_1}, \ldots, u_{\sigma_k}) := i_{u_{\sigma_k}} \ldots i_{u_{\sigma_1}} \Theta$ in the q-vector field $\eta(u_{\sigma_{k+1}}, \ldots, u_{\sigma_{k+p}})$. Since Θ vanishes whenever two of its arguments lie in $\Gamma(V)$, we get that $j_{\Theta}^{(k,-1)} \eta \in \Gamma(\wedge^{p+k,q-1} \mathbb{V})$. Moreover, we observe that $j_{\Theta}^{(k,-1)} = 0$ if and only if $\Theta \in \Gamma(\wedge^3 V^\circ)$.

To show the graded derivation property, note that

$$\mathbf{j}_{f\Theta}^{(k,-1)} = f \, \mathbf{j}_{\Theta}^{(k,-1)} \qquad \forall f \in C^{\infty}(M).$$

On the other hand, it is clear that Θ is locally the sum of elements of the form $f d \alpha$, where $f \in C^{\infty}(M)$, and $\alpha \in \Gamma(\wedge^k V^\circ)$. This can be observed, for instance, in a coordinate chart adapted to the foliation \mathcal{V} . So, to show that $\mathbf{j}_{\Theta}^{(k,-1)}$ is a graded derivation for every $\Theta \in \Gamma(\wedge^k V^\circ \otimes T^*M)$, it suffices to verify this property in the case $\Theta = d \alpha$, where $\alpha \in \Gamma(\wedge^p V^\circ)$.

Lemma 4.7. Let $\alpha \in \Gamma(\wedge^k V^\circ)$ be a k-form vanishing on leaf-tangent vector fields, and consider its adjoint operator $\operatorname{ad}_{\alpha} : \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet,\bullet} \mathbb{V}) \to \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet,\bullet} \mathbb{V})$ with respect to the Schouten bracket of \mathbb{V} . Then,

$$\mathbf{j}_{\mathbf{d}\,\alpha}^{(k,-1)} = \mathbf{ad}_{\alpha}$$

In particular, $j_{d\alpha}^{(k,-1)}$ is a derivation of bidegree (k,-1).

Proof. Fix $\eta \in \Gamma(\wedge^{p,q}\mathbb{V})$, and \mathcal{V} -projectable vector fields $u_1, \ldots, u_{p+k} \in \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$. Then,

$$ad_{\alpha} \eta(u_{1}, \dots, u_{p+k}) = (-1)^{p} \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(p,k)}} (-1)^{\sigma} [\alpha(u_{\sigma_{1}}, \dots, u_{\sigma_{k}}), \eta(u_{\sigma_{k+1}}, \dots, u_{\sigma_{k+p}})]$$

= $-(-1)^{p} \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(p,k)}} (-1)^{\sigma} i_{d(\alpha(u_{\sigma_{1}}, \dots, u_{\sigma_{k}}))} \eta(u_{\sigma_{k+1}}, \dots, u_{\sigma_{k+p}}).$

Since each u_{σ_i} is \mathcal{V} -projectable, $\alpha \in \Gamma(\wedge^k V^\circ)$, and η values on $\Gamma(\wedge^q V)$, the following equality holds for each $\sigma \in S_{(p,k)}$:

$$i_{\mathrm{d}(\alpha(u_{\sigma_1},\ldots,u_{\sigma_k}))} \eta(u_{\sigma_{k+1}},\ldots,u_{\sigma_{k+p}}) = (-1)^k i_{\mathrm{d}\alpha(u_{\sigma_1},\ldots,u_{\sigma_k})} \eta(u_{\sigma_{k+1}},\ldots,u_{\sigma_{k+p}}).$$

Hence,

$$\mathrm{ad}_{\alpha} \eta(u_1, \dots, u_{p+k}) = (-1)^{p+k-1} \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(p,k)}} (-1)^{\sigma} \mathrm{i}_{\mathrm{d} \alpha(u_{\sigma_1}, \dots, u_{\sigma_k})} \eta(u_{\sigma_{k+1}}, \dots, u_{\sigma_{k+p}}) = \mathrm{j}_{\mathrm{d} \alpha}^{(k,-1)} \eta(u_1, \dots, u_{p+k}).$$

4.2.3 Extension of the Schouten bracket

The present construction, given in the context of foliated manifolds, is based on the one in [50, Subsection 4.2.1] for the case of fiber bundles (see also [16, Proposition 3.1]). Since this work is devoted to the study of coupling structures on foliated manifolds, we find convenient to give this construction in this setting.

Let (M, \mathcal{V}) be a regular foliated manifold, and denote $V := T\mathcal{V}, V^{\circ} := \operatorname{Ann}(V)$. Recall that the algebra of \mathcal{V} -projectable vector fields $\operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$ consists of the vector fields $u \in \Gamma(TM)$ such that $[u, Y] \in \Gamma(V)$ for all $Y \in \Gamma(V)$. As a consequence of this property, we get that $\operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$ preserves $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}\mathbb{V})$, where $\mathbb{V} := V \oplus V^{\circ}$. Therefore, the Lie bracket $[\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathbb{V}}$ on $\Gamma(\mathbb{V})$, given by the restriction of the Dorfman bracket, can be extended to $\operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V}) \oplus \Gamma(V^{\circ})$ (just recall that $\Gamma(V) \subset \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$). Indeed, for $u, v \in \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$ and $\alpha, \beta \in \Gamma(V^{\circ})$, one can set

$$[u \oplus \alpha, v \oplus \beta]_{\mathbb{V}} := [u, v] \oplus (\mathcal{L}_u \beta - \mathcal{L}_v \alpha),$$

which defines an \mathbb{R} -Lie bracket on $\operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V}) \oplus \Gamma(V^{\circ})$ coinciding with the Dorfman bracket on $\Gamma(\mathbb{V})$.

In what follows, we generalize this extension to the Schouten bracket of $[\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathbb{V}}$ in $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet, \bullet}\mathbb{V})$. To do so, we give an equivalent definition of it by using use some Vinogradov calculus. Our goal is to replace the description (4.2), which was given in terms of graded endomorphisms on $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}\mathbb{V}^*)$, to a new one presented in terms of graded operators on $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}T^*M)$.

Insertion operators and the Vinogradov bracket. Recall that, given two graded operators D and E on $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}T^*M)$ with corresponding degrees d and e, their graded commutator is defined by $[D, E] := D \circ E - (-1)^{d \cdot e} E \circ D$. It is well-known that this bracket induces a graded Lie algebra structure of degree zero on the space of graded operators, which means that the graded versions of the skew-symmetry and the Jacobi identity hold. On the other hand, the Vinogradov bracket of D and E is given by

$$\llbracket D, E \rrbracket := [[D, d], E],$$

where d denotes the exterior differential on $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}T^*M)$. This is a bracket of degree 1 which satisfies the graded Jacobi identity (see, for instance, [80, Section 2.2]), but is not graded skew-symmetric. However, if the graded operators in question commute, then their Vinogradov bracket satisfies skew-symmetry.

Lemma 4.8. If [D, E] = 0, then $\llbracket D, E \rrbracket = -(-1)^{(d+1)(e+1)} \llbracket E, D \rrbracket$.

Proof. By the graded Jacobi identity and skew-symmetry of the graded commutator, we get

$$0 = [[D, E], d] = [D, [E, d]] + (-1)^{e}[[D, d], E] = -(-1)^{d(e+1)}[[E, d], D] + (-1)^{e}[[D, d], E]$$
$$= -(-1)^{d(e+1)}[\![E, D]\!] + (-1)^{e}[\![D, E]\!],$$

which proves the statement.

Given a multivector field $A \in \Gamma(\wedge^q TM)$, the operator i_A is the insertion of multivector fields, and is characterized by the relation $i_A = i_{a_1} \circ \cdots \circ i_{a_q}$, if $A = a_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge a_q$. Furthermore, for each multivector-valued form $\eta \in \Gamma(\wedge^p T^*M \otimes \wedge^q TM)$, and each $\omega \in \Gamma(\wedge^k T^*M)$, define $i_{\eta} \omega \in$ $\Gamma(\wedge^{k+p-q}T^*M)$ by

$$i_{\eta} \omega(X_1, \dots, X_{k+p-q}) := \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(p,k-q)}} (-1)^{\sigma} i_{\eta(X_{\sigma_1}, \dots, X_{\sigma_p})} \omega(X_{\sigma_{p+1}}, \dots, X_{\sigma_{k+p-q}}) \qquad \forall X_i \in \Gamma(TM).$$

This gives a graded operator i_{η} on $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}T^*M)$ of degree p - q, called the *insertion* of η . The correspondence $\eta \mapsto i_{\eta}$ is an injection of $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}T^*M \otimes \wedge^{\bullet}TM)$ into the space of graded endomorphisms of $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}T^*M)$. We also define the *Lie operator* $L_{\eta} := [i_{\eta}, d]$, where in the right-hand side we have the bracket of graded endomorphisms on $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}T^*M)$. In the case when $\eta = \alpha \otimes A$, with $\alpha \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}T^*M)$ and $A \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}TM)$, one has $i_{\eta} = m_{\alpha} \circ i_{A}$, where m_{α} is the left multiplication by α , and i_{A} is the insertion of A. Furthermore, since the exterior product of multivector-valued forms satisfies formula (4.3), we have the property $i_{\eta \wedge \eta} = i_{\eta} \circ i_{\eta'}$.

It is well known that, in this generality, the space of insertion operators is not closed under the Vinogradov bracket. However, in the particular case when the multivector-valued differential forms are taken from $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet,\bullet}\mathbb{V})$, viewed as a subset of $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}T^*M \otimes \wedge^{\bullet}TM)$, we recover the bracket (4.2).

Lemma 4.9. The bracket $[\eta, \eta']_{\mathbb{V}}$ of $\eta \in \Gamma(\wedge^{p,q}\mathbb{V})$ and $\eta' \in \Gamma(\wedge^{p',q'}\mathbb{V})$, given in (4.2), is characterized in terms of the Vinogradov bracket of their insertions on $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}T^*M \otimes \wedge^{\bullet}TM)$, namely

$$i_{[\eta,\eta']_{\mathbb{V}}} = [L_{\eta}, i_{\eta'}].$$
 (4.7)

Proof. By the injectivity of the correspondence $\eta \mapsto i_{\eta}$, and the \mathbb{R} -bilinearity of both sides, it suffices to check the identity for $\eta = \alpha \otimes A$ and $\eta' = \beta \otimes B$, where $\alpha, \beta \in \Gamma_{\rm b}(\wedge^{\bullet}V^{\circ})$ are basic, and $A, B \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V)$. By standard computations with the commutator of graded endomorphisms (see, for instance, [80, Lemma 2.2]),

$$\begin{aligned} [\mathcal{L}_{\eta}, \mathbf{i}_{\eta'}] &= [[\mathbf{i}_{\eta}, \mathbf{d}], \mathbf{i}_{\eta'}] = [[m_{\alpha} \circ \mathbf{i}_{A}, \mathbf{d}], m_{\beta} \circ \mathbf{i}_{B}] = [m_{\alpha} \circ \mathcal{L}_{A} + (-1)^{p+q+1} m_{\mathbf{d}\,\alpha} \circ \mathbf{i}_{A}, m_{\beta} \circ \mathbf{i}_{B}] \\ &= [m_{\alpha} \circ \mathcal{L}_{A}, m_{\beta} \circ \mathbf{i}_{B}] + (-1)^{p+q+1} [m_{\mathbf{d}\,\alpha} \circ \mathbf{i}_{A}, m_{\beta} \circ \mathbf{i}_{B}]. \end{aligned}$$

Since $\beta, d\alpha \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V^{\circ})$, and $A, B \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V)$, it follows that $m_{d\alpha}, m_{\beta}, i_B$ and i_A commute with each other, so $[m_{d\alpha} \circ i_A, m_{\beta} \circ i_B] = 0$. Similarly, $[m_{\alpha} \circ L_A, m_{\beta} \circ i_B] = (-1)^{p'(q-1)} m_{\alpha} \circ m_{\beta} \circ [L_A, i_B]$. Hence,

$$[L_{\eta}, i_{\eta'}] = (-1)^{p'(q-1)} m_{\alpha} \circ m_{\beta} \circ [L_A, i_B] = (-1)^{p'(q-1)} m_{\alpha \land \beta} \circ i_{[A,B]} = i_{[\eta, \eta']_{\mathbb{V}}},$$

where in the last step we have applied (4.4).

The bracket $[\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathscr{V}}$. Our goal is to extend the bracket $[\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathbb{V}}$ on $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet, \bullet}\mathbb{V})$ to a bracket $[\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathscr{V}}$ on a slightly larger bigraded space $\mathscr{V}^{\bullet, \bullet}$, via the characterization (4.7). This new bigraded space is defined as follows: For each $p \in \mathbb{Z}$, denote by $\mathscr{V}^{p,1}$ the space of *p*-forms vanishing along \mathcal{V} and valued in \mathcal{V} -projectable vector fields,

$$\mathscr{V}^{p,1} := \{ \eta \in \Gamma(\wedge^p V^{\circ} \otimes TM) \mid \eta(u_1, \dots, u_p) \in \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V}), \ \forall u_1, \dots, u_p \in \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V}) \}.$$

The local generators of $\mathscr{V}^{p,1}$ are given as $\alpha \otimes u$, for $\alpha \in \Gamma_{\mathrm{b}}(\wedge^{p}V^{\circ})$ and $u \in \mathrm{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$. In particular, $\mathscr{V}^{0,1} = \mathrm{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$. For $p, q \in \mathbb{Z}$ with $q \neq 1$, put $\mathscr{V}^{p,q} := \Gamma(\wedge^{p,q}\mathbb{V})$, and define $\mathscr{V}^{\bullet,\bullet} := \bigoplus_{p,q\in\mathbb{Z}} \mathscr{V}^{p,q}$. Since $\Gamma(V) \subseteq \mathrm{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$, we have $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet,\bullet}\mathbb{V}) \subseteq \mathscr{V}^{\bullet,\bullet}$.

To extend $[\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathbb{V}}$ to the hole bigraded space \mathscr{V} , we first show that (4.7) works for $\eta \in \mathscr{V}^{p,1}$ and $\eta' \in \Gamma(\wedge^{p',q'} \mathbb{V})$.

Lemma 4.10. Fix $\eta \in \mathscr{V}^{p,1}$ and $\eta' \in \Gamma(\wedge^{p',q'}\mathbb{V})$. Then, there exists a unique $[\eta, \eta']_{\mathscr{V}} \in \Gamma(\wedge^{p+p',q'}\mathbb{V})$ such that $i_{[\eta,\eta']_{\mathscr{V}}} = [L_{\eta}, i_{\eta'}]$.

Proof. The uniqueness part, and the fact that it suffices to consider local generators, follow from the injectivity of the correspondence $\eta \mapsto i_{\eta}$. So, without lost of generality suppose that $\eta = \alpha \otimes u$ and $\eta' = \beta \otimes B$, where $\alpha, \beta \in \Gamma_{\rm b}(\wedge^{\bullet}V^{\circ}), u \in \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$, and $B \in \Gamma(\wedge^{q}V)$. By repeating the computations of the first part of the proof of Lemma 4.9, we get

$$\begin{split} [\mathcal{L}_{\eta}, \mathbf{i}_{\eta'}] &= [m_{\alpha} \circ \mathcal{L}_{u}, m_{\beta} \circ \mathbf{i}_{B}] + (-1)^{p} [m_{\mathrm{d}\,\alpha} \circ \mathbf{i}_{u}, m_{\beta} \circ \mathbf{i}_{B}] \\ &= m_{\alpha} \circ m_{\beta} \circ [\mathcal{L}_{u}, \mathbf{i}_{B}] + m_{\alpha} \circ [\mathcal{L}_{u}, m_{\beta}] \circ \mathbf{i}_{B} + (-1)^{p} m_{\mathrm{d}\,\alpha} \circ [\mathbf{i}_{u}, m_{\beta}] \circ \mathbf{i}_{B} \\ &= m_{\alpha \wedge \beta} \circ \mathbf{i}_{[u,B]} + m_{\alpha \wedge \mathcal{L}_{u}\,\beta} \circ \mathbf{i}_{B} + (-1)^{p} m_{\mathrm{d}\,\alpha \wedge \mathbf{i}_{u}\,\beta} \circ \mathbf{i}_{B} \,. \end{split}$$

Hence, $[L_{\eta}, i_{\eta'}]$ is the insertion of $(\alpha \wedge L_u \beta) \otimes B + (\alpha \wedge \beta) \otimes [u, B] + (-1)^p (d \alpha \wedge i_u \beta) \otimes B$, which is an element of $\Gamma(\wedge^{p+p',q}\mathbb{V})$, due to the \mathcal{V} -projectability of u. This means that one can set

$$[\eta, \eta']_{\mathscr{V}} := (\alpha \land \beta) \otimes [u, B] + (\alpha \land \mathcal{L}_u \beta) \otimes B + (-1)^p (\mathrm{d}\, \alpha \land \mathrm{i}_u \beta) \otimes B,$$

and extend to any pair of elements by R-bilinearity.

Remark 4.11. If $\eta \in \Gamma(\wedge^{p,q}\mathbb{V})$ and $\eta' \in \mathscr{V}^{p',1}$, then Lemma 4.10 implies that there exists a unique $[\eta, \eta']_{\mathscr{V}} \in \Gamma(\wedge^{p+p',q}\mathbb{V})$ such that $i_{[\eta,\eta']_{\mathscr{V}}} = [i_{\eta}, L_{\eta'}]$. By defining $[\eta, \eta']_{\mathscr{V}}$ in this manner, we obtain that the skew-symmetry of the graded commutator induces the graded skew-symmetry on $[\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathscr{V}}$.

As a consequence of Lemmas 4.9 and 4.10, if $\eta \in \mathcal{V}^{p,q}$ and $\eta' \in \Gamma(\wedge^{p',q'} \mathbb{V})$, we can define $[\eta, \eta']_{\mathcal{V}} \in \Gamma(\wedge^{p+p',q+q'-1} \mathbb{V})$ by the relation

$$\mathbf{i}_{[\eta,\eta']_{\mathscr{V}}} := [\mathbf{L}_{\eta}, \mathbf{i}_{\eta'}] \tag{4.8}$$

Now, observe from the graded Jacobi identity that $L_{[\eta,\eta']} = [i_{[\eta,\eta']}, d] = [L_{\eta}, i_{\eta'}], d] = [L_{\eta}, L_{\eta'}]$. Therefore, if we use

$$\mathcal{L}_{[\eta,\eta']_{\mathscr{V}}} := [\mathcal{L}_{\eta}, \mathcal{L}_{\eta'}] \tag{4.9}$$

as a definition of $[\eta, \eta']_{\mathscr{V}}$, provided the injectivity of the Lie operator correspondence $\eta \mapsto L_{\eta}$, we obtain the same bracket as in Lemmas 4.9 and 4.10. In particular, we can use (4.9) to extend $[\eta, \eta']_{\mathscr{V}}$ to the case when $\eta, \eta' \in \mathscr{V}^{\bullet,1}$, even if non of them lies in $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet,\bullet}\mathbb{V})$.

Lemma 4.12. If $\eta \in \mathcal{V}^{p,1}$ and $\eta' \in \mathcal{V}^{p',1}$, then there exists a unique $[\eta, \eta']_{\mathcal{V}} \in \mathcal{V}^{p+p',1}$ such that (4.9) holds, and coincides with the Frölicher-Nijenhuis bracket: $[\eta, \eta']_{FN} = [\eta, \eta']_{\mathcal{V}}$.

Proof. Since η and η' are vector-valued forms, it is well known that there exists a unique $[\eta, \eta']_{\mathscr{V}}$ such that (4.9) holds, namely, their Frölicher-Nijenhuis bracket [35, Section 2.8]: $[\eta, \eta']_{\mathscr{V}} = [\eta, \eta']_{FN}$. It is left to show that, in fact, $[\eta, \eta']_{FN} \in \mathscr{V}^{p+p',1}$. Pick $u_1, \ldots, u_{p+p'} \in \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$. Since $\eta \in \mathscr{V}^{p,1}$ and $\eta' \in \mathscr{V}^{p',1}$, it follows that each of

$$[\eta(u_1, \dots, u_p), \eta'(u_{p+1}, \dots, u_{p+p'})], \qquad \eta'([\eta(u_1, \dots, u_p), u_{p+1}], u_{p+2}, \dots, u_{p+p'}), \\ \eta([\eta'(u_1, \dots, u_{p'}), u_{p'+1}], u_{p'+2}, \dots, u_{p+p'}), \qquad \eta'(\eta([u_1, u_2], u_3, \dots, u_p), u_{p+1}, \dots, u_{p+p'}), \\ \eta(\eta'([u_1, u_2], u_3, \dots, u_{p'}), u_{p'+1}, \dots, u_{p+p'})$$

is a projectable vector field. By [35, Theorem 8.9], $[\eta, \eta']_{FN}(u_1, \ldots, u_{p+p'})$ equals to a sum of some terms of the form given in above. Hence, $[\eta, \eta']_{FN}(u_1, \ldots, u_{p+p'}) \in \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$. If, in addition, any of the arguments is leaf-tangent, say, $u_1 \in \Gamma(V)$, then each of the above terms vanish due to the projectability of each involved vector field and the fact that $\eta \in \Gamma(\wedge^p V^{\circ} \otimes TM)$ and $\eta' \in \Gamma(\wedge^{p'} V^{\circ} \otimes TM)$. Therefore, $[\eta, \eta']_{FN} \in \mathscr{V}$, as desired.

The Lie algebra $(\mathscr{V}, [\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathscr{V}})$. Up to this point, we have defined a bracket $[\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathscr{V}}$ on \mathscr{V} . In order to show that $(\mathscr{V}, [\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathscr{V}})$ is indeed a graded Lie algebra, we require the following property:

$$[\mathbf{i}_{\xi}, \mathbf{i}_{\xi'}] = 0, \qquad \forall \xi \in \Gamma(\wedge^{p,q} \mathbb{V}), \xi' \in \Gamma(\wedge^{p',q'} \mathbb{V}).$$
(4.10)

To see this, take $\xi = \alpha \otimes A$, and $\beta \otimes B$, with $\alpha, \beta \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V^{\circ})$, and $A, B \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V)$. Then $i_{\xi} = m_{\alpha} \circ i_{A}$ and $i_{\xi'} = m_{\beta} \circ i_{B}$. Since $m_{\alpha}, i_{A}, m_{\beta}, i_{B}$ commute with each other, it follows that $[i_{\xi}, i_{\xi'}] = 0$.

Theorem 4.13. On the bigraded \mathbb{R} -space $\mathscr{V}^{\bullet,\bullet}$, the following relations give a well-defined Lie bracket $[\cdot,\cdot]_{\mathscr{V}}$ of bidegree (0,-1) such that $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet,\bullet}\mathbb{V})$ is an ideal:

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{i}_{[\eta,\eta']_{\mathscr{V}}} &:= [\mathbf{L}_{\eta}, \mathbf{i}_{\eta'}] & \text{if } \eta' \text{ lies in } \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet, \bullet} \mathbb{V}), \\ \mathbf{L}_{[\eta,\eta']_{\mathscr{V}}} &:= [\mathbf{L}_{\eta}, \mathbf{L}_{\eta'}] & \text{if } \eta, \eta' \in \mathscr{V}^{\bullet, 1}. \end{split}$$

Proof. Recall that (4.8) implies (4.9), so there is no ambiguity on the definition of $[\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathscr{V}}$. Moreover, the graded skew-symmetry holds due to Remark 4.11 and the skew-symmetry of the Frölicher-Nijenhuis bracket. We now verify the Jacobi identity on $\eta \in \mathscr{V}^{p,q}$, $\eta' \in \mathscr{V}^{p',q'}$, and $\eta'' \in \mathscr{V}^{p'',q''}$. Since formula (4.8) applies whenever any of the arguments lies in $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet,\bullet}\mathbb{V})$, the Jacobi identity follows from the one of the Vinogradov bracket in this case. This means that the only nontrivial case in which the graded Jacobi identity must be verified is when $\eta \in \mathscr{V}^{p,1}$, $\eta' \in \mathscr{V}^{p',1}$, and $\eta'' \in \mathscr{V}^{p'',q''}$. Furthermore, if $q'' \geq 1$, then the Lie operator correspondence $\eta \mapsto L_{\eta}$ is injective, and we can apply the relation (4.9) and the Jacobi identity follows from the one of the graded commutator. So, it is left to consider the case $\eta'' \in \mathscr{V}^{p'',0}$.

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{i}_{[[\eta,\eta']_{\mathscr{V}},\eta'']_{\mathscr{V}}} &= [\mathbf{L}_{[\eta,\eta']_{\mathscr{V}}}, \mathbf{i}_{\eta''}] = [[\mathbf{L}_{\eta}, \mathbf{L}_{\eta'}], \mathbf{i}_{\eta''}] = [\mathbf{L}_{\eta}, [\mathbf{L}_{\eta'}, \mathbf{i}_{\eta''}]] + (-1)^{p''p'} [[\mathbf{L}_{\eta}, \mathbf{i}_{\eta''}], \mathbf{L}_{\eta'}] \\ &= [\mathbf{L}_{\eta}, \mathbf{i}_{[\eta',\eta'']_{\mathscr{V}}}] + (-1)^{p''p'} [\mathbf{i}_{[\eta,\eta'']_{\mathscr{V}}}, \mathbf{L}_{\eta'}] = \mathbf{i}_{[\eta, [\eta',\eta'']_{\mathscr{V}}]_{\mathscr{V}}} + (-1)^{(p''-1)p'} \mathbf{i}_{[[\eta,\eta'']_{\mathscr{V}},\eta']_{\mathscr{V}}}, \end{split}$$

where in the last step we have taken into account Remark 4.11. This proves that the graded Jacobi identity always holds, so $(\mathcal{V}, [\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathcal{V}})$ is indeed a Lie algebra of degree -1. Furthermore, the fact that $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet, \bullet}\mathbb{V})$ is an ideal simply follows from Lemma 4.10.

Since $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet,\bullet}\mathbb{V})$ is an ideal of $(\mathscr{V}, [\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathscr{V}})$, the adjoint operator of every $\eta \in \mathscr{V}$, $\mathrm{ad}_{\eta} := [\eta, \cdot]_{\mathscr{V}}$, is a derivation of $(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet,\bullet}\mathbb{V}), \wedge, [\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathbb{V}})$. Indeed, the derivation property of the bracket simply follows from the graded Jacobi identity of $[\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathscr{V}}$. In the case of the exterior product, for $\eta \in \mathscr{V}^{p,q}$, $\eta' \in \Gamma(\wedge^{p',q'}\mathbb{V})$, and $\eta'' \in \Gamma(\wedge^{p'',q''}\mathbb{V})$ we get

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{i}_{\mathrm{ad}_{\eta}(\eta' \wedge \eta'')} &= [\mathbf{L}_{\eta}, \mathbf{i}_{\eta' \wedge \eta''}] = [\mathbf{L}_{\eta}, \mathbf{i}_{\eta'} \circ \mathbf{i}_{\eta''}] = [\mathbf{L}_{\eta}, \mathbf{i}_{\eta'}] \circ \mathbf{i}_{\eta''} + (-1)^{(p-q+1)(p'-q')} \mathbf{i}_{\eta'} \circ [\mathbf{L}_{\eta}, \mathbf{i}_{\eta''}] \\ &= \mathbf{i}_{[\eta, \eta']} \circ \mathbf{i}_{\eta''} + (-1)^{(p+q-1)(p'+q')} \mathbf{i}_{\eta'} \circ [\mathbf{L}_{\eta}, \mathbf{i}_{\eta''}] \\ &= \mathbf{i}_{\mathrm{ad}_{\eta}(\eta') \wedge \eta''} + (-1)^{|\operatorname{ad}_{\eta}| |\eta'|} \mathbf{i}_{\eta' \wedge \mathrm{ad}_{\eta}(\eta'')}, \end{split}$$

which implies $\operatorname{ad}_{\eta}(\eta' \wedge \eta'') = \operatorname{ad}_{\eta}(\eta') \wedge \eta'' + (-1)^{|\operatorname{ad}_{\eta}||\eta'|} \eta' \wedge \operatorname{ad}_{\eta}(\eta'').$

Proposition 4.14. The center of $(\mathcal{V}^{\bullet,\bullet}, [\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathcal{V}})$ lies in the space of closed forms in $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V^{\circ})$. In the case when the leaves of \mathcal{V} are the fibers of a submersion $M \xrightarrow{\pi} B$, the only central elements of $(\mathcal{V}^{\bullet,\bullet}, [\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathcal{V}})$ are the locally constant functions.

Proof. Let $\eta \in \mathscr{V}^{p,q}$ be a central element. Then, for $f \in C^{\infty}(M) = \mathscr{V}^{0,0}$, and $u_1, \ldots, u_p \in \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$,

$$0 = [\eta, f](u_1, \dots, u_p) = [\eta(u_1, \dots, u_p), f] = -(-1)^q \operatorname{id}_f \eta(u_1, \dots, u_p)$$

If $q \ge 1$, then the above relation implies that $\eta(u_1, \ldots, u_p) = 0$, so $\eta = 0$. If q = 0, then $\eta \in \Gamma(\wedge^p V^\circ)$ is a differential form. For each $Y \in \Gamma(V) \subset \mathcal{V}^{0,1}$, one has

$$0 = [Y, \eta] = \mathcal{L}_Y \eta = \mathcal{i}_Y \, \mathrm{d} \, \eta,$$

which means that η must be a basic form, $\eta \in \Gamma_{\rm b}(\wedge^p V^{\circ})$. This property implies that η commutes with every element in $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet,\bullet} \mathbb{V})$. On the other hand, if γ is a connection on (M, \mathcal{V}) , then $\operatorname{Id} - \gamma \in \mathscr{V}^{1,1}$, and

$$0 = [\mathrm{Id} - \gamma, \eta] = \partial^{\gamma} \eta = \mathrm{d}_{1,0}^{\gamma} \eta,$$

where we are using the decomposition of the de Rham differential $d = d_{0,1}^{\gamma} + d_{1,0}^{\gamma} + d_{2,-1}^{\gamma}$. Since $\eta \in \Gamma(\wedge^p V^\circ)$, one has $d_{2,-1}^{\gamma} \eta = 0$ and, since η is basic, $d_{0,1}^{\gamma} \eta = 0$. Therefore, $d \eta = 0$, proving that η is a closed form. Furthermore, in the case when the foliation \mathcal{V} is given by the fibers of a submersion, then M is locally generated by global projectable vector fields. Thus, the fact that $L_u \eta = [u, \eta] = 0$ for all $u \in \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V}) = \mathscr{V}^{0,1}$ implies that η must be a function $\eta \in C^{\infty}(M)$ which is locally constant by the closedness property.

We now present an explicit formula for the computation of $[\eta, \eta']_{\mathscr{V}}$ in the particular case described in Lemma 4.10.

Lemma 4.15. If $\eta \in \mathscr{V}^{p,1}$ and $\eta' \in \Gamma(\wedge^{p',q'} \mathbb{V})$, then for $u_1, \ldots, u_{p+p'} \in \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} [\eta, \eta']_{\mathscr{V}}(u_1, \dots, u_{p+p'}) &:= \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(p,p')}} (-1)^{\sigma} [\eta(u_{\sigma_1}, \dots, u_{\sigma_p}), \eta'(u_{\sigma_{p+1}}, \dots, u_{\sigma_{p+p'}})] \\ &- \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(p,1,p'-1)}} (-1)^{\sigma} \eta'([\eta(u_{\sigma_1}, \dots, u_{\sigma_p}), u_{\sigma_{p+1}}], u_{\sigma_{p+2}}, \dots, u_{\sigma_{p+p'}}) \\ &- (-1)^p \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(2,p-1,p'-1)}} (-1)^{\sigma} \eta'(\eta([u_{\sigma_1}, u_{\sigma_2}], u_{\sigma_3}, \dots, u_{\sigma_{p+1}}), u_{\sigma_{p+2}}, \dots, u_{\sigma_{p+p'}}). \end{aligned}$$
(4.11)

Proof. Following the proof of Lemma 4.10, for $\eta = \alpha \otimes u$, and $\eta' = \beta \otimes B$, we have

$$[\eta,\eta']_{\mathscr{V}} = (\alpha \wedge \beta) \otimes [u,B] + (\alpha \wedge \mathcal{L}_u \beta) \otimes B + (-1)^p (\mathrm{d}\,\alpha \wedge \mathrm{i}_u\,\beta) \otimes B$$

Let us show that this coincides with (4.11). By straightforward computations,

$$[\eta(u_{\sigma_1},\ldots,u_{\sigma_p}),\eta'(u_{\sigma_{p+1}},\ldots,u_{\sigma_{p+p'}})] = \alpha(u_{\sigma_1},\ldots,u_{\sigma_p})\beta(u_{\sigma_{p+1}},\ldots,u_{\sigma_{p+p'}})[u,B] + \alpha(u_{\sigma_1},\ldots,u_{\sigma_p})\operatorname{L}_u(\beta(u_{\sigma_{p+1}},\ldots,u_{\sigma_{p+p'}}))B - \beta(u_{\sigma_{p+1}},\ldots,u_{\sigma_{p+p'}})u \wedge \operatorname{i}_{\operatorname{d}(\alpha(u_{\sigma_1},\ldots,u_{\sigma_p}))}B,$$

where the last term vanishes due to the fact that $\alpha \in \Gamma_{\rm b}(\wedge^p V^{\circ})$ and $B \in \Gamma(\wedge^q V)$. Also,

$$\eta'([\eta(u_{\sigma_1},\ldots,u_{\sigma_p}),u_{\sigma_{p+1}}],u_{\sigma_{p+2}},\ldots,u_{\sigma_{p+p'}}) = \alpha(u_{\sigma_1},\ldots,u_{\sigma_p})\beta([u,u_{\sigma_{p+1}}],u_{\sigma_{p+2}},\ldots,u_{\sigma_{p+p'}})B - \mathcal{L}_{u_{\sigma_{p+1}}}(\alpha(u_{\sigma_1},\ldots,u_{\sigma_p}))\beta(u,u_{\sigma_{p+2}},\ldots,u_{\sigma_{p+p'}})B,$$
$$\eta'(\eta([u_{\sigma_1},u_{\sigma_2}],u_{\sigma_3},\ldots,u_{\sigma_{p+1}}),u_{\sigma_{p+2}},\ldots,u_{\sigma_{p+p'}}) = \alpha([u_{\sigma_1},u_{\sigma_2}],u_{\sigma_3},\ldots,u_{\sigma_{p+1}})\beta(u,u_{\sigma_{p+2}},\ldots,u_{\sigma_{p+p'}})B.$$
It is straightforward to check that the evaluation of $(\alpha \wedge \beta) \otimes [u,B] + (\alpha \wedge \mathcal{L}_u \beta) \otimes B + (-1)^p (\mathrm{d} \alpha \wedge \mathrm{i}_u \beta) \otimes B$ on $(u_1,\ldots,u_{p+p'})$ gives the corresponding signed sums of the above terms.

Covariant exterior derivatives. An special class of elements in $\mathcal{V}^{1,1}$ are given as follows. Consider a connection γ on (M, \mathcal{V}) , that is, a vector valued 1-form $\gamma \in \Gamma(T^*M \otimes TM)$ which, viewed as a vector bundle map $\gamma: TM \to TM$, has the following properties: $im(\gamma) = V$, and $\gamma^2 = \gamma$. We claim that $(\mathrm{Id} - \gamma) \in \mathscr{V}^{1,1}$. Indeed, since $\gamma(Y) = Y$ for all $Y \in \Gamma(V)$, it follows that $(\mathrm{Id} - \gamma)(Y) = 0$. Furthermore, since $\Gamma(V) \subset \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$, we have for all $u \in \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$ that $(\operatorname{Id} - \gamma)(u) = u - \gamma(u) \in \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$, proving the claim.

For a connection γ on (M, \mathcal{V}) , and denote the adjoint operator of $(\mathrm{Id} - \gamma)$ by $\partial^{\gamma} := \mathrm{ad}_{\mathrm{Id} - \gamma}$. For $\eta \in \Gamma(\wedge^{p,q} \mathbb{V})$, and $u_1, \ldots, u_{p+1} \in \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$, we get from (4.11) that

$$\partial^{\gamma} \eta(u_{1}, \dots, u_{p+1}) = \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(1,p)}} (-1)^{\sigma} [(\mathrm{Id} - \gamma)(u_{\sigma_{1}}), \eta(u_{\sigma_{2}}, \dots, u_{\sigma_{p+1}})]$$

$$- \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(1,1,p-1)}} (-1)^{\sigma} \eta([(\mathrm{Id} - \gamma)(u_{\sigma_{1}}), u_{\sigma_{2}}], u_{\sigma_{3}}, \dots, u_{\sigma_{p+1}}))$$

$$+ \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(2,p-1)}} (-1)^{\sigma} \eta((\mathrm{Id} - \gamma)([u_{\sigma_{1}}, u_{\sigma_{2}}]), u_{\sigma_{3}}, \dots, u_{\sigma_{p+1}}))$$

$$= \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(1,p)}} (-1)^{\sigma} [(\mathrm{Id} - \gamma)(u_{\sigma_{1}}), \eta(u_{\sigma_{2}}, \dots, u_{\sigma_{p+1}})] - \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(2,p-1)}} (-1)^{\sigma} \eta([u_{\sigma_{1}}, u_{\sigma_{2}}], u_{\sigma_{3}}, \dots, u_{\sigma_{p+1}})).$$
(4.12)

This formula is the so-called *covariant exterior derivative* of the connection γ [77, Subsection 2.2], [15, Section 4], [50, Subsection 4.2.2], [71, Section 2]. On the other hand, recall that the curvature of γ is the vector-valued 2-form $R^{\gamma} \in \Gamma(\wedge^{2,1}\mathbb{V})$, given on $X, Y \in \Gamma(TM)$ by $R^{\gamma}(X,Y) = \gamma[(\mathrm{Id} - \gamma)X, (\mathrm{Id} - \gamma)Y].$ Since $R^{\gamma} = \frac{1}{2} [\mathrm{Id} - \gamma, \mathrm{Id} - \gamma]_{FN}$, we get that the square of the covariant exterior derivative is just the adjoint operator of the curvature,

$$(\partial^{\gamma})^2 = \frac{1}{2}[\partial^{\gamma}, \partial^{\gamma}] = \frac{1}{2}[\operatorname{ad}_{\operatorname{Id}}_{-\gamma}, \operatorname{ad}_{\operatorname{Id}}_{-\gamma}] = \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{ad}_{[\operatorname{Id}}_{-\gamma}, \operatorname{Id}_{-\gamma}]_{FN} = \operatorname{ad}_{R^{\gamma}}.$$

Explicitly,

 η' It

$$(\partial^{\gamma})^{2}\eta(u_{1},\ldots,u_{p+2}) = \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(2,p)}} (-1)^{\sigma} [R^{\gamma}(u_{\sigma_{1}},u_{\sigma_{2}}),\eta(u_{\sigma_{3}},\ldots,u_{\sigma_{p+2}})]$$

Equivalence equations revisted. Let us consider a vertical bivector field $P \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 V)$. Associated with P, there exists an operation between horizontal forms $Q \in \Gamma(V^{\circ}), \theta \in \Gamma(\wedge^{p} V^{\circ})$, given by [78, Eq. (2.57)]

$$\{Q \land \theta\}_P(u_0, \dots, u_p) := \sum_{i=0}^p (-1)^i \{Q(u_i), \theta(u_0, \dots, \widehat{u}_i, \dots, u_p)\}_P, \qquad u_0, \dots, u_p \in \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V}).$$

where the bracket on the right-hand sums is $\{f, g\}_P := P(d f, d g)$. It is straightforward to verify that

$$\{Q \land \theta\}_P = [[P,Q],\theta].$$

This bracket appears in the equations arising in Theorem 2.30, which can be rewritten as

$$\gamma - g^* \widetilde{\gamma} = -[P, Q], \qquad \qquad \sigma - g^* \widetilde{\sigma} = [(\mathrm{Id} - \gamma) + \frac{1}{2}[P, Q], Q].$$

These equations arise in the context of equivalence of Poisson structures over symplectic leaves [78].

4.3 Coupling twisted Dirac structures and its cohomology

4.3.1 Geometric data and coupling structures with background

Following Section 2.3, we introduce, for the case of twisted structures, some notions associated with Poisson foliations with background. As we will see, these notions are closely related with the description of coupling Dirac structures with background via geometric data.

Definition 4.16. Let $\psi \in \Gamma(\wedge^3 T^*M)$ be a closed 3-form. A ψ -Poisson foliation is a triple (M, \mathcal{V}, P) consisting of a regular foliation \mathcal{V} and a leaf-tangent bivector field $P \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 V)$ which is ψ -Poisson,

$$\frac{1}{2}[P,P] = -P^{\sharp}\psi.$$

Additionally, a connection $\gamma \in \Gamma(T^*M \otimes V)$ is said to be ψ -Poisson on (M, \mathcal{V}, P) if

$$[X, P] = P^{\sharp} i_X \psi, \qquad \forall X \in \Gamma(H^{\gamma}) \cap \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V}).$$

We remark from Section 1.4 that the condition on a connection γ to be ψ -Poisson on (M, \mathcal{V}, P) is just that the γ -horizontal \mathcal{V} -projectable vector fields are cocycles of the complex associated with the ψ -Poisson structure P, $(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}TM), \partial_{P,\psi})$,

$$\Gamma(H^{\gamma}) \cap \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V}) \subseteq Z^{1}_{P,\psi}(M).$$

Equivalently, the ψ -Poisson connection condition is equivalent

$$[X, P](\mu, \nu) = P^{\sharp} i_X \psi(\mu, \nu), \qquad \forall X \in \Gamma(H^{\gamma}), \text{ and } \mu, \nu \in \Gamma(A^{\gamma}).$$

Finally, we recall that the curvature $R^{\gamma} \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 TM \otimes V)$ of γ is defined by

$$R^{\gamma}(X,Y) = \gamma[(\mathrm{Id} - \gamma)X, (\mathrm{Id} - \gamma)Y], \qquad \forall X, Y \in TM.$$

Now, we describe the geometric data associated with \mathcal{V} -coupling Dirac structures with background.

Definition 4.17. Let $\psi \in \Gamma(\wedge^3 T^*M)$ be a closed 3-form. A triple of geometric data (P, γ, σ) on (M, V) are said to be ψ -Dirac elements on (M, V) if the following relations hold for all $X, Y, Z \in \Gamma(H^{\gamma})$ and $\mu, \nu \in \Gamma(A^{\gamma})$:

$$\frac{1}{2}[P,P] = -P^{\sharp}\psi,$$
 (4.13)

$$[X, P](\mu, \nu) = P^{\sharp} i_X \psi(\mu, \nu), \qquad (4.14)$$

$$R^{\gamma}(X,Y) = -P^{\sharp} i_Y i_X (\mathrm{d}\,\sigma + \psi), \qquad (4.15)$$

$$(d \sigma + \psi)(X, Y, Z) = 0.$$
 (4.16)

Condition (4.13) says that the triple (M, \mathcal{V}, P) is a ψ -Poisson foliation, and the property (4.14) is equivalent to the fact that the connection γ is ψ -Poisson on (M, \mathcal{V}, P) . Also, condition (4.15) means that the curvature of γ is locally Hamiltonian, via the closed form d $\sigma + \psi$.

The goal of this Section is to show that Dirac elements are precisely the geometric data associated with a Dirac structure with background. To do so, fix a maximally isotropic subbundle $D \subset \mathbb{T}M$. Let (P, γ, σ) be its associated geometric data, in the sense of Propositions 2.23 and 2.4. Then, $D = D_{A\gamma}^P \oplus D_{H\gamma}^{\sigma}$, where

$$D^{P}_{A^{\gamma}} := \operatorname{Graph}(P^{\sharp}|_{A^{\gamma}}) = \{P^{\sharp}\mu \oplus \mu \mid \mu \in A^{\gamma}\},\$$
$$D^{\sigma}_{H^{\gamma}} := \operatorname{Graph}(-\sigma^{\flat}|_{H^{\gamma}}) = \{X \oplus (-\operatorname{i}_{X} \sigma) \mid X \in H^{\gamma}\}.$$

Now, fix a closed 3-form $\psi \in \Gamma(\wedge^3 T^*M)$. We now proceed to find necessary and sufficient conditions for the closedness of $\Gamma(D)$ under the ψ -Dorfman bracket (1.9) in terms of the splitting $D = D_{A\gamma}^P \oplus D_{H\gamma}^\sigma$.

Lemma 4.18. Property $[\![\Gamma(D^P_{A^{\gamma}}), \Gamma(D^P_{A^{\gamma}})]\!]_{\psi} \subseteq \Gamma(D)$ is equivalent to (4.13) and (4.14).

Proof. Given $\mu, \nu \in \Gamma(A^{\gamma})$, we have

$$\llbracket P^{\sharp}\mu \oplus \mu, P^{\sharp}\nu \oplus \nu \rrbracket_{\psi} = [P^{\sharp}\mu, P^{\sharp}\nu] \oplus \{\mu, \nu\}_{P,\psi},$$

where $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_{P,\psi}$ is defined as in (1.11). Since, $P \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 V)$, and V is involutive by hypothesis, it follows that $[P^{\sharp}\mu, P^{\sharp}\nu] \in \Gamma(V)$. Therefore, $[\![P^{\sharp}\mu \oplus \mu, P^{\sharp}\nu \oplus \nu]\!]_{\psi} \in \Gamma(D)$ if and only if $[P^{\sharp}\mu, P^{\sharp}\nu] \oplus \{\mu, \nu\}_{P,\psi} \in \Gamma(D^{P}_{A^{\gamma}})$, which, by definition of $D^{P}_{A^{\gamma}}$, is equivalent to

$$[P^{\sharp}\mu, P^{\sharp}\nu] = P^{\sharp}\{\mu, \nu\}_{P,\psi} \qquad \text{and} \qquad \{\mu, \nu\}_{P,\psi} \in \Gamma(A^{\gamma}).$$

The first equality holds for all $\mu, \nu \in \Gamma(A^{\gamma})$ if and only if P is a ψ -Poisson structure (in fact, since $P \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 V)$, both sides vanish whenever $\mu \in \Gamma(V^\circ)$ or $\nu \in \Gamma(V^\circ)$). The second identity is just $\{\mu, \nu\}_{P,\psi}(X) = 0$ for all $X \in H^{\gamma}$, which, by Lemma B.2, is equivalent to (4.14).

Lemma 4.19. Property $\llbracket \Gamma(D_{H^{\gamma}}^{\sigma}), \Gamma(D_{H^{\gamma}}^{\sigma}) \rrbracket_{\psi} \subseteq \Gamma(D)$ is equivalent to (4.15) and (4.16). Proof. Given $X, Y \in \Gamma(H^{\gamma})$, we have $X \oplus (-i_X \sigma), Y \oplus (-i_Y \sigma) \in \Gamma(D_{H^{\gamma}}^{\sigma})$. Then,

$$\begin{split} \llbracket X \oplus (-\mathbf{i}_X \, \sigma), Y \oplus (-\mathbf{i}_Y \, \sigma) \rrbracket_{\psi} &= [X, Y] \oplus (\mathcal{L}_X (-\mathbf{i}_Y \, \sigma) - \mathbf{i}_Y \, \mathbf{d}(-\mathbf{i}_X \, \sigma) - \mathbf{i}_Y \, \mathbf{i}_X \, \psi) \\ &= [X, Y] \oplus (-\mathbf{i}_{[X,Y]} \, \sigma - \mathbf{i}_Y \, \mathbf{i}_X (\mathbf{d} \, \sigma + \psi)) \\ &= (\mathrm{Id}_{TM} - \gamma) [X, Y] \oplus (-\mathbf{i}_{(\mathrm{Id}_{TM} - \gamma)[X,Y]} \, \sigma) \\ &+ R^{\gamma} (X, Y) \oplus (-\mathbf{i}_Y \, \mathbf{i}_X (\mathbf{d} \, \sigma + \psi)). \end{split}$$

Observe that $(\mathrm{Id}_{TM} - \gamma)[X, Y] \oplus (-\mathrm{i}_{(\mathrm{Id}_{TM} - \gamma)[X, Y]} \sigma) \in \Gamma(D^{\sigma}_{H^{\gamma}}) \subset \Gamma(D)$. Therefore,

$$\llbracket X \oplus (-\mathrm{i}_X \sigma), Y \oplus (-\mathrm{i}_Y \sigma) \rrbracket_{\psi} \in \Gamma(D)$$

if and only if

$$R^{\gamma}(X,Y) \oplus (-\operatorname{i}_{Y}\operatorname{i}_{X}(\mathrm{d}\,\sigma + \psi)) \in \Gamma(D^{P}_{A^{\gamma}})$$

This is equivalent to

$$R^{\gamma}(X,Y) = -P^{\sharp} i_Y i_X (\mathrm{d}\,\sigma + \psi), \qquad \text{and} \qquad i_Y i_X (\mathrm{d}\,\sigma + \psi)(Z) = 0 \qquad \forall Z \in \Gamma(H^{\gamma}).$$

Lemma 4.20. Property $[\![\Gamma(D^{\sigma}_{H^{\gamma}}), \Gamma(D^{P}_{A^{\gamma}})]\!]_{\psi} \subseteq \Gamma(D)$ is equivalent to (4.14) and (4.15).

Proof. Take $X \in \Gamma(H^{\gamma})$ and $\mu \in \Gamma(A^{\gamma})$. By straightforward computations and Lemma B.4, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \llbracket X \oplus (-\mathbf{i}_X \, \sigma), P^{\sharp} \mu \oplus \mu \rrbracket_{\psi} = & (\mathbf{i}_{\mu} [X, P] - \mathbf{i}_{\mu} \, P^{\sharp} \, \mathbf{i}_X \, \psi) \oplus (\mathbf{i}_{P^{\sharp} \mu} \, \mathbf{i}_X \, \mathrm{d} \, \sigma + \mathbf{i}_{P^{\sharp} \mu} \, \mathrm{d} \, \mathbf{i}_X \, \sigma) + \\ & + \mathbf{i}_{\mu} \, P^{\sharp} \, \mathbf{i}_X \, \psi \oplus (-\nu) + P^{\sharp} \, \mathbf{L}_X \, \mu \oplus (\mathbf{L}_X \, \mu + \mathbf{i}_{\mathbf{i}_X R^{\gamma}} \, \mu) + \\ & + 0 \oplus (-\mathbf{i}_{P^{\sharp} \mu} \, \mathbf{i}_X \, \mathrm{d} \, \sigma - \alpha - \mathbf{i}_{\mathbf{i}_X R^{\gamma}} \, \mu). \end{split}$$

Here, $\alpha \in \Gamma(V^{\circ})$ and $\nu \in \Gamma(A^{\gamma})$ are such that $\alpha + \nu = i_{P^{\sharp}\mu} i_X \psi$. Observe that

$$i_{\mu} P^{\sharp} i_{X} \psi \oplus (-\nu) \in \Gamma(D_{A^{\gamma}}^{P}),$$
$$P^{\sharp} L_{X} \mu \oplus (L_{X} \mu + i_{i_{X} R^{\gamma}} \mu) \in \Gamma(D_{A^{\gamma}}^{P}),$$
$$i_{P^{\sharp} \mu} i_{X} d\sigma + i_{P^{\sharp} \mu} di_{X} \sigma = -\sigma^{\flat}(i_{\mu}[X, P] - i_{\mu} P^{\sharp} i_{X} \psi).$$

Indeed, just observe that $P^{\sharp}(-\nu) = -P^{\sharp} i_{P^{\sharp}\mu} i_X \psi = i_{\mu} P^{\sharp} i_X \psi$, due to the definition of the map $P^{\sharp} : \wedge^2 T^* M \to \wedge^2 T M$. The second claim follows from the properties of the curvature R^{γ} . The proof of the third claim is,

$$-\sigma^{\flat}(\mathbf{i}_{\mu}[X,P] - \mathbf{i}_{\mu}P^{\sharp}\mathbf{i}_{X}\psi) = -\sigma^{\flat}\mathbf{i}_{\mu}[X,P] = \sigma^{\flat}(P^{\sharp}\mathbf{L}_{X}\mu - [X,P^{\sharp}\mu]) = -\sigma^{\flat}[X,P^{\sharp}\mu] = \mathbf{i}_{P^{\sharp}\mu}\mathbf{L}_{X}\sigma,$$

where in the second equality we have applied Lemma B.4. Therefore, $[\![\Gamma(D_{H^{\gamma}}^{\sigma}), \Gamma(D_{A^{\gamma}}^{P})]\!]_{\psi} \subseteq \Gamma(D)$ if and only if, for all $X \in \Gamma(H^{\gamma})$ and $\mu \in \Gamma(A^{\gamma})$, we have

$$\begin{split} (\mathbf{i}_{\mu}[X,P] - \mathbf{i}_{\mu} P^{\sharp} \, \mathbf{i}_{X} \, \psi) \oplus (\mathbf{i}_{P^{\sharp} \mu} \, \mathbf{i}_{X} \, \mathrm{d} \, \sigma + \mathbf{i}_{P^{\sharp} \mu} \, \mathrm{d} \, \mathbf{i}_{X} \, \sigma) \in \Gamma(D^{\sigma}_{H^{\gamma}}), \\ & - \mathbf{i}_{P^{\sharp} \mu} \, \mathbf{i}_{X} \, \mathrm{d} \, \sigma - \alpha - \mathbf{i}_{\mathbf{i}_{X} R^{\gamma}} \, \mu = 0. \end{split}$$

The first assertion is equivalent to (4.14). The second one is equivalent to (4.15).

These lemmas can be summarized in the following result:

Theorem 4.21. Let $\psi \in \Gamma(\wedge^3 T^*M)$ be a closed 3-form, and let $D \subset \mathbb{T}M$ be a V-coupling Lagrangian subbundle with associated geometric data (P, γ, σ) . Then, D is a ψ -Dirac structure on M if and only if (P, γ, σ) are ψ -Dirac elements.

We remark that the correspondence between V-coupling ψ -Dirac structures and ψ -Dirac elements is one to one. In the case $\psi = 0$, we recover Theorem 2.24.

4.3.2 The bigraded cochain complex

Let (M, \mathcal{V}) be a foliated manifold, and fix a closed 3-form $\psi \in \Gamma(\wedge^3 T^*M)$. Let us denote by $V := T\mathcal{V}$ the tangent bundle of \mathcal{V} and by $V^\circ := \operatorname{Ann}(V)$ its annihilator.

Let (P, γ, σ) be ψ -Dirac elements, and let D be its correspondent ψ -Dirac structure,

$$D = \operatorname{Graph}(-\sigma^{\flat}|_{H^{\gamma}}) \oplus \operatorname{Graph}(P^{\sharp}|_{A^{\gamma}})$$

Let us denote $\mathbb{H} := H^{\gamma} \oplus A^{\gamma}$. Observe that the map $\phi : \mathbb{H} \to D$, given by

$$\phi(X \oplus \mu) := (X + P^{\sharp}\mu) \oplus (-i_X \sigma + \mu)$$

is an isomorphism. On the other hand, recall that D has a Lie algebroid structure, where the anchor $p_D: D \to TM$ is the restriction of the canonical projection $\mathbb{T}M \to TM$, and the bracket $[\cdot, \cdot]_D$ is the restriction of the ψ -Dorfman bracket

 $\llbracket X \oplus \alpha, Y \oplus \beta \rrbracket_{\psi} := [X, Y] \oplus (\mathcal{L}_X \beta - i_Y d\alpha - i_Y i_X \psi), \qquad \forall X \oplus \alpha, Y \oplus \beta \in \Gamma(\mathbb{T}M).$

Since $\phi : \mathbb{H} \to D$ is a vector bundle isomorphism, we can pull back the Lie algebroid structure of D to \mathbb{H} .

Lemma 4.22. Consider the vector bundle map $q : \mathbb{H} \to TM$ given by $q(X \oplus \mu) := X + P^{\sharp}\mu$, and the bracket $[\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathbb{H}} : \Gamma(\mathbb{H}) \times \Gamma(\mathbb{H}) \to \Gamma(\mathbb{H})$ given on $X, X' \in \Gamma(H^{\gamma})$ and $\mu, \nu \in \Gamma(A^{\gamma})$ by the relations

$$[X, X']_{\mathbb{H}} := (\mathrm{Id}_{TM} - \gamma)[X, X'] \oplus (-\mathrm{i}_{X'} \mathrm{i}_X (\mathrm{d}\,\sigma + \psi)),$$

$$[X, \nu]_{\mathbb{H}} := (\mathrm{Id}_{TM} - \gamma)[X, P^{\sharp}\nu] \oplus (\mathrm{L}_X \nu - \mathrm{i}_{P^{\sharp}\nu} \mathrm{i}_X (\mathrm{d}\,\sigma + \psi)),$$

$$[\mu, \nu]_{\mathbb{H}} := 0 \oplus \{\mu, \nu\}_{P, \psi}.$$

The isomorphism $\phi : \mathbb{H} \to D$ satisfies $q = \phi \circ p_D$, and $\phi[\xi, \eta]_{\mathbb{H}} = [\phi(\xi), \phi(\eta)]_D$ for all $\xi, \eta \in \mathbb{H}$. In particular, $(\mathbb{H}, q, [\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathbb{H}})$ is a Lie algebroid isomorphic to D.

Proof. The fact that the bracket $[\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathbb{H}}$ is well defined follows from Lemmas 4.18-4.20. Now, note that

$$(p_D \circ \phi)(X \oplus \mu) = p_D(X + P^{\sharp}\mu) \oplus (-i_X \sigma + \mu) = X + P^{\sharp}\mu = q(X \oplus \mu).$$

On the other hand, by applying (4.15) and the computations of Lemma 4.19, we get

$$\begin{split} \phi[X,X']_{\mathbb{H}} &= \phi((\mathrm{Id}_{TM}-\gamma)[X,X'] \oplus (-\mathrm{i}_{X'}\mathrm{i}_X(\mathrm{d}\,\sigma+\psi))) \\ &= ((\mathrm{Id}_{TM}-\gamma)[X,X'] + P^{\sharp}(-\mathrm{i}_{X'}\mathrm{i}_X(\mathrm{d}\,\sigma+\psi))) \oplus (-\mathrm{i}_{(\mathrm{Id}_{TM}-\gamma)[X,X']}\,\sigma - \mathrm{i}_{X'}\mathrm{i}_X(\mathrm{d}\,\sigma+\psi)) \\ &= ((\mathrm{Id}_{TM}-\gamma)[X,X'] + R^{\gamma}(X,X')) \oplus (-\mathrm{i}_{(\mathrm{Id}_{TM}-\gamma)[X,X']}\,\sigma - \mathrm{i}_{X'}\mathrm{i}_X(\mathrm{d}\,\sigma+\psi)) \\ &= \llbracket X \oplus (-\mathrm{i}_X\,\sigma), X' \oplus (-\mathrm{i}_{X'}\,\sigma) \rrbracket_{\psi} \\ &= [\phi(X), \phi(X')]_D. \end{split}$$

Similarly, since P is ψ -Poisson,

$$\phi[\mu,\nu]_{\mathbb{H}} = \phi(0 \oplus \{\mu,\nu\}_{P,\psi}) = P^{\sharp}\{\mu,\nu\}_{P,\psi} \oplus \{\mu,\nu\}_{P,\psi}$$
$$= [P^{\sharp}\mu,P^{\sharp}\nu] \oplus \{\mu,\nu\}_{P,\psi} = [\![P^{\sharp}\mu \oplus \mu,P^{\sharp}\nu \oplus \nu]\!]_{\psi}$$
$$= [\phi(\mu),\phi(\nu)]_{D}.$$

Finally, the fact that $\phi[X,\nu]_{\mathbb{H}} = [\phi(X),\phi(\nu)]_D$ follows from (4.15), (4.16) and arguments similar to the proof of Lemma 4.20.

Due to the previous lemma, the cochain complex $(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}D^*), \partial_D)$ of the Lie algebroid $(D, p_D, [\cdot, \cdot]_D)$ of the Dirac structure D is isomorphic to the one of $(\mathbb{H}, q, [\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathbb{H}})$. On the other hand, observe that the dual space \mathbb{H}^* is isomorphic to $\mathbb{V} = V^{\circ} \oplus V$ via the canonical pairing. In fact, one can think of $\alpha \oplus v \in \mathbb{V}$ as an element $\Phi_{\alpha \oplus v} \in \mathbb{H}^*$ by setting

$$\Phi_{\alpha \oplus v}(X \oplus \mu) = \alpha(X) + \mu(v).$$

This map can be extended to an isomorphism $\Phi : \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet} \mathbb{V}) \to \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet} \mathbb{H}^*)$, which induce a cochain complex structure on $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet} \mathbb{V})$.

Let us describe the coboundary operator on $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}\mathbb{V})$, in terms of the geometric data (P, γ, σ) and the background 3-form ψ . To do so, we need to consider the derivations of $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet,\bullet}\mathbb{V})$ described in Subsections 4.2.2, and 4.2.3, namely, the derivations induced by 3-forms, and the adjoint operators with respect to the bracket of $(\mathscr{V}, [\cdot, \cdot])$.

For the rest of this section, let us fix $f \in C^{\infty}(M)$, $\alpha \in \Gamma(V^{\circ})$, $Y \in \Gamma(V)$, $\mu, \nu \in \Gamma(T^*M)$, and $u, v \in \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$. Associated with P and ψ , consider the operator $\partial_{0,1} := \partial_P + j_{P,\psi}^{(0,1)}$, where $\partial_P := \operatorname{ad}_P$ is the adjoint of $P \in \Gamma(\wedge^{2,0}\mathbb{V})$, and $j_{P,\psi}^{(0,1)}$ is defined in terms of (1.13) by (4.5).

$$\partial_{0,1}f = -P^{\sharp} df,$$

$$(4.17)$$

$$\partial_{0,1}\alpha(u) = P^{\sharp} d(\alpha(u)), \tag{4.17}$$

$$\mathbf{O}_{0,1}Y(\mu,\nu) = \mathbf{L}_{P^{\sharp}\mu}(\nu(Y)) - \mathbf{L}_{P^{\sharp}\nu}(\mu(Y)) - \{\mu,\nu\}_{P,\psi}(Y).$$
(4.18)

The operator $\partial_{1,0} := \partial_{\gamma} + j_{P,\psi}^{(1,0)}$ is the sum of the covariant derivative of γ , $\partial_{\gamma} := \operatorname{ad}_{(\operatorname{Id} - \gamma)}$ defined by (4.12), and the operator $j_{P,\psi}^{(0,1)}$ is defined as in Section 4.2.2. Then,

$$\partial_{1,0}f(u) = \mathcal{L}_{(\mathrm{Id}-\gamma)(u)}f,$$

$$\partial_{1,0}\alpha(u,v) = \mathcal{L}_{(\mathrm{Id}-\gamma)(u)}(\alpha(v)) - \mathcal{L}_{(\mathrm{Id}-\gamma)(v)}(\alpha(u)) - \alpha[u,v],$$
(4.19)

$$\partial_{1,0}Y(u,\mu) = \left[(\operatorname{Id} -\gamma)(u), Y \right] + i_Y i_{P^{\sharp}\mu} i_u \psi.$$
(4.20)

Now, let $\psi = \psi_{3,0}^{\gamma} + \psi_{2,1}^{\gamma} + \psi_{1,2}^{\gamma} + \psi_{0,3}^{\gamma}$ be the bigraded decomposition of ψ with respect to γ . Then, the 3-form $\psi_{2,1}^{\gamma}$ is a section of $\wedge^2 V^{\circ} \otimes T^* M$. As described in Section 4.2.2, there is an algebraic derivation induced by $\psi_{2,1}^{\gamma}$, namely, $j_{\psi_{2,1}^{\gamma}}^{(2,-1)}$ defined by (4.6). Since this derivation depends on the choice of ψ and γ , let us denote it by $j_{\psi,\gamma}^{(2,-1)}$.

Finally, the operator of bidegree (2, -1) is $\partial_{2,-1} := \partial_{\sigma} + j_{\gamma,\psi}^{(2,-1)}$, which is the sum of the negative adjoint operator $\partial_{\sigma} := -\operatorname{ad}_{\sigma}$ with the algebraic derivation $j_{\gamma,\psi}^{(2,-1)}$. Then,

$$\partial_{2,-1}f = 0,$$
 $\partial_{2,-1}\alpha = 0,$ $\partial_{2,-1}Y = L_Y \sigma - i_Y \psi_{2,1}^{\gamma}$ (4.21)

Proposition 4.23. The de Rham complex of the Lie algebroid \mathbb{H} isomorphic to $(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}\mathbb{V}), \eth)$, where $\eth = \eth_{0,1} + \eth_{1,0} + \eth_{2,-1}$ are the bigraded operators defined above.

Proof. We need to show that $\Phi \circ \partial = \partial_{\mathbb{H}} \circ \Phi$, where $\partial_{\mathbb{H}}$ is the de Rham differential of \mathbb{H} . Recall that the adjoint operators are derivations of the exterior algebra $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}\mathbb{V})$. Therefore, it suffices to show that $\Phi \circ \partial = \partial_{\mathbb{H}} \circ \Phi$ holds on $\Gamma(\mathbb{V})$. Pick $\alpha \in \Gamma(V^{\circ})$, and $v \in \Gamma(V)$. Then, for $u, v \in \Gamma(H^{\gamma}) \cap \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$ and $\mu, \nu \in \Gamma(A^{\gamma})$, we get

$$\begin{aligned} (\Phi \circ \partial)\alpha(u,v) &= \Phi(\partial\alpha)(u,v) = \Phi(\partial_{1,0}\alpha)(u,v) = \mathcal{L}_u(\alpha(v)) - \mathcal{L}_v(\alpha(u)) - \alpha[u,v] \\ &= \mathcal{L}_{q(u)}(\Phi_\alpha(v)) - \mathcal{L}_{q(v)}(\Phi_\alpha(u)) - \Phi_\alpha[u,v]_{\mathbb{H}} = \partial_{\mathbb{H}}\Phi_\alpha(u,v) \\ &= (\partial_{\mathbb{H}} \circ \Phi)\alpha(u,v). \end{aligned}$$

Here, we have applied (4.19). Now, by (4.17), we get

$$\begin{aligned} (\Phi \circ \eth)\alpha(u,\nu) &= \Phi(\eth\alpha)(u,\nu) = \Phi(\eth_{0,1}\alpha)(u,\nu) = \nu(P^{\sharp} \operatorname{d}(\alpha(u))) = -\operatorname{d}(\alpha(u))(P^{\sharp}\nu) \\ &= -\operatorname{L}_{P^{\sharp}\nu}(\alpha(u)) = 0 - \operatorname{L}_{P^{\sharp}\nu}(\alpha(u)) - 0 \\ &= \operatorname{L}_{q(u)}(\Phi_{\alpha}(\nu)) - \operatorname{L}_{q(\nu)}(\Phi_{\alpha}(u)) - \Phi_{\alpha}[u,\nu]_{\mathbb{H}} = \eth_{\mathbb{H}}\Phi_{\alpha}(u,\nu) \\ &= (\eth_{\mathbb{H}} \circ \Phi)\alpha(u,\nu). \end{aligned}$$

Moreover,

$$\begin{aligned} (\Phi \circ \partial)\alpha(\mu,\nu) &= \Phi(\partial\alpha)(\mu,\nu) = \Phi(\partial_{-1,2}\alpha)(\mu,\nu) = 0 = \mathcal{L}_{P^{\sharp}\mu}(0) - \mathcal{L}_{P^{\sharp}\nu}(0) - 0 \\ &= \mathcal{L}_{q(\mu)}(\Phi_{\alpha}(\nu)) - \mathcal{L}_{q(\nu)}(\Phi_{\alpha}(\mu)) - \Phi_{\alpha}[\mu,\nu]_{\mathbb{H}} = \partial_{\mathbb{H}}\Phi_{\alpha}(\mu,\nu) \\ &= (\partial_{\mathbb{H}} \circ \Phi)\alpha(\mu,\nu). \end{aligned}$$

On the other hand, by (4.21),

$$\begin{aligned} (\Phi \circ \partial)Y(u,v) &= \Phi(\partial Y)(u,v) = \Phi(\partial_{2,-1}Y)(u,v) = \mathcal{L}_Y \,\sigma(u,v) - \mathcal{i}_Y \,\psi_{2,1}^\gamma(u,v) \\ &= \mathcal{L}_u(0) - \mathcal{L}_v(0) - Y(-\mathcal{i}_v \,\mathcal{i}_u(\mathrm{d}\,\sigma + \psi)) \\ &= \mathcal{L}_{q(u)}(\Phi_Y(v)) - \mathcal{L}_{q(v)}(\Phi_Y(u)) - \Phi_Y[u,v]_{\mathbb{H}} = \partial_{\mathbb{H}}\Phi_Y(u,v) \\ &= (\partial_{\mathbb{H}} \circ \Phi)Y(u,v). \end{aligned}$$

By applying (4.20)

$$\begin{aligned} (\Phi \circ \partial)Y(u,\nu) &= \Phi(\partial Y)(u,\nu) = \Phi(\partial_{1,0}Y)(u,\nu) = [(\mathrm{Id} - \gamma)(u),Y] + \mathrm{i}_Y \,\mathrm{i}_{P^{\sharp}\nu} \,\mathrm{i}_u \,\psi \\ &= \mathrm{L}_u(\nu(Y)) - \mathrm{L}_u \,\nu(Y) + \mathrm{i}_{P^{\sharp}\nu} \,\mathrm{i}_u \,\psi(Y) \\ &= \mathrm{L}_u(\nu(Y)) - \mathrm{L}_{P^{\sharp}\nu}(0) - (\mathrm{L}_u \,\nu - \mathrm{i}_{P^{\sharp}\nu} \,\mathrm{i}_u(\mathrm{d}\,\sigma + \psi))(Y) \\ &= \mathrm{L}_{q(u)}(\Phi_Y(\nu)) - \mathrm{L}_{q(\nu)}(\Phi_Y(u)) - \Phi_Y[u,\nu]_{\mathbb{H}} = \partial_{\mathbb{H}}\Phi_Y(u,\nu) \\ &= (\partial_{\mathbb{H}} \circ \Phi)Y(u,\nu). \end{aligned}$$

Finally, by (4.18),

$$\begin{split} (\Phi \circ \partial)Y(\mu,\nu) &= \Phi(\partial Y)(\mu,\nu) = \partial_{1,0}Y(\mu,\nu) = \mathcal{L}_{P^{\sharp}\mu}(\nu(Y)) - \mathcal{L}_{P^{\sharp}\nu}(\mu(Y)) - \{\mu,\nu\}_{P,\psi}(Y) \\ &= \mathcal{L}_{q(\mu)}(\Phi_Y(\nu)) - \mathcal{L}_{q(\nu)}(\Phi_Y(\mu)) - \Phi_Y[\mu,\nu]_{\mathbb{H}} = \partial_{\mathbb{H}}\Phi_Y(\mu,\nu) \\ &= (\partial_{\mathbb{H}} \circ \Phi)Y(\mu,\nu), \end{split}$$

Summarizing the above results, we arrive at the main result.

Theorem 4.24. Let $\psi \in \Gamma(\wedge^3 T^*M)$ be a closed 3-form, and \mathcal{V} be a regular foliation on M. Denote $\mathbb{V} := V \oplus V^\circ$, with $V := T\mathcal{V}$ and $V^\circ := \operatorname{Ann}(V)$. Let also $D \subset \mathbb{T}M$ be a \mathcal{V} -coupling Dirac ψ -structure with associated ψ -Dirac elements (P, γ, σ) . On $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}\mathbb{V})$, consider the coboundary operator $\partial \equiv \partial_{P,\gamma,\sigma}^{\psi}$ with bigraded components $\partial_{0,1}$, $\partial_{1,0}$, and $\partial_{2,-1}$ given by

$$\partial_{2,-1} := \partial_P + \mathbf{j}_{P,\psi}^{(0,1)}, \qquad \qquad \partial_{2,-1} := \partial_\gamma + \mathbf{j}_{P,\psi}^{(1,0)}, \qquad \qquad \partial_{2,-1} := \partial_\sigma + \mathbf{j}_{\gamma,\psi}^{(2,-1)}$$

Then, the de Rham complex $(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}D^*), \partial_D)$ of the Lie algebroid of D is isomorphic to the bigraded cochain complex $(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}\mathbb{V}), \partial)$.

Proof. Because of Proposition 4.23, the pair $(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}\mathbb{V}), \partial)$ is a cochain complex isomorphic to the de Rham complex of the Lie algebroid \mathbb{H} . On the other hand, $\phi : \mathbb{H} \to D$ is an isomorphism of Lie algebroids, which implies that their corresponding cochain complexes are isomorphic.

As a consequence of Theorem 4.24, we have the following results [15, Prop. 5.3], [50, Prop. 4.2.11].

Corollary 4.25. Let S be an embedded symplectic leaf of a Poisson manifold (M, Π) , and let N be a coupling neighborhood of S. Let (P, γ, σ) be the associated geometric data of $\Pi|_N$. Then, the Lichnerowicz-Poisson complex $(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}TN, \partial_{\Pi}) \text{ of } \Pi \text{ in } N \text{ is isomorphic to the bigraded cochain complex } (\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}\mathbb{V}), \partial_{P,\gamma,\sigma} = \partial_P + \partial_{\gamma} + \partial_{\sigma}), \text{ where } \partial_P := \operatorname{ad}_P, \partial_{\gamma} := \operatorname{ad}_{\operatorname{Id}}_{-\gamma}, \partial_{\sigma} := \operatorname{ad}_{-\sigma}$ are the adjoint operators with respect to the bracket in Theorem 4.13.

Part III Applications

Introduction to Part III

This part is devoted to the study of infinitesimal automorphisms of Poisson manifolds carrying a singular symplectic foliation, with applications to the description of the first Poisson cohomology and the modular class in the semilocal context, around possibly singular symplectic leaves.

Given a Poisson manifold (M, Ψ) , the first Poisson cohomology $H^1_{\Psi}(M)$ is the quotient of the Lie algebra $\text{Poiss}(M, \Psi)$ of Poisson vector fields by its ideal $\text{Ham}(M, \Psi)$ of Hamiltonian vector fields (see Section 1.4). The Hamiltonian vector fields generate the distribution $\Psi^{\sharp}(T^*M) \subseteq TM$, which integrates to a possibly singular symplectic foliation (\mathcal{S}, ω) .

In the regular case, when rank Ψ is locally constant on M, the choice of a subbundle $\nu(S) \subset TM$ normal to S, $TM = TS \oplus \nu(S)$, induces the following short exact sequence which describes the first Poisson cohomology [62, Section 2], [74]:

$$0 \to H^1_{\mathrm{dR}}(\mathcal{S}) \stackrel{\Psi^{\sharp}}{\hookrightarrow} H^1_{\Psi}(M) \stackrel{\mathrm{pr}_{\nu(\mathcal{S})}}{\longrightarrow} \ker(\rho) \to 0.$$

Here, the first term is the tangential component, which is independent of ω , and just coincides with the first foliated de Rham cohomology of S. The second term is the transversal component, consisting of the $\nu(S)$ -valued infinitesimal automorphisms of the symplectic foliation $Y \in \Gamma_{S-\text{pr}}(\nu(S))$ which correspond to the cohomologically trivial in $H^2_{dR}(S)$ transversal variations $L_Y \omega$ of ω . In other words, $\rho : \Gamma_{S-\text{pr}}(\nu(S)) \to H^2_{dR}(S)$ is given by $\rho(Y) := [L_Y \omega]$. The above short exact sequence allows to compute the first Poisson cohomology in some particular cases [25, 34, 64, 62, 74, 84].

One of our purposes is to generalize this result in the singular case. To this end, recall from Section 2.5 that each embedded symplectic leaf S admits a tubular neighborhood $N \subset M$ in which the Poisson structure Ψ is coupling. Then, the Poisson structure splits into "regular" and "singular" parts, $\Psi = \Psi_H + \Psi_V$, where Ψ_V is the *transverse Poisson structure* of S. Furthermore, as we show in Theorem 5.12, the following holds:

$$0 \to H^1(\mathcal{N}_0,\overline{\partial}) \stackrel{\Psi^{\sharp}}{\hookrightarrow} H^1_{\Psi}(N) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{pr}_V} \frac{\operatorname{ker}(\rho:\mathcal{A} \longrightarrow H^2(\mathcal{N}_0,\overline{\partial}))}{\operatorname{Ham}(N,\Psi_V)} \to 0.$$

The first term, which is the tangential component, is the first cohomology of the *de Rham* - Casimir complex $(\mathcal{N}_0^{\bullet}, \overline{\partial})$, consisting of the differential forms on S with values in Casimir functions of Ψ_V . The coboundary operator $\overline{\partial}$ is defined by the covariant exterior derivative associated with $\Psi_H^{\sharp}(T^*N)$. The second "transversal" term involves the kernel of an intrinsic morphism ρ from a Lie subalgebra \mathcal{A} of Poiss (N, Ψ_V) to the second cohomology group $H^2(\mathcal{N}_0, \overline{\partial})$.

We present a geometric derivation of this result in the context of the description of infinitesimal automorphisms of coupling Poisson structures [65, 77, 78]. Algebraically, this is Theorem 3.11 applied to the bigraded cochain complex in Corollary 4.25. In the case when the symplectic leaf S is regular, this result coincides with the short exact sequence of the regular case.

We also apply our result to two particular cases related with singular symplectic foliations. Firstly, in Theorems 5.15 and 5.19, we formulate some sufficient criteria for the triviality of the first Poisson cohomology of coupling Poisson structures. The key point is to regard $(\mathcal{N}^{\bullet}, \overline{\partial})$ as a subcomplex of

some foliated de Rham complex. Under some geometric conditions, the natural morphism between its cohomologies in degree 1 is injective, so the triviality of the first foliated de Rham cohomology implies the triviality of the tangential term. These criterion realize under some "flatness condition" for the symplectic leaf. Combining this with the results of Conn [12], we derive Theorem 5.22.

Secondly, the above result is also applied to the case when the Casimir functions of the transversal Poisson structure Ψ_V are projectable (foliated) with respect to the vertical foliation of the tubular neighborhood. Using the fact that the de Rham - Casimir complex is isomorphic to the de Rham complex of the symplectic leaf S, we illustrate the computation of $H^1_{\Psi}(N)$ by some examples.

We remark that the results presented in this context can be generalized to the Dirac case in order to describe the first Lie algebroid cohomology of Dirac structures around presymplectic leaves [50, 67]. We also apply our results to the description of the semilocal properties of the modular class.

The modular class $Mod(M, \Pi)$ of an orientable Poisson manifold (M, Π) is a distinguished element of the first Poisson cohomology group $H^1_{\Pi}(M)$ and gives an obstruction to the existence of a volume form which is invariant under the flow of every Hamiltonian vector field [41, 83]. If the modular class is trivial, then such an invariant volume form exists and the Poisson manifold is said to be unimodular.

In the regular case, when the rank of the Poisson tensor Π is locally constant, we have the following fact [1]: the modular class $\operatorname{Mod}(M, \Pi)$ is equivalent to the Reeb class $\operatorname{Mod}(S)$ of the regular symplectic foliation S of Π (for the case codim S = 1, see [30]). For a transversally orientable regular foliation, the Reeb class is the obstruction to the existence of a closed transversal volume element [31]. This relationship leads to a geometric criterion: the triviality of the Reeb class of S is equivalent to the unimodularity of the regular Poisson manifold (M, Π) . As a consequence, the unimodularity of a regular Poisson manifold only depends on its characteristic (symplectic) foliation rather than the leaf-wise symplectic form (see also [14, Corollary 9]). Along with the standard approaches [31, 1], one can characterize the Reeb class in different ways, for example, by using the Bott connection [83, Section 5] or, as the modular class of the associated Lie algebroid [22, 36].

We are interested in a generalization of these results to the case of Poisson manifolds with singular symplectic foliations, for which it does not exist a direct analog of the Reeb class. Our goal is to study the behavior of the modular class of an orientable Poisson manifold (M, Π) and formulate some unimodularity criteria in the semilocal context, around a possibly singular symplectic leaf S.

Due to local Weinstein's splitting theorem [82], the unimodularity of Π in a neighborhood of a singular point is provided by the unimodularity of the transverse Poisson structure of the point. In the nonzero dimensional case, we describe some obstructions to the semilocal unimodularity of the leaf which are related to some "tangential" and "transversal" characteristics of S. In particular, in Proposition 6.18 we show that the unimodularity of a transverse Poisson structure P of S is a necessary condition for $Mod(M, \Pi) = 0$. Moreover, it is proved in Theorem 6.19 that, under the vanishing of the modular class of P, some cohomological obstructions possibly appear in the first cohomology of the associated cochain complex [71, 78]. It is shown in Theorem 6.16 that, in the case when the neighborhood of the leaf is "flat", these obstructions are directly related to the Reeb class of a foliation. In particular, this occurs in the regular case.

Our main results are based on the formula of Proposition 6.5 for a bigraded decomposition of the modular vector fields of coupling Poisson structures on a foliated manifolds, which involves the modular vector field of the associated Poisson foliation. We also show in Proposition 6.3 that the modular vector field of the Poisson foliation is related to the Reeb class. Also, in Proposition 6.9, we study the behavior of the unimodularity property under gauge equivalence [79, 9]. A similar problem for the Morita equivalence of Poisson structures was studied in [28, 14].

Chapter 5

Semilocal Splitting of the First Cohomology

A geometric description of the first Poisson cohomology group is given in the semilocal context, around possibly singular symplectic leaves. This result is based on the splitting theorems for infinitesimal automorphisms of coupling Poisson structures which describe the interaction between the tangential and transversal data of the characteristic distributions. As a consequence, we derive some criteria of vanishing of the first Poisson cohomology group and apply the general splitting formulas to some particular classes of Poisson structures associated with singular symplectic foliations.

This chapter is organized as follows. In Section 5.1, we briefly recall some notions and facts about Ehresmann connections. In Section 5.2, we review some properties of coupling Poisson structures and formulate the result on the Lichnerowicz-Poisson complex in coupling neighborhoods of a symplectic leaf. In Section 5.3, we present our main results on the infinitesimal automorphisms of coupling Poisson structures and give a proof of Theorem 5.12. In the last three sections, 5.4-5.6, the general results are applied to some particular cases.

The contents of this chapter, with exception of Sections 5.7 and 5.8, were published in [71].

5.1 Covariant exterior derivatives

In this section, we recall some notions and facts in the theory of Ehresmann connections on fiber bundles which will be used throughout the text (for more details, see [35, 65, 78]).

Let $E \xrightarrow{\pi} B$ be a fiber bundle (a surjective submersion) over a manifold B. Denote by $V := \ker d\pi \subset TE$ the vertical subbundle and by $V^{\circ} \subset T^*E$ its annihilator. The sections of the vector bundles $\wedge^q V$ and $\wedge^p V^{\circ}$ are called the vertical q-vector fields and horizontal p-forms on with respect to $E \xrightarrow{\pi} B$, respectively. In particular, $\Gamma(\wedge^0 V^{\circ}) = C^{\infty}(E)$.

Recall that a vector field $X \in \Gamma(TE)$ is said to be π -related to $u \in \Gamma(TB)$, if $d\pi \circ X = u \circ \pi$. In this case, we say that X is π -projectable. It is clear that π -projectable vector fields form an \mathbb{R} -Lie subalgebra of $\Gamma(TE)$, which will be denoted by $\Gamma_{\pi\text{-pr}}(TE)$. Given any vector subbundle $F \subset TE$, we will also use the notation $\Gamma_{\pi\text{-pr}}(F) := \Gamma_{\pi\text{-pr}}(TE) \cap \Gamma(F)$ throughout this text. Note that every π -projectable vector field $X \in \Gamma_{\pi\text{-pr}}(TE)$ has the property $[X, \Gamma(V)] \subseteq \Gamma(V)$. Conversely, in the case when the fibers of $E \xrightarrow{\pi} B$ are connected, this property characterizes the π -projectability of vector fields.

On the other hand, recall that an *Ehresmann connection* on E is a vector bundle morphism $\gamma : TE \to TE$ such that $\gamma^2 = \gamma$ and is the identity on the vertical subbundle, $\gamma(Y) = Y$ for all $Y \in \Gamma(V)$. Therefore, γ induces a splitting

$$TE = H \oplus V, \tag{5.1}$$

where $H = H^{\gamma} := \ker \gamma$ is the horizontal subbundle associated with γ . Conversely, given a subbundle H complementary to V, one can recover the Ehresmann connection from H by setting $\gamma = \operatorname{pr}_V : TE \to V$ (the projection along H).

Suppose we are given an Ehresmann connection γ . The smooth sections of the vector bundles $\wedge^{p}H$ and $\wedge^{q}H^{0}$ are said to be horizontal *p*-vector fields and the vertical *q*-forms on *E*, respectively. The *horizontal lift* of $u \in \Gamma(TB)$ with respect to γ is the unique horizontal vector field hor^{γ}(u) $\in \Gamma(H)$ which is π -related with u. Therefore, the horizontal lifts are π -projectable and hence, satisfy the following condition:

$$[\operatorname{hor}^{\gamma}(u), \Gamma(V)] \subset \Gamma(V). \tag{5.2}$$

Consider the $C^{\infty}(B)$ -module $\Omega_B^{p,q}(E) := \Gamma(\wedge^p T^*B) \otimes_{C^{\infty}(B)} \Gamma(\wedge^q V)$ of all *p*-forms on *B* with values in vertical *q*-vector fields on *E*. In particular, by property (5.2), the Lie derivative $L_{\text{hor}^{\gamma}(u)}$ leaves invariant the subspaces $\Gamma(\wedge^q V)$ of vertical tensor fields. Hence, the γ -covariant exterior derivative $\partial_{1,0}^{\gamma}: \Omega_B^{p,q}(E) \to \Omega_B^{p+1,q}(E)$ is defined by the standard formula

$$(\partial_{1,0}^{\gamma}\eta)(u_0, u_1, \dots, u_p) := \sum_{i=0}^p (-1)^i L_{\text{hor}^{\gamma}(u_i)} \eta(u_0, u_1, \dots, \hat{u}_i, \dots, u_p)$$

$$+ \sum_{0 \le i < j \le p} (-1)^{i+j} \eta([u_i, u_j], u_0, \dots, \hat{u}_i, \dots, \hat{u}_j, \dots, u_p).$$
(5.3)

The curvature form $\operatorname{Curv}^{\gamma} \in \Omega_B^{2,1}(E)$ of the connection γ is given on $u_1, u_2 \in \Gamma(TB)$ by

$$\operatorname{Curv}^{\gamma}(u_1, u_2) := [\operatorname{hor}^{\gamma}(u_1), \operatorname{hor}^{\gamma}(u_2)] - \operatorname{hor}^{\gamma}([u_1, u_2]).$$

The Bianchi identity reads $\partial_{1,0}^{\gamma}$ Curv^{γ} = 0. Moreover, we have the identity

$$((\partial_{1,0}^{\gamma})^{2}\eta)(u_{0},\ldots,u_{p+1}) = -\sum_{0 \le i < j \le p+1} (-1)^{i+j} L_{\operatorname{Curv}^{\gamma}(u_{i},u_{j})} \eta(u_{0},u_{1},\ldots,\hat{u}_{i},\ldots,\hat{u}_{j},\ldots,u_{p+1})$$
(5.4)

which says that $\partial_{1,0}^{\gamma}$ is a coboundary operator if and only if the connection γ is *flat*, i.e., $\operatorname{Curv}^{\gamma} = 0$. Geometrically, the zero curvature condition is equivalent to the integrability of the horizontal subbundle H.

The splitting (5.1) induces the following *H*-dependent bigrading of multivector fields on *E*:

$$\Gamma(\wedge^k TE) = \bigoplus_{p+q=k} \Gamma(\wedge^{p,q} TE),$$
(5.5)

where $\wedge^{p,q}TE := \wedge^{p}H \otimes \wedge^{q}V$. For any k-vector field A on E, the term of bidegree (p,q) in decomposition (5.5) is denoted by $A_{p,q}$. Moreover, the dual splitting $T^{*}E = V^{\circ} \oplus H^{0}$ induces a bigrading of differential forms on E, as follows:

$$\Gamma(\wedge^k T^*E) = \bigoplus_{p+q=k} \Gamma(\wedge^p V^\circ \otimes \wedge^q H^0).$$

We observe that there exists a natural identification

$$\Omega_B^{p,0}(E) = \Gamma(\wedge^p T^*B) \otimes_{C^{\infty}(B)} C^{\infty}(E) \cong \Gamma(\wedge^p V^{\circ}).$$

Indeed, one can associate to every $\eta \in \Omega^{p,0}_B(E)$ a horizontal *p*-form $\pi^*\eta \in \Gamma(\wedge^p V^\circ)$, given for $X_1, \ldots, X_p \in \Gamma(TE)$ and $e \in E$ by

$$(\pi^*\eta)(X_1,\ldots,X_p)(e) := \eta(\mathrm{d}_e\,\pi(X_1),\ldots,\mathrm{d}_e\,\pi(X_p)).$$

Since $V = \ker d\pi$, it is clear that $\pi^* \eta \in \Gamma(\wedge^p V^\circ)$. Therefore, if we fix an Ehresmann connection γ , then $\pi^* \eta$ is uniquely determined by its values on horizontal lifts, namely,

 $(\pi^*\eta)(\operatorname{hor}^{\gamma}(u_1),\ldots,\operatorname{hor}^{\gamma}(u_p))=\eta(u_1,\ldots,u_p).$

Moreover, from (5.3), we get the relation

$$\pi^*(\mathbf{d}_{1,0}^{\gamma}\eta) = (d(\pi^*\eta))_{p+1,0},\tag{5.6}$$

where d is the exterior differential for forms on E.

5.2 Coupling neighborhoods

In this section, we recall some properties of coupling Poisson structures on fiber bundles and their applications to describe the geometry of Poisson manifolds around its symplectic leaves. For more details, see [50, 65, 77, 78].

Coupling Poisson structures. Let $E \xrightarrow{\pi} B$ be a fiber bundle and $V^{\circ} \subset T^*E$ the annihilator of the vertical subbundle V.

Definition 5.1. The Poisson structure defined by a bivector field $\Pi \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 TE)$ is said to be a coupling Poisson structure on the fiber bundle if

$$TE = H \oplus V, \text{ where } H := \Pi^{\sharp}(V^{\circ}).$$
(5.7)

Note that every coupling Poisson structure Π has the bigraded decomposition of the form $\Pi = \Pi_{2,0} + \Pi_{0,2}$, where $\Pi_{2,0} \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 H)$ is a horizontal bivector field of constant rank, rank $\Pi_{2,0} = \operatorname{rank} H$, and $\Pi_{0,2} \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 V)$ is a *vertical Poisson tensor*. The characteristic distribution of Π is the direct sum of the horizontal bundle H and the characteristic distribution of $\Pi_{0,2}$,

$$\Pi^{\sharp}(T^*E) = H \oplus \Pi^{\sharp}_{0,2}(H^0).$$

It follows that the fibers of the projection π intersect the symplectic leaves of Π transversally and symplectically. Moreover, the restriction of $\Pi_{2,0}^{\sharp}: T^*E \to TE$ to V° is a vector bundle isomorphism onto H.

One can associate to a given coupling Poisson tensor Π the geometric data (P, γ, σ) consisting of the Ehresmann connection $\gamma \in \Gamma(T^*E \otimes B)$ associated with the horizontal subbundle $H = \Pi^{\sharp}(V^{\circ})$, a nondegenerated 2-form $\sigma \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 T^*B) \otimes_{C^{\infty}(B)} C^{\infty}(E)$, called the *coupling form*, and the vertical Poisson bivector field $P := \Pi_{0,2} \in \Omega_B^{0,2}(E)$. The nondegeneracy of the 2-form σ means that the vector bundle morphism $(\pi^*\sigma)^{\flat} : H \to V^{\circ}$ is an isomorphism. In terms of the horizontal part of Π , the coupling form is given by $(\pi^*\sigma)^{\flat} = -\left(\prod_{2,0}^{\sharp}|_{V^{\diamond}}\right)^{-1}$. One can show that the geometric data satisfy the structure equations

$$[P, P] = 0, (5.8)$$

$$L_{\text{hor}^{\gamma}(u)}P = 0, \tag{5.9}$$

$$\operatorname{Curv}^{\gamma}(u,v) = -P^{\sharp} d\sigma(u,v), \qquad (5.10)$$

$$\partial_{1,0}^{\gamma}\sigma = 0, \tag{5.11}$$

for any $u, v \in \Gamma(TB)$, which give a factorization of the Jacobi identity for II. Condition (5.9) means that the connection γ on the Poisson fiber bundle $(E \xrightarrow{\pi} B, P)$ is Poisson. In general, the curvature $\operatorname{Curv}^{\gamma} \in \Omega_B^{2,1}(E)$ of a Poisson connection takes values in the space of vertical Poisson vector fields of P. The curvature identity (5.10) says that $\operatorname{Curv}^{\gamma}(u, v)$ is a Hamiltonian vector field for any $u, v \in \Gamma(TB)$. Moreover, the coupling 2-form σ must be γ -covariantly constant (condition (5.11)). We say that some geometric data are *integrable* if they satisfy (5.8)-(5.11).

Conversely, every integrable geometric data (P, γ, σ) defines a coupling Poisson tensor Π on E under the nondegeneracy condition for σ .

Bigrading of the Lichnerowicz-Poisson complex. Following [15], let us associate to the geometric data (P, γ, σ) of a coupling Poison tensor $\Pi \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 TE)$ the following cochain complex. Consider the Schouten-Nijenhuis bracket $[\cdot, \cdot] : \Gamma(\wedge^{k_1}TE) \times \Gamma(\wedge^{k_2}TE) \to \Gamma(\wedge^{k_1+k_2-1}TE)$ for multivector fields on the total space E defined in such a way that the triple $(\Gamma(\wedge TE), \wedge, [\cdot, \cdot])$ is a graded Poisson algebra of degree -1 (see [21]). It is clear that the Schouten-Nijenhuis bracket of two vertical multivector fields on E is again vertical. As a consequence, we can endow the bigraded $C^{\infty}(B)$ -module

$$\mathfrak{M}^{\bullet \bullet} = \bigoplus_{k=0}^\infty \mathfrak{M}^k, \qquad \mathfrak{M}^k := \bigoplus_{p+q=k} \Omega^{p,q}_B(E).$$

with a structure of graded Poisson algebra of degree -1, $(\mathfrak{M}^{\bullet\bullet}, \wedge, [\cdot, \cdot])$. Explicitly, for $\eta \in \Omega_B^{p,q}(E)$ and $\theta \in \Omega_B^{p',q'}(E)$, we have [15, 50]

$$(\eta \wedge \theta)(u_1, \dots, u_{p+p'}) := (-1)^{p'q} \sum_{\tau} \operatorname{sgn}(\tau) \eta(u_{\tau(1)}, \dots, u_{\tau(p)}) \wedge \theta(u_{\tau(p+1)}, \dots, u_{\tau(p+p')}),$$

$$[\eta, \theta](u_1, \dots, u_{p+p'}) := (-1)^{p'(q-1)} \sum_{\tau} \operatorname{sgn}(\tau) [\eta(u_{\tau(1)}, \dots, u_{\tau(p)}), \theta(u_{\tau(p+1)}, \dots, u_{\tau(p+p')})],$$

where $u_i \in \Gamma(TB)$. Here, in the right-hand sides of these equalities, the symbols \wedge and $[\cdot, \cdot]$ denote the exterior product and the Schouten-Nijenhuis bracket on $\Gamma(\wedge^*V)$, respectively. Thus, every element $\theta \in \Omega_B^{p,q}(E)$ induces a graded derivation ad_{θ} of bidegree (p, q - 1), defined by the adjoint operator $\mathrm{ad}_{\theta}(\cdot) = [\theta, \cdot]$. In particular, the vertical Poisson bivector field $P \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 V)$ induces the derivation $\delta_P := \mathrm{ad}_P : \Omega_B^{p,q}(E) \to \Omega_B^{p,q+1}(E)$ of bidegree (0,1) given by

$$(\mathrm{ad}_P \eta)(u_1, \ldots, u_p) := (-1)^p [P, \eta(u_1, \ldots, u_p)].$$

This is a coboundary operator which gives rise to the vertical Poisson complex $(\bigoplus_{q=0}^{\infty} \Omega_B^{0,q}(E), \delta_P)$.

5.2. COUPLING NEIGHBORHOODS

Now, using the geometric data (P, γ, σ) , we can define an operator $\partial : \mathfrak{M}^{\bullet\bullet} \to \mathfrak{M}^{\bullet\bullet}$ as the sum of bigraded operators

$$\partial := \partial_{2,-1}^{\sigma} + \partial_{1,0}^{\gamma} + \partial_{0,1}^{P}, \tag{5.12}$$

where $\partial_{2,-1}^{\sigma} := -\operatorname{ad}_{\sigma}$, $\partial_{1,0}^{\gamma}$ is the covariant exterior derivative (see Section 5.1), and $\partial_{0,1}^{P} := \delta_{P}$. Observe that the integrability conditions for the geometric data (P, γ, σ) mean that ∂ is a coboundary operator, $\partial^{2} = 0$. Indeed, computing the bigraded components of ∂^{2} , we get that equations (5.8)-(5.11) are equivalent to the following relations:

$$(\mathbf{\partial}_{0.1}^P)^2 = 0, \tag{5.13}$$

$$\partial_{1,0}^{\gamma}\partial_{0,1}^{P} + \partial_{0,1}^{P}\partial_{1,0}^{\gamma} = 0, \qquad (5.14)$$

$$\partial_{2,-1}^{\sigma}\partial_{0,1}^{P} + \partial_{0,1}^{P}\partial_{2,-1}^{\sigma} + (\partial_{1,0}^{\gamma})^{2} = 0, \qquad (5.15)$$

$$\partial_{2,-1}^{\sigma}\partial_{1,0}^{\gamma} + \partial_{1,0}^{\gamma}\partial_{2,-1}^{\sigma} = 0.$$

$$(5.16)$$

Moreover, by the Jacobi identity for the bracket on \mathfrak{M} , one can show that $(\mathfrak{d}_{2,-1}^{\sigma})^2 = 0$.

Various versions of the following fact can be found in [15, 50].

Proposition 5.2. Let $\Pi \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 TE)$ be a coupling Poisson tensor on $E \xrightarrow{\pi} B$ and let (P, γ, σ) be the geometric data associated with Π . Then the Lichnerowicz-Poisson complex $(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet} TE), \delta_{\Pi})$ is isomorphic to the cochain complex $(\mathfrak{M}^{\bullet\bullet}, \partial)$.

Proof. Consider the decomposition of multivector fields (5.5). Note that each $A \in \Gamma(\wedge^{p,q}TE)$ can be viewed as a $C^{\infty}(B)$ *p*-linear skew-symmetric map $A : \Gamma(V^{\circ}) \times \cdots \times \Gamma(V^{\circ}) \to \Gamma(\wedge^{q}V)$. Define $\flat_{\sigma}A \in \mathfrak{M}^{p,q}$ by

$$(\flat_{\sigma} A)(u_1, \dots, u_p) := (-1)^p A((\pi^* \sigma)^{\flat} \operatorname{hor}^{\gamma} u_1, \dots, (\pi^* \sigma)^{\flat} \operatorname{hor}^{\gamma} u_p).$$
(5.17)

for any $u_i \in \Gamma(TB)$. We claim that the map $\flat_{\sigma} : \Gamma(\wedge TE) \to \mathfrak{M}$ is a cochain complex isomorphism. Since $(\pi^*\sigma)^{\flat}|_H = -(\Pi_{2,0}|_{V^{\circ}})^{-1}$ is a vector bundle isomorphism, it follows that \flat_{σ} is an exterior algebra isomorphism. By the property that every graded derivation of $\Gamma(\wedge TE)$ is determined by its action on $C^{\infty}(E)$ and $\Gamma(TE)$, it suffices to show that $\flat_{\sigma} \circ \delta_{\Pi} = \partial \circ \flat_{\sigma}$ holds on $C^{\infty}(E)$, $\Gamma(V)$ and $\Gamma(H)$.

For every $f \in C^{\infty}(E)$, we have $(\flat_{\sigma} \circ \delta_{\Pi})(f) = \flat_{\sigma}[\Pi_{2,0}, f] + [P, f]$ and $(\eth \circ \flat_{\sigma})(f) = \eth_{1,0}^{\gamma} f + [P, f]$. Moreover, $\flat_{\sigma}[\Pi_{2,0}, f](u) = df(\operatorname{hor}^{\gamma} u) = \eth_{1,0}^{\gamma} f(u)$.

Next, let $X \in \Gamma(V)$. By bigrading arguments, the equality $(\flat_{\sigma} \circ \delta_{\Pi})(X) = (\eth \circ \flat_{\sigma})(X)$ splits into three equations: $\flat_{\sigma}[\Pi, X]_{1,1} = \eth_{1,0}^{\gamma}X$, $\flat_{\sigma}[\Pi, X]_{0,2} = \delta_{P}X$, and $\flat_{\sigma}[\Pi, X]_{2,0} = -\mathrm{ad}_{\sigma}X$. For the first equation, by definition, we have $\flat_{\sigma}[\Pi, X]_{1,1}(u) = [\mathrm{hor}^{\gamma}u, X] = \eth_{1,0}^{\gamma}X(u)$. The second one holds because of $[\Pi_{2,0}, X]_{0,2} = 0$. The last equation follows from $\flat_{\sigma}[\Pi, X]_{2,0}(u, v) = [X, \sigma(u, v)] =$ $-\mathrm{ad}_{\sigma}X(u, v)$.

Finally, for $X = \operatorname{hor}^{\gamma} u, u \in \Gamma(TB)$, the equality $(\flat_{\sigma} \circ \delta_{\Pi})(X) = (\eth \circ \flat_{\sigma})(X)$ splits into the following relations: $\eth_{1,0}^{\gamma} \flat_{\sigma}(X) = \flat_{\sigma}[\Pi, X]_{2,0}, \ \delta_{P} \flat_{\sigma}(X) = \flat_{\sigma}[\Pi, X]_{1,1}, \ \text{and} \ 0 = \flat_{\sigma}[\Pi, X]_{0,2}$. The verification of these equalities is straightforward by using the structure equations (5.8)-(5.11).

As a consequence of Proposition 5.2, we conclude that the infinitesimal automorphisms of the coupling Poisson structure Π are determined by the 1-cocycles $\eta = \eta_{1,0} + \eta_{0,1} \in \mathbb{Z}^1_{\partial}$ of ∂ which are the

solutions to the equations:

$$\partial_{0,1}^{P}(\eta_{0,1}) = 0, \tag{5.18}$$

$$\partial_{1,0}^{\gamma}(\eta_{0,1}) + \partial_{0,1}^{P}(\eta_{1,0}) = 0, \qquad (5.19)$$

$$\partial_{1,0}^{\gamma}(\eta_{1,0}) + \partial_{2,-1}^{\sigma}(\eta_{0,1}) = 0.$$
(5.20)

In the next section, we describe the infinitesimal automorphisms of coupling Poisson structures in terms of the solutions of these equations.

Coupling neighborhood of a symplectic leaf. Let (M, Ψ) be a Poisson manifold and $B \subset M$ an embedded symplectic leaf. Let $\pi : E \to B$, $E = T_B M / TB$ be the normal bundle of the leaf. By a tubular neighborhood of a symplectic leaf B, we mean an open neighborhood N of B in M together with an exponential map $\mathbf{f} : U \to N$, that is, a diffeomorphism from an open neighborhood U of the zero section $B \hookrightarrow E$ onto N satisfying the conditions: $\mathbf{f}|_B = \mathrm{id}_B$ and $\nu \circ d_B \mathbf{f} = \tau$. Here, $\tau : T_B E \to E$ is the projection along TB according to the decomposition $T_B E = TB \oplus E$ and $\nu : T_B M \to E$ is the natural projection. These properties imply that the differential $d_B \mathbf{f} : T_B E \to T_B M$ sends the fibers of the normal bundle to transverse subspaces to the leaf $B \subset M$, $T_B M = TB \oplus (d_B \mathbf{f})(E)$.

Definition 5.3. A tubular neighborhood (N, \mathbf{f}) of the symplectic leaf B of (M, Ψ) is said to be a coupling neighborhood if the pull-back $\Pi := \mathbf{f}^*(\Psi|_N)$ is a coupling Poisson structure on the fiber bundle $\pi_U : U \to B$.

Given a coupling neighborhood (N, \mathbf{f}) of B, we have the bigraded decomposition $\Pi = \Pi_{2,0} + \Pi_{0,2}$. Hence, $\Psi|_N = \Psi_H + \Psi_V$, where $\Psi_H = \mathbf{f}_* \Pi_{2,0}$ is a bivector field on N of constant rank, rank $\Psi_H = \dim B$, and $\Psi_V = \mathbf{f}_* \Pi_{0,2}$ is a Poisson tensor on N vanishing at B and tangent to the vertical subbundle $d\mathbf{f}(\ker d\pi_U) \subset T_N M$ over the tubular neighborhood. The bivector field Ψ_V is said to be a *transverse Poisson structure* around the leaf B and can be viewed as the result of gluing the local transverse Poisson structures on the vertical fibers due to the local splitting Weinstein theorem [82]. Furthermore, one can show that the different choices of exponential maps lead to isomorphic transverse Poisson structures. Notice that, in the case when the symplectic leaf B is regular, the coupling neighborhood N may be chosen in such a way that the transverse Poisson structure is identically zero, $\Psi_V \equiv 0$. This follows from the property: $\operatorname{rank}_m \Psi = \dim B + \operatorname{rank}_m \Psi_V$ for every $m \in N$. Observe also that the linearization of $\Pi_{0,2}$ at B gives a vertical fiberwise linear Poisson structure $\Pi_{0,2}^{(1)}$. This Lie algebra is called the *linearized transverse Poisson structure* of the leaf B [82], which is well defined on the whole total space E. As a consequence, we get an intrinsic locally trivial Lie-Poisson bundle $(E, \Pi_{0,2}^{(1)})$ over B whose typical fiber is the co-algebra \mathfrak{g}^* of a Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} called the *isotropy algebra* of the symplectic leaf.

As is known [77], each embedded symplectic leaf B admits a coupling neighborhood and hence, by Proposition 5.2, the computation of the Poisson cohomology around B is reduced to the study of the bigraded cochain complex ($\mathfrak{M}^{\bullet\bullet}, \partial$) attributed to a coupling Poisson structure Π .

5.3 Infinitesimal automorphisms of coupling Poisson structures

Suppose we are given a coupling Poisson tensor Π on a fiber bundle $\pi : E \to B$ associated with an integrable geometric data (P, γ, σ) . As we saw in the previous section, the infinitesimal Poisson
automorphisms of Π are related to the solutions of equations (5.18)-(5.20). Our goal is to describe these solutions in terms of the geometric data (P, γ, σ) . To formulate the main results, let us introduce the following objects.

 $\overline{\partial}^{\gamma}$. Consider the space $\operatorname{Casim}(E, P)$ of all Casimir functions of the The coboundary operator vertical Poisson tensor P on E. It is clear that $\pi^* C^{\infty}(B) \subseteq \operatorname{Casim}(E, P)$. For each $p \in \mathbb{Z}$, define the $C^{\infty}(B)$ -submodule $\mathcal{N}^p \subseteq \Omega^{p,0}_B(E)$ by

$$\mathcal{N}^p := \Omega^p(B) \otimes_{C^\infty(B)} \operatorname{Casim}(E, P).$$

In particular, $\mathcal{N}^0 = \operatorname{Casim}(E, P)$. Since the Poisson vector fields of P preserve the space of Casimir functions, by (5.9) and definition (5.3), we have $\partial_{1,0}^{\gamma}(\mathcal{N}^p) \subset \mathcal{N}^{p+1}$. Hence one can define the operator

$$\overline{\partial}^{\gamma} := \partial_{1,0}^{\gamma}|_{\mathcal{N}^{p}}.$$
(5.21)

Then, by (5.4) and the curvature identity (5.10), we conclude that $\overline{\partial}^{\gamma}$ is a coboundary operator, $\overline{\partial}^{\gamma} \circ \overline{\partial}^{\gamma} = 0$. The pair $(\mathcal{N}^{\bullet}, \overline{\partial}^{\gamma})$ is call the *de Rham-Casimir complex*. The *p*-cohomology space of $\overline{\partial}^{\gamma}$ is $H^p_{\overline{\partial}^{\gamma}} := \frac{Z^p_{\overline{\partial}^{\gamma}}}{B^p_{\overline{\partial}^{\gamma}}}$, where $Z^p_{\overline{\partial}^{\gamma}}$ and $B^p_{\overline{\partial}^{\gamma}}$ are the spaces of $\overline{\partial}^{\gamma}$ -closed and $\overline{\partial}^{\gamma}$ -exact *p*-forms, respectively. Consider the Lie algebra Poiss (E, Π) of Poisson vector fields of the coupling Poisson structure Π .

Let $\sharp_H : \Omega_B^{1,0}(E) \to \Gamma(H)$ be a linear mapping given by

$$\sharp_H(\alpha) := \Pi_{2,0}^\sharp(\pi^*\alpha).$$

By the horizontal nondegeneracy of $\Pi_{2,0}$, it follows that $\sharp_H : \Omega_B^{1,0}(E) \to \Gamma(H)$ is an isomorphism.

Lemma 5.4. The image of the space of 1-cocycles $Z^1_{\overline{\partial}^{\gamma}}$ under the isomorphism \sharp_H coincides with the space of Poisson vector fields of Π tangent to the horizontal distribution,

$$\sharp_H(Z^1_{\overline{\partial}^\gamma}) = \Gamma(H) \cap \operatorname{Poiss}(E, \Pi).$$
(5.22)

Proof. Consider the vector bundle morphism $\Pi^{\sharp} : T^*M \to TM$ associated with the bivector field II. For every 2-form $\mu \in \Omega^2(E)$, one can associate a bivector field $\Pi^{\sharp} \mu \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 TE)$ defined by $(\Pi^{\sharp}\mu)(\eta_1,\eta_2) := \mu(\Pi^{\sharp}\eta_1,\Pi^{\sharp}\eta_2)$. Then, one has $[\Pi,\Pi^{\sharp}(\pi^*\alpha)] = -\Pi^{\sharp}(d\pi^*\alpha)$. Moreover, we observe that, for any $\eta \in \Omega^1(E)$ and $\mu \in \Omega^2(E)$ such that $\eta_{0,1} = 0$ and $\mu_{0,2} = 0$, the following identities hold: $\Pi^{\sharp}\eta = \Pi_{2,0}^{\sharp}\eta$ and $\Pi_{2,0}^{\sharp}\mu = \Pi_{2,0}^{\sharp}\mu_{2,0}$. Setting $\eta = \pi^*\alpha$, and $\mu = d\pi^*\alpha$ and combining these properties with (5.6), we get

$$[\Pi, \sharp_H(\alpha)] = [\Pi, \Pi_{2,0}^{\sharp}(\pi^* \alpha)] = [\Pi, \Pi^{\sharp}(\pi^* \alpha)] = -\Pi^{\sharp}(d\pi^* \alpha)$$
(5.23)

and

$$\Pi_{2,0}^{\sharp}(\pi^{*}(\overline{\partial}^{\gamma}\alpha)) = \Pi_{2,0}^{\sharp}(d\pi^{*}\alpha)_{2,0} = \Pi_{2,0}^{\sharp}(d\pi^{*}\alpha).$$
(5.24)

Finally, observe that $\alpha \in \mathcal{N}^1$ if and only if $i_{P^{\sharp}\eta}d\pi^*\alpha = 0 \ \forall \eta \in \Omega^1(E)$, which is equivalent to $\Pi^{\sharp}(d\pi^*\alpha) = 0$ $\Pi_{2,0}^{\sharp}(d\pi^*\alpha)$. Therefore, from (5.23) and (5.24), it follows that $[\Pi, \sharp_H(\alpha)] = 0$ if and only if $\overline{\partial}^{\gamma} \alpha = 0$.

Remark 5.5. Notice that Lemma 5.4 can be deduced from Proposition 5.2. Indeed, the cochain complex isomorphism $\flat_{\sigma} : \Gamma(\wedge TE) \to \mathfrak{M}$ satisfies $\sharp_H = -(\flat_{\sigma}|_{\Gamma(H)})^{-1}$. Thus, $\sharp_H(\Omega_B^{1,0}(E) \cap Z_{\partial}^1) =$ $\Gamma(H) \cap \text{Poiss}(E, \Pi)$. Since $Z^1_{\overline{2}^{\gamma}} = \Omega^{1,0}_B(E) \cap Z^1_{\overline{2}}$, the result follows.

The Lie algebra \mathcal{A}^{γ} . Let $\operatorname{Ham}(E, P) \subset \Gamma(V)$ be the Lie algebra of Hamiltonian vector fields of the vertical Poisson tensor P on E. Consider the Poisson connection γ on (E, P). The set of all vertical Poisson vector fields is a Lie algebra

$$\operatorname{Poiss}_V(E, P) := \{ Y \in \Gamma(V) \mid L_Y P = 0 \}$$

for which $\operatorname{Ham}(E, P)$ is an ideal. Furthermore, by (5.2) and (5.9), we have

$$[\operatorname{hor}^{\gamma}(u), \operatorname{Poiss}_{V}(E, P)] \subseteq \operatorname{Poiss}_{V}(E, P) \quad \forall u \in \Gamma(TB).$$

One can associate to the triple (E, P, γ) the subspace $\mathcal{A}^{\gamma} \subset \operatorname{Poiss}_{V}(E, P)$ of vertical Poisson vector fields determined by the condition

$$[\operatorname{hor}^{\gamma}(u), \mathcal{A}^{\gamma}] \subseteq \operatorname{Ham}(E, P) \qquad \forall u \in \Gamma(TB)$$

or, more precisely,

$$\mathcal{A}^{\gamma} := \{ Y \in \mathrm{Poiss}_{V}(E, P) \mid [\mathrm{hor}^{\gamma}(u), Y] \in \mathrm{Ham}(E, P) \quad \forall u \in \Gamma(TB) \}.$$
(5.25)

Observe that \mathcal{A}^{γ} is a Lie algebra and $\operatorname{Ham}(E, P) \subseteq \mathcal{A}^{\gamma}$ is an ideal. These properties follow from the identity

$$[X, P^{\sharp}dF] = P^{\sharp}dL_XF$$

for any Poisson vector field X of P. Moreover, for every $Y \in \mathcal{A}^{\gamma}$ there exists a 1-form $\beta_Y \in \Omega_B^{1,0}(E) = \Omega^1(B) \otimes_{C^{\infty}(B)} C^{\infty}(E)$ such that

$$[\operatorname{hor}^{\gamma}(u), Y] = -P^{\sharp} d\beta_{Y}(u) \qquad \forall u \in \Gamma(TB).$$
(5.26)

This follows from a partition of unity argument applied to an open coordinate covering of the base B, and the fact that P is vertical.

The homomorphism $\rho^{\gamma} : \mathcal{A}^{\gamma} \to H^2_{\overline{\partial}^{\gamma}}$. Given an arbitrary vector field $Y \in \mathcal{A}^{\gamma}$ and fixing a 1-form $\beta_Y \in \Omega^1(B) \otimes_{C^{\infty}(B)} C^{\infty}(E)$ in (5.26), we associate to Y an element $\tau_Y \in \Omega^2(B) \otimes_{C^{\infty}(B)} C^{\infty}(E)$ given by

$$\tau_Y := \partial_{1,0}^{\gamma} \beta_Y + L_Y \sigma. \tag{5.27}$$

Here, the Lie derivative $L_Y : \Omega_B^{p,q}(E) \to \Omega_B^{p,q}(E)$ along an arbitrary vertical vector field Y is given on $u_1, \ldots, u_k \in \Gamma(TB)$ by the formula $(L_Y\eta)(u_1, \ldots, u_k) := L_Y(\eta(u_1, \ldots, u_k))$. Note that we also have the equality $L_Y\sigma = \partial_{2,-1}^{\sigma}Y$.

By using the structure equations (5.8)-(5.11), one can show that the 2-form τ_Y takes values in Casimir functions, $\tau_Y \in \mathcal{N}^2$. Indeed, from (5.27), we have

$$\tau_Y(u_1, u_2) = L_{\text{hor}^{\gamma}(u_1)} \beta_Y(u_2) - L_{\text{hor}^{\gamma}(u_2)} \beta_Y(u_1) - \beta_Y([u_1, u_2]) + L_Y \sigma(u_1, u_2).$$
(5.28)

Next, for every Poisson vector field Z of P, we have $L_Z \circ P^{\sharp} = P^{\sharp} \circ L_Z$. Using this property, equality (5.28), the curvature identity (5.10) and (5.26), by direct computation we verify that $P^{\sharp} d\tau_Y(u_1, u_2) = 0$.

Now, we observe that the 2-form τ_Y is $\overline{\eth}^{\gamma}$ -closed, $\overline{\eth}^{\gamma}\tau_Y = 0$. Indeed, this can be verified by straightforward computations and by applying again (5.27), (5.4), (5.10), (5.26), and (5.11). Moreover, the cohomology class $[\tau_Y] \in H^2_{\overline{\eth}^{\gamma}}$ is independent of the choice of β_Y in (5.26). To see this, observe that any other element $\beta'_Y \in \Omega^{1,0}_B(E)$ satisfying (5.26) is of the form $\beta'_Y = \beta_Y + c_Y$ for some $c_Y \in \mathcal{N}^1$. Then, the corresponding τ_Y and τ'_Y are related by $\tau'_Y = \tau_Y + \overline{\eth}^{\gamma}c_Y$ and hence, $[\tau'_Y] = [\tau_Y]$. So, we have proved the following fact.

Lemma 5.6. There exists an intrinsic homomorphism

$$p^{\gamma}: \mathcal{A}^{\gamma} \to H^2_{\overline{\partial}^{\gamma}}$$
 (5.29)

which assigns to every vertical vector field $Y \in \mathcal{A}^{\gamma}$ the $\overline{\eth}^{\gamma}$ -cohomology class of the 2-form τ_Y ,

 $\rho^{\gamma}(Y) := [\tau_Y].$

It is easy to see that every Hamiltonian vector field of P belongs to the kernel of ρ^{γ} and hence we have the inclusions:

$$\operatorname{Ham}(E, P) \subseteq \ker \rho^{\gamma} \subseteq \mathcal{A}^{\gamma} \subseteq \operatorname{Poiss}_{V}(E, P).$$
(5.30)

Consider the projection $\operatorname{pr}_V : \Gamma(TE) \to \Gamma(V)$ associated with the splitting $TE = H \oplus V$, $\operatorname{pr}_V(X) = X_{0,1}$. It is clear that $\ker \operatorname{pr}_V = \Gamma(H)$.

Lemma 5.7. The image of $\text{Poiss}(E,\Pi)$ under the projection pr_V coincides with the kernel of ρ^{γ} ,

$$\operatorname{pr}_V(\operatorname{Poiss}(E,\Pi)) = \ker \rho^{\gamma}.$$

Proof. Let $Z \in \text{Poiss}(E, \Pi)$ be an infinitesimal automorphism of Π . Since the map $\sharp_H : \Omega_B^{1,0}(E) \to \Gamma(H)$ is an isomorphism, there exist unique $Y \in \Gamma(V)$ and $\beta \in \Omega_B^{1,0}(E)$ such that $Z = -\sharp_H \beta + Y$. Let us show that $Y \in \ker \rho^{\gamma}$. If $\flat_{\sigma} : (\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}TE), \delta_{\Pi}) \to (\mathfrak{M}^{\bullet\bullet}, \partial)$ is the cochain complex isomorphism (5.17), then $\flat_{\sigma}Z = \beta + Y$. Since $Z \in Z_{\Pi}^1(E)$, we have $\beta + Y \in Z_{\partial}^1$. Explicitly, this means that $\eta := \beta + Y$ must satisfy equations (5.18)-(5.20). Note that (5.18) means that $Y \in \text{Poiss}_V(E, P)$. Moreover, by evaluating the left-hand side of (5.19) on $u \in \Gamma(TB)$, we get that β and Y satisfy (5.26), so $Y \in \mathcal{A}^{\gamma}$. Finally, (5.20) implies that $\tau_Y = 0$ and hence, $\rho^{\gamma}(Y) = 0$, as desired. Conversely, pick an arbitrary $Y \in \ker \rho^{\gamma}$. Since $\ker \rho^{\gamma} \subseteq \mathcal{A}^{\gamma}$, there exists a 1-form $\beta_Y \in \Omega_B^{1,0}(E)$ satisfying (5.26). Next, by the definition of ρ^{γ} , there exists a primitive $c_Y \in \mathcal{N}^1$ of the 2-cocycle $\tau_Y \in Z_{\partial^{\gamma}}^2$ in (5.27) so that $\overline{\partial}^{\gamma} c_Y = \tau_Y$. Then, one can easily verify that

$$X_Y := -\sharp_H(\beta_Y - c_Y) + Y \in \text{Poiss}(E, \Pi).$$
(5.31)

This means that every element $Y \in \ker \rho^{\gamma}$ can be extended to a Poisson vector field X of Π in the sense that $X_{0,1} = Y$.

Corollary 5.8. The Poisson vector fields of the coupling Poisson structure Π are of the form

$$\sharp_H(\alpha) + X_Y,\tag{5.32}$$

where $\alpha \in Z^1_{\overline{\partial}^{\gamma}}$ and $Y \in \ker \rho^{\gamma} \subset \mathcal{A}^{\gamma}$ are arbitrary elements.

In particular, it follows that a Poisson vector field $X \in \text{Poiss}(E, \Pi)$ is tangent to the symplectic foliation of Π if and only if $\text{pr}_V(X)$ is tangent to the symplectic foliation of the vertical Poisson structure P.

By Lemma 5.6 and Lemma 5.7, we conclude that $\text{Poiss}(E, \Pi)$ fits into the short exact sequence of vector spaces

$$0 \to Z^{1}_{\overline{\partial}^{\gamma}} \xrightarrow{\sharp_{H}} \operatorname{Poiss}(E, \Pi) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{pr}_{V}} \ker \rho^{\gamma} \to 0.$$
(5.33)

Summarizing the above considerations, we get the following splitting theorem for infinitesimal automorphisms of a coupling Poisson structure.

Theorem 5.9. Let $\Pi = \Pi_{2,0} + P$ be the coupling Poisson tensor on E and (P, γ, σ) its integrable geometric data. Let $(\mathcal{A}^{\gamma}, \overline{\partial}^{\gamma}, \rho^{\gamma})$ be the associated set up. Then, there is a vector space isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Poiss}(E,\Pi) \cong Z^{1}_{\overline{\mathbf{a}}^{\gamma}} \oplus \ker \rho^{\gamma}.$$
(5.34)

Now, let us consider the spaces of Hamiltonian vector fields $\operatorname{Ham}(E,\Pi)$ and $\operatorname{Ham}(E,P)$ of the Poisson structures Π and P, respectively. Recall that the space $B^{1}_{\overline{\partial}^{\gamma}}$ consists of $\overline{\partial}^{\gamma}$ -exact 1-forms $\overline{\partial}^{\gamma} k$, with $k \in \operatorname{Casim}(E, P)$. Then, by using (5.6) and the fact that $P^{\sharp}(dk) = 0$, we get

$$\sharp_H(\bar{\partial}^{\gamma}k) = \Pi_{2,0}^{\sharp}(\pi^*(\bar{\partial}^{\gamma}k)) = \Pi_{2,0}^{\sharp}(dk)_{1,0} = \Pi_{2,0}^{\sharp}dk = \Pi^{\sharp}dk.$$

This shows that the image of $B^1_{\overline{\partial}^{\gamma}}$ under the mapping \sharp_H belongs to $\operatorname{Ham}(E,\Pi)$ and is of the form

$$\sharp_H(B^1_{\overline{\partial}^{\gamma}}) = \{\Pi_{2,0}^{\sharp} dk \mid k \in \operatorname{Casim}(E, P)\}.$$

Furthermore, we have the following result.

Proposition 5.10. There is a short exact sequence:

$$0 \to B^{1}_{\overline{\partial}^{\gamma}} \xrightarrow{\sharp_{H}} \operatorname{Ham}(E, \Pi) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{pr}_{V}} \operatorname{Ham}(E, P) \to 0.$$
(5.35)

Proof. By the nondegeneracy property of $\Pi_{2,0}^{\sharp}$, the mapping \sharp_H is injective and hence, ker $\sharp_H = \{0\}$. On the other hand, by the bigraded decomposition $\Pi = \Pi_{2,0} + P$, we conclude that $\Pi^{\sharp} df = \Pi_{2,0}^{\sharp} df + P^{\sharp} df$. This implies the equality $\operatorname{pr}_V(\operatorname{Ham}(E,\Pi)) = \operatorname{Ham}(E,P)$. It follows also that $\operatorname{pr}_V(\Pi^{\sharp} df) = P^{\sharp} df = 0$ if and only if $f \in \operatorname{Casim}(E,P)$ and hence, ker $\operatorname{pr}_V = \operatorname{Im} \sharp_H$.

We observe that a necessary condition for a vector field X being Hamiltonian relative to Π and a function f is that, the vertical part $X_{0,1}$ of X is Hamiltonian relative to P and the same function f. Notice also that the Poisson vector field $\sharp_H(\alpha)$ is Hamiltonian relative to Π if and only if α is $\overline{\partial}^{\gamma}$ -exact.

By (5.33), (5.35), we have the following short exact sequence of the cohomology spaces

$$0 \to \frac{Z_{\overline{\partial}^{\gamma}}^{1}}{B_{\overline{\partial}^{\gamma}}^{1}} \xrightarrow{\sharp_{H}} \frac{\operatorname{Poiss}(E,\Pi)}{\operatorname{Ham}(E,\Pi)} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{pr}_{V}} \frac{\ker \rho^{\gamma}}{\operatorname{Ham}(E,P)} \to 0.$$

So, we arrive at the main result.

Theorem 5.11. Let Π be a coupling Poisson tensor on a fiber bundle $\pi : E \to B$, with associated geometric data (P, γ, σ) . Let also $(\mathcal{N}_0^{\bullet}, \overline{\partial})$ be the de Rham - Casimir complex of P and γ , and consider the map $\rho^{\gamma} : \mathcal{A}^{\gamma} \to H^2_{\overline{\partial}^{\gamma}}$ in (5.29). The first Poisson cohomology of (E, Π) is

$$H^{1}_{\Pi}(E) \cong H^{1}_{\overline{\partial}^{\gamma}} \oplus \frac{\ker \rho^{\gamma}}{\operatorname{Ham}(E, P)}.$$
(5.36)

By taking into account the facts in Section 5.2, we derive the statement of Theorem 5.12 as a consequence of this result.

Theorem 5.12. Let $S \subset M$ be an embedded symplectic leaf of the Poisson manifold (M, Ψ) . Then, there exists a tubular neighborhood N of S in M such that

$$\Psi = \Psi_H + \Psi_V \ on \ N_f$$

where Ψ_H is a bivector field on N of constant rank, rank $\Psi_H = \dim S$ and Ψ_V is a Poisson bivector field on N vanishing at S. Moreover, the first cohomology group of the Poisson structure Ψ fits in the following short exact sequence:

$$0 \to H^1(\mathcal{N}_0,\overline{\partial}) \stackrel{\Psi^{\sharp}}{\hookrightarrow} H^1_{\Psi}(N) \xrightarrow{\mathrm{pr}_V} \frac{\mathrm{ker}\{\rho : \mathcal{A} \longrightarrow H^2(\mathcal{N}_0,\overline{\partial})\}}{\mathrm{Ham}(N,\Psi_V)}.$$

Regular symplectic leaves. As mentioned in the introduction, formula (5.36) coincides with some well-known results [62, 74] in the regular case. Recall that the semilocal model for a Poisson structure Ψ on M around an embedded regular symplectic leaf (B, ω_B) is represented by a coupling Poisson structure Π on the normal vector bundle $\pi : E \to B$ with associated geometric data of the form $(P = 0, \gamma^0, \sigma = \omega_B \otimes 1 + C)$ and having the zero section $B \hookrightarrow E$ as a symplectic leaf. Here, γ^0 is a flat Ehresmann connection on E whose horizontal distribution is just the tangent bundle TS of the symplectic foliation (S, ω) of Π . The coupling form σ is determined by the symplectic form ω_B of the leaf and a $\partial_{1,0}^{\gamma^0}$ -closed 2-form $C \in \Omega_B^{2,0}(E)$ vanishing at B.

Proposition 5.13. We have the following relations:

$$H^{1}_{\bar{\partial}^{\gamma^{0}}} \cong H^{1}_{\mathrm{dR}}(\mathcal{S}) \qquad and \qquad \ker \rho^{\gamma^{0}} = \{Y \in \Gamma_{\mathcal{S}}\mathrm{-pr}(V) \mid L_{Y}\omega \text{ is } d_{\mathcal{S}}\mathrm{-exact}\}$$

Proof. Because of the triviality of the transverse Poisson structure of B, we have $\operatorname{Casim}(E, P) = C^{\infty}(E)$. Then, taking into account that $(\mathcal{N}^{\bullet}, \overline{\partial}^{\gamma^0}) = (\Omega_B^{*,0}(E), \partial_{1,0}^{\gamma^0})$, we conclude that there exists a natural identification of the cochain complexes $(\Gamma(\wedge T^*S), d_S)$ and $(\mathcal{N}^{\bullet}, \overline{\partial}^{\gamma^0})$. In particular, the leafwise symplectic form ω of Π coincides with the coupling form σ . Moreover, by definition (5.25) and the relations $\operatorname{Poiss}_V(E, P) = \Gamma(V)$ and $\operatorname{Ham}(E, P) = \{0\}$, we get that

$$\mathcal{A}^{\gamma^0} = \{ Y \in \Gamma(V) \mid [\operatorname{hor}^{\gamma_0}(u), Y] = 0 \quad \forall u \in \Gamma(TB) \}$$

coincides with the space of vertical vector fields preserving the symplectic foliation, $\mathcal{A}^{\gamma^0} = \Gamma_{\mathcal{S}-\mathrm{pr}}(V)$. So, we can think of the homomorphism $\rho^{\gamma^0} : \mathcal{A}^{\gamma^0} \to H^2_{\bar{\partial}^{\gamma^0}}$ as a mapping $\Gamma_{\mathcal{S}-\mathrm{pr}}(V) \to H^2_{\mathrm{dR}}(\mathcal{S})$ which sends an element Y to the d_S-cohomology class $[L_Y\omega]$.

In the next three sections, we discuss some other particular cases to which formula (5.36) can be effectively applied.

103

Spectral sequences. Here we briefly discuss an alternative algebraic approach to the computation of the first cohomology of the bigraded complex introduced in Section 5.2 (see also [62, 64], for the use of spectral sequences in the computation of Poisson cohomology).

Consider the nonnegative cochain complex $(\mathfrak{M}^{\bullet} = \bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathfrak{M}^n, \partial)$, where

$$\mathfrak{M}^n = \bigoplus_{p+q=n} \Omega^{p,q}_B(E)$$

and the differential operator ∂ is given by (5.12). Consider a filtration F of \mathfrak{M} defined as

$$F^p\mathfrak{M}^n := \bigoplus_{p \le k \le n} \Omega^{k, n-k}_B(E).$$

Then,

$$\mathfrak{M}^n = F^0 \mathfrak{M}^n \supset F^1 \mathfrak{M}^n \supset \cdots \supset F^n \mathfrak{M}^n = \Omega_B^{n,0}(E) \supset F^{n+1} \mathfrak{M}^n = \{0\}$$

and hence the filtration F is bounded [47]. Moreover, the bigraded decomposition (5.12) provides the inclusions $\partial(F^p\mathfrak{M}^n) \subseteq F^p\mathfrak{M}^{n+1}$ for all p and n. Therefore, $(\mathfrak{M}, \partial, F)$ is a graded filtered complex.

Now, consider the spectral sequence $(E_r, d_r)_{r\geq 0}$ associated with $(\mathfrak{M}, \mathfrak{d}, F)$. Observe that $(E_r, d_r)_{r\geq 0}$ is a first quadrant spectral sequence.

Lemma 5.14. The spectral sequence $(E_r, d_r)_{r\geq 0}$ converges to the cohomology of the cochain complex (\mathfrak{M}, ∂) . Moreover, we have the following isomorphism of vector spaces

$$H^1(\mathfrak{M},\mathfrak{d}) \cong E_2^{1,0} \oplus E_3^{0,1}.$$
(5.37)

Proof. Since $(E_r, d_r)_{r\geq 0}$ is a first quadrant spectral sequence, for every $p, q \in \mathbb{Z}$ we have $E_{\infty}^{p,q} = E_N^{p,q}$, where $N = \max\{p+1, q+2\}$. Then, the convergence and relation (5.37) follow from the fact that F is bounded (see [47]).

To compute $E_2^{1,0}$ and $E_3^{0,1}$ in the notations introduced in Section 5.2, we use the explicit general formulas for the *E*-terms of a spectral sequence, given as in [21, Subsection 2.4.1]:

$$E_r^{p,q} = \frac{\ker(\partial|_{\mathfrak{M}^{p+q}}) \cap F^p \mathfrak{M}^{p+q} + F^{p+1} \mathfrak{M}^{p+q}}{\operatorname{Im}(\partial|_{\mathfrak{M}^{p+q-1}}) \cap F^p \mathfrak{M}^{p+q} + F^{p+1} \mathfrak{M}^{p+q}}, \qquad r \ge \max\{p+1, q+2\}.$$

The direct computations give

$$\begin{split} E_2^{1,0} &= \frac{\ker(\partial|_{\mathfrak{M}^{1,0}})}{\operatorname{Im}(\partial_{1,0}^{\gamma}|_{\ker\partial_{0,1}^P \cap \mathfrak{M}^0})} = \frac{Z_{\overline{\partial}^{\gamma}}^1}{B_{\overline{\partial}^{\gamma}}^1} = H_{\overline{\partial}^{\gamma}}^1, \\ E_3^{0,1} &= \frac{\ker(\partial|_{\mathfrak{M}^1}) + \mathfrak{M}^{1,0}}{\operatorname{Im}(\partial|_{\mathfrak{M}^0}) + \mathfrak{M}^{1,0}} = \frac{\operatorname{pr}_V(\ker(\partial|_{\mathfrak{M}^1})) \oplus \mathfrak{M}^{1,0}}{\operatorname{pr}_V(\operatorname{Im}(\partial|_{\mathfrak{M}^0})) \oplus \mathfrak{M}^{1,0}} \cong \frac{\ker\rho^{\gamma}}{\operatorname{Ham}(E,P)}, \end{split}$$

where we use the relations: $\operatorname{pr}_V(\operatorname{ker}(\partial|_{\mathfrak{M}^1})) = \operatorname{ker} \rho^{\gamma}$ and $\operatorname{pr}_V(\operatorname{Im}(\partial|_{\mathfrak{M}^0})) = \operatorname{Ham}(E, P)$, where the last one follows from Lemma 5.7. This shows that formula (5.37) coincides with (5.36) under the cochain complex isomorphism \flat_{σ} (see the proof of Proposition 5.2).

5.4 Vanishing of the first Poisson cohomology

Here, by using the results of the previous section, we present some sufficient conditions for the vanishing of the first Poisson cohomology.

Let $\pi : E \to B$ be a fiber bundle. Suppose that we start again with a coupling Poisson tensor Π on E with associated geometric data (P, γ, σ) . We make the following assumptions. Assume that the first vertical cohomology group of P is trivial, that is,

$$\operatorname{Poiss}_{V}(E, P) = \operatorname{Ham}(E, P).$$
(5.38)

It follows from (5.9) and (5.38) that the horizontal lifts of every $u \in \Gamma(TB)$ with respect to two Poisson connections on (E, P) differ by a Hamiltonian vector field. Then, by (5.3) and definition (5.21), we conclude that the coboundary operator $\overline{\partial}^{\gamma}$ is independent of the choice of the Poisson connection γ on $(E \xrightarrow{\pi} B, P)$ and will be simply denoted by $\overline{\partial}$. Therefore, under condition (5.38), one can associate to the Poisson bundle the intrinsic cochain complex $(\mathcal{N}^* = \bigoplus_p \mathcal{N}^p, \overline{\partial})$. Taking into account (5.38) and (5.30), we conclude that ker $\rho^{\gamma} = \text{Ham}(E, P)$ and hence,

$$\operatorname{Poiss}(E,\Pi) \cong Z^1_{\overline{\partial}} \oplus \operatorname{Ham}(E,P)$$

So, in this case, formula (5.36) for the first Poisson cohomology of Π reads

$$H^1_{\Pi}(E) \cong H^1_{\overline{\partial}}.\tag{5.39}$$

Next, let us assume that (E, P) is a *flat Poisson bundle*, that is,

there exists a *flat Poisson connection*
$$\gamma^0$$
 on (E, P) . (5.40)

Equivalently, condition (5.40) can be reformulated as follows: there exists a regular foliation \mathcal{F} on E such that

$$TE = T\mathcal{F} \oplus V \quad (V := \ker d\pi) \tag{5.41}$$

and every π -projectable section of $T\mathcal{F}$ is a Poisson vector field on (E, P),

$$L_Z P = 0 \qquad \forall Z \in \Gamma_{\pi\text{-pr}}(T\mathcal{F}).$$
 (5.42)

Then, the horizontal subbundle H^{γ^0} of the flat Poisson connection γ^0 is just the tangent bundle $T\mathcal{F}$ of the foliation. Recall that $\Gamma_{\pi\text{-pr}}(T\mathcal{F}) = \{ \operatorname{hor}^{\gamma^0}(u) \mid u \in \Gamma(TB) \}$ denotes the space of all π -projectable, γ^0 -horizontal vector fields on E.

Let $\Omega^p(\mathcal{F}) := \Gamma(\wedge^p T^*\mathcal{F})$ be the space of foliated *p*-forms on *E*. In particular, $\Omega^0(\mathcal{F}) = C^\infty(E)$. Consider the *foliated de Rham complex* $(\Omega^{\bullet}(\mathcal{F}) := \bigoplus_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} \Omega^p(\mathcal{F}), d_{\mathcal{F}})$, where $d_{\mathcal{F}} : \Omega^p(\mathcal{F}) \to \Omega^{p+1}(\mathcal{F})$ is the *foliated exterior differential* given by the standard formula

$$(d_{\mathcal{F}}\mu)(X_0,\dots,X_p) := \sum_{i=0}^p (-1)^i L_{X_i}(\mu(X_0,\dots,\hat{X}_i,\dots,X_p)) + \sum_{i< j} (-1)^{i+j} \mu([X_i,X_j],X_0,\dots,\hat{X}_i,\dots,\hat{X}_j,\dots,X_p)$$

The cohomology of $(\Omega^*(\mathcal{F}), d_{\mathcal{F}})$ is called the *foliated de Rham cohomology* and denoted by $H^*_{dR}(\mathcal{F})$. Observe that $(\Omega^*(\mathcal{F}), d_{\mathcal{F}})$ is isomorphic to the cochain complex $(\Gamma(\wedge^* V^\circ), d^{\gamma^0}_{1,0})$, where $d^{\gamma^0}_{1,0}$ is the component of bidegree (1, 0) of the exterior differential relative to the flat connection γ^0 [65]. More precisely,

$$d_{1,0}^{\gamma^0}\beta(Y_0,\ldots,Y_p) := d\beta(p_{T\mathcal{F}}Y_0,\ldots,p_{T\mathcal{F}}Y_p)$$

for any $\beta \in \Gamma(\wedge^p V^\circ)$ and vector fields Y_0, \ldots, Y_p on E. Here, $p_{T\mathcal{F}} : TE \to T\mathcal{F}$ is the projection along V. It follows from (5.4) and (5.6) that $(\Omega_B^{*,0}(E), \partial_{1,0}^{\gamma^0})$ is a cochain complex is isomorphic to $(\Gamma(\wedge^* V^\circ), d_{1,0}^{\gamma^0})$.

Now let us associate to the flat Poisson bundle $(E \xrightarrow{\pi} B, P, \mathcal{F})$ the following subalgebra of Hamiltonian vector fields:

$$\operatorname{Ham}_{\mathcal{F}}(E, P) := \{ Y \in \operatorname{Ham}(E, P) \mid [Y, \Gamma_{\pi \operatorname{-pr}}(T\mathcal{F})] = 0 \}.$$

Observe that a Hamiltonian vector field Y on (E, P) belongs to $\operatorname{Ham}_{\mathcal{F}}(E, P)$ if and only if the flow of Y preserves the foliation \mathcal{F} . Let $C^{\infty}_{\mathcal{F}}(E) := \{H \in C^{\infty}(E) \mid d_{\mathcal{F}}H = 0\}$ be the space of smooth functions on E which are constant along the leaves of \mathcal{F} .

Theorem 5.15. Suppose that in addition to hypotheses (5.38), (5.40), the following conditions hold:

(i) the first foliated de Rham cohomology group of (E, \mathcal{F}) is trivial,

$$H^{1}_{dR}(\mathcal{F}) = \{0\}; \tag{5.43}$$

(ii) the subalgebra of Hamiltonian vector fields on (E, P) preserving the foliation \mathcal{F} is generated by the subspace $C^{\infty}_{\mathcal{F}}(E)$,

$$\operatorname{Ham}_{\mathcal{F}}(E, P) = \{ P^{\sharp} dH \mid H \in C^{\infty}_{\mathcal{F}}(E) \}.$$
(5.44)

Then, the first Poisson cohomology of the coupling Poisson tensor Π vanishes,

$$H_{\Pi}^{1}(E) = \{0\}. \tag{5.45}$$

Proof. First, we observe that condition (5.44) can be reformulated as follows: For every function $f \in C_E^{\infty}$ with property:

$$L_Z f \in \operatorname{Casim}(E, P) \quad \forall Z \in \Gamma_{\pi \text{-pr}}(T\mathcal{F}),$$
(5.46)

there exists $g \in \operatorname{Casim}(E, P)$ such that

$$d_{\mathcal{F}}f = d_{\mathcal{F}}g. \tag{5.47}$$

Indeed, it follows from (5.46), (5.47) that $[P^{\sharp}df, Z] = -P^{\sharp}dL_Z f = 0$ and $P^{\sharp}df = P^{\sharp}dH$, where $H = f - g \in C^{\infty}_{\mathcal{F}}(E)$. Now, let us define

$$\bar{\Omega}^{q}(\mathcal{F}) := \left\{ \beta \in \Omega^{q}(\mathcal{F}) \mid \mathbf{i}_{X_{1}} \cdots \mathbf{i}_{X_{q}} \beta \in \operatorname{Casim}(E, P) \quad \forall X_{i} \in \Gamma_{\pi \operatorname{-pr}}(T\mathcal{F}) \right\}$$

In particular, $\bar{\Omega}^0(\mathcal{F}) = \operatorname{Casim}(E, P)$. Using the property that $\Gamma_{\pi\text{-pr}}(T\mathcal{F}) \subset \operatorname{Poiss}(E, P)$, it easy to see that the foliated differential $d_{\mathcal{F}}$ leaves invariant the subspaces $\bar{\Omega}^q(\mathcal{F})$ of $\Omega^q(\mathcal{F})$ and hence, the coboundary operator $\bar{d}_{\mathcal{F}} := d_{\mathcal{F}}|_{\bar{\Omega}^q(\mathcal{F})}$ is well defined. Then, $(\bar{\Omega}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{F}) := \bigoplus_q \bar{\Omega}^q(\mathcal{F}), \bar{d}_{\mathcal{F}})$ is a subcomplex of the cochain complex $(\Omega^*(\mathcal{F}), d_{\mathcal{F}})$ and there is a natural homomorphism $H^q_{\bar{d}_{\mathcal{F}}} \to H^q_{\mathrm{dR}}(\mathcal{F})$ between the corresponding cohomology groups. One can show that conditions (5.46), (5.47) are equivalent to the following:

$$d_{\mathcal{F}}(\bar{\Omega}^0(\mathcal{F})) = d_{\mathcal{F}}(\Omega^0(\mathcal{F})) \cap \bar{\Omega}^1(\mathcal{F}).$$

This condition means that the natural homomorphism $H^1_{\bar{d}_{\mathcal{F}}} \to H^1_{\mathrm{dR}}(\mathcal{F})$ is injective. Therefore, the hypotheses (i), (ii) of the theorem imply that $H^1_{\bar{d}_{\mathcal{F}}} = \{0\}$. Finally, we observe that the cochain complexes associated with $\bar{d}_{\mathcal{F}}$ and $\bar{\partial} := \partial^{\gamma^0}_{1,0}|_{\mathcal{N}^{\bullet}}$ are isomorphic and hence, $H^1_{\bar{\partial}}$ is trivial. This, together with (5.39), proves (5.45).

To get more insight for the criterion in Theorem 5.15, let us consider the situation when conditions (5.38), (5.40) are fulfilled and the foliation \mathcal{F} is a fibration. In other words, we assume that the leaf space $K := E/\mathcal{F}$ of the foliation is a smooth manifold and the natural projection $\nu : E \to K$ is a surjective submersion. So, we have $T\mathcal{F} = \ker d\nu$.

Lemma 5.16. There exists a Poisson structure Υ on K such that the projection $\nu : E \to K$ is a Poisson map. Moreover, condition (5.44) is equivalent to the following property: the Hamiltonian vector field $P^{\sharp}df$ of every function $f \in C^{\infty}(E)$ such that

$$[Z, P^{\sharp}df] = 0 \quad \forall Z \in \Gamma_{\pi\text{-pr}}(T\mathcal{F}), \tag{5.48}$$

is ν -related with a Hamiltonian vector field on (K, Υ) ,

$$d\nu \circ P^{\sharp} df = \Upsilon^{\sharp} dh \circ \nu, \tag{5.49}$$

for a certain $h \in C^{\infty}(K)$.

Proof. Notice that $C^{\infty}_{\mathcal{F}}(E) = \nu^* C^{\infty}(K)$. This and condition (5.42) imply that

$$L_Z(P(d\nu^*\kappa_1, d\nu^*\kappa_2)) = P(dL_Z(\nu^*\kappa_1), d\nu^*\kappa_2) + P(d\nu^*\kappa_1, dL_Z(\nu^*\kappa_2)) = 0$$

for any $Z \in \Gamma_{\pi\text{-pr}}(T\mathcal{F})$ and $\kappa_1, \kappa_2 \in C^{\infty}(K)$. It follows that there exists a bivector field $\Upsilon \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 TK)$ which is uniquely determined by

$$\nu^*\Upsilon(d\kappa_1, d\kappa_2) = P(d\nu^*\kappa_1, d\nu^*\kappa_2)$$

and satisfies the Jacobi identity. Now, condition (5.48) for $f \in C^{\infty}(E)$ says that $P^{\sharp}df \in \operatorname{Ham}_{\mathcal{F}}(E, P)$ and hence (5.46) holds. It remains to show the equivalence of conditions (5.47) and (5.49). Indeed, by (5.48) the Hamiltonian vector field $P^{\sharp}df$ is ν -related with a vector field $w \in \Gamma(TK)$ which is an infinitesimal automorphism of Υ . Then, it is easy to see that w is Hamiltonian, $w = \Upsilon^{\sharp}dh$, $h \in C^{\infty}(K)$ if and only if f satisfies (5.47), where $g = f - \nu^* h \in \operatorname{Casim}(E, P)$.

Observe that the hypotheses (i) and (ii) of Theorem 5.15 are independent in general. Here is a particular case in which condition (5.49) is satisfied but (5.38) or (5.43) do not necessarily hold.

Example 5.17. Let *B* be a manifold and consider a Poisson manifold *K* equipped with a Poisson tensor Υ . Let $(E = B \times K, P)$ be the product of Poisson manifolds, where *B* has the trivial Poisson structure. Let us think of (E, P) as the total space of a trivial Poisson bundle over *B* with projection $\pi = \operatorname{pr}_1$ and the vertical Poisson structure *P*. It is clear that *P* and Υ are pr_2 -related and $\ker(\operatorname{pr}_2) \subset TE$ induces a flat Poisson connection for *P*. Fixing $x_0 \in B$, consider the section $s: K \to E$ of ν given by $s(y) = (x_0, y)$. Pick a function $f \in C^{\infty}(E)$ satisfying (5.48) and put $h = s^*f$. Then, one can easily verify that (5.49) holds.

By the same arguments as in the proof of Lemma 5.16, we derive the following cohomological criterion.

Lemma 5.18. Under hypotheses (5.38), (5.40), in the case when the foliation \mathcal{F} is a fibration, condition (5.44) is equivalent to the triviality of the first Poisson cohomology group of Υ .

Proof. First assume that $H^1_{\Upsilon}(K) = \{0\}$ and let $f \in C^{\infty}_E$ be such that $P^{\sharp}df$ preserves the foliation \mathcal{F} . As in the proof of Lemma 5.16, $P^{\sharp}df$ is ν -related to some infinitesimal automorphism $w \in \Gamma(TK)$ of Υ . By hypothesis, $w = \Upsilon^{\sharp}dh$, so $P^{\sharp}d(\nu^*h) = P^{\sharp}df$, by the uniqueness of the horizontal lift of $w \in \Gamma(TK)$ in the fibration $\nu : E \to K$ with horizontal distribution ker $d\pi$. Therefore, condition (5.44) holds. Conversely, let $w \in \Gamma(TK)$ be an infinitesimal automorphism of Υ . If $W \in \Gamma(TE)$ is the horizontal lift of w as described in above, then $[W, P] \in \Gamma(V) \cap \Gamma(\ker d\nu) = \{0\}$, so $W \in \text{Poiss}_V(E, P)$. By (5.38), W is Hamiltonian. Furthermore, it follows from (5.44) that, $W = P^{\sharp}d(\nu^*h)$ for some $h \in C^{\infty}(K)$. Hence, $w = \Upsilon^{\sharp}dh$.

Summarizing the above considerations, we arrive at the following result.

Theorem 5.19. Let $K \xleftarrow{\nu} E \xrightarrow{\pi} B$ be a transversal bi-fibration, that is, ν and π are surjective submersions and

$$TE = \ker d\nu \oplus \ker d\pi. \tag{5.50}$$

Suppose that ν has connected fibers and satisfies the following compatibility condition with a Poisson tensor $P \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 \ker d\pi)$:

$$\Gamma_{\pi\text{-pr}}(\ker d\nu) \subset \text{Poiss}(E, P).$$
 (5.51)

Let \mathcal{F} be the regular foliation on E with $T\mathcal{F} = \ker d\nu$ and Υ be a unique Poisson structure on K for which the natural projection $\nu : E \to K$ is a Poisson map. Suppose we are given a coupling Poisson structure $\Pi = \Pi_{2,0} + \Pi_{0,2}$ on the fiber bundle $\pi : E \to B$ with vertical part $\Pi_{0,2} = P$. Then, the first Poisson cohomology group of Π on E is trivial if

$$\frac{\operatorname{Poiss}_{V}(E,P)}{\operatorname{Ham}(E,P)} = \{0\},\tag{5.52}$$

$$H^{1}_{\mathrm{dR}}(\mathcal{F}) = \{0\},\tag{5.53}$$

$$H^1_{\Upsilon}(K) = \{0\}. \tag{5.54}$$

We end this section with the following remarks about conditions (5.51)-(5.54). First we notice that if the ν -fibers are simply connected, then condition (5.53) holds (see [17, Subsection 7.4]).

Moreover, by (5.50), the restriction of the surjective submersion ν to each π -fiber $\nu|_{\pi^{-1}(x)}$: $(\pi^{-1}(x), P_x) \to (K, \Upsilon)$ is a local Poisson diffeomorphism. We claim that conditions (5.51) and (5.52) imply (5.54) if the restriction $\nu|_{E_0} : E_0 \to K$ is bijective for a single fiber $E_0 := \pi^{-1}(x_0)$. This fact is based on the following observation: the lifting $W \in \Gamma_{\nu\text{-}\mathrm{pr}}(V)$ of every element $w \in \mathrm{Poiss}(K, \Upsilon)$, given as in Lemma 5.18, is a Poisson vector field on (E, P).

5.5 Isotropy algebras of compact semisimple type

The triviality condition (5.38) is realized in the following case. Let $(E \xrightarrow{\pi} B, P)$ be a locally trivial Lie-Poisson bundle whose typical fiber is the co-algebra $(\mathfrak{g}^*, \Lambda)$ of a semisimple Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} of compact type. Recall that this condition means that the Killing form is negative definite or, equivalently, that the connected and simply connected Lie group integrating \mathfrak{g} is compact. Due to [12, Theorem 4.1] (see, also [50, Theorem 1.3.1]), we have $H^1_{\Lambda}(\mathfrak{g}^*) = 0$. Moreover, there exist the linear homotopy operators for the Poisson complex of $(\mathfrak{g}^*, \delta_{\Lambda})$ of degree 1:

$$C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{g}^*) \xleftarrow{h_0} \Gamma(T\mathfrak{g}^*) \xleftarrow{h_1} \Gamma(\wedge^2 T\mathfrak{g}^*),$$

$$\delta_{\Lambda} \circ h_0 + h_1 \circ \delta_{\Lambda} = \operatorname{Id}_{\Gamma(T\mathfrak{g}^*)}.$$

Observe that this fact remains true if instead of \mathfrak{g}^* we take an open ball (with respect to the invariant inner product in \mathfrak{g}^*) centered at the origin. The existence of the homotopy operators imply the triviality of the parametrized first Poisson cohomology groups of the Lie-Poisson structure Λ . Combining this fact with the partition unity argument, we conclude that the first vertical cohomology group of P is also trivial.

Remark 5.20. The triviality property of the parametrized first cohomology groups appears also in the context of the tame Poisson structures, introduced in [48].

Now, as an illustration of Theorem 5.19, let us consider the following situation. Let $M = B \times \mathbb{R}^k$ be the product of a compact connected symplectic manifold B and the k-dimensional Euclidean space $\mathbb{R}^k = \{x = (x^1, \ldots, x^k)\}$. Let us view M as the total space of the trivial vector bundle over B. Suppose we are given a Poisson tensor Π on M such that the zero section $B \times \{0\}$ is a symplectic leaf of Π . Assume that

$$c_{\sigma}^{\alpha\beta} := \left. \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\sigma}} \Pi(dx^{\alpha}, dx^{\beta}) \right|_{x=0} = \text{const on } B.$$
(5.55)

Then, $c_{\sigma}^{\alpha\beta}$ are the structure constants of a Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} and condition (5.55) means that the isotropy bundle of the leaf $B \times \{0\}$ is just the trivial Lie bundle $B \times \mathfrak{g}$. Observe that after a change of coordinates on the fiber, condition (5.55) still holds. Combining Theorem 5.19 with Conn's results [12], we establish the following criterion which implies Theorem 5.22.

Proposition 5.21. If B is simply connected and compact and the isotropy algebra \mathfrak{g} is semisimple of compact type, then there exists an open neighborhood E of $B \times \{0\}$ in $M = B \times \mathbb{R}^k$ such that $H^1_{\Pi}(E) = \{0\}.$

Proof. We have to verify that the hypotheses of the proposition imply conditions (5.52)-(5.54). First, we observe that $\Pi = \Pi_{2,0} + \Pi_{0,2}$ is a coupling Poisson structure in a neighborhood E of $B \times \{0\}$ in $M = B \times \mathbb{R}^k$ which is viewed as the total space of the fiber bundle $\pi := \operatorname{pr}_1|_E$ over B. By (5.55), the linearization of the vertical Poisson structure $P = \Pi_{0,2}$ at $B \times \{0\}$ gives

$$P^{(1)} = \frac{1}{2} c_{\sigma}^{\alpha\beta} x^{\sigma} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\alpha}} \wedge \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\beta}}.$$
(5.56)

By the linearization Conn theorem, for every $b \in B$, the Poisson structure P_b on the fiber E_b around 0 is isomorphic to the Lie-Poisson structure Λ on \mathfrak{g}^* . Then, one can show [78] that the neighborhood E

can be chosen in such a way that there exists a fiber preserving diffeomorphism $g: E \to g(E)$ identical on B and $g_*P = P^{(1)}$. So, we obtain the coupling Poisson tensor $g_*\Pi = g_*\Pi_{2,0} + P^{(1)}$ defined on the neighborhood g(E) of B. Then, as we mentioned above, condition (5.52) holds for $P^{(1)}$. Moreover, by the compactness of B, one can arrange the neighborhood E to have $g(E) = B \times K$, where K is an open ball centered at 0. Then, condition (5.54) holds for $\Upsilon = \Lambda$, $H^1_{\Lambda}(K) = \{0\}$. Finally, by condition (5.55), there exists a flat Poisson connection γ^0 on $(B \times K, P^{(1)})$ associated with the horizontal foliation \mathcal{F} with leaves $B \times \{x\}, x \in K$. Then, the foliated de Rham cohomology of $d_{\mathcal{F}}$ is the same thing as the de Rham cohomology of the forms in B depending smoothly on $x \in K$ as a parameter. Since Bis simply connected, according to results in [17, 29], we conclude that $H^1_{dB}(\mathcal{F}) = \{0\}$.

Theorem 5.22. Let $S \subset M$ be an embedded symplectic leaf of the Poisson manifold (M, Ψ) such that the normal bundle of S (viewing as a Lie-Poisson bundle) is trivial. Assume that the isotropy algebra of the symplectic leaf S is a semisimple Lie algebra of compact type. If S is compact and simply connected, then there exists a tubular neighborhood N of S in M such that every Poisson vector field of Ψ is Hamiltonian on N.

Example 5.23. Consider the case when $E := \mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathbb{R}^3$, where $\mathbb{R}^3 = \{x = (x^1, x^2, x^3)\}$, and the base $B := \mathbb{S}^2 \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ is the unit 2-sphere equipped with the area form $\omega = dp \wedge dq$. Here, the Darboux coordinates p, q can be defined as the azimuthal angle $p = \varphi$ and the height function q = h on the sphere. Then, given a vector valued 1-form ϱ on B,

$$\varrho = \varrho^{(1)}(p,q,x)dp + \varrho^{(2)}(p,q,x)dq,$$

with $\rho^{(1)}, \rho^{(2)} \in \mathbb{R}^3$, and a constant $c \in \mathbb{R}$, one can define the following Poisson tensor on E [78]:

$$\Pi_{\varrho,c} = \frac{1}{2(1-x\cdot\Delta_{\varrho}+c\|x\|^2)} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial p} + (x\times\varrho^{(1)})\cdot\frac{\partial}{\partial x}\right) \wedge \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial q} + (x\times\varrho^{(2)})\cdot\frac{\partial}{\partial x}\right) + \frac{1}{2}\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma}x^{\gamma}\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\alpha}}\wedge\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\beta}},$$

where $\Delta_{\varrho} := \frac{\partial \varrho^{(2)}}{\partial p} - \frac{\partial \varrho^{(1)}}{\partial q} + \varrho^{(1)} \times \varrho^{(1)}$. In this case, $\mathbb{S}^2 \times \{0\}$ is a simply connected, compact symplectic leaf of $\Pi_{\varrho,c}$ whose isotropy Lie algebra is $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{so}(3)$. Therefore, by Proposition 5.21 we conclude that the first cohomology of $\Pi_{\varrho,c}$ vanishes for arbitrary data (ϱ, c) . In particular, this is true for the product Poisson structure $\Pi_{0,0}$ on $\mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathfrak{so}^*(3)$.

5.6 Projectability of Casimir functions

Let $(E \xrightarrow{\pi} B, P)$ be again a Poisson bundle and Π a coupling Poisson structure on E with associated geometric data (P, γ, σ) . Let us consider another extreme situation, assuming that every Casimir function of the vertical Poisson structure P is *projectable* in the sense that

$$\operatorname{Casim}(E, P) = \pi^* C^{\infty}(B). \tag{5.57}$$

So, this means that $P^{\sharp}dF = 0$ if and only if $F = \pi^* f$ for a certain $f \in C^{\infty}(B)$.

Example 5.24. Let

$$\Lambda = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} \wedge \left(x_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2} + x_3 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_3} \right)$$
(5.58)

5.6. PROJECTABILITY OF CASIMIR FUNCTIONS

be the Lie-Poisson structure on the co-algebra $\mathfrak{g}^* = \mathbb{R}^3$ of the 3-dimensional Lie algebra

$$[e_1, e_2] = e_2, \quad [e_2, e_3] = 0, \quad [e_3, e_1] = -e_3.$$
 (5.59)

In this case, the foliation of \mathbb{R}^3 by the symplectic leaves (the co-adjoint orbits) is an open book type foliation. As a consequence, the corresponding Lie-Poisson structure Λ on \mathfrak{g}^* does not admit any global nontrivial Casimir function on \mathbb{R}^3 , that is, $\operatorname{Casim}(\Lambda, \mathbb{R}^3) = \mathbb{R}$. One can show that the first cohomology group of the Lie-Poisson structure Λ in (5.58) is generated by the Poisson vector fields

$$Z_1 = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1}, Z_2 = x_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2} - x_3 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_3}, Z_3 = x_3 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2}, Z_4 = x_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_3}$$
(5.60)

and, hence, isomorphic to $\mathbb{R} \times \mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$ as Lie algebras.

It follows that condition (5.57) holds for any locally trivial Lie-Poisson bundle ($\pi : E \to B, P$) over B whose typical fiber is just \mathbb{R}^3 equipped with linear Poisson bracket (5.58).

Remark 5.25. The fact that $H^1_{\Lambda}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ is generated by the basis (5.60) can be stated by direct computations. It is of interest to note that in the regular domain $\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \{x_1 \text{-} axis\} \cong \mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{S}^1$, the Poisson structure (5.58) has nontrivial Casimir functions and, as a consequence, the first Poisson cohomology group is infinite dimensional and isomorphic to $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{S}^1)$ [25]. More examples of explicit computations of the first cohomology of low-dimensional Poisson manifolds with singularities can be also found in [49, 54].

Now, we observe that the condition (5.57) implies that the cochain complex $(\mathcal{N}^{\bullet}, \overline{\partial}^{\gamma})$ is isomorphic to the de Rham complex $(\Omega^*(B), \mathbf{d}_B)$ on the base B. Therefore, in this case we have $H^k_{\overline{\partial}^{\gamma}} \cong H^k_{\mathrm{dR}}(B)$ $\forall k \geq 0$.

Proposition 5.26. Let Π be a coupling Poisson structure on the fiber bundle $E \xrightarrow{\pi} B$ with associated geometric data (P, γ, σ) . If, in addition to (5.57), the second de Rham cohomology of the base B is trivial,

$$H_{\rm dR}^2(B) = \{0\},\tag{5.61}$$

then

$$\operatorname{Poiss}(E,\Pi) \cong \Omega^1_{\operatorname{cl}}(B) \oplus \mathcal{A}^{\gamma}, \tag{5.62}$$

and the first Poisson cohomology of Π is of the form

$$H^{1}_{\Pi}(E) \cong H^{1}_{\mathrm{dR}}(B) \oplus \frac{\mathcal{A}^{\gamma}}{\mathrm{Ham}(E, P)}.$$
(5.63)

Here, \mathcal{A}^{γ} is a Lie subalgebra of vertical Poisson vector fields of P defined in (5.25).

Proof. If (5.61) holds, then $H^2_{\overline{\partial}_{1,0}} = \{0\}$. Therefore, by definition (5.29), we get ker $\rho^{\gamma} = \mathcal{A}^{\gamma}$. Hence, the decompositions (5.34) and (5.36) coincide with (5.62) and (5.63), respectively.

As a consequence of Proposition 5.26, hypotheses (5.57) and (5.61) imply that the properties of the first Poisson cohomology of Π are controlled by the γ -dependent Lie algebra \mathcal{A}^{γ} . In fact, the algebra \mathcal{A}^{γ} depends on an equivalence class of the Poisson connection γ on $(E \xrightarrow{\pi} B, P)$. Indeed, suppose we have another Poisson connection $\widetilde{\gamma}$ on $(E \xrightarrow{\pi} B, P)$ which is equivalent to γ in following sense: there

exists a 1-form $\varrho \in \Omega_B^{1,0}(E)$ such that $\operatorname{hor}^{\widetilde{\gamma}}(u) = \operatorname{hor}^{\gamma}(u) + P^{\sharp} d\varrho(u)$, for every $u \in \Gamma(TB)$. Then, $\widetilde{\gamma} \sim \gamma$ implies $\mathcal{A}^{\widetilde{\gamma}} = \mathcal{A}^{\gamma}$.

It is useful also to single out the Lie subalgebra of \mathcal{A}^{γ} consisting of all vertical Poisson vector fields on (E, P) that preserve the horizontal subbundle of γ ,

$$\mathcal{A}_0^{\gamma} := \{ Y \in \operatorname{Poiss}_V(E, P) \mid [\operatorname{hor}^{\gamma}(u), Y] = 0 \ \forall u \in \Gamma(TB) \}.$$

Then, taking into account (5.57), we get

$$\operatorname{Ham}_{0}(E,P) := \mathcal{A}_{0}^{\gamma} \cap \operatorname{Ham}(E,P) = \{ P^{\sharp} dF \mid L_{\operatorname{hor}^{\gamma}(u)} F \in \pi^{*} C^{\infty}(B) \,\,\forall u \in \Gamma(TB) \}.$$

An interesting situation occurs when

$$\mathcal{A}^{\gamma} \cong \frac{\mathcal{A}_{0}^{\gamma}}{\operatorname{Ham}_{0}(E,P)} \oplus \operatorname{Ham}(E,P).$$
(5.64)

In this case,

$$H^{1}_{\Pi}(E) \cong H^{1}_{\mathrm{dR}}(B) \oplus \frac{\mathcal{A}^{\gamma}_{0}}{\mathrm{Ham}_{0}(E, P)}.$$
(5.65)

Lemma 5.27. Condition (5.64) is equivalent to the following: every $Y \in \mathcal{A}^{\gamma}$ admits the decomposition

$$Y = P^{\sharp} dG + Y_0, \tag{5.66}$$

where $Y_0 \in \mathcal{A}_0^{\gamma}$ and $G \in C^{\infty}(E)$. Furthermore, given $\beta \in \Omega^1(B) \otimes_{C^{\infty}(B)} C^{\infty}(E)$ in (5.26), there exists $c \in \Omega^1(B)$ such that

$$\partial_{1,0}^{\gamma} G = \beta - c \otimes 1. \tag{5.67}$$

Next, let us consider the following particular case. Let $E = B \times K$ be the product of a manifold B equipped with zero Poisson structure and a Poisson manifold (K, Υ) . Let P be the product Poisson structure on E. Then, we have the trivial Poisson bundle $(E = B \times K, P)$ over B with projection $\pi_B = \text{pr}_1$ and the typical fiber (K, Υ) . Consider the trivial Poisson connection γ^0 on E associated with the canonical horizontal distribution $\ker(d\pi_K)$, where $\pi_K = \text{pr}_2$.

Proposition 5.28. Let Π be a compatible coupling Poisson tensor on the trivial Poisson bundle $(E = B \times K, P)$ in the sense that $\Pi_{0,2} = P$ and the associated Poisson connection γ is equivalent to the trivial one, $\gamma \sim \gamma^0$. Assume that B is connected,

$$\operatorname{Casim}(K,\Upsilon) = \mathbb{R},\tag{5.68}$$

condition (5.61) holds, and \mathcal{A}^{γ^0} admits splitting (5.64). Then,

$$H^1_{\Pi}(E) \cong H^1_{\mathrm{dR}}(B) \oplus H^1_{\Upsilon}(K).$$
(5.69)

Proof. By the connectedness of B, it is easy to see that $\mathcal{A}_0^{\gamma^0} \cong \operatorname{Poiss}(K, \Upsilon)$, where the isomorphism is given by the horizontal lift in $E \xrightarrow{\pi_K} K$ with horizontal distribution $\ker d\pi_B$. Moreover, we claim that $\operatorname{Ham}_0(E, P) \cong \operatorname{Ham}(K, \Upsilon)$. Indeed, pick a $Y = P^{\sharp} dF \in \operatorname{Ham}_0(E, P)$. Since hypothesis (5.68) implies (5.57), we conclude that $L_{\operatorname{hor}^{\gamma^0}(u)}F \in \pi_B^*C^{\infty}(B)$ for any $u \in \Gamma(TB)$. Then, fixing $y^0 \in K$, we see that the function $\tilde{F} \in C^{\infty}(E)$ given by $\tilde{F}(x,y) = F(x,y) - F(x,y^0)$ for $x \in B, y \in K$ is of the form $\tilde{F} = \pi_K^* f$ for a certain $f \in C^{\infty}(K)$. Consequently, Y is π_K -related with the Hamiltonian vector field $\Upsilon^{\sharp} df$.

112

Example 5.29. Consider the trivial Poisson bundle $(\pi = \text{pr}_1 : E = B \times \mathbb{R}^3, P)$, where the base $B = \mathbb{R}^1 \times \mathbb{S}^1 = \{(t, \varphi \mod 2\pi)\}$ is the 2-cylinder and the typical fiber (\mathbb{R}^3, Λ) is given by the Lie-Poisson structure (5.58). We already know that in this case, the projectability condition (5.57) holds. It is clear that (5.61) is also satisfied. By analyzing equations (5.26), (5.66), (5.67), one can show that decomposition (5.64) is true for \mathcal{A}^{γ^0} . In this case, an arbitrary compatible coupling Poisson structure on the trivial Poisson bundle E such that $\gamma \sim \gamma^0$ has the form

$$\Pi_{\varrho} = \frac{1}{2(1-\psi(x)\cdot\Delta_{\varrho})} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + (\psi \times \varrho^{(1)}) \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \right) \wedge \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi} + (\psi \times \varrho^{(2)}) \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \right) + \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} \wedge \left(x_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2} + x_3 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_3} \right),$$

where $\psi = (0, -x_3, x_2), \ \varrho = \varrho^{(1)}(t, \varphi, x)dt + \varrho^{(2)}(t, \varphi, x)d\varphi$ is an arbitrary horizontal 1-form on E and

$$\Delta_{\varrho} := \frac{\partial \varrho^{(2)}}{\partial t} - \frac{\partial \varrho^{(1)}}{\partial \varphi} + \varrho^{(1)} \times \varrho^{(2)}$$

is the Hamiltonian of the curvature of γ [78]. Applying Proposition 5.28 to Π_{ϱ} and taking into account Example 5.24, we get

$$H^1_{\Pi_a}(E) \cong \mathbb{R} \oplus \mathbb{R}^4$$

▼

5.7 First cohomology of coupling Dirac structures

An example. Let (M, ω) be a presymplectic manifold and (N, Ψ) the Poisson manifold given by $N = \mathbb{R}_y^2$, $\Psi = \|y\|^2 \frac{\partial}{\partial y_1} \wedge \frac{\partial}{\partial y_2}$. Consider the product Dirac structure D on $M \times N$. Then, $M \times \{0\}$ is a presymplectic leaf of D and we can think of $M \times N \xrightarrow{\operatorname{pr}_M} M$ as a coupling neighborhood. More precisely, the vertical distribution is $V := \ker(\operatorname{pr}_M)_*$, and the associated geometric data (P, γ, σ) consists of the flat connection $\gamma := (\operatorname{pr}_N)_*$, given by the differential of the projection $\operatorname{pr}_N : M \times N \to N$; the pullback $\sigma := \operatorname{pr}_N^* \omega$ of the presymplectic structure on M; and the unique vertical Poisson bivector field P on $M \times N$ which is pr_N -related to Ψ , $P = \|y\|^2 \frac{\partial}{\partial y_1} \wedge \frac{\partial}{\partial y_2}$ on $M \times N$. First we note that (N, Ψ) has two symplectic leaves: the origin (0, 0), which is zero-dimensional,

First we note that (N, Ψ) has two symplectic leaves: the origin (0, 0), which is zero-dimensional, and the complement $N_{\text{reg}} := \mathbb{R}^2 - \{(0, 0)\}$. Then, each Casimir function of (N, Ψ) is constant, $\operatorname{Casim}(N, \Psi) \cong \mathbb{R}$. This implies that $\operatorname{Casim}(M \times N, P) = \operatorname{pr}_M^* C^{\infty}(M)$ and

$$H^0(M \times N, D) \cong H^0_{\mathrm{dR}}(M).$$

Observe that in this case, the de Rham - Casimir complex $(\mathcal{N}^{\bullet}, \overline{\partial})$ is isomorphic to the de Rham complex $(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}T^*M), \mathrm{d})$ of M. In particular, $H^1(\mathcal{N}^{\bullet}, \overline{\partial}) \cong H^1_{\mathrm{dR}}(M)$. We now proceed to describe $\ker(\rho_1 : \mathcal{A}^1 \to H^2(\mathcal{N}^{\bullet}, \overline{\partial}))$. Let $Y = Y_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial y_1} + Y_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial y_2} \in \Gamma(V)$ be a vertical vector field. Then, $L_Y P = 0$ if and only if

$$y_1 Y_1 + y_2 Y_2 = \frac{1}{2} ||y||^2 \operatorname{div}^y(Y).$$
(5.70)

Here, $\operatorname{div}^{y}(Y) := \frac{\partial Y_1}{\partial y_1} + \frac{\partial Y_2}{\partial y_2}$ denotes the divergence of Y with respect to the fiber-wise volume form $\operatorname{d} y_1 \wedge \operatorname{d} y_2$. In particular, the fiber-wise Euler and modular vector fields

$$Z_1 := y_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial y_1} + y_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial y_2} \quad \text{and} \quad Z_2 := -y_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial y_1} + y_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial y_2}$$
(5.71)

are Poisson vector fields of P, respectively.

Proposition 5.30. Consider the Poisson manifold $(M \times N, P)$ given as in above. Let Z_1, Z_2 be defined as in (5.71), and $Y \in \Gamma(V)$. Then, $Y \in \text{Poiss}(M \times N, P)$ if and only if $Y = a_1Z_1 + a_2Z_2$ for unique $a_1, a_2 \in C^{\infty}(M)$ satisfying $L_{Z_1}a_1 + L_{Z_2}a_2 = 0$. Additionally, Y is Hamiltonian if and only if a_1 and a_2 vanish along the zero section $M \times \{0\}$. In this case, a Hamiltonian is given by $h(x, y) := \int_0^\infty a_2(x, e^{-t}y) \, \mathrm{d}t$. Hence, the first vertical Poisson cohomology of the Poisson bundle $(M \times N \stackrel{\mathrm{pr}_M}{\to} M, P)$ is

$$H^1(M \times N, V, P) = C^{\infty}(M).[Z_1] \oplus C^{\infty}(M).[Z_2].$$

Proof. Observe from (5.70) that, for smooth functions $a_1, a_2 \in C^{\infty}(M \times N)$,

$$Y = a_1 Z_1 + a_2 Z_2 \tag{5.72}$$

is an infinitesimal Poisson automorphism of P if and only if $L_{Z_1} a_1 + L_{Z_2} a_2 = 0$. We claim that every vertical infinitesimal Poisson automorphism of P is of this form. Indeed, fix $Y \in \text{Poiss}(M \times N, P) \cap$ $\Gamma(V)$. Since Z_1, Z_2 are linearly independent on $M \times N_{\text{reg}}$, there exist $b_1, b_2 \in C^{\infty}(M \times N_{\text{reg}})$ such that $Y|_{M \times N_{\text{reg}}} = b_1 Z_1 + b_2 Z_2$. Explicitly, $b_1 := \frac{1}{\|y\|^2} (y_1 Y_1 + y_2 Y_2)$ and $b_2 := \frac{1}{\|y\|^2} (-y_2 Y_1 + y_1 Y_2)$. We just need to show that b_1 and b_2 can be extended to some smooth functions a_1 and a_2 on $M \times N$. By (5.70), b_1 can be extended to the smooth function $a_1 := \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{div}^y(Y)$ on $M \times N$. Moreover, $Y_2 - a_1 y_2$ is a smooth function on $M \times N$ such that $Y_2 - a_1 y_2|_{M \times N_{\text{reg}}} = b_2 y_1$. This implies that $Y_2 - a_1 y_2 = a_2 y_1$. Hence, a_2 is a smooth function on $M \times N$ whose restriction to $M \times N_{\text{reg}}$ is b_2 . Finally, since such extensions are clearly unique, we conclude that every Poisson vector field Y admits a unique representation of the form (5.72), with $a_1, a_2 \in C^{\infty}(M \times N)$ satisfying $L_{Z_1} a_1 + L_{Z_2} a_2 = 0$.

Now, pick a Hamiltonian vector field $Y = P^{\sharp} dh$, $h \in C^{\infty}(M \times N)$. By straightforward computations, the smooth functions a_1 and a_2 in (5.72) are given in this case by

$$a_1 = -L_{Z_2} h \quad \text{and} \quad a_2 = L_{Z_1} h.$$
 (5.73)

In particular, a_1 and a_2 vanish on the symplectic leaf $M \times \{0\}$. We now see that the converse is also true: If $Y = a_1Z_1 + a_2Z_2 \in \text{Poiss}(M \times N, P) \cap \Gamma(V)$ is such that $a_1(x, 0) = a_2(x, 0) = 0$, then $Y \in \text{Ham}(M \times N, P)$. To see this, pick $Y = a_1Z_1 + a_2Z_2$ such that $L_{Z_1}a_1 + L_{Z_2}a_2 = 0$ with a_1, a_2 vanishing on $M \times \{0\}$. Define $h: M \times N \to \mathbb{R}$ by

$$h(x,y) := \int_0^\infty a_2(x, e^{-t}y) \,\mathrm{d}\,t.$$
(5.74)

Then, $h \in C^{\infty}(M \times N)$ and clearly satisfies $L_{Z_1} h = a_2$. Moreover,

$$L_{Z_1} a_1 = -L_{Z_2} a_2 = -L_{Z_2} L_{Z_1} h = -L_{Z_1} L_{Z_2} h,$$

so $L_{Z_1}(a_1 + L_{Z_2} h) = 0$, which implies that $a_1 + L_{Z_2} h$ is constant along the pr_M -fibers. By hypothesis, both a_1 and $L_{Z_2} h$ vanish on $M \times \{0\}$. Hence, $a_1 + L_{Z_2} h = 0$. Therefore, h is a solution of (5.73) and so is a Hamiltonian for Y.

We now describe the subspace \mathcal{A}^1 . For $Y \in \text{Poiss}(M \times N, P) \cap \Gamma(V)$, we have that $Y \in \mathcal{A}^1$ if and only if there exists a horizontal 1-form $\alpha \in \Gamma(V^\circ)$ such that $\partial_{1,0}^{\gamma}Y + \partial_{0,1}^{P}\alpha = 0$. Since γ is the trivial (flat) connection, the horizontal pr_M -projectable vector fields u are locally written in the

5.8. DETAILING THE OPEN BOOK FOLIATION CASE

form $u = u_i \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}$. Therefore, the relation between Y and α reads $[u, Y] = -P^{\sharp} d[\alpha(u)]$. Since Y is a vertical infinitesimal automorphism of P, there exists $a_1, a_2 \in C^{\infty}(M \times N)$ such that (5.72) holds and $Y = a_1Z_1 + a_2Z_2$. Then, $[u, Y] = (L_u a_1)Z_1 + (L_u a_2)Z_2$. Because of Proposition 5.30, [u, Y] is Hamiltonian if and only if a_1 and a_2 are constant along the zero section $M \times \{0\}$. Hence,

$$\frac{\mathcal{A}^1}{\operatorname{Ham}(M \times N, P)} = \mathbb{R}.[Z_1] \oplus \mathbb{R}.[Z_2].$$

Observe also that the Hamiltonian function $\alpha(u)$ of -[u, Y] can be given by the formula

$$\alpha(u(x,y)) = -\int_0^\infty (\mathbf{L}_u \, a_2)(x, e^{-t}y) \,\mathrm{d}\, t.$$

Furthermore, we have $\alpha = -\partial_{1,0}^{\gamma}h$, where h is given as in (5.74). This follows from the identity

$$(\mathbf{L}_u h)(x, y) = \int_0^\infty (\mathbf{L}_u a_2)(x, e^{-t}y) \,\mathrm{d}\, t \qquad \forall u$$

Therefore, the flatness of γ implies $\partial_{1,0}^{\gamma} \alpha = -(\partial_{1,0}^{\gamma})^2 h = -L_{R^{\gamma}} h = 0$. Finally, we have $\partial_{2,-1}^{\sigma} Y = L_Y \operatorname{pr}_M^* \omega = 0$. In consequence, $\rho_1(Y) = 0$ for all $Y \in \mathcal{A}^1$, so ker $\rho_1 = \mathcal{A}^1$.

Theorem 5.31. The first cohomology of the Dirac manifold $M \times N$ given by the product of a presymplectic manifold (M, ω) with the Poisson manifold $(N = \mathbb{R}^2_y, \Psi = ||y||^2 \frac{\partial}{\partial u_1} \wedge \frac{\partial}{\partial u_2})$ is

$$H^1(M \times N, D) \cong H^1_{\mathrm{dR}}(M) \oplus H^1(N, \Psi).$$

Proof. Because of our above discussion, $H^1(\mathcal{N}^{\bullet}, \overline{\partial}) \cong H^1_{\mathrm{dR}}(M)$, and $\frac{\ker \rho_1}{\operatorname{Ham}(M \times N, P)} = \mathbb{R}.[Z_1] \oplus \mathbb{R}.[Z_2]$. Therefore,

$$H^1(M \times N, D) \cong H^1_{\mathrm{dR}}(M) \oplus (\mathbb{R}.[Z_1] \oplus \mathbb{R}.[Z_2]).$$

Finally, the fact that $H^1(N, \Psi) \cong \mathbb{R}.[Z_1] \oplus \mathbb{R}.[Z_2]$ follows from Proposition 5.30 with M consisting of a single point (see also [49]).

5.8 Detailing the open book foliation case

The main goal of this section is to present a general scheme which allows to compute the first Poisson cohomology group of certain linear Poisson structures in \mathbb{R}^n . More precisely, we aim to study coordinate conditions for a vector field to be an infinitesimal Poisson automorphism.

General setup. Let $X := X_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2} + \cdots + X_n \frac{\partial}{\partial x_n}$ a *flat vector field* in \mathbb{R}^n , i.e., the coefficients X_2, \ldots, X_n does not depend on the variable x_1 :

$$\frac{\partial X_j}{\partial x_1} = 0, \qquad \qquad \forall j = 2, \dots, n$$

Now, consider the bivector field

$$\Pi:=\frac{\partial}{\partial x_1}\wedge X$$

Since X is a flat vector field, $[X, \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1}] = 0$. Therefore,

$$\Pi, \Pi] = [\Pi, \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1}] \wedge X - \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} \wedge [\Pi, X] = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} \wedge [X, \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1}] \wedge X - \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} \wedge [\frac{\partial}{\partial x_1}, X] \wedge X = 0,$$

proving that Π is a linear Poisson structure in \mathbb{R}^n . Let us describe its infinitesimal Poisson

automorphisms. Let $Z = Z_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} + \dots + Z_n \frac{\partial}{\partial x_n}$ be a Poisson vector field in the Poisson manifold (\mathbb{R}^n, Π) . Then, $0 = [Z, \Pi] = [Z, \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1}] \wedge X + \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} \wedge [Z, X]$ $= \left[Z_i \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}, \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} \right] \wedge \left(X_j \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \right) + \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} \wedge \left[Z_i \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}, X_j \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \right]$ $= -X_j \frac{\partial Z_i}{\partial x_1} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \wedge \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} + \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} \wedge \left(Z_i \frac{\partial X_j}{\partial x_i} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} - X_j \frac{\partial Z_i}{\partial x_i} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \right)$ $= \left(X_l \frac{\partial Z_k}{\partial x_1} - X_k \frac{\partial Z_l}{\partial x_1}\right) \frac{\partial}{\partial x_l} \wedge \frac{\partial}{\partial x_k}$ $+\left(-X_k\frac{\partial Z_1}{\partial x_1}+Z_j\frac{\partial X_k}{\partial x_i}-X_j\frac{\partial Z_k}{\partial x_i}\right)\frac{\partial}{\partial x_1}\wedge\frac{\partial}{\partial x_k}$

where i = 1, ..., n, j = 2, ..., n, l < k. Therefore, the vector field Z is Poisson for Π if and only if

$$X_l \frac{\partial Z_k}{\partial x_1} - X_k \frac{\partial Z_l}{\partial x_1} = 0, \quad l, k = 2, \dots, n,$$
(5.75)

$$X_k \frac{\partial Z_1}{\partial x_1} + Z_j \frac{\partial X_k}{\partial x_j} = X_j \frac{\partial Z_k}{\partial x_j} \quad k = 2, \dots, n.$$
(5.76)

Now, define $\Delta_{lk} := X_l Z_k - X_k Z_l$. Since $\frac{\partial X_i}{\partial x_1} = 0$, equation (5.75) is equivalent to

$$\frac{\partial \Delta_{lk}}{\partial x_1} = 0.$$

On the other hand, by applying (5.76) on the third step,

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{L}_{X} \Delta_{lk} &= \mathcal{L}_{X} X_{l} Z_{k} - \mathcal{L}_{X} X_{k} Z_{l} + X_{l} \mathcal{L}_{X} Z_{k} - X_{k} \mathcal{L}_{X} Z_{l} \\ &= \mathcal{L}_{X} X_{l} Z_{k} - \mathcal{L}_{X} X_{k} Z_{l} + X_{l} \left(X_{j} \frac{\partial Z_{k}}{\partial x_{j}} \right) - X_{k} \left(X_{j} \frac{\partial Z_{l}}{\partial x_{j}} \right) \\ &= \mathcal{L}_{X} X_{l} Z_{k} - \mathcal{L}_{X} X_{k} Z_{l} + X_{l} \left(-X_{k} \frac{\partial Z_{1}}{\partial x_{1}} + Z_{j} \frac{\partial X_{k}}{\partial x_{j}} \right) - X_{k} \left(-X_{l} \frac{\partial Z_{1}}{\partial x_{1}} + Z_{j} \frac{\partial X_{l}}{\partial x_{j}} \right) \\ &= \mathcal{L}_{X} X_{l} Z_{k} - \mathcal{L}_{X} X_{k} Z_{l} + X_{l} Z_{j} \frac{\partial X_{k}}{\partial x_{j}} - X_{k} Z_{j} \frac{\partial X_{l}}{\partial x_{j}} \\ &= Z_{k} X_{j} \frac{\partial X_{l}}{\partial x_{j}} - Z_{l} X_{j} \frac{\partial X_{k}}{\partial x_{j}} + X_{l} Z_{j} \frac{\partial X_{k}}{\partial x_{j}} - X_{k} Z_{j} \frac{\partial X_{l}}{\partial x_{j}} \\ &= \Delta_{lj} \frac{\partial X_{k}}{\partial x_{j}} + \Delta_{jk} \frac{\partial X_{l}}{\partial x_{j}}. \end{split}$$

Thus, the functions Δ_{lk} satisfy the following system of $\binom{n-1}{2}$ PDE,

$$\mathcal{L}_X \,\Delta_{lk} = \Delta_{lj} \frac{\partial X_k}{\partial x_j} + \Delta_{jk} \frac{\partial X_l}{\partial x_j},\tag{5.77}$$

where the sum is taken over all indexes j = 2, ..., n and $\Delta_{lk} \in C^{\infty}_{\mathbb{R}^n}$.

116

Diagonal vector fields an their associated PDE's. Let $X = d_2 x_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2} + \ldots + d_n x_n \frac{\partial}{\partial x_n}$ be a linear diagonal vector field, with $d_i > 0$. Then, the system (5.77) takes the form

$$\mathcal{L}_X \,\Delta_{lk} = (d_k + d_l) \Delta_{lk},$$

which is disengaged. Let us study the solutions for $\Delta_{lk} \in C^{\infty}_{\mathbb{R}^{n-1}}$, where $\mathbb{R}^{n-1} = \{(x_2, \ldots, x_n) \mid x_i \in \mathbb{R}\}$.

Lemma 5.32. Consider the PDE

$$d_2x_2\frac{\partial u}{\partial x_2} + \ldots + d_nx_n\frac{\partial u}{\partial x_n} = ru,$$

where $r \in \mathbb{R}$ is constant.

1. If r = 0, then the only solutions are constants.

2. If u is a solution for the constant r, then $\frac{\partial u}{\partial x_j}$ is a solution for the constant $r - d_j$. *Proof.* Fix any $p = (p_2, \ldots, p_n) \in U$ and define

$$\alpha(t) := (e^{d_2 t} p_2, \dots, e^{d_n t} p_n)$$

Then by the chain rule

$$\frac{d}{dt}u(\alpha(t)) = \sum_{i=2}^{n} \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_{i}}(\alpha(t))\frac{d}{dt}(e^{d_{i}t}p_{i}) = \sum_{i=2}^{n} \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_{i}}(\alpha(t)) \cdot (d_{i}e^{d_{i}t}p_{i})$$
$$= \sum_{i=2}^{n} d_{i}x_{i}(\alpha(t))\frac{\partial u}{\partial x_{i}}(\alpha(t)) = ru(\alpha(t)).$$

Therefore, $u(\alpha(t)) = u(\alpha(0))e^{rt} = u(p)e^{rt}$.

1. If r = 0, then u is constant along the trajectory $\alpha(t)$. Since $d_i > 0$ for all $i = 2, \ldots, n$, then

$$u(0) = \lim_{t \to -\infty} u(\alpha(t)) = u(\alpha(0)) = u(p),$$

so u is constant since $p \in \mathbb{R}^{n-1}$ is arbitrary.

2. Since the partial derivatives commute,

$$r\frac{\partial u}{\partial x_j} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} \sum_{i=1}^n d_i x_i \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_i} = d_j \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_j} + \sum_{i=1}^n d_i x_i \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_j},$$

which implies the desired result.

Now take $d_2 = \ldots = d_n = 1$. In this case, we get

$$X = x_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2} + \ldots + x_n \frac{\partial}{\partial x_n},$$

which is the Euler vector field E in the variables x_2, \ldots, x_n . In this case, Δ_{lk} must be a solution of

$$\mathcal{L}_E \,\Delta_{lk} = 2\Delta_{lk}.\tag{5.78}$$

Lemma 5.33. Let $u: U \subset \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ and $k \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$. Consider the Partial Differential Equation

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_i} = ku.$$
(5.79)

- 1. The solutions of (5.79) are homogenous functions of degree k.
- 2. If u is a solution of (5.79), then $v = \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_i}$ is a solution of

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i \frac{\partial v}{\partial x_i} = (k-1)v.$$

3. If $U = \mathbb{R}^n$, then the solutions of (5.79) are the homogenous polynomials of degree k.

Proof. By repeating arguments in Lemma 5.32, the solutions of the equation in (5.79) must satisfy $u(\alpha(t)) = u(p)e^{kt}$, where

$$\alpha(t) := e^t p = (e^t p_2, \dots, e^t p_n).$$

1. Note that for each $\lambda > 0$, $u(\lambda p) = u(\alpha(\ln(\lambda))) = u(p)e^{k\ln(\lambda)} = \lambda^k u(p)$, so u is an homogenous function of degree k. Conversely, if u is an homogeneous function of degree k, then the map $f : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ defined by $f(t) = u(e^t p) - e^{kt}u(p)$ is identically zero. Thus,

$$0 = \frac{df}{dt} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_i} (e^t p) \frac{d}{dt} e^t p_i - k e^{kt} u(p).$$

Evaluating at t = 0, we get the desired result.

- 2. This follows from Lemma 5.32.
- 3. We will prove this result by induction on the degree of homogeneity. If k = 0, Lemma 5.32 implies that u is constant, i.e., a polynomial of degree zero. Suppose that the only solutions of (5.79) are polynomials of degree k. If u is a solution of

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_i} = (k+1)u,$$

then, by the previous part, each of their partial derivatives $\frac{\partial u}{\partial x_j}$ are a solution of (5.79), i.e., are homogenous polynomials of degree k. This implies that u is a homogenous polynomial of degree k + 1. By induction, we complete the proof.

Lemma 5.34. The Partial Differential Equation

$$x_2\frac{\partial u}{\partial x_2} + \dots + x_n\frac{\partial u}{\partial x_n} = k \tag{5.80}$$

has a solution defined on all \mathbb{R}^{n-1} if and only if k = 0.

Proof. Clearly, the equation (5.80) has a solution if k = 0. Conversely, evaluating both sides of (5.80) at p = 0, we get

$$k = x_2|_0 \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_2}(0) + \dots + x_n|_0 \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_n}(0) = 0.$$

Lemma 5.35. Let $F \in C^{\infty}_{\mathbb{R}^{n-1}}$ a smooth function. The Partial Differential Equation

$$x_2 \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_2} + \ldots + x_n \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_n} = F(x)$$
(5.81)

has a solution if and only if and only if F(0) = 0. In this case, the solution is unique up to adding constants.

Proof. For a fixed $x \in \mathbb{R}^{n-1}$, define $f : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ by

$$f(t) = \begin{cases} \frac{F(tx) - F(0)}{t} & \text{if } t \neq 0\\ F'(0) & \text{if } t = 0. \end{cases}$$

Since F is smooth, so it is f. Hence, $u : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ defined by

$$u(x) = \int_0^1 \frac{F(tx) - F(0)}{t} dt$$

is smooth. Furthermore,

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial x_i} = \int_0^1 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \frac{F(tx) - F(0)}{t} dt = \int_0^1 \frac{\partial F}{\partial x_i}(tx) dt.$$

Hence,

$$x_2 \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_2} + \ldots + x_n \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_n} = \int_0^1 \left(x_2 \frac{\partial F}{\partial x_2}(tx) + \ldots + x_n \frac{\partial F}{\partial x_n}(tx) \right) dt = \int_0^1 \frac{d}{dt} F(tx) dt$$
$$= F(1 \cdot x) - F(0 \cdot x) = F(x) - F(0).$$

We have shown that there exist a solution for the function F(x) - F(0). Hence, in order to have a solution for (5.81), it must exist a solution for the constant function k = F(0). By Lemma 5.34, this occurs if and only if F(0) = 0.

Remark 5.36. Note that the previous construction allow us to establish the following result: If $f : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$, then

$$f(x) - f(0) = x\frac{d}{dx}\int_0^1 \frac{f(tx)}{t}dt.$$

Splitting of the Infinitesimal Automorphisms. Recall that in order to parameterize all the Poisson vector fields for the Poisson manifold $(\mathbb{R}^n, \Pi = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} \wedge E)$, we have to establish conditions for Z_k and Z_l in order to

$$x_l Z_k - x_k Z_l$$

be a solution of (5.78).

Lemma 5.37. Fix k, l = 2, ..., n, and consider the map $M : C_{\mathbb{R}^{n-1}}^{\infty} \times C_{\mathbb{R}^{n-1}}^{\infty} \to C_{\mathbb{R}^{n-1}}^{\infty}$ given by

$$M(Z,W) := x_l Z - x_k W.$$

Then,

- 1. $M: C^{\infty}_{\mathbb{R}^n} \oplus C^{\infty}_{\mathbb{R}^n} \to C^{\infty}_{\mathbb{R}^n}$ is $C^{\infty}_{\mathbb{R}^n}$ -linear.
- 2. M(Z,W) = 0 if and only if there exists $f_{kl} \in C_{\mathbb{R}^n}^\infty$ such that $Z = x_k f_{kl}$ and $W = x_l f_{kl}$.
- 3. If $M(g,h) = \Delta$, then every solution of the equation $M(Z,W) = \Delta$ has the form $Z = g + x_l f_{kl}$, $W = h + x_k f_{kl}$.

Proof. Property 1 is clear, and it is easy to show that property 3 follows from 1 and 2. It remains to show property 2. Note that M(Z, W) = 0 if and only if

$$x_k Z = x_l W.$$

For each point p in the hyperplane $x_k = 0$, the right hand side of the last equation vanishes. Therefore, for each point p in the hyperplane $x_k = 0$ and not belonging to the line $x_k = x_l = 0$, it must be Z(p) = 0. By continuity, Z(p) = 0 for all p with $p_k = 0$. Similarly, W(p) = 0 if $p_l = 0$. By Remark 5.36, there exist smooth functions $f_k, f_l \in C_{\mathbb{R}^{n-1}}^{\infty}$ such that

$$Z = x_k f_k, \qquad \qquad W = x_l f_l$$

Then,

$$x_k x_l (f_k - f_l) = x_l Z - x_k W = 0,$$

which means that $f_k = f_l$ in every point with $x_k x_l \neq 0$. Since this set is dense in \mathbb{R}^n , by continuity we conclude that $f_k = f_l$ in all \mathbb{R}^n .

Now, we will prove the following result for Poisson vector fields:

Proposition 5.38. Let Z be a Poisson vector field in (\mathbb{R}^n, Π) , where $\Pi = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} \wedge E$, where E is the Euler vector field in variables x_2, \ldots, x_n . There exist unique $z, f \in C_{\mathbb{R}^n}^{\infty}$ and $a_{ij} \in \mathbb{R}$, $i, j = 2, \ldots, n$ such that $a_{nn} = 0$ and

$$Z = z \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} + fE + (a_{ij}x_i)\frac{\partial}{\partial x_j}.$$
(5.82)

Furthermore, $z, f \in C^{\infty}_{\mathbb{R}^n}$ satisfy

$$\mathcal{L}_E f + \frac{\partial z}{\partial x_1} = 0. \tag{5.83}$$

Conversely, any vector field satisfying (5.82) and (5.83) is Poisson for Π .

Lemma 5.39. If a vector field Z has the form (5.82), then such representation is unique.

Proof. Assume that there exist $z, f \in C^{\infty}_{\mathbb{R}^n}$ and $a_{ij} \in \mathbb{R}, i, j = 2, \ldots, n$ such that $a_{nn} = 0$ and

$$z\frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} + fE + (a_{ij}x_i)\frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} = 0.$$

Then z = 0 and $a_{ij}x_i + fx_j = 0$ for each j = 2, ..., n. We will show that f and each a_{ij} are zero. Fix $i \neq j$ and evaluate $a_{ij}x_i + fx_j = 0$ in $x_i = 1$ and $x_k = 0$, for all $k \neq i$, leading to $a_{ij} = 0$. This implies that $(a_{jj} + f)x_j = 0$ for each j = 2, ..., n - 1 and $fx_n = 0$. This means that f is zero outside the hyperplane $x_n = 0$. Since f is continuous, it follows that f = 0. Substituting in $(a_{jj} + f)x_j = 0$ with $x_j = 1$, we get $a_{jj} = 0$. It follows that if a vector field can be represented as in above, then its representation is unique, as desired.

Proof of Proposition 5.38. Let $Z = Z_j \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j}$ the coordinate expression of a Poisson vector field Z. Denote $\Delta_{lk} := x_l Z_k - x_k Z_l$. Then, equation (5.75) reads $\frac{\partial \Delta_{lk}}{\partial x_1} = 0$, which means that Δ_{lk} only depends on the variables x_2, \ldots, x_n . Now note that equations (5.76) imply

$$\mathcal{L}_E \,\Delta_{lk} = 2\Delta_{lk}$$

Therefore, Δ_{lk} must be a $C_{\mathbb{R}^n}^{\infty}$ -homogenous function of degree 2, i.e., $\Delta_{lk} = x_l Z_k - x_k Z_l$ is an homogenous polynomial of degree 2, due to Lemma 5.33. A particular solution for Z_k, Z_l is to take Z_k and Z_l linear. Then, by Lemma 5.37, in general there exist $f_{lk} \in C_{\mathbb{R}^3}^{\infty}$ such that

$$Z_k - x_k f_{lk}, \qquad \qquad Z_l - x_l f_{lk}$$

are linear functions. Furthermore, it can be shown that, for a fixed k, the functions f_{kl} and f_{kj} differ by a constant. Thus, the above linear functions can be chosen in order to have a fixed function $f_{lk} = f$ for any k, l. Also, we can modify this function f in order to have $Z_n = a_{n2}x_2 + \ldots + a_{n,n-1}x_{n-1} + fx_n$. Taking $z = Z_1$, we get that

$$Z = z\frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} + fE + (a_{ij}x_i)\frac{\partial}{\partial x_j}$$

for some constants a_{ij} , with $a_{n,n} = 0$. Finally, a substitution of Z_k in (5.76) yields

$$-x_k \frac{\partial z}{\partial x_1} + Z_k = -X_k \frac{\partial Z_1}{\partial x_1} + Z_j \frac{\partial X_k}{\partial x_j} = X_j \frac{\partial Z_k}{\partial x_j} = Z_k + x_k \operatorname{L}_E f.$$

This implies that $L_E f + \frac{\partial Z_1}{\partial x_1} = 0$ outside the plane $x_k = 0$, and hence, in all \mathbb{R}^n , completing the proof.

First Poisson cohomology group

Lemma 5.40. If Z is a Poisson vector field, then $Z(x_1, 0, 0) = Z(0, 0, 0)$.

Proof. Since Z is a Poisson vector field, it can be represented as

$$Z = z\frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} + fE + (a_{ij}x_i)\frac{\partial}{\partial x_j},$$

where $L_E f + \frac{\partial z}{\partial x_1} = 0$. Since E is a linear vector field in the variables x_2, \ldots, x_n ,

$$(L_E f)(p_1, 0, \dots, 0) = 0,$$

so $\frac{\partial z}{\partial x_1}(p_1, 0, \dots, 0) = 0$ for all $p_1 \in \mathbb{R}$. Therefore, z must be constant along the x_1 -axis.

Calculus of the cohomology

Note that in the representation (5.82) for a Poisson vector field Z, the tangent part (in the regular domain) is $z\frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} + fE$ and the transversal part is the linear vector field $(a_{ij}x_i)\frac{\partial}{\partial x_j}$. Thus, in order to be Z a Hamiltonian vector field, we must have $a_{ij} = 0$. Furthermore, we will show that if z(0) = 0, then Z is Hamiltonian.

Theorem 5.41. Let Z be a Poisson vector field in the Poisson manifold (\mathbb{R}^n, Π) and consider its representation in the form (5.82). The vector field Z is Hamiltonian if and only if z(0) = 0 and $a_{ij} = 0$. Hence,

$$H^1_{\Pi}(\mathbb{R}^n) = \mathbb{R}^{(n-1)^2}.$$

Proof. Recall that the Hamiltonian vector field X_h with Hamiltonian function h is

$$X_h = -(\mathbf{L}_E h)\frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} + \frac{\partial h}{\partial x_1}E,$$

and also note that this is its representation in the sense of Proposition 5.38. On the other hand, let

$$Z = z\frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} + fE + (a_{ij}x_i)\frac{\partial}{\partial x_j}$$

be a Poisson vector field. Since such representation is unique, it follows that Z is Hamiltonian if and only if $a_{ij} = 0$ and there exists $h \in C_{\mathbb{R}^n}^{\infty}$ such that $z = -L_E h$ and $f = \frac{\partial h}{\partial x_1}$. In particular, Z has the form

$$Z = z\frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} + fE$$

and $Z(0) = z(0)\frac{\partial}{\partial x_1}$. By Lemmas 5.35 and 5.40, the equation $z = -L_E H$ has a solution in H if and only if z(0) = 0. In this case, condition (5.83) implies

$$0 = \mathcal{L}_E f + \frac{\partial z}{\partial x_1} = \mathcal{L}_E f - \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} \mathcal{L}_E H = \mathcal{L}_E f - \left(\left[\frac{\partial}{\partial x_1}, \mathcal{L}_E \right] + \mathcal{L}_E \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} \right) H = \mathcal{L}_E \left(f - \frac{\partial H}{\partial x_1} \right).$$

Therefore, by Lemma 5.33, $f - \frac{\partial H}{\partial x_1}$ is a constant function in the variables x_2, \ldots, x_n , i.e., it only depends on the variable x_1 :

$$f - \frac{\partial H}{\partial x_1} = k(x_1).$$

Now, define $h := H + \int_0^{x_1} k \, \mathrm{d} x_1$. Then,

$$L_E h = L_E H + L_E \int_0^{x_1} k \, \mathrm{d} \, x_1 = -z + 0 = -z,$$
$$\frac{\partial h}{\partial x_1} = \frac{\partial H}{\partial x_1} + k(x_1) = f,$$

proving that h is the Hamiltonian for the Poisson vector field Z. As consequence, we have that every Poisson cohomology class is uniquely determined by the value of each a_{ij} and z(0). Therefore,

$$H^1_{\Pi}(\mathbb{R}^n) = \mathbb{R}^{(n-1)^2}.$$

Chapter 6

The Modular Class of Poisson Structures on Foliated Manifolds

In this chapter we study the behavior of the modular class of an orientable Poisson manifold and formulate some unimodularity criteria in the semilocal context, around a (singular) symplectic leaf. Our results generalize some known unimodularity criteria for regular Poisson manifolds related to the notion of the Reeb class. In particular, we show that the unimodularity of the transverse Poisson structure of the leaf is a necessary condition for the semilocal unimodular property. Our main tool is an explicit formula for a bigraded decomposition of modular vector fields of a coupling Poisson structure on a foliated manifold. Moreover, we also exploit the notion of the modular class of a Poisson foliation and its relationship with the Reeb class.

This chapter is organized as follows. In Section 6.1 we review some basic notions and facts about foliations. In Section 6.2 we study the relationship between the modular class of a Poisson foliation and the Reeb class. The modular vector fields of coupling Poisson structures are described in Section 6.3 by using bigraded calculus on foliated manifolds. Section 6.4 is devoted to the study of the behavior of the unimodularity property under gauge transformations. In Section 6.5 we derive some unimodularity criteria for coupling Poisson structures and find cohomological obstructions to the unimodularity. In Section 6.6 we examine the general unimodularity criteria for compatible Poisson structures on flat Poisson foliations. Here the cohomological obstructions take values on the foliated de Rham-Casimir complex. In Section 6.7 we apply the above results to describe the unimodularity in a neighborhood of a symplectic leaf. Finally, in Section 6.8, we prove the well-definiteness of the notion of generalized Reeb class of a symplectic leaf.

The contents of this chapter, with exception of Section 6.8, were published in [55].

6.1 Preliminaries: orientable foliations

We start by recalling some definitions and known facts about calculus on foliated manifolds. For details, we refer to [31, 35, 65].

Foliated de Rham differential. Let \mathcal{V} be a regular foliation on M. Denote by $V := T\mathcal{V}$ the tangent bundle of \mathcal{V} . There exists a derivation $d_{\mathcal{V}} \in \operatorname{Der}^{1}_{\mathbb{R}} \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet} V^{*})$ of degree 1 which is a coboundary operator, $d_{\mathcal{V}}^{2} = 0$, called the *foliated exterior derivative*. Notice that the foliated de Rham complex $(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet} V^{*}), d_{\mathcal{V}})$ is just the cochain complex of the Lie algebroid V associated to the foliation \mathcal{V} . The cohomology of the foliated de Rham complex of \mathcal{V} will be denoted by $H^{\bullet}_{dR}(\mathcal{V})$.

Fix a normal distribution $H \subset TM$ of the foliation \mathcal{V} ,

$$TM = H \oplus V. \tag{6.1}$$

Then, the vector-valued 1-form $\gamma \in \Gamma(T^*M \otimes V)$, defined as the projection $\operatorname{pr}_V : TM \to V$ along H in (6.1), is said to be a *connection form* on the foliated manifold (M, \mathcal{V}) . Conversely, every vector-valued 1-form $\gamma \in \Gamma(T^*M \otimes V)$ with $\gamma|_V = \operatorname{Id}_V$ induces the normal bundle $H := \ker \gamma$ of \mathcal{V} . Then, the curvature form $R^{\gamma} \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 T^*M \otimes V)$ of the connection is given by [35]

$$R^{\gamma}(X,Y) := \gamma[(\mathrm{Id}_{TM} - \gamma)X, (\mathrm{Id}_{TM} - \gamma)Y] \qquad \forall X, Y \in \Gamma(TM)$$

and controls the integrability of the normal bundle H. The connection γ is said to be flat if $R^{\gamma} = 0$.

Splitting (6.1) induces *H*-dependent bigradings of the exterior algebras of multivector fields and differential forms on M:

$$\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}TM) = \bigoplus_{p,q \in \mathbb{Z}} \Gamma(\wedge^{p,q}TM), \qquad \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}T^*M) = \bigoplus_{p,q \in \mathbb{Z}} \Gamma(\wedge^{p,q}T^*M).$$
(6.2)

Here, $\wedge^{p,q}TM := \wedge^p H \otimes \wedge^q V$ and $\wedge^{p,q}T^*M := \wedge^p V^{\circ} \otimes \wedge^q H^{\circ}$, where $H^{\circ} := \operatorname{Ann}(H)$ and $V^{\circ} := \operatorname{Ann}(V)$ denote the annihilators of H and V, respectively. For a multivector field A, the term of bidegree (p,q) in decomposition (6.2) is denoted by $A_{p,q}$. We follow same notation for differential forms. Moreover, we have a bigraded decomposition for any linear operator on these exterior algebras. In particular, the exterior differential splits as $d = d_{1,0}^{\gamma} + d_{2,-1}^{\gamma} + d_{0,1}^{\gamma}$, where $d_{1,0}^{\gamma}$ is the *covariant exterior derivative* of γ and $d_{2,-1}^{\gamma} = -i_{R^{\gamma}}$. Furthermore,

$$(\mathbf{d}_{1,0}^{\gamma})^2 = \mathbf{L}_{R^{\gamma}} \tag{6.3}$$

and $(d_{0,1}^{\gamma})^2 = 0$ (for the definition of the Lie derivative $L_{R^{\gamma}}$, see [35]). It is clear that the canonical inclusion of the leaves of \mathcal{V} in M induces a cochain complex isomorphism,

$$(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V^*), \mathbf{d}_{\mathcal{V}}) \cong \left(\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}H^\circ), \mathbf{d}_{0,1}^{\gamma}\right).$$
(6.4)

For each $\mu \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V^*)$, we will denote by $\mu_{\gamma} \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}H^{\circ})$ the corresponding element under the above isomorphism. We use the same notation for cohomology classes.

We will denote by

$$\operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V}) := \{ X \in \Gamma(TM) \mid [X, \Gamma(V)] \subset \Gamma(V) \}$$

the Lie subalgebra of \mathcal{V} -projectable vector fields. For each $\mu \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V^*)$ and $X \in \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$, the Lie derivative $L_X \mu \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}V^*)$ is well-defined by the standard formula.

Divergence 1-form. Suppose that the foliation \mathcal{V} on M is *orientable*, that is, there exists a nowhere vanishing element $\tau \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\text{top}}V^*)$, called a *leaf-wise volume form* of \mathcal{V} . Therefore, the restriction of τ to each leaf L of \mathcal{V} gives a volume form on L. For each $X \in \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$, the divergence $\operatorname{div}^{\tau}(X) \in C^{\infty}(M)$ with respect to τ is defined by the relation $L_X \tau = \operatorname{div}^{\tau}(X)\tau$.

Fix a connection form γ on (M, \mathcal{V}) associated to a normal bundle H of \mathcal{V} . Then, one can think of a leaf-wise volume form $\tau \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\text{top}}V^*)$ as a differential form $\tau_{\gamma} \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\text{top}}H^\circ)$ vanishing only on the sections of H. Recall that H° and V^* are of the same rank k. The divergence is given by the formula

$$\operatorname{div}^{\tau}(X)\tau_{\gamma} = (\mathcal{L}_X \tau_{\gamma})_{0,k} \tag{6.5}$$

for any $X \in \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$. Here, the bigraded decomposition of the k-form $L_X \tau_{\gamma}$ consists of the terms of bidegree (0, k) and (1, k - 1).

6.1. PRELIMINARIES: ORIENTABLE FOLIATIONS

Now, we observe that there exists a unique 1-form vanishing on vector fields tangent to $\mathcal{V}, \theta_{\tau}^{\gamma} \in \Gamma(V^{\circ})$, and such that

$$d_{1,0}^{\gamma} \tau_{\gamma} = \theta_{\tau}^{\gamma} \wedge \tau_{\gamma}. \tag{6.6}$$

Moreover, θ_{τ}^{γ} is related with the divergence by the condition

$$\theta_{\tau}^{\gamma}(X) = \operatorname{div}^{\tau}(X) \qquad \forall X \in \Gamma(H) \cap \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V}).$$
(6.7)

Therefore, the 1-form $\theta_{\tau}^{\gamma} \in \Gamma(V^{\circ})$ can be called the *divergence form* associated to the pair (τ, γ) . By using (6.6), (6.3), and (6.5), one can derive the following useful relations

$$d_{1,0}^{\gamma} \theta_{\tau}^{\gamma}(X_1, X_2) = \operatorname{div}^{\tau}(R^{\gamma}(X_1, X_2)), \tag{6.8}$$

$$\theta_{f\tau}^{\gamma} = \theta_{\tau}^{\gamma} + \mathbf{d}_{1,0}^{\gamma} \ln |f|, \tag{6.9}$$

for all $X_1, X_2 \in \Gamma(H) \cap \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$ and each nowhere vanishing $f \in C^{\infty}(M)$.

The Reeb class. Let \mathcal{V} be a regular foliation of M. Consider the tangent bundle $V = T\mathcal{V}$ and its annihilator V° . We say that the foliation \mathcal{V} is *transversally orientable* if there exists a nowhere vanishing element $\varsigma \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\text{top}}V^{\circ})$. In this case, we say that ς is a *transversal volume element* of \mathcal{V} . In particular, we have $V = \{X \in TM \mid i_X \varsigma = 0\}$.

It follows from the identity $i_{[X,Y]} = [L_X, i_Y] \forall X, Y \in \Gamma(V)$ that the Lie derivative along every \mathcal{V} -tangent vector field preserves the space of sections $\Gamma(\wedge^{\mathrm{top}}V^\circ)$. As a consequence, for each transversal volume element ς of \mathcal{V} , there exists a unique foliated 1-form $\lambda_{\varsigma} \in \Gamma(V^*)$ defined by the relation

$$L_X \varsigma = \lambda_{\varsigma}(X)\varsigma, \quad \forall X \in \Gamma(V).$$
 (6.10)

Then, λ_{ς} is a closed foliated 1-form, $d_{\mathcal{V}}\lambda_{\varsigma} = 0$. Moreover, by the standard arguments, the $d_{\mathcal{V}}$ -cohomology class (foliated de Rham cohomology class)

$$\operatorname{Mod}(\mathcal{V}) := [\lambda_{\varsigma}] \in H^1_{\mathrm{dR}}(\mathcal{V}), \tag{6.11}$$

is independent of the choice of a transversal volume element ς and called the *Reeb class* of \mathcal{V} (see, for example, [31, Section 2], [32, Section 1], [1, Section 2]). The Reeb class is an obstruction to the existence of a transversal volume element of \mathcal{V} which is invariant under the flow of any vector field tangent to the foliation. Alternatively, the vanishing of $Mod(\mathcal{V})$ is equivalent to the existence of a closed transversal volume element of \mathcal{V} [31].

Example 6.1. Let $\pi : M \to S$ be a fiber bundle over an orientable base S. Consider the foliation $\mathcal{V} := {\pi^{-1}(x)}_{x \in S}$ on M given by the surjective submersion π , called *simple foliation*. Then, \mathcal{V} is a transversally orientable foliation with trivial Reeb class. Indeed, given a volume form ς_0 on the base S, we get the transversal volume element $\varsigma = \pi^* \varsigma_0$ of \mathcal{V} . It is clear that ς is closed on M and hence $Mod(\mathcal{V}) = 0$.

Pick a connection γ on (M, \mathcal{V}) associated to a normal bundle H of \mathcal{V} . For each transversal volume element ς of \mathcal{V} , there exists a 1-form $\lambda_{\varsigma}^{\gamma} \in \Gamma(H^{\circ})$ uniquely defined by the relation

$$\mathbf{d}_{0,1}^{\gamma}\,\varsigma = \lambda_{\varsigma}^{\gamma}\wedge\varsigma.\tag{6.12}$$

From here, taking into account the bidegrees of $\lambda_{\varsigma}^{\gamma}$ and ς , we conclude that $d_{0,1}^{\gamma} \lambda_{\varsigma}^{\gamma} = 0$ and hence $\lambda_{\varsigma}^{\gamma}$ is a 1-cocycle of $d_{0,1}^{\gamma}$. Then, under the isomorphism (6.4), the Reeb class of the foliation \mathcal{V} equals the $d_{0,1}^{\gamma}$ -cohomology class of $\lambda_{\varsigma}^{\gamma}$,

$$\operatorname{Mod}(\mathcal{V})_{\gamma} = [\lambda_{\varsigma}^{\gamma}]. \tag{6.13}$$

Indeed, this is consequence of the following computation for all $X \in \Gamma(V)$:

$$\lambda_{\varsigma}(X)\varsigma = \mathcal{L}_X \varsigma = \operatorname{d} i_X \varsigma + i_X \operatorname{d} \varsigma = i_X \operatorname{d}_{0,1}^{\gamma} \varsigma = \lambda_{\varsigma}^{\gamma}(X)\varsigma$$

Observe that in the flat case, $R^{\gamma} = 0$, each leaf-wise volume form $\tau \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\text{top}}V^*)$ of \mathcal{V} induces the transversal volume element τ_{γ} of the integral foliation \mathcal{H} of H. Furthermore, $\partial_{\mathcal{H}} := d_{1,0}^{\gamma}$ is the corresponding foliated exterior derivative and, by (6.8), θ_{τ}^{γ} is a 1-cocycle of $\partial_{\mathcal{H}}$. Then, taking into account (6.13), we conclude that the $\partial_{\mathcal{H}}$ -cohomology class of θ_{τ}^{γ} coincides with the Reeb class of \mathcal{H} .

To end this section we make the following remarks on the different interpretations of the Reeb class.

Remark 6.2. The Reeb class is related to some characteristic classes of representations of the Lie algebroid V associated to the foliation \mathcal{V} [22, 38]. First, note that the Lie derivative along V-tangent vector fields gives a representation D on the line bundle $\wedge^{\text{top}}V^{\circ}$. By (6.10) and (6.11), the Reeb class is just the characteristic class of this representation, $\text{Mod}(\mathcal{V}) = \text{Char}(\wedge^{\text{top}}V^{\circ})$. On the other hand, the Reeb class can be expressed in terms of the Bott connection ∇^{Bott} on the normal bundle $E := \frac{TM}{V}$ of \mathcal{V} [83]. Under the natural identification $V^{\circ} \cong E^*$, the dual of the representation ∇^{Bott} on $\wedge^{\text{top}}E$ coincides with D. Then, $\text{Char}(\wedge^{\text{top}}E) = -\text{Mod}(\mathcal{V})$. Finally, we observe that the Reeb class coincides with the modular class of the Lie algebroid V [22, 36, 38], $\text{Mod}(\mathcal{V}) = \text{Char}(\wedge^{\text{top}}V \otimes \wedge^{\text{top}}T^*M)$.

6.2 The modular class of a Poisson foliation

In this section, we describe the relationship between the modular class of a leaf-tangent Poisson structure on a foliated manifold and the Reeb class.

First, let us recall the definitions and some properties of modular vector fields and the modular class of a Poisson manifold [41, 83]. Let (M, Π) be an orientable Poisson manifold with Poisson bivector field Π on M. Denote by $\Pi^{\sharp} : T^*M \to TM$ the vector bundle morphism given by $\langle \beta, \Pi^{\sharp} \alpha \rangle := \Pi(\alpha, \beta)$. Let $\text{Poiss}(M, \Pi) := \{X \in \Gamma(TM) \mid L_X \Pi = 0\}$ and $\text{Ham}(M, \Pi) := \{\Pi^{\sharp} df \mid f \in C^{\infty}(M)\}$ be the Lie algebras of Poisson and Hamiltonian vector fields on (M, Π) , respectively. Then, the first Poisson cohomology is $H^1_{\Pi}(M) = \text{Poiss}(M, \Pi) / \text{Ham}(M, \Pi)$.

cohomology is $H^1_{\Pi}(M) = \text{Poiss}(M, \Pi) / \text{Ham}(M, \Pi)$. Given a volume form Ω of M, one can define a derivation Z^{Ω}_{Π} of $C^{\infty}(M)$ by the formula $Z^{\Omega}_{\Pi}(f) := \text{div}^{\Omega}(\Pi^{\sharp} d f)$, where div^{Ω} is the divergence operator. The vector field Z^{Ω}_{Π} is a Poisson vector field of Π , called the *modular vector field* [41, 83] of the oriented Poisson manifold (M, Π, Ω) .

In terms of the interior product, the modular vector field can be also defined by $-i_{Z_{\Pi}^{\Omega}} \Omega = di_{\Pi} \Omega$. Here, i denotes the insertion operator which on decomposable multivector fields is given by $i_{X_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge X_k} = i_{X_1} \circ \cdots \circ i_{X_k} \ \forall X_i \in \Gamma(TM)$. Furthermore, if Ω' is another volume form on M, then $Z_{\Pi}^{\Omega'} = Z_{\Pi}^{\Omega} - \Pi^{\sharp} d\ln |f|$, where $f = \Omega'/\Omega$. Hence, the Poisson cohomology class of Z_{Π}^{Ω} is independent of the choice of Ω . Therefore, $Mod(M, \Pi) := [Z_{\Pi}^{\Omega}] \in H_{\Pi}^1(M)$ is an intrinsic Poisson cohomology class called the modular class [83] of the orientable Poisson manifold (M, Π) . A Poisson manifold with vanishing modular class is said to be unimodular. The modular class is an obstruction to the existence of a volume form which is invariant with respect to all Hamiltonian vector fields. As an example, consider the 3-dimensional oriented linear Poisson manifold $(\mathbb{R}^3_{(x,y,z)},\Pi,\Omega)$, where $\Pi = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial z} \wedge \left(x \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + y \frac{\partial}{\partial y}\right)$ and Ω is the Euclidean volume form. Then, $Z_{\Pi}^{\Omega} = \frac{\partial}{\partial z}$ cannot be a Hamiltonian vector field since it is non-zero at 0. Moreover, on the regular domain $N_{\text{reg}} := \mathbb{R}^3 - \{z \text{-}axis\}, \frac{\partial}{\partial z}$ admits the Hamiltonian $-\ln(x^2 + y^2)$. Thus, even though $\operatorname{Mod}(N_{\text{reg}},\Pi|_{N_{\text{reg}}}) = 0$, the Poisson manifold $(\mathbb{R}^3_{(x,y,z)},\Pi)$ is not unimodular.

Poisson foliations and orientability. A Poisson foliation consists of a triple (M, \mathcal{V}, P) , where \mathcal{V} is a regular foliation on a manifold M endowed with a leaf-tangent Poisson bivector field $P \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 V), V = T\mathcal{V}$. It is clear that the characteristic distribution of P belongs to $V, P^{\sharp}(T^*M) \subset V$, and hence each leaf L of \mathcal{V} inherits from P a unique Poisson structure P_L such that the inclusion $\iota_L : L \hookrightarrow M$ is a Poisson map. Therefore, M is foliated by the Poisson manifolds (L, P_L) . Denote by $\operatorname{Poiss}_{\mathcal{V}}(M, P) := \Gamma(V) \cap \operatorname{Poiss}(M, P)$ the Lie algebra of all Poisson vector fields of P tangent to the foliation \mathcal{V} . It is clear that, for every $Z \in \operatorname{Poiss}_{\mathcal{V}}(M, P)$, the restriction to a given leaf L of \mathcal{V} is a Poisson vector field of $P_L, Z|_L \in \operatorname{Poiss}(L, P_L)$. Note also that the morphism $P^{\sharp} : \Gamma(V^*) \to \Gamma(V)$ associated to the leaf-tangent Poisson structure P induces a linear mapping in cohomology $(P^{\sharp})^* : H^1_{\mathrm{dR}}(\mathcal{V}) \to \frac{\operatorname{Poiss}_{\mathcal{V}}(M, P)}{\operatorname{Ham}(M, P)} \subset H^1_P(M)$ by $(P^{\sharp})^*[\mu] := [P^{\sharp}\mu]$. We call the quotient $\frac{\operatorname{Poiss}_{\mathcal{V}}(M, P)}{\operatorname{Ham}(M, P)}$ the first cohomology of the Poisson foliation (M, \mathcal{V}, P) , which is just the first cohomology of the Lie algebroid $(V^*, \iota \circ P^{\sharp}, \{,\}_P)$. Here, $\iota : V \hookrightarrow TM$ is the inclusion map, and $\{,\}_P$ denotes the bracket of foliated 1-forms induced by P [36].

Suppose that \mathcal{V} is orientable and fix a leaf-wise volume form $\tau \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\text{top}}V^*)$. The modular vector field of the Poisson foliation (M, \mathcal{V}, P) with respect to τ is the leaf-tangent vector field $Z_P^{\tau} \in \Gamma(V)$ defined by the equality

$$i_{Z_P^{\tau}}\tau = -d_{\mathcal{V}}i_P\tau. \tag{6.14}$$

It follows from (6.14) that $Z_P^{\tau} \in \text{Poiss}(M, P)$ and $Z_P^{f\tau} = Z_P^{\tau} - P^{\sharp} df$ for all nowhere vanishing $f \in C^{\infty}(M)$. Hence, there is a well-defined cohomology class of the Poisson foliation (M, \mathcal{V}, P)

$$\operatorname{Mod}(M, \mathcal{V}, P) := [Z_P^{\tau}] \in \frac{\operatorname{Poiss}_{\mathcal{V}}(M, P)}{\operatorname{Ham}(M, P)}$$

which can be called the *modular class* of the Poisson foliation (M, \mathcal{V}, P) , or shortly, the *foliated modular class*.

It is clear that in the case when a Poisson foliation $\mathcal{V} = \{M\}$ consists of a single leaf, the foliated modular class of (M, \mathcal{V}, P) just coincides with the modular class of the Poisson manifold (M, P).

Note that the modular class of a Poisson foliation (M, \mathcal{V}, P) can be viewed as a particular case of the more general notion of the modular class of the corresponding triangular Lie bi-algebroid (V, P), $P \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 V)$ [36, 38].

The Poisson foliation (M, \mathcal{V}, P) is said to be unimodular if $Mod(M, \mathcal{V}, P) = 0$. Since the foliated differential $d_{\mathcal{V}}$ and the leaf-wise volume form τ restrict to the exterior differential and a volume form $\tau_L = \iota_L^* \tau$ on each leaf L of \mathcal{V} , we conclude from (6.14) that the restriction of the modular vector field Z_P^{τ} to the leaf L is the modular vector field with respect to τ_L of the Poisson structure P_L , $Z_P^{\tau}|_L = Z_{P_L}^{\tau_L}$. Therefore, the unimodularity of the Poisson foliation implies the unimodularity of each leaf. But the converse is not necessarily true.

Here are some useful properties of the modular vector field of the Poisson foliation (M, \mathcal{V}, P) . Note that, for all $X \in \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$, we have $[X, \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet} V)] \subset \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet} V)$, where $[\cdot, \cdot]$ denotes the Schouten-Nijenhuis

bracket for multivector fields [21]. By definition (6.14), and from the standard commuting relations between the operators L_X , d_V , and i_A , $A \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet} V)$, we derive the following properties of the modular vector field Z_P^{τ}

$$\mathcal{L}_{Z_P^{\tau}} f = \operatorname{div}^{\tau}(P^{\sharp} \operatorname{d} f), \qquad (6.15)$$

$$[Z_P^{\tau}, X] = P^{\sharp} \operatorname{d}(\operatorname{div}^{\tau}(X)), \tag{6.16}$$

for any $f \in C^{\infty}(M)$ and $X \in aut(M, \mathcal{V}) \cap Poiss(M, P)$.

Furthermore, given a connection form $\gamma \in \Gamma(T^*M \otimes V)$ on (M, \mathcal{V}) , the modular vector field of (M, \mathcal{V}, P) relative to $\tau \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\text{top}}V^*)$ is determined by

$$-i_{Z_P^{\tau}} \tau_{\gamma} = d_{0,1}^{\gamma} i_P \tau_{\gamma}.$$
 (6.17)

If, in addition to the orientability of \mathcal{V} , the manifold M is orientable (or, equivalently, \mathcal{V} is transversally orientable), then we have a relation between the modular class of the Poisson structure P on M, the modular class of the Poisson foliation (M, \mathcal{V}, P) and the Reeb class of \mathcal{V} .

Proposition 6.3. Let (M, \mathcal{V}, P) be an orientable and transversally orientable Poisson foliation. Then, the modular class Mod(M, P) of the Poisson manifold $P \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 V)$ is related to the foliated modular class $Mod(M, \mathcal{V}, P)$ and the Reeb class $Mod(\mathcal{V})$ of \mathcal{V} by the formula

$$Mod(M, P) = Mod(M, \mathcal{V}, P) - (P^{\sharp})^* Mod(\mathcal{V}).$$
(6.18)

Proof. Let $\tau \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\text{top}}V^*)$ be a leaf-wise volume form and $\varsigma \in \Gamma(\wedge^s V^\circ)$ a transversal volume element of \mathcal{V} , $s = \operatorname{codim} \mathcal{V}$. Pick a connection form γ on (M, \mathcal{V}) associated to a normal bundle H of \mathcal{V} . Then, $\Omega := \varsigma \wedge \tau_{\gamma}$ is a volume form on M. Let Z_P^{Ω} and Z_P^{τ} be the modular vector fields of (M, P) and (M, \mathcal{V}, P) with respect to the volume forms Ω and τ , respectively. Consider also the 1-form $\lambda_{\varsigma}^{\gamma} \in \Gamma(H^\circ)$ given by (6.12). We claim that

$$Z_P^{\Omega} = Z_P^{\tau} - P^{\sharp} \lambda_{\varsigma}^{\gamma}. \tag{6.19}$$

Indeed, by bigrading arguments and equality (6.17), we get

$$\begin{split} -\operatorname{i}_{Z_{P}^{\Omega}}\Omega &= \operatorname{d}\operatorname{i}_{P}\Omega = \operatorname{d}_{0,1}^{\gamma}(\varsigma \wedge \operatorname{i}_{P}\tau_{\gamma}) = \operatorname{d}_{0,1}^{\gamma}\varsigma \wedge \operatorname{i}_{P}\tau_{\gamma} + (-1)^{s}\varsigma \wedge \operatorname{d}_{0,1}^{\gamma}\operatorname{i}_{P}\tau_{\gamma} \\ &= \lambda_{\varsigma}^{\gamma} \wedge \varsigma \wedge \operatorname{i}_{P}\tau_{\gamma} - (-1)^{s}\varsigma \wedge \operatorname{i}_{Z_{P}^{\tau}}\tau_{\gamma} = (-1)^{s}\varsigma \wedge \operatorname{i}_{i_{\lambda_{\varsigma}^{\gamma}}P}\tau_{\gamma} - (-1)^{s}\varsigma \wedge \operatorname{i}_{Z_{P}^{\tau}}\tau_{\gamma} \\ &= \operatorname{i}_{P^{\sharp}\lambda_{\gamma}^{\gamma}}\Omega - \operatorname{i}_{Z_{P}^{\tau}}\Omega. \end{split}$$

Here we have applied, on the second and fifth steps, the identity

$$\mathbf{i}_A(\alpha \wedge \beta) = (-1)^{|A|} (\alpha \wedge \mathbf{i}_A \beta - \mathbf{i}_{\mathbf{i}_\alpha A} \beta), \tag{6.20}$$

valid for all $\alpha \in \Gamma(T^*M), \beta \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}T^*M)$ and $A \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}TM)$. Thus, we have proved (6.19), which implies (6.18).

. . .

The following corollary to Proposition 6.3 gives us a unimodularity criterion for a class of Poisson foliations coming from fibrations.

Corollary 6.4. Let $(M \xrightarrow{\pi} S, P)$ be a locally trivial Poisson fiber bundle. Suppose that the total space M and the base S are orientable. If the typical fiber F is a unimodular Poisson manifold, then Mod(M, P) = 0.

Proof. Consider the regular foliation $\mathcal{V} := \{\pi^{-1}(x)\}_{x \in S}$ on M associated to the projection π . As explained in Example 6.1, the orientability of the base implies $\operatorname{Mod}(\mathcal{V}) = 0$. Then, by (6.18), it suffices to show that $\operatorname{Mod}(M, \mathcal{V}, P) = 0$. Fix a nowhere vanishing top section $\tau \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\operatorname{top}} V^*)$, where $V := \ker d\pi$ is the vertical bundle, and a family of trivializations $M_i := \pi^{-1}(U_i) \cong U_i \times F$ over open sets U_i which cover S. By the unimodularity hypothesis for F, one can equip each trivial Poisson bundle $(\pi_i : M_i \to U_i, P_i := P|_{M_i})$ with a leaf-wise volume form of positive orientation $\tau_i \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\operatorname{top}} V^*|_{M_i})$ such that the corresponding modular vector field is zero, $Z_{P_i}^{\tau_i} = 0$. From here and the partition of unity argument, we conclude that there exists a global leaf-wise volume form τ_0 of \mathcal{V} such that $L_{P^{\sharp} d f} \tau_0 = 0$ for all $f \in C^{\infty}(M)$.

In the regular case, as a consequence of Proposition 6.3, we recover the result due to [83, 1] which says that the modular class of an orientable regular Poisson manifold is determined by the Reeb class of its symplectic foliation. Indeed, suppose that the Poisson manifold (M, P) is regular with rank P = 2s. Let $\mathcal{V} = \mathcal{S}$ be the symplectic foliation of P equipped with the leaf-wise symplectic form ω . Then, the canonical leaf-wise volume form $\tau = \wedge^s \omega$ of the symplectic foliation is such that the modular vector field of the Poisson foliation (M, \mathcal{S}, P) is zero, $Z_P^{\tau} = 0$. If, in addition, M is orientable, then the symplectic foliation is transversally orientable. Therefore, in this case, formula (6.18) reads $Mod(M, P) = -(P^{\sharp})^* Mod(\mathcal{S}).$

6.3 Modular vector fields of coupling Poisson structures

Let \mathcal{V} be a regular foliation of the smooth manifold M. Consider the tangent bundle $V = T\mathcal{V}$ and its annihilator $V^{\circ} \subset T^*M$.

Suppose we are given a \mathcal{V} -coupling Poisson structure [77, 65] $\Pi \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 TM)$, that is, a Poisson bivector on M such that

$$H := \Pi^{\sharp}(V^{\circ}) \tag{6.21}$$

is a normal bundle of the foliation,

$$TM = H \oplus V. \tag{6.22}$$

Then, the bigraded decomposition of Π with respect to (6.22) is of the form $\Pi = \Pi_{2,0} + \Pi_{0,2}$, where $\Pi_H := \Pi_{2,0} \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 H)$ is a bivector field of constant rank, with rank $\Pi_H = \operatorname{rank} H$, and $\Pi_{0,2} \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 V)$ is a Poisson tensor on M tangent to the foliation \mathcal{V} . Therefore, we can associate to the \mathcal{V} -coupling Poisson structure Π the Poisson foliation $(M, \mathcal{V}, P := \Pi_{0,2})$. Notice that the characteristic distribution of Π splits as $\Pi^{\sharp}(T^*M) = H \oplus P^{\sharp}(V^*)$. Hence, rank $\Pi = \operatorname{rank} H + \operatorname{rank} P$, so the set of singular points of Π and P coincide.

Moreover, the restriction $\Pi_{H}^{\sharp}|_{V^{\circ}}: V^{\circ} \to H$ is a vector bundle isomorphism and hence one can define an *H*-nondegenerated 2-form $\sigma \in \Gamma(\wedge^{2}V^{\circ})$, called the *coupling form*, by

$$\sigma^{\flat}|_{H} := -(\Pi^{\sharp}_{H}|_{V^{\circ}})^{-1} : H \to V^{\circ}.$$
(6.23)

Let γ be the connection form on (M, \mathcal{V}) associated to the normal bundle H in (6.21). Then, the geometric data (P, γ, σ) associated to the coupling Poisson tensor Π satisfy the following structure

equations [77, 65, 78]

$$[X, P] = 0 \qquad \forall X \in \Gamma(H) \cap \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V}), \tag{6.24}$$

$$R^{\gamma}(X,Y) = -P^{\sharp} d[\sigma(X,Y)] \qquad \forall X,Y \in \Gamma(H) \cap \operatorname{aut}(M,\mathcal{V}),$$
(6.25)

$$d_{1,0}^{\gamma} \sigma = 0. (6.26)$$

In particular, the first equation means that γ is a *Poisson connection* on (M, \mathcal{V}, P) . Moreover, by the *H*-nondegeneracy property of the coupling form σ , the foliation \mathcal{V} admits a canonical transversal volume element given by *l* times the product of σ , $\sigma^{l} := \sigma \wedge \cdots \wedge \sigma \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\text{top}} V^{\circ})$, where $2l := \text{rank } V^{\circ} =$ rank *H*.

Now, assume that \mathcal{V} is an orientable foliation. Then, one can associate to each leaf-wise volume form $\tau \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\text{top}}V^*)$ of \mathcal{V} a volume form Ω of M by $\Omega := \sigma^l \wedge \tau_{\gamma}$. Moreover, recall that τ gives rise to the divergence 1-form $\theta_{\tau}^{\gamma} \in \Gamma(V^{\circ})$, defined by (6.6), and the modular vector field Z_P^{τ} of the Poisson foliation (M, \mathcal{V}, P) , introduced in (6.14). We describe the modular vector fields of coupling Poisson structures in terms of these objects.

Proposition 6.5. Let Π be a coupling Poisson structure on the orientable foliated manifold (M, \mathcal{V}) associated to geometric data (P, γ, σ) . Fix a leaf-wise volume form τ of \mathcal{V} and consider the volume form $\Omega := \sigma^l \wedge \tau_{\gamma}$ of M. If $Z := Z_{\Pi}^{\Omega}$ is the corresponding modular vector field, then the bigraded components of Z relative to the splitting (6.22) are given by

$$Z_{1,0} = -\Pi^{\sharp}(\theta_{\tau}^{\gamma}), \qquad Z_{0,1} = Z_P^{\tau}.$$
(6.27)

Proof. By the definition of the modular vector field Z and using the bigraded decompositions of d and Π , we have

$$-i_{Z} \Omega = d i_{\Pi} \Omega = d_{1,0}^{\gamma} i_{\Pi_{H}} \Omega + d_{0,1}^{\gamma} i_{P} \Omega + d_{2,-1}^{\gamma} i_{\Pi_{H}} \Omega$$

$$= d_{1,0}^{\gamma} i_{\Pi_{H}} \sigma^{l} \wedge \tau_{\gamma} + i_{\Pi_{H}} \sigma^{l} \wedge d_{1,0}^{\gamma} \tau_{\gamma} + d_{0,1}^{\gamma} \sigma^{l} \wedge i_{P} \tau_{\gamma}$$

$$+ \sigma^{l} \wedge d_{0,1}^{\gamma} i_{P} \tau_{\gamma} - i_{i_{\Pi_{H}} R^{\gamma}} \Omega.$$
(6.28)

It follows from (6.23) that $i_{\Pi_H} \sigma^l = -l\sigma^{l-1}$. This together with (6.26) implies $d_{1,0}^{\gamma} i_{\Pi_H} \sigma^l = 0$. On the other hand, there exists a 1-form $\Lambda \in \Gamma(H^\circ)$ satisfying the relation $d_{0,1}^{\gamma} \sigma^l = \Lambda \wedge \sigma^l$. Then, from (6.28), by using (6.17), (6.6) and (6.20), we get

$$-\mathbf{i}_{Z} \Omega = \theta_{\tau}^{\gamma} \wedge \mathbf{i}_{\Pi_{H}} \sigma^{l} \wedge \tau_{\gamma} + \Lambda \wedge \sigma^{l} \wedge \mathbf{i}_{P} \tau_{\gamma} - \sigma^{l} \wedge \mathbf{i}_{Z_{P}^{\tau}} \tau_{\gamma} - \mathbf{i}_{\mathbf{i}_{\Pi_{H}} R^{\gamma}} \Omega$$
$$= \mathbf{i}_{\Pi_{H}^{\sharp}(\theta_{\tau}^{\gamma})} \Omega + \mathbf{i}_{P^{\sharp}\Lambda} \Omega - \mathbf{i}_{Z_{P}^{\tau}} \Omega - \mathbf{i}_{\mathbf{i}_{\Pi_{H}} R^{\gamma}} \Omega.$$

It is left to show

$$i_{\Pi_H} R^{\gamma} = P^{\sharp} \Lambda. \tag{6.29}$$

Consider the 2*l*-vector field given by *l* times the product of Π_H , $\Pi_H^l := \Pi_H \wedge \cdots \wedge \Pi_H$. Using again identities (6.20), (6.26) and the bigrading argument, we evaluate

$$\begin{aligned} (\mathbf{i}_{\Pi_{H}^{l}} \, \sigma^{l}) \Lambda &= \mathbf{i}_{\Pi_{H}^{l}} (\Lambda \wedge \sigma^{l}) = \mathbf{i}_{\Pi_{H}^{l}} (\mathrm{d} \, \sigma^{l}) = \mathbf{i}_{\Pi_{H}^{l}} (l \, \mathrm{d} \, \sigma \wedge \sigma^{l-1}) \\ &= -\mathbf{i}_{\Pi_{H}^{l}} (\mathrm{d} \, \sigma \wedge \mathbf{i}_{\Pi_{H}} \, \sigma^{l}) = -(\mathbf{i}_{\Pi_{H}^{l}} \, \sigma^{l}) \, \mathbf{i}_{\Pi_{H}} \, \mathrm{d} \, \sigma. \end{aligned}$$

From here and taking into account that $i_{\Pi_{H}^{l}} \sigma^{l} \neq 0$, we conclude $\Lambda = -i_{\Pi_{H}} d\sigma$. On the other hand, the curvature identity (6.25) implies the equality $i_{\Pi_{H}} R^{\gamma} = -P^{\sharp} i_{\Pi_{H}} d\sigma$ which together with the above representation for Λ proves (6.29).

As mentioned above, the set of singular points of the coupling Poisson structure Π coincides with the set of singular points of its leaf-tangent part $P = \Pi_{0,2}$. From the relations (6.27), we derive the following information on the behavior of the modular vector fields of Π at the singular points.

Corollary 6.6. A modular vector field of the Poisson manifold (M, Π) is tangent to the symplectic foliation of Π at a point $x \in M$ if and only if a modular vector field $Z_P^{\tau} \in \Gamma(V)$ of the Poisson foliation (M, \mathcal{V}, P) is tangent to the symplectic foliation of P at x. In particular, this is true if x is a regular point of P.

Remark 6.7. More generally, for a Poisson submanifold N of a Poisson manifold (M, Π) , one can introduce the notion of a relative modular class of N [11]. If this class vanishes, then the modular vector field of (M, Π) is tangent to N. In particular, this criterion can be applied when N is a symplectic leaf.

Notice that the 1-form $\Lambda \in \Gamma(H^{\circ})$, arising in (6.29), just coincides with the 1-form $\lambda_{\varsigma}^{\gamma}$ defined by (6.12) for $\varsigma = \sigma^l$, whose $d_{0,1}^{\gamma}$ -cohomology class gives the Reeb class of the foliation \mathcal{V} . Moreover, by the curvature relation (6.29) and Proposition 6.3, we conclude that if γ is flat, $R^{\gamma} = 0$, then

$$Mod(M, P) = Mod(M, \mathcal{V}, P).$$
(6.30)

Now, let us consider the Lie algebra $\text{Poiss}_{\mathcal{V}}(M, P)$ of all \mathcal{V} -tangent Poisson vector fields of P. Then, the projection $\gamma: TM \to V$ along H in decomposition (6.22) induces the linear mapping [71]

$$\gamma^*: H^1_{\Pi}(M) \to \frac{\operatorname{Poiss}_{\mathcal{V}}(M, P)}{\operatorname{Ham}(M, P)} \subset H^1_P(M)$$
(6.31)

from the first Poisson cohomology of (M, Π) to the first cohomology of the Poisson foliation (M, \mathcal{V}, P) . As a consequence of Proposition 6.5, this map is natural with respect to the modular classes.

Corollary 6.8. The quotient map (6.31) takes the modular class of the Poisson manifold (M, Π) to the modular class of the Poisson foliation (M, \mathcal{V}, P) , $\gamma^*(Mod(M, \Pi)) = Mod(M, \mathcal{V}, P)$.

6.4 Gauge transformations

As we already mentioned above, according to [83, 1], the unimodularity of an orientable regular Poisson manifold (M, Π) is equivalent to the triviality of the Reeb class of the characteristic (symplectic) foliation S of Π . In other words, this means that the unimodularity property is independent of the leaf-wise symplectic structure on S in the following sense: if Π is another regular Poisson structure on M which has the same characteristic foliation S, then the unimodularity of Π implies $Mod(M, \Pi) = 0$. But this fact is no longer true in the singular case.

For example, let us consider on \mathbb{R}^3 , with coordinate functions (x_1, x_2, x_3) , the linear Poisson structure $\Pi = \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{ijk} x_i \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} \wedge \frac{\partial}{\partial x_k}$ associated to the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{so}(3)$. Here ϵ_{ijk} are the *Levi-Civita* symbols. We are using the Einstein summation convention. Consider also the homogeneous Poisson

structure $\widetilde{\Pi} = f\Pi$, where $f(x_1, x_2, x_3) := x_1^4 + x_2^4 + x_3^4$. It is clear that the characteristic foliations of these structures coincide. Computing the corresponding modular vector fields with respect to the Euclidean volume form Ω in \mathbb{R}^3 , we get $Z_{\Pi}^{\Omega} \equiv 0$ and

$$Z_{\widetilde{\Pi}}^{\Omega} = 2\epsilon_{ijk} \left(x_i^3 x_j - x_i x_j^3 \right) \frac{\partial}{\partial x_k} \neq 0.$$

This shows that Π is unimodular, while $\widetilde{\Pi}$ is not, even though they have the same characteristic foliation.

On the other hand, there exists an equivalence relation for (possibly singular) Poisson structures, called the *gauge equivalence* [79], which preserves the unimodularity property.

Let (M, Π) be a Poisson manifold. Suppose we are given a closed 2-form B on M such that the endomorphism

$$(\mathrm{Id} - B^{\flat} \circ \Pi^{\sharp}) : T^*M \to T^*M \tag{6.32}$$

is invertible. Then, there exists a Poisson bivector field Π on M defined by the relation $\Pi^{\sharp} = \Pi^{\sharp} \circ (\mathrm{Id} - B^{\flat} \circ \Pi^{\sharp})^{-1}$ and represents the result of Π under the gauge transformation induced by B [79, 9]. In this case, we say that Π is *gauge equivalent* to Π . The gauge transformation modifies only the leaf-wise symplectic form of Π by means of the pull-back of the closed 2-form B, preserving the characteristic foliation. Furthermore, gauge transformations preserve the unimodularity property.

Proposition 6.9. If Π and $\widetilde{\Pi}$ are gauge equivalent Poisson structures on M, then

$$\operatorname{Mod}(M,\Pi) = 0 \iff \operatorname{Mod}(M,\Pi) = 0.$$
 (6.33)

Proof. The modular class $Mod(M, \Pi)$ of the orientable Poisson manifold (M, Π) is one-half the modular class of the cotangent bundle T^*M of M with the Lie algebroid structure defined by Π [22]. As is known [79], the map (6.32) induced by the gauge transformation is an isomorphism between the cotangent Lie algebroids associated to Π and Π . This proves the statement.

6.5 Unimodularity criteria

Assume that on the orientable foliated manifold (M, \mathcal{V}) , we are given a \mathcal{V} -coupling Poisson structure Π associated to geometric data (P, γ, σ) . Our point is to formulate some conditions for the unimodularity of Π in terms of the geometric data.

The following fact is a direct consequence of Corollary 6.8.

Lemma 6.10. The unimodularity of the coupling Poisson structure Π implies the unimodularity of the Poisson foliation (M, \mathcal{V}, P) .

Therefore, a necessary condition for vanishing of the modular class of Π is $Mod(M, \mathcal{V}, P) = 0$. Moreover, it follows from Proposition 6.3 that the unimodularity of Π implies the unimodularity of the leaf-tangent Poisson structure P in the case when the Reeb class of the foliation \mathcal{V} is trivial.

The next criterion follows from Proposition 6.5 and the following well-known fact [83]: a Poisson manifold is unimodular if and only if the modular vector field is zero with respect to a certain volume form.

6.5. UNIMODULARITY CRITERIA

Lemma 6.11. The \mathcal{V} -coupling Poisson structure Π is unimodular if and only if there exists a leaf-wise volume form $\tau \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\text{top}}V^*)$, $V = T\mathcal{V}$, such that

$$Z_P^{\tau} = 0$$
 and $d_{1,0}^{\gamma} \tau_{\gamma} = 0.$

It follows that the unimodularity of Π is independent of the coupling form σ . In other words, the mapping

$$(P, \gamma, \sigma) \mapsto (P, \gamma, \widetilde{\sigma})$$

is a foliation-preserving transformation which do not alter the unimodularity property, provided that $\tilde{\sigma}$ satisfies the nondegeneracy condition and the structure equations (6.25), (6.26). This is also a "singular" analog of the fact that, for a regular Poisson manifold, the unimodularity is independent of the leaf-wise symplectic form.

Now let us describe a special class of gauge transformations which preserve the coupling Poisson structures and naturally appear in the context of the averaging method [68]. Consider the case when the gauge form B is exact with a primitive μ vanishing along the leaves of the foliation \mathcal{V} :

$$B = -d\mu, \quad \mu \in \Gamma(V^{\circ}). \tag{6.34}$$

Then, assuming that the map (6.32) is invertible, one can show [68] that the Poisson structure Π resulting of the gauge transformation of Π is again \mathcal{V} -coupling. Furthermore, if $(\tilde{P}, \tilde{\gamma}, \tilde{\sigma})$ is the geometric data associated to $\tilde{\Pi}$, then $\tilde{P} = P$ and $\tilde{\gamma}$ is related to γ by

$$\gamma(X) - \widetilde{\gamma}(X) = P^{\sharp} d[\mu(X)] \qquad \forall X \in \operatorname{aut}(M).$$
(6.35)

Fix a nowhere vanishing section $\tau \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\text{top}}V^*)$ and let us look at the corresponding divergence forms $\theta_{\tau}^{\tilde{\gamma}}$ and θ_{τ}^{γ} . By relations (6.7) and (6.35), for every $X \in \text{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$, we have

$$\theta_{\tau}^{\widetilde{\gamma}}(X) - \theta_{\tau}^{\gamma}(X) = \operatorname{div}^{\tau}(P^{\sharp} \operatorname{d} \mu(X)) = \operatorname{L}_{Z_{P}^{\tau}}(\mu(X)).$$
(6.36)

Here, we used the identity (6.15). Formulas (6.27), (6.36), give the transition rule for the modular vector fields of Π and $\widetilde{\Pi}$.

Next, if Π is unimodular, then by Lemma 6.11 we can choose a leaf-wise volume form τ of \mathcal{V} such that $Z_P^{\tau} = 0$ and $\theta_{\tau}^{\gamma} = 0$. In this case, we have $\theta_{\tau}^{\tilde{\gamma}} = \theta_{\tau}^{\gamma} = 0$. Hence by Proposition 6.5, if the modular vector field of Π with respect to the volume form $\Omega = \sigma^l \wedge \tau_{\gamma}$ is zero, then the modular vector field of Π with respect to $\tilde{\Omega} = \sigma^l \wedge \tau_{\tilde{\gamma}}$ is also zero.

Cohomological obstructions to the unimodularity. By Lemma 6.10, a necessary condition for the unimodularity of the \mathcal{V} -coupling Poisson structure Π on (M, \mathcal{V}) is the unimodularity of the Poisson foliation (M, \mathcal{V}, P) . We will show that this condition is not sufficient, since there exists a cohomological obstruction to the unimodularity of Π .

Consider the Poisson foliation $(M, \mathcal{V}, P, \gamma)$ equipped with the Poisson connection γ corresponding to the normal bundle H in (6.21). Then, one can associate to this setup the following cochain complex $(\mathcal{C}^{\bullet}, \overline{d}^{\gamma})$, where the subspaces $\mathcal{C}^p \subset \Gamma(\wedge^p V^{\circ})$ are defined by

$$\mathcal{C}^p := \{\beta \in \Gamma(\wedge^p V^\circ) \mid i_{X_1} \cdots i_{X_p} \beta \in \operatorname{Casim}(M, P), \ \forall \ X_i \in \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})\}$$
(6.37)

and $\overline{d}^{\gamma} := d_{1,0}^{\gamma}|_{\mathcal{C}^{\bullet}}$ is the restriction of $d_{1,0}^{\gamma}$ to \mathcal{C}^{\bullet} . Therefore, \mathcal{C}^{p} consists of *p*-forms on *M* vanishing along the leaves of \mathcal{V} and taking values in the space of Casimir functions of *P* on the projectable vector fields.

There exists the following short exact sequence [71]:

$$0 \to H^{1}_{\overline{d}^{\gamma}} \xrightarrow{(\Pi^{\sharp}_{H})^{*}} H^{1}_{\Pi}(M) \xrightarrow{\gamma^{*}} \frac{\ker \rho}{\operatorname{Ham}(M, P)} \to 0,$$
(6.38)

where $\rho : \mathcal{A}^{\gamma} \to H^2_{\overline{d}^{\gamma}}$ is a morphism from a Lie subalgebra $\mathcal{A}^{\gamma} \subset \text{Poiss}_{\mathcal{V}}(M, P)$, associated with the pair (P, γ) , to the second cohomology space of $(\mathcal{C}^{\bullet}, \overline{d}^{\gamma})$.

According to Corollary 6.8 and (6.38), if

$$Mod(M, \mathcal{V}, P) = 0, \tag{6.39}$$

then there exists a unique cohomology class in $H^1_{\overline{d}^{\gamma}}$ such that its image under $-(\Pi^{\sharp}_H)^*$ is $Mod(M, \Pi)$. This cohomology class can be described as follows.

Theorem 6.12. Let M be an orientable manifold, and \mathcal{V} an orientable foliation on M. Suppose that the \mathcal{V} -coupling Poisson structure Π on M satisfies (6.39). Fix a leaf-wise volume form $\tau \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\text{top}}V^*)$ of \mathcal{V} such that $Z_P^{\tau} = 0$ and consider the Poisson connection γ associated to H in (6.21). Then, the corresponding divergence form θ_{τ}^{γ} in (6.6) is a 1-cocycle of the cochain complex ($\mathcal{C}^{\bullet}, \overline{d}^{\gamma}$), $\theta_{\tau}^{\gamma} \in \mathcal{C}^1$ and $\overline{d}^{\gamma} \theta_{\tau}^{\gamma} = 0$. Furthermore, the \overline{d}^{γ} -cohomology class of θ_{τ}^{γ} is independent of the choice of τ and related with the modular class of Π by $\operatorname{Mod}(M, \Pi) = -(\Pi_{H}^{\sharp})^* [\theta_{\tau}^{\gamma}]$.

Proof. By (6.24), every projectable section $X \in \Gamma(H) \cap \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$ is a Poisson vector field of P. Then, by using the condition $Z_P^{\tau} = 0$, properties (6.7) and (6.16), we get

$$P^{\sharp} \operatorname{d}[\theta^{\gamma}_{\tau}(X)] = P^{\sharp} \operatorname{d}[\operatorname{div}^{\tau}(X)] = [Z^{\tau}_{P}, X] = 0.$$

Therefore, $\theta_{\tau}^{\gamma}(X) \in \operatorname{Casim}(M, P) \ \forall X \in \Gamma(H) \cap \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V}) \ \text{and hence} \ \theta_{\tau}^{\gamma} \in \mathcal{C}^{1}$. Moreover, relations (6.8), (6.25) and (6.15) imply that θ_{τ}^{γ} is \overline{d}^{γ} -closed. Indeed, for all $X_{1}, X_{2} \in \operatorname{aut}(M, \mathcal{V})$,

$$(\bar{d}^{\gamma}\theta_{\tau}^{\gamma})(X_1, X_2) = \operatorname{div}^{\tau}(R^{\gamma}(X_1, X_2)) = -\operatorname{div}^{\tau}(P^{\sharp} d[\sigma(X_1, X_2)]) = -L_{Z_{\tau}^{\tau}}[\sigma(X_1, X_2)] = 0.$$

Note that any two leaf-wise volume forms for which the modular vector fields of the Poisson foliation (M, \mathcal{V}, P) vanish are related by multiplication of a Casimir function. Thus, it follows from the transition rule (6.9) that $[\theta_{\tau}^{\gamma}] \in H^{1}_{\overline{d}^{\gamma}}$ is independent on the choice of τ . Finally, $Mod(M, \Pi) = -(\Pi^{\sharp}_{H})^{*}[\theta_{\tau}^{\gamma}]$ follows from (6.27).

Corollary 6.13. If the Poisson foliation (M, \mathcal{V}, P) associated to the \mathcal{V} -coupling Poisson structure Π is unimodular, then the unimodularity of Π is equivalent to the triviality of the \overline{d}^{γ} -cohomology class of θ_{τ}^{γ} , that is, $\operatorname{Mod}(M, \Pi) = 0 \iff [\theta_{\tau}^{\gamma}] = 0$.

Example 6.14. Consider the particular case when the leaf-tangent Poisson structure P is trivial, P = 0. Then, the coupling Poisson structure Π is regular since its characteristic distribution coincides with the normal bundle H. Moreover, $(\mathcal{C}^{\bullet}, \overline{\mathbf{d}}^{\gamma})$ identifies with the foliated de Rham complex of the symplectic foliation S of Π . In particular, the cohomology class $[\theta_{\tau}^{\gamma}]$ coincides with the Reeb class Mod(S).
Note that the coupling Poisson structure Π with P = 0 can be characterized as a regular Poisson structure whose symplectic foliation S admits a transversal foliation \mathcal{V} , $TM = TS \oplus T\mathcal{V}$. So, in this case, the unimodularity criterion of Corollary 6.13 recovers the results due to [83, 1].

6.6 Flat Poisson foliations

Suppose we start with a Poisson foliation (M, \mathcal{V}, P) consisting of a regular foliation \mathcal{V} on M and a leaf-tangent Poisson structure $P \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 V)$. Suppose we are also given a regular foliation \mathcal{F} on Mwith properties: the tangent bundle $\mathbb{F} := T\mathcal{F}$ is complementary to $V = T\mathcal{V}, TM = \mathbb{F} \oplus V$, and every \mathcal{V} -projectable section Z of \mathbb{F} is a Poisson vector field on (M, P),

$$Z \in \Gamma_{\rm pr}(\mathbb{F}) \implies L_Z P = 0. \tag{6.40}$$

In other words, there is a flat Poisson connection $\gamma_0 \in \Gamma(T^*M \otimes V)$ on (M, \mathcal{V}, P) associated to the tangent bundle of $\mathcal{F}, \mathbb{F} = \ker \gamma_0$, and hence $\gamma_0 : TM \to V$ is the projection along \mathbb{F} .

Let us associate to the *flat Poisson foliation* $(M, \mathcal{V}, P, \mathcal{F})$ the following objects. According to the dual splitting $T^*M = V^{\circ} \oplus \mathbb{F}^{\circ}$, we have the bigrading of differential forms on M and the bigraded decomposition of the exterior differential on M: $\mathbf{d} = \partial_{\mathcal{F}} + \partial_{\mathcal{V}}$, where $\partial_{\mathcal{F}} := \mathbf{d}_{1,0}^{\gamma_0}$ and $\partial_{\mathcal{V}} := \mathbf{d}_{0,1}^{\gamma_0}$ are the coboundary operators on $\Gamma(\wedge^{\bullet}T^*M)$ associated to the foliated differentials $\mathbf{d}_{\mathcal{F}}$ and $\mathbf{d}_{\mathcal{V}}$. So, $\partial_{\mathcal{F}}^2 = 0$, $\partial_{\mathcal{V}}^2 = 0$ and $\partial_{\mathcal{F}}\partial_{\mathcal{V}} + \partial_{\mathcal{V}}\partial_{\mathcal{F}} = 0$.

Consider the subspaces \mathcal{C}^p defined in (6.37). In particular, $\mathcal{C}^\circ = \operatorname{Casim}(M, P)$. Furthermore, because of (6.40), $\mathcal{C}^\bullet := \bigoplus_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{C}^p$ is a $\partial_{\mathcal{F}}$ -invariant subspace of $\Gamma(\wedge^\bullet T^*M)$ and hence the restriction $\overline{\partial}_{\mathcal{F}} := \partial_{\mathcal{F}}|_{\mathcal{C}^\bullet}$ is a well-defined coboundary operator. This gives rise to a cochain subcomplex $(\mathcal{C}^\bullet, \overline{\partial}_{\mathcal{F}})$ of $(\Gamma(\wedge^\bullet V^\circ), \partial_{\mathcal{F}})$ attributed to the flat Poisson foliation which will be called the *foliated de Rham-Casimir complex* [71]. The corresponding cohomology space will be denoted by $H^\bullet_{\overline{\partial}_{\mathcal{F}}}$.

We have the following useful property [71].

Lemma 6.15. The natural homomorphism from $H^1_{\overline{\partial}_{\mathcal{F}}}$ to the first foliated de Rham cohomology $H^1_{dR}(\mathcal{F})$ is injective if and only if

$$\partial_{\mathcal{F}}(\operatorname{Casim}(M, P)) = \partial_{\mathcal{F}}(C^{\infty}(M)) \cap \mathcal{C}^{1}.$$
(6.41)

We say that a \mathcal{V} -coupling Poisson structure Π on the flat Poisson foliation $(M, \mathcal{V}, P, \mathcal{F})$ is compatible if $\Pi_{0,2} = P$ and the Poisson connection γ induced by the normal subbundle $H = \Pi^{\sharp}(T^*M)$ satisfies the condition

$$\gamma_0(X) - \gamma(X)$$
 is tangent to $P^{\sharp}(T^*M), \quad \forall X \in \Gamma(TM).$

This compatibility condition implies that $\overline{d}^{\gamma} = \overline{\partial}_{\mathcal{F}}$ and hence the cochain complex $(\mathcal{C}^{\bullet}, \overline{d}^{\gamma})$ associated to Π coincides with the foliated de Rham-Casimir complex. Also, we say that Π is *strongly compatible* if there exists $\mu \in \Gamma(V^{\circ})$ such that γ and γ_0 are related by (6.35).

First, we formulate a unimodularity criterion for the class of strongly compatible Poisson structures which involves the injectivity condition (6.41).

Theorem 6.16. Let $(M, \mathcal{V}, P, \mathcal{F})$ be a flat Poisson foliation and Π a strongly compatible coupling Poisson structure. If Π is unimodular then

$$\operatorname{Mod}(\mathcal{F}) = 0 \qquad and \qquad \operatorname{Mod}(M, \mathcal{V}, P) = 0.$$
 (6.42)

Conversely, under the injectivity condition (6.41), the unimodularity of (M, Π) is equivalent to (6.42).

Proof. Since Π is compatible, we have $\overline{d}^{\gamma} = \overline{\partial}_{\mathcal{F}}$, so $H^{1}_{\overline{d}^{\gamma}} = H^{1}_{\overline{\partial}_{\mathcal{F}}}$. Moreover, if $\operatorname{Mod}(M, \mathcal{V}, P) = 0$, then the cohomology classes $[\theta_{\tau}^{\gamma}] \in H^{1}_{\overline{d}^{\gamma}}$ and $[\theta_{\tau}^{\gamma_{0}}] \in H^{1}_{\overline{\partial}_{\mathcal{F}}}$ of the divergence 1-forms also coincide. Indeed, by the strong compatibility, formula (6.36) holds, so condition $\operatorname{Mod}(M, \mathcal{V}, P) = 0$ implies $[\theta_{\tau}^{\gamma}] = [\theta_{\tau}^{\gamma_{0}}]$. On the other hand, as shown in Section 6.1, the $\partial_{\mathcal{F}}$ -cohomology class of $\theta_{\tau}^{\gamma_{0}}$ is the Reeb class $\operatorname{Mod}(\mathcal{F}) \in H^{1}_{\mathrm{dR}}(\mathcal{F})$. In other words, the image of $[\theta_{\tau}^{\gamma_{0}}]$ under the morphism in Lemma 6.15 is $\operatorname{Mod}(\mathcal{F})$. Finally, recall that by Corollary 6.13, the unimodularity of (M, Π) is equivalent to $\operatorname{Mod}(M, \mathcal{V}, P) = 0$ and $[\theta_{\tau}^{\gamma_{1}}] = 0$. By our above discussion, this implies $\operatorname{Mod}(\mathcal{F}) = 0$. Conversely, under the injectivity condition (6.41), equation (6.42) implies $[\theta_{\tau}^{\gamma_{1}}] = [\theta_{\tau}^{\gamma_{0}}] = 0$. By Corollary 6.13, the proof is complete.

We have also the following unimodularity criterion in the case when the first cohomology of the foliated de Rham-Casimir complex is trivial.

Theorem 6.17. Let Π be a compatible coupling Poisson structure on the flat Poisson foliation $(M, \mathcal{V}, P, \mathcal{F})$. If

$$H^1_{\overline{\partial}_\tau} = \{0\},\tag{6.43}$$

then (M,Π) is unimodular if and only if $Mod(M, \mathcal{V}, P) = 0$.

Proof. The compatibility condition implies $H^1_{\overline{d}\gamma} = H^1_{\overline{\partial}_F}$. Thus, the short exact sequence (6.38) reads

$$0 \to H^{1}_{\overline{\partial}_{\mathcal{F}}} \xrightarrow{(\Pi^{\sharp}_{H})^{*}} H^{1}_{\Pi}(M) \xrightarrow{\gamma^{*}} \frac{\ker \rho}{\operatorname{Ham}(M, P)} \to 0.$$

Hence, under condition (6.43), the projection γ^* is an isomorphism. Moreover, by Corollary 6.8, γ^* maps $Mod(M, \Pi)$ to $Mod(M, \mathcal{V}, P)$.

Now let us discuss some realizations of conditions (6.41), (6.43). Consider the space $\operatorname{Ham}(M, P)$ of Hamiltonian vector fields of the \mathcal{V} -tangent Poisson structure P. Then one can introduce the following two subspaces of $\operatorname{Ham}(M, P)$ depending on the foliation \mathcal{F} . Let $\operatorname{Ham}_{\mathcal{F}}(M, P) := \{P^{\sharp} df \mid f \in C^{\infty}(M), \partial_{\mathcal{F}} f = 0\}$ be the Lie algebra of all Hamiltonian vector fields of \mathcal{F} -projectable functions, and $\operatorname{Ham}_0(M, P) := \{Y \in \operatorname{Ham}(M, P) \mid [Y, \Gamma_{\mathrm{pr}}(\mathbb{F})] = 0\}$ the Lie algebra of \mathcal{F} -projectable Hamiltonian vector fields. It follows from $\Gamma_{\mathrm{pr}}(\mathbb{F}) \subset \operatorname{Poiss}(M, P)$ that $\operatorname{Ham}_{\mathcal{F}}(M, P) \subseteq \operatorname{Ham}_0(M, P)$. Then, we have the following fact [71]: injectivity condition (6.41) holds if and only if $\operatorname{Ham}_{\mathcal{F}}(M, P) = \operatorname{Ham}_0(M, P)$. This condition together with the assumption $H^1_{\mathrm{dR}}(\mathcal{F}) = \{0\}$ on the triviality of the first foliated de Rham cohomology of (M, \mathcal{F}) implies (6.43).

Moreover, we have the following realization of condition (6.43) in the case of a flat Poisson fibration. Suppose we have a transversal bi-fibration $N \stackrel{\nu}{\leftarrow} M \stackrel{\pi}{\rightarrow} S$,

$$TM = \ker d\nu \oplus \ker d\pi.$$

Let $\mathcal{F} = \{\nu^{-1}(\xi)\}_{\xi \in N}$ and $\mathcal{V} = \{\pi^{-1}(q)\}_{q \in S}$ be the regular foliations of M defined by the fibers of the submersions ν and π , respectively. So, $\mathbb{F} = T\mathcal{F} = \ker d\nu$ and $V = T\mathcal{V} = \ker d\pi$. Assume also that we are given a Poisson tensor $P \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 V)$ such that the triple $(M \xrightarrow{\pi} S, P, \mathcal{F})$ is a flat Poisson fibration, that is, $\Gamma_{\rm pr}(\mathbb{F}) \subset {\rm Poiss}(M, P)$. Then, there exists a unique Poisson structure Ψ on N such that the projection $\nu : (M, P) \to (N, \Psi)$ is a Poisson map. One can show [71] that condition (6.43) holds if

$$H^{1}_{\mathrm{dR}}(\mathcal{F}) = \{0\} \text{ and } H^{1}_{\Psi}(N) = \{0\}.$$

Notice that the last condition implies (6.41).

We conclude this section by constructing a class of unimodular compatible Poisson structures.

Flat coupling Poisson structures. Let $(M, \mathcal{V}, P, \mathcal{F})$ be a flat Poisson foliation. Suppose we are given a $\overline{\partial}_{\mathcal{F}}$ -closed, \mathbb{F} -nondegenerated 2-form $\sigma_0 \in \mathcal{C}^2$, that is, $\overline{\partial}_{\mathcal{F}}\sigma_0 = 0$ and $\sigma_0^{\flat}|_{\mathbb{F}} : \mathbb{F} \to V^{\circ}$ is an isomorphism. Then, one can define a coupling Poisson structure associated with the geometric data (P, γ_0, σ_0) :

$$\Pi_{\text{flat}} = \Pi_F + P, \tag{6.44}$$

where $\Pi_F \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 \mathbb{F})$ is a bivector field defined by the condition that the restriction $(\Pi_F)^{\sharp}|_{V^{\circ}}$ equals to the inverse of $-\sigma_0^{\flat}|_{\mathbb{F}}$. In this case, Π_F is a regular Poisson tensor which together with P forms a Poisson pair. Since the symplectic foliation of Π_F is just \mathcal{F} , it is clear that Π_{flat} is a compatible Poisson structure and $\operatorname{Mod}(M, \Pi_F) = -\Pi_F^{\sharp}(\operatorname{Mod}(\mathcal{F}))$. Assuming that \mathcal{V} is orientable and equipped with a nowhere vanishing section $\tau \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\operatorname{top}}V^*)$, we define a volume form as $\Omega_0 = \sigma_0^l \wedge \tau_{\gamma_0}$, $2l := \operatorname{rank} \mathbb{F}$. Then, the modular vector field of Π_{flat} relative to Ω_0 is represented as $Z_{\Pi_{\text{flat}}}^{\Omega_0} = Z_{\Pi_F}^{\Omega_0} + Z_P^{\Omega_0}$. Under the injectivity condition (6.41), we conclude from (6.30) and Theorem 6.16 that Π_{flat} is unimodular if and only if $\operatorname{Mod}(\mathcal{F}) = 0$ and $\operatorname{Mod}(M, P) = 0$. In this case, according to Proposition 6.9, a gauge transformation (6.32), (6.34) modifies Π_{flat} preserving the unimodularity property.

6.7 Coupling neighborhoods of a symplectic leaf

Let (M, Π) be a Poisson manifold and $\iota : S \hookrightarrow M$ an embedded symplectic leaf.

By a coupling neighborhood of S, we mean an open neighborhood N of S in M equipped with a surjective submersion $\pi: N \to S$ such that $\pi \circ \iota = \mathrm{Id}_S$,

$$\operatorname{rank} H = \dim S, \quad \text{and} \quad H \cap V = \{0\}, \tag{6.45}$$

where $V = \ker d\pi$ is the vertical subbundle of π and $H = \Pi^{\sharp}(V^{\circ})$ is the horizontal subbundle associated to Π . It is clear that conditions in (6.45) are equivalent to the splitting $TN = H \oplus V$. Therefore the restriction $\Pi|_N$ is a \mathcal{V} -coupling Poisson structure on N, where the foliation $\mathcal{V} = \mathcal{V}^{\pi} := \{N_q = \pi^{-1}(q)\}_{q \in S}$ is given by the π -fibers. Taking into account that the symplectic leaf S is an orientable manifold, we conclude that the Reeb class of \mathcal{V}^{π} is trivial (see Example 6.1). So, $\Pi|_N$ has a bigraded decomposition into a horizontal part of constant rank and a vertical Poisson tensor $P \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 V)$ vanishing at the points of S. The Poisson structure P is said to be a *transverse Poisson structure* of the leaf. The restriction $P_q := P|_{N_q}$ of P to the fiber N_q over every point $q \in S$ just gives the transverse Poisson structure of q due to Weinstein's splitting theorem [82]. Moreover, the Poisson connection γ on N is defined by $\ker \gamma = \Pi^{\sharp}(V^{\circ})$ and the coupling form $\sigma \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 V^{\circ})$ has the representation $\sigma = \pi^* \omega + \tilde{\sigma}$, where ω is the symplectic form on S and $\tilde{\sigma}$ is a horizontal 2-form vanishing at S.

For a given embedded symplectic leaf S, there exists always such a coupling neighborhood N [77]. In particular, one can choose N as a tubular neighborhood of S diffeomorphic to the normal bundle $E = T_S M / TS$ of the symplectic leaf. If the normal bundle E is orientable, then N admits a volume form. Of course, this is true in the case when M is orientable. Hence, under the orientability hypothesis, the point is to study the germs at S of the modular vector fields of Π and the corresponding germified modular class.

First we formulate the following result.

Proposition 6.18. If the Poisson structure Π is unimodular in a neighborhood of the embedded symplectic leaf S, then there exists a coupling neighborhood N of S such that the transverse Poisson structure P of S is also unimodular.

Proof. The statement follows from Lemma 6.10, Proposition 6.3 and the fact that in a tubular neighborhood of S, the Reeb class of the fibration is trivial.

We say that the germ of the transverse Poisson structure at a point $q \in S$ is unimodular if there exists a submanifold N_q of M meeting the symplectic leaf S at q transversally, and such that

$$\operatorname{Mod}(N_q, P_q) = 0.$$

Theorem 6.19. Let S be an embedded symplectic leaf of an orientable Poisson manifold (M, Π) and $q \in S$ a fixed point. Assume that the germ at $q \in S$ of the transverse Poisson structure P_q is unimodular. Then, one can choose a coupling neighborhood $(N \xrightarrow{\pi} S)$ of S with properties: there exists a leaf-wise volume form $\tau \in \Gamma(\wedge^{\text{top}}V^*)$ of the vertical subbundle \mathcal{V}^{π} such that the modular vector field of the Poisson foliation $(N, \mathcal{V}^{\pi}, P)$ vanishes. Furthermore, the modular vector field of $\Pi|_N$ with respect to the volume form $\Omega = \sigma^l \wedge \tau_{\gamma}$ is tangent to the symplectic foliation and the corresponding modular class is given by

$$\operatorname{Mod}(N,\Pi|_N) = -(\Pi_H^{\sharp})^* [\theta_{\tau}^{\gamma}].$$

Here, the divergence form θ_{τ}^{γ} induced by the pair (τ, γ) is a 1-cocycle of the cochain complex $(\mathcal{C}^{\bullet}, \overline{d}^{\gamma})$.

Proof. Choose a coupling neighborhood N such that the Poisson fiber bundle $(N \xrightarrow{\pi} S, P)$ is locally trivial with typical fiber (N_q, P_q) . Then, by the proof of Corollary 6.4 we conclude that $Mod(N, \mathcal{V}^{\pi}, P) = 0$. From Theorem 6.12, we derive the desired result.

Flat coupling neighborhoods. We say that a coupling neighborhood $N \xrightarrow{\pi} S$ over the leaf S is flat if there exists a regular foliation \mathcal{F} on N such that (i) the tangent bundle $\mathbb{F} := T\mathcal{F}$ is complementary to the vertical subbundle V of π ; (ii) each π -projectable section of \mathbb{F} is an infinitesimal automorphism of the transverse Poisson structure $P \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 V)$; (iii) the foliation is compatible with the Poisson connection γ on N associated to the horizontal subbundle H in the following sense:

$$X - \gamma(X)$$
 is tangent to $P^{\sharp}(T^*M) \qquad \forall X \in \Gamma_{\mathrm{pr}}(\mathbb{F}).$

Theorem 6.20. Let S be an embedded symplectic leaf of an orientable Poisson manifold (M, Π) which admits a flat coupling neighborhood $(N \xrightarrow{\pi} S, \mathcal{F})$. Let P be the transverse Poisson structure on N of the leaf. If $H^1_{\overline{\partial}_{\pi}} = \{0\}$, then the following assertions are equivalent:

- (a) the restriction of Π to N is unimodular;
- (b) the Poisson manifold (N, P) is unimodular;
- (c) the Poisson fibration $(N \xrightarrow{\pi} S, P)$ is unimodular,

$$Mod(N, \mathcal{V}^{\pi}, P) = 0. \tag{6.46}$$

Proof. By Theorem 6.17, the assertions of items (a) and (c) are equivalent. The equivalence of (b) and (c) follows from Proposition 6.3 and the orientability of the symplectic leaf S.

Suppose we are given a flat Poisson fiber bundle $(\pi : M \to S, P, \mathcal{F})$ over a symplectic base (S, ω) . Assume that S is an embedded submanifold of M, the inclusion map $\iota : S \hookrightarrow M$ is a section of π , $T_S \mathcal{F} = TS$ and the vertical Poisson structure $P \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 V)$ vanishes at the points of S. Let γ_0 be the flat Poisson connection on the Poisson fiber bundle $(\pi : M \to S, P)$ associated to the foliation \mathcal{F} . Denote by hor^{γ_0} the corresponding γ_0 -horizontal lift and by $\psi \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 TS)$ the nondegenerated Poisson tensor of the symplectic manifold S. Then, putting $\sigma_0 = \pi^* \omega$, we get that formula (6.44) gives the following flat coupling Poisson tensor on M: $\Pi_{\text{flat}} = \text{hor}^{\gamma_0}(\psi) + P$. It is clear that (S, ω) is a symplectic leaf of Π_{flat} . Moreover, for a given horizontal 1-form $\mu \in \Gamma(V^\circ)$ on M vanishing along S, $\iota^* \mu = 0$, there exists a neighborhood N of S in M, such that the gauge transformation (6.32), (6.34) associated to μ is well-defined. Therefore, N is a flat coupling neighborhood of S for the deformed Poisson structure $\widetilde{\Pi}_{\text{flat}}$. We get from Theorem 6.16 that the injectivity condition (6.41) together with $\operatorname{Mod}(\mathcal{F}) = 0$ and (6.46) provides the unimodularity of $\widetilde{\Pi}_{\text{flat}}$.

6.8 The generalized Reeb class of a symplectic leaf

Let (M,Π) be a Poisson manifold and $S \hookrightarrow M$ an embedded symplectic leaf. Fix two exponential maps $\mathbf{f}, \widetilde{\mathbf{f}} : E \to M$ from the normal bundle E of S to a tubular neighborhood N of S. Consider the coupling Poisson structures $\mathbf{f}^*\Pi$ and $\widetilde{\mathbf{f}}^*\Pi$ and their associated geometric data (P, γ, σ) and $(\widetilde{P}, \widetilde{\gamma}, \widetilde{\sigma})$. Recall from Theorem 2.30 that the following relations hold for some $g \in \operatorname{Aut}(E)$ and $Q \in \Gamma(V^\circ)$:

$$g^*\widetilde{P} = P,$$
 $\gamma - g^*\widetilde{\gamma} = P^{\sharp}(\mathrm{d}\,Q)^{\flat},$ $g^*\widetilde{\sigma} = \sigma - (\mathrm{d}_{1,0}^{\gamma}\,Q + \frac{1}{2}\{Q \wedge Q\}_P).$

Proposition 6.21. Let $(\mathcal{N}_0,\overline{\partial})$ and $(\widetilde{\mathcal{N}}_0,\widetilde{\overline{\partial}})$ be the respective de Rham - Casimir complexes. Then,

1. The pullback $g^* : (\widetilde{\mathcal{N}}_0, \overline{\overline{\partial}}) \to (\mathcal{N}_0, \overline{\partial})$ is a cochain complex isomorphism.

2. If the transverse Poisson structure of S is unimodular, then

$$(g^*)_* \operatorname{Reeb}(S) = \operatorname{Reeb}(S).$$

Proof. Since $g \in \operatorname{Aut}(E)$, g^* maps horizontal forms to horizontal forms. Moreover, $g^*\widetilde{P} = P$ implies $g^*\widetilde{\mathcal{N}}_0 = \mathcal{N}_0$. On the other hand, since the connections γ and $g^*\widetilde{\gamma}$ differ by Hamiltonian vector fields, it follows that their covariant derivatives coincide on \mathcal{N}_0 . By $g \in \operatorname{Aut}(E)$, we have

$$g^* \circ \widetilde{\overline{\partial}} = g^* \circ \mathrm{d}_{1,0}^{\widetilde{\gamma}} |_{\widetilde{\mathcal{N}}_0} = \mathrm{d}_{1,0}^{g^* \widetilde{\gamma}} |_{g^* \widetilde{\mathcal{N}}_0} \circ g^* = \mathrm{d}_{1,0}^{\gamma} |_{\mathcal{N}_0} \circ g^* = \overline{\partial} \circ g^*.$$

This proves the first part. For the second one, observe that if $\tilde{\tau}$ is a fiber-wise volume form preserved under the Hamiltonian vector fields of \tilde{P} , then $\tau := g^* \tilde{\tau}$ is preserved under the Hamiltonian vector fields of P. Furthermore, the corresponding divergence 1-forms satisfy

$$g^*\theta_{\widetilde{\tau}}^{\widetilde{\gamma}} \wedge \tau = g^*\theta_{\widetilde{\tau}}^{\widetilde{\gamma}} \wedge g^*\widetilde{\tau} = g^*(\theta_{\widetilde{\tau}}^{\widetilde{\gamma}} \wedge \widetilde{\tau}) = g^*(\mathbf{d}_{1,0}^{\widetilde{\gamma}} \widetilde{\tau}) = \mathbf{d}_{1,0}^{g^*\widetilde{\gamma}} g^*\widetilde{\tau} = \mathbf{d}_{1,0}^{\gamma - P^{\sharp}(\mathbf{d} Q)^{\flat}} \tau = \mathbf{d}_{1,0}^{\gamma} \tau = \theta_{\tau}^{\gamma} \wedge \tau.$$

Here, in the penultimate step, we have applied the fact that τ is invariant under Ham(E, P). Therefore, $g^*\theta_{\tau}^{\tilde{\gamma}} = \theta_{\tau}^{\gamma}$. Taking into account the first part of this theorem, we get

$$(g^*)_* \widetilde{\operatorname{Reeb}}(S) = (g^*)_* [\theta^{\widetilde{\gamma}}_{\widetilde{\tau}}] = [g^* \theta^{\widetilde{\gamma}}_{\widetilde{\tau}}] = [\theta^{\gamma}_{\tau}] = \operatorname{Reeb}(S).$$

Due to this result, there is a well-defined notion of the generalized Reeb class of a symplectic leaf.

140 6. THE MODULAR CLASS OF POISSON STRUCTURES ON FOLIATED MANIFOLDS

Part IV Appendix

Appendix A

Some algebraic properties of coupling structures

Here, we give a proof of Lemma 2.3.

Lemma A.1. For the Lagrangian subspace $D \subset W$, the following assertions are equivalent:

(a) D is V-coupling.

(b)
$$H \oplus V = W$$
.

(c)
$$V^{\circ} \oplus A = W^*$$
.

In this case, Ann(H) = A.

Proof. Suppose that D is a V-coupling Lagrangian subspace of \mathbb{W} . If $w \in H \cap V$, then there exists $\alpha \in V^{\circ}$ such that $w \oplus \alpha \in D \cap \mathbb{V} = \{0\}$. Therefore, w = 0, so $H \cap V = \{0\}$. Moreover, if $w \in W$ is arbitrary, then there exists $\eta \in D$, $v \in V$, and $\alpha \in V^{\circ}$ such that $w \oplus 0 = \eta + v \oplus \alpha$. This implies that $(w - v) \oplus \alpha = \eta \in D$, with $\alpha \in V^{\circ}$, so $w - v \in H$. This shows that $w \in V + H$, which proves $(a \Rightarrow b)$. Conversely, suppose that $H \oplus V = W$. If $\eta \in D \cap \mathbb{V}$, then $\eta = v \oplus \alpha$ for some $v \in V$ and $\alpha \in V^{\circ}$. Then, $v \in H \cap V = \{0\}$, so $\eta = 0 \oplus \alpha$. Now, take $X \in H$ and $\beta \in V^{\circ}$ such that $X \oplus \beta \in D$. By the isotropy of D,

$$0 = \langle X \oplus \beta, 0 \oplus \alpha \rangle = \alpha(X).$$

Since $X \in H$ is arbitrary, we get $\alpha \in H^{\circ} \cap V^{\circ} = \{0\}$. This proves that $\eta = 0$. Therefore, $D \cap \mathbb{V} = \{0\}$, proving that D is V-coupling. This completes the proof of $(a \Leftrightarrow b)$. The equivalence $(a \Leftrightarrow c)$ is analogous: just change the role between vectors and covectors. Finally, to see that $\operatorname{Ann}(H) = A$ when D is V-coupling, just note that $A \subseteq \operatorname{Ann}(H)$ and, from (b) and (c), that

$$\dim A = \operatorname{codim} V^{\circ} = \dim V = \operatorname{codim} H = \dim \operatorname{Ann}(H).$$

Lemma A.2. Let (P, γ, σ) be geometric data on (W, V). Then,

$$D_{P,\gamma,\sigma} = \{ (P^{\sharp}\mu + X) \oplus (\mu - i_X \sigma) \mid X \in H^{\gamma}, \mu \in A^{\gamma} \} = \operatorname{Graph}(P^{\sharp}|_{A^{\gamma}}) \oplus \operatorname{Graph}(-\sigma^{\flat}|_{H^{\gamma}})$$

is a maximally isotropic subspace of \mathbb{W} which is V-coupling.

Proof. Denote $D \equiv D_{P,\gamma,\sigma}$. First we observe that

 $\dim D = \dim \operatorname{Graph}(P^{\sharp}|_{A^{\gamma}}) + \dim \operatorname{Graph}(-\sigma^{\flat}|_{H^{\gamma}}) = \dim A^{\gamma} + \dim H^{\gamma} = W,$

due to the fact that $A^{\gamma} = \operatorname{Ann}(H^{\gamma})$. Now, pick $\eta_1, \eta_2 \in D$. Then, there exist $\mu_i \in A^{\gamma}$ and $X_i \in H^{\gamma}$ such that $\eta_i = (P^{\sharp} \mu_i + X_i) \oplus (\mu_i - i_{X_i} \sigma), i = 1, 2$. Hence,

$$\langle \eta_1, \eta_2 \rangle = -i_{X_1} \sigma(X_2) + \mu_1(P^{\sharp}\mu_2) - i_{X_2} \sigma(X_1) + \mu_2(P^{\sharp}\mu_1) = 0.$$

Here, we have taken into account that $P^{\sharp}\mu_i \in V$, $i_{X_i} \sigma \in V^{\circ}$, and the skew-symmetry of P and σ . This shows that D is maximally isotropic. To see that D is V-coupling, take $\eta \in D \cap \mathbb{V}$. Then, $\eta = (P^{\sharp}\mu + X) \oplus (\mu - i_X \sigma)$ for some $\mu \in A^{\gamma}$, $X \in H^{\gamma}$, and $\eta \in V \oplus V^{\circ}$. Since $P^{\sharp}\mu + X \in V$, it follows that $X \in H^{\gamma} \cap V = \ker(\gamma) \cap \operatorname{in}(\gamma)$; and since $\mu - i_X \sigma \in V^{\circ}$, we get that $\mu \in V^{\circ} \cap A^{\gamma} = \ker(\gamma^*) \cap \operatorname{in}(\gamma^*)$. Since $\gamma^2 = \gamma$, we conclude that $\ker(\gamma) \cap \operatorname{in}(\gamma) = 0$, and $\ker(\gamma^*) \cap \operatorname{in}(\gamma^*)$. Hence, $\mu = 0$, X = 0, and $\eta = 0$. This proves that $D \cap \mathbb{V} = 0$, so D is V-coupling.

Lemma A.3. Let D be a V-coupling Lagrangian subspace of \mathbb{W} . Then, for each $X \in H(D, V)$ there exists a unique $\alpha \in V^{\circ}$ such that $X \oplus \alpha \in D$. Furthermore, there exists a unique $\sigma_D \in \wedge^2 V^{\circ}$ such that $X \oplus (-i_X \sigma_D) \in D$ for all $X \in H(D, V)$. Similarly, there exists a unique $P_D \in \wedge^2 V$ such that $P_D^{\sharp} \mu \oplus \mu \in D$ for all $\mu \in A(D, V)$.

Proof. Let $X \in H(D, V)$ and $\alpha, \alpha' \in V^{\circ}$ such that $X \oplus \alpha, X \oplus \alpha' \in D$. Then, $0 \oplus (\alpha - \alpha') \in D \cap \mathbb{V}$. Since D is V-coupling, it follows that $\alpha - \alpha' = 0$. Now, let $T : H(D, V) \to V^{\circ}$ be the map defined by the relation $X \oplus T(X) \in D$. Let us show that T is linear. If $X \oplus T(X), Y \oplus T(Y) \in D$, then $(X + rY) \oplus (T(X) + rT(Y)) \in D$ for each scalar r, so T(X + rY) = T(X) + rT(Y). Moreover, observe that T(X)(Y) = -T(Y)(X). Indeed,

$$T(X)(Y) + T(Y)(X) = \langle X \oplus T(X), Y \oplus T(Y) \rangle = 0,$$

due to the isotropy of D. Therefore, there exists a unique $\sigma_D \in \wedge^2 V^\circ$ such that $\sigma_D^\flat|_{H(D,V)} = T$, that is, $X \oplus (-i_X \sigma_D) \in D$ for all $X \in H(D, V)$. The construction of $P_D \in \wedge^2 V$ is totally analogous.

We have shown in Lemma A.2 that, given geometric data (P, γ, σ) , there sum of the restricted graphs is a coupling Lagrangian subbundle $D_{P,\gamma,\sigma}$ on (W, V). Conversely, in Lemma A.3, it was shown that the triple $(P_D, \gamma_D, \sigma_D)$ is a geometric data on (W, V), where $\gamma_D : W \to W$ is the projection over V along the splitting $H(D, V) \oplus V = W$. It is left to be shown that both constructions define the one-to-one correspondence of Proposition 2.4.

Proposition A.4. The correspondence between coupling Lagrangian subspaces and geometric data given by Lemmas A.2 and A.3 is one-to-one.

Proof. Let D be a V-coupling Lagrangian subspace of \mathbb{W} , and consider the geometric data $(P_D, \gamma_D, \sigma_D)$ defined as in Lemma A.3. Now, consider the V-coupling Lagrangian subspace $D_{P_D,\gamma_D,\sigma_D}$ given as in Lemma A.2. We have to show that $D_{P_D,\gamma_D,\sigma_D} = D$. By definition, $P_D \in \wedge^2 V$ is such that $P_D^{\sharp} \mu \oplus \mu \in D$ for all $\mu \in A(D, V)$. Therefore, $\operatorname{Graph}(P_D^{\sharp}|_{A(D,V)}) \subset D$. Similarly, $\operatorname{Graph}(\sigma_D^{\flat}|_{H(D,V)}) \subset D$. Since $D_{P_D,\gamma_D,\sigma_D}$ is the sum of both graphs, we conclude that $D_{P_D,\gamma_D,\sigma_D} \subseteq D$. Finally, since $D_{P_D,\gamma_D,\sigma_D}$ and D are maximally isotropic subspaces, we get $D_{P_D,\gamma_D,\sigma_D} = D$. Conversely, let (P,γ,σ) be a triple of geometric data, and let $D_{P,\gamma,\sigma}$ be given as in Lemma A.2. Now, consider the triple of geometric data $(\tilde{P}, \tilde{\gamma}, \tilde{\sigma})$ defined by $D_{P,\gamma,\sigma}$ as in Lemma A.3. We must show that $(\tilde{P}, \tilde{\gamma}, \tilde{\sigma}) = (P, \gamma, \sigma)$. First note that, since $D_{P,\gamma,\sigma}$ is the sum of the graphs of $\sigma \in \wedge^2 V^{\circ}$ and $P \in \wedge^2 V$ restricted to H^{γ} and A^{γ} , respectively, we have that $H(D_{P,\gamma,\sigma}, V) = H^{\gamma}$, so $\tilde{\gamma} = \gamma$. Since $\tilde{\sigma} \in \wedge^2 V^{\circ}$ is defined in such a way that $X \oplus (-i_X \tilde{\sigma}) \in D_{P,\gamma,\sigma}$ for all $X \in H(D_{P,\gamma,\sigma}, V)$, we conclude that $-i_X \tilde{\sigma} = -i_X \sigma$ for all $X \in H^{\gamma}$. By Lemma 2.3 (b), we get $\tilde{\sigma} = \sigma$. The proof of $\tilde{P} = P$ is analogous.

Appendix B

Courant algebroids from 3-forms

B.1 Some useful formulas

Here we state and proof some useful computational facts which are needed in several parts of the text.

Lemma B.1. Let $(E, q, [\cdot, \cdot]_E)$ be a Lie algebroid and $\Pi \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 E)$. Then, for all $\alpha, \beta, \theta \in \Gamma(E^*)$, we have

$$[\Pi,\Pi]_E(\alpha_1,\alpha_2,\alpha_3) = -2\sum_{(1,2,3)}\Pi(\alpha_1,\partial\Pi(\alpha_2,\alpha_3)) - \alpha_3[\Pi^{\sharp}\alpha_1,\Pi^{\sharp}\alpha_2]_E.$$

Proof. By definition of the Schouten bracket,

By straightforward computation, we get

$$i_{\Pi} \partial i_{\Pi} (\alpha_1 \wedge \alpha_2 \wedge \alpha_3) = \sum_{(1,2,3)} \Pi(\partial \Pi(\alpha_1, \alpha_2), \alpha_3) - \Pi(\alpha_1, \alpha_2) i_{\Pi} \partial \alpha_3,$$

and

$$\mathbf{i}_{\Pi} \, \mathbf{i}_{\Pi} \, \partial(\alpha_1 \wedge \alpha_2 \wedge \alpha_3) = -2 \sum_{(1,2,3)} \Pi(\alpha_1, \alpha_2) (\mathbf{i}_{\Pi} \, \partial\alpha_3) + 2 \Pi(\alpha_1, \partial \Pi(\alpha_2, \alpha_3)) - \alpha_3 [\Pi^{\sharp} \alpha_1, \Pi^{\sharp} \alpha_2]_E.$$

Therefore,

$$[\Pi,\Pi]_E(\alpha_1,\alpha_2,\alpha_3) = -2\sum_{(1,2,3)}\Pi(\alpha_1,\partial\Pi(\alpha_2,\alpha_3)) - \alpha_3[\Pi^{\sharp}\alpha_1,\Pi^{\sharp}\alpha_2]_E.$$

Lemma B.2. Let $(E,q,[\cdot,\cdot]_E)$ be a Lie algebroid, $P \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 E)$ a bivector, and $\psi \in \Gamma(\wedge^3 E^*)$ a 3-cocycle, $\partial \psi = 0$. Define

$$\{\alpha,\beta\}_{P,\psi} := \mathcal{L}^{\mathfrak{d}}_{P^{\sharp}\alpha} \beta - \mathbf{i}_{P^{\sharp}\beta} \partial \alpha - \mathbf{i}_{P^{\sharp}\beta} \mathbf{i}_{P^{\sharp}\alpha} \psi, \qquad \qquad \forall \alpha,\beta \in \Gamma(E^*).$$

If $X \in \Gamma(E)$, $\mu, \nu \in \Gamma(E^*)$ are such that $\mu(X) = \nu(X) = 0$, then

$$i_X \{\mu, \nu\}_{P,\psi} + P^{\sharp} i_X \psi(\mu, \nu) = [X, P]_E(\mu, \nu).$$

Proof. By straightforward computations,

$$[X, P]_{E}(\mu, \nu) = L_{X}^{\partial} P(\mu, \nu) = L_{X}(P(\mu, \nu)) - P(L_{X} \mu, \nu) - P(\mu, L_{X} \nu)$$

= $L_{X}(P(\mu, \nu)) + L_{X} \mu(P^{\sharp}\nu) - L_{X} \nu(P^{\sharp}\mu)$
= $L_{X}(P(\mu, \nu)) + L_{X}(\mu(P^{\sharp}\nu)) - \mu[X, P^{\sharp}\nu] - L_{X}(\nu(P^{\sharp}\mu)) + \nu[X, P^{\sharp}\mu].$

Also, since $\mu(X) = \nu(X) = 0$,

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{i}_{X}\{\mu,\nu\}_{P,\psi} + P^{\sharp} \, \mathbf{i}_{X} \, \psi(\mu,\nu) &= (\mathbf{L}_{P^{\sharp}\mu}^{\eth} \, \nu - \mathbf{i}_{P^{\sharp}\nu} \, \eth \mu - \mathbf{i}_{P^{\sharp}\nu} \, \mathbf{i}_{P^{\sharp}\mu} \, \psi)(X) + \mathbf{i}_{X} \, \psi(P^{\sharp}\mu,P^{\sharp}\nu) \\ &= \mathbf{L}_{P^{\sharp}\mu}^{\eth} \, \nu(X) - \mathbf{i}_{P^{\sharp}\nu} \, \eth \mu(X) \\ &= \mathbf{L}_{P^{\sharp}\mu}^{\eth} (\nu(X)) - \nu[P^{\sharp}\mu,X]_{E} - \mathbf{L}_{P^{\sharp}\nu}^{\eth} (\mu(X)) + \mathbf{L}_{X}^{\eth} (\mu(P^{\sharp}\nu)) + \mu[P^{\sharp}\nu,X]_{E} \\ &= -\mathbf{L}_{X}^{\eth} (P(\mu,\nu)) + \mu[P^{\sharp}\nu,X]_{E} - \nu[P^{\sharp}\mu,X]_{E}. \end{split}$$

In the case when $\psi = 0$, we get the following immediate consequence of Lemma B.2.

Lemma B.3. Let $(E, q, [\cdot, \cdot]_E)$ be a Lie algebroid, $P \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 E)$ a bivector, and

$$\{\alpha,\beta\}_P := \mathcal{L}^{\mathbf{\partial}}_{P^{\sharp}\alpha}\beta - \mathcal{i}_{P^{\sharp}\beta}\partial\alpha, \qquad \forall \alpha,\beta \in \Gamma(E^*)$$

If $X \in \Gamma(E)$, $\mu, \nu \in \Gamma(E^*)$ are such that $\mu(X) = \nu(X) = 0$, then

$$i_X \{\mu, \nu\}_P = [X, P]_E(\mu, \nu).$$

Lemma B.4. Let $(E, q, [\cdot, \cdot]_E)$ be a Lie algebroid, $a \in \Gamma(E)$ and $\Pi \in \Gamma(\wedge^2 E)$. Then, for all $\alpha, \beta \in \Gamma(E^*)$ and $a \in \Gamma(E)$, we have

$$\mathcal{L}^{\partial}_{a}(\Pi(\alpha,\beta)) = [a,\Pi]_{E}(\alpha,\beta) + \Pi(\mathcal{L}^{\partial}_{a}\alpha,\beta) + \Pi(\alpha,\mathcal{L}^{\partial}_{a}\beta), \quad and \quad [a,\Pi^{\sharp}\alpha]_{E} = \Pi^{\sharp}\mathcal{L}^{\partial}_{a}\alpha + \mathbf{i}_{\alpha}[a,\Pi]_{E}.$$

Proof. By definition of the Schouten bracket,

$$\begin{split} [a,\Pi]_E(\alpha,\beta) &= -\operatorname{i}_{[a,\Pi]_E}(\alpha \wedge \beta) = -[\operatorname{L}_a^\partial,\operatorname{i}_\Pi]_E(\alpha \wedge \beta) \\ &= \operatorname{L}_a^\partial(\Pi(\alpha,\beta)) + \operatorname{i}_\Pi(\operatorname{L}_a^\partial \alpha \wedge \beta + \alpha \wedge \operatorname{L}_a^\partial \beta) \\ &= \operatorname{L}_a^\partial(\Pi(\alpha,\beta)) - \Pi(\operatorname{L}_a^\partial \alpha,\beta) - \Pi(\alpha,\operatorname{L}_a^\partial \beta), \end{split}$$

which proves the first formula. For the second one, just rewrite:

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{i}_{\alpha}[a,\Pi]_{E}(\beta) &= [a,\Pi]_{E}(\alpha,\beta) = \mathbf{L}_{a}^{\eth}(\Pi(\alpha,\beta)) - \Pi(\mathbf{L}_{a}^{\eth}\alpha,\beta) - \Pi(\alpha,\mathbf{L}_{a}^{\eth}\beta) \\ &= \mathbf{L}_{a}^{\eth}\,\mathbf{i}_{\Pi^{\sharp}\alpha}\,\beta - \Pi^{\sharp}\,\mathbf{L}_{a}^{\eth}\,\alpha(\beta) - \mathbf{i}_{\Pi^{\sharp}\alpha}\,\mathbf{L}_{a}^{\eth}\beta \\ &= \mathbf{i}_{[a,\Pi^{\sharp}\alpha]_{E}}\,\beta - \Pi^{\sharp}\,\mathbf{L}_{a}^{\eth}\,\alpha(\beta). \end{split}$$

146

B.2 The Courant algebroid of a Lie algebroid with background

Here we recall some basic facts of Courant algebroids which we use throughout the text.

Given a Lie algebroid $(E, \rho, [,])$ the vector bundle $\mathbb{E} := E \oplus E^*$ can be endowed with many structures of Courant algebroid. Consider the bilinear symmetric form on \mathbb{E} given by

$$\langle a \oplus \alpha, b \oplus \beta \rangle := \beta(a) + \alpha(b)$$
 (B.1)

and the projection $p : \mathbb{E} \to TM$ given by $p := \rho \circ p_E$, where $p_E : E \oplus E^* \to E$ is the projection on the first factor. Finally, for each 3-cocycle $\psi \in \Gamma(\wedge^3 E^*)$ of the exterior derivative ∂ , define

$$\llbracket a \oplus \alpha, b \oplus \beta \rrbracket_{\psi} := [a, b] \oplus (\mathcal{L}_a^E \alpha - \mathbf{i}_b \,\partial\beta - \mathbf{i}_b \,\mathbf{i}_a \,\psi). \tag{B.2}$$

It is a straightforward computation to verify that \mathbb{E} acquires a structure of Courant algebroid.

Proposition B.5. Let $(E, \rho, [,])$ be a Lie algebroid and $\psi \in \Gamma(\wedge^3 E^*)$ be a 3-cocycle of exterior derivative ∂ . Then, $\mathbb{E}_{\psi} := E \oplus E^*$ has a natural structure of Courant algebroid, where $\langle, \rangle, p : \mathbb{E} \to TM$, and $[\![,]\!] := [\![,]\!]_{\psi}$ are defined as in above.

Proof. Suppose that $\eta, \eta', \eta_1, \eta_2 \in \Gamma(\mathbb{E}_{\psi})$ are of form $\eta = a \oplus \alpha, \eta' = a' \oplus \alpha', \eta_1 = a_1 \oplus \alpha_1, \eta_2 = a_2 \oplus \alpha_2$ and $f \in C^{\infty}(M)$. Let us show that each of the properties (CA1)-(CA3) hold.

(CA1) By the definition of the bracket $[\![,]\!]$, we get

$$\llbracket \eta, \llbracket \eta_1, \eta_2 \rrbracket \rrbracket = \llbracket a \oplus \alpha, [a_1, a_2] \oplus (L_{a_1}^E \alpha_2 - i_{a_2} \partial \alpha_1 x - i_{a_2} i_{a_1} \psi) \rrbracket$$

= $[a, [a_1, a_2]] \oplus (L_a^E (L_{a_1}^E \alpha_2 - i_{a_2} \partial \alpha_1 - i_{a_2} i_{a_1} \psi) - i_{[a_1, a_2]} \partial \alpha - i_{[a_1, a_2]} i_a \psi)$

Also, we have

$$\begin{split} \llbracket [\![\eta, \eta_1]\!], \eta_2]\!] &= \\ \llbracket [\![a, a_1] \oplus (\mathbf{L}_a^E \,\alpha_1 - \mathbf{i}_{a_1} \,\partial\alpha - \mathbf{i}_{a_1} \,\mathbf{i}_a \,\psi), a_2 \oplus \alpha_2]\!] &= \\ \llbracket [\![a, a_1], a_2] \oplus (\mathbf{L}_{[a, a_1]}^E \,\alpha_2 - \mathbf{i}_{a_2} \,\partial(\mathbf{L}_a^E \,\alpha_1 - \mathbf{i}_{a_1} \,\partial\alpha - \mathbf{i}_{a_1} \,\mathbf{i}_a \,\psi) - \mathbf{i}_{a_2} \,\mathbf{i}_{[a, a_1]} \,\psi) = \\ \llbracket [\![a, a_1], a_2] \oplus (\mathbf{L}_{[a, a_1]}^E \,\alpha_2 - \mathbf{i}_{a_2} \,\partial\mathbf{L}_a^E \,\alpha_1 + \mathbf{i}_{a_2} \,\partial\mathbf{i}_{a_1} \,\partial\alpha + \mathbf{i}_{a_2} \,\partial\mathbf{i}_{a_1} \,\mathbf{i}_a \,\psi - \mathbf{i}_{a_2} \,\mathbf{i}_{[a, a_1]} \,\psi), \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \llbracket \eta_1, \llbracket \eta, \eta_2 \rrbracket \rrbracket &= \llbracket a_1 \oplus \alpha_1, [a, a_2] \oplus (\mathbf{L}_a^E \, \alpha_2 - \mathbf{i}_{a_2} \, \partial \alpha - \mathbf{i}_{a_2} \, \mathbf{i}_a \, \psi) \rrbracket \\ &= [a_1, [a, a_2]] \oplus (\mathbf{L}_{a_1}^E (\mathbf{L}_a^E \, \alpha_2 - \mathbf{i}_{a_2} \, \partial \alpha - \mathbf{i}_{a_2} \, \mathbf{i}_a \, \psi) - \mathbf{i}_{[a, a_2]} \, \partial \alpha_1 - \mathbf{i}_{[a, a_2]} \, \mathbf{i}_{a_1} \, \psi) \\ &= [a_1, [a, a_2]] \oplus (\mathbf{L}_{a_1}^E \, \mathbf{L}_a^E \, \alpha_2 - \mathbf{L}_{a_1}^E \, \mathbf{i}_{a_2} \, \partial \alpha - \mathbf{i}_{[a, a_2]} \, \partial \alpha_1 - \mathbf{L}_{a_1}^E \, \mathbf{i}_{a_2} \, \mathbf{i}_a \, \psi - \mathbf{i}_{[a, a_2]} \, \mathbf{i}_{a_1} \, \psi). \end{split}$$

Clearly, the Jacobi identity for the Lie bracket of $\Gamma(E)$ implies that the *E*-components of $\llbracket [\![\eta, \eta_1]\!], \eta_2 \rrbracket + \llbracket \eta_1, \llbracket \eta, \eta_2 \rrbracket \rrbracket$ and $\llbracket \eta, \llbracket \eta_1, \eta_2 \rrbracket \rrbracket$ coincide. For E^* -component of $\llbracket \llbracket \eta, \eta_1 \rrbracket, \eta_2 \rrbracket + \llbracket \eta_1, \llbracket \eta, \eta_2 \rrbracket \rrbracket$, the part not involving ψ is

$$\begin{split} (\mathcal{L}_{[a,a_{1}]}^{E} \alpha_{2} - \mathbf{i}_{a_{2}} \partial \mathcal{L}_{a}^{E} \alpha_{1} + \mathbf{i}_{a_{2}} \partial \mathbf{i}_{a_{1}} \partial \alpha) + (\mathcal{L}_{a_{1}}^{E} \mathcal{L}_{a}^{E} \alpha_{2} - \mathcal{L}_{a_{1}}^{E} \mathbf{i}_{a_{2}} \partial \alpha - \mathbf{i}_{[a,a_{2}]} \partial \alpha_{1}) = \\ (\mathcal{L}_{[a,a_{1}]}^{E} + \mathcal{L}_{a_{1}}^{E} \mathcal{L}_{a}^{E}) \alpha_{2} - (\mathbf{i}_{a_{2}} \partial \mathcal{L}_{a}^{E} + \mathbf{i}_{[a,a_{2}]} \partial) \alpha_{1} + (\mathbf{i}_{a_{2}} \partial \mathbf{i}_{a_{1}} - \mathcal{L}_{a_{1}}^{E} \mathbf{i}_{a_{2}}) \partial \alpha = \\ (\mathcal{L}_{a}^{E} \mathcal{L}_{a_{1}}^{E}) \alpha_{2} - (\mathcal{L}_{a}^{E} \mathbf{i}_{a_{2}} \partial) \alpha_{1} + (\mathbf{i}_{a_{2}} \partial \mathbf{i}_{a_{1}} + \mathbf{i}_{a_{2}} \mathbf{i}_{a_{1}} \partial - \mathcal{L}_{a_{1}}^{E} \mathbf{i}_{a_{2}}) \partial \alpha = \\ \mathcal{L}_{a}^{E} (\mathcal{L}_{a_{1}}^{E} \alpha_{2} - \mathbf{i}_{a_{2}} \partial \alpha_{1}) + (\mathbf{i}_{a_{2}} \mathcal{L}_{a_{1}}^{E} - \mathcal{L}_{a_{1}}^{E} \mathbf{i}_{a_{2}}) \partial \alpha = \\ \mathcal{L}_{a}^{E} (\mathcal{L}_{a_{1}}^{E} \alpha_{2} - \mathbf{i}_{a_{2}} \partial \alpha_{1}) - \mathbf{i}_{[a_{1},a_{2}]} \partial \alpha, \end{split}$$

which coincides with the E^* -component of $[\![\eta, [\![\eta_1, \eta_2]\!]]\!]$ not involving the 3-cocycle ψ . To complete the proof, we need to verify

$$\mathbf{i}_{a_2} \, \partial \, \mathbf{i}_{a_1} \, \mathbf{i}_a \, \psi - \mathbf{i}_{a_2} \, \mathbf{i}_{[a,a_1]} \, \psi - \mathbf{L}_{a_1}^E \, \mathbf{i}_{a_2} \, \mathbf{i}_a \, \psi - \mathbf{i}_{[a,a_2]} \, \mathbf{i}_{a_1} \, \psi = - \, \mathbf{L}_a^E \, \mathbf{i}_{a_2} \, \mathbf{i}_{a_1} \, \psi - \mathbf{i}_{[a_1,a_2]} \, \mathbf{i}_a \, \psi$$

which is equivalent to

$$\mathbf{i}_{a_2} \, \partial \, \mathbf{i}_{a_1} \, \mathbf{i}_a \, \psi - \mathbf{i}_{a_2} \, \mathbf{i}_{[a,a_1]} \, \psi - \mathbf{i}_{a_2} \, \mathbf{L}_{a_1}^E \, \mathbf{i}_a \, \psi + \mathbf{i}_{a_2} \, \mathbf{L}_a^E \, \mathbf{i}_{a_1} \, \psi = \mathbf{0}$$

Adding the first to the third term and the second term to the fourth, we get

$$-\mathbf{i}_{a_2}\mathbf{i}_{a_1}\,\partial\mathbf{i}_a\,\psi + \mathbf{i}_{a_2}\mathbf{i}_{a_1}\,\mathbf{L}_a^E\,\psi = 0.$$

Finally, the above sum is just $i_{a_2} i_{a_1} i_a \partial \psi$, which is zero because of $\partial \psi = 0$.

(CA2) By definition of the bracket $[\![,]\!]$,

$$\begin{split} \langle \llbracket \eta, \eta_1 \rrbracket, \eta_2 \rangle &= \langle [a, a_1] \oplus (\mathcal{L}_a^E \, \alpha_1 - \mathbf{i}_{a_1} \, \mathrm{d}_E \, \alpha - \mathbf{i}_{a_1} \, \mathbf{i}_a \, \psi), a_2 \oplus \alpha_2 \rangle \\ &= \alpha_2([a, a_1]) + (\mathcal{L}_a^E \, \alpha_1 - \mathbf{i}_{a_1} \, \mathrm{d}_E \, \alpha - \mathbf{i}_{a_1} \, \mathbf{i}_a \, \psi)(a_2) \\ &= \alpha_2([a, a_1]) + \mathcal{L}_a^E \, \alpha_1(a_2) - \mathbf{i}_{a_2} \, \mathbf{i}_{a_1} \, \mathrm{d}_E \, \alpha - \mathbf{i}_{a_2} \, \mathbf{i}_{a_1} \, \mathbf{i}_a \, \psi \\ &= \alpha_2([a, a_1]) - \alpha_1([a, a_2]) + \mathcal{L}_a^E(\alpha_1(a_2)) - \mathbf{i}_{a_2} \, \mathbf{i}_{a_1} \, \mathrm{d}_E \, \alpha - \mathbf{i}_{a_2} \, \mathrm{d}_E \, \alpha - \mathrm{d}_E \, \alpha - \mathrm{d}_E \, \mathrm{d}_E \, \alpha - \mathrm{d}_E \, \alpha - \mathrm{d}_E \, \mathrm{d}_E \, \alpha - \mathrm{d}_E \, \alpha - \mathrm{d}_E \, \mathrm{d}_E \, \mathrm{d}_E \, \alpha - \mathrm{d}_E \, \mathrm{d}_$$

Because of the symmetry of $\langle,\rangle,$ an analogous computation leads to

$$\langle \eta_1, [\![\eta, \eta_2]\!] \rangle = \langle [\![\eta, \eta_2]\!], \eta_1 \rangle = \alpha_1([a, a_2]) - \alpha_2([a, a_1]) + \mathcal{L}_a^E(\alpha_2(a_1)) - \mathbf{i}_{a_1} \mathbf{i}_{a_2} \, \mathcal{d}_E \, \alpha - \mathbf{i}_{a_1} \mathbf{i}_{a_2} \, \mathbf{i}_a \, \psi$$

Adding up both equations and cancelling out by the skew-symmetry of $d_E \alpha$ and $i_a \psi$, we get

$$\langle \llbracket \eta, \eta_1 \rrbracket, \eta_2 \rangle + \langle \eta_1, \llbracket \eta, \eta_2 \rrbracket \rangle = \mathcal{L}_a^E(\alpha_1(a_2)) + \mathcal{L}_a^E(\alpha_2(a_1)) = \mathcal{L}_a^E\langle \eta_1, \eta_2 \rangle = \mathcal{L}_{p(\eta)}\langle \eta_1, \eta_2 \rangle.$$

(CA3) Note that

$$\llbracket \eta_2, \eta_2 \rrbracket = [a_2, a_2] \oplus (\mathcal{L}_{a_2}^E \alpha_2 - \mathbf{i}_{a_2} \partial \alpha_2 - \mathbf{i}_{a_2} \mathbf{i}_{a_2} \psi) = 0 \oplus \partial \mathbf{i}_{a_2} \alpha_2 = 0 \oplus \frac{1}{2} \partial \langle \eta_2, \eta_2 \rangle.$$

Then,

$$\langle \eta_1, \llbracket \eta_2, \eta_2 \rrbracket \rangle = \langle a_1 \oplus \alpha_1, 0 \oplus \frac{1}{2} \partial \langle \eta_2, \eta_2 \rangle = \frac{1}{2} \partial \langle \eta_2, \eta_2 \rangle (a_1) = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{L}_{q(a_1)} \langle \eta_2, \eta_2 \rangle = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{L}_{p(\eta_1)} \langle \eta_2, \eta_2 \rangle.$$

Appendix C

Bigraded models on algebraic Lie algebroids

Following [40], let \mathscr{R} be a ring, \mathscr{C} a commutative \mathscr{R} -algebra, and $\operatorname{End}_{\mathscr{R}} \mathscr{C}$ the \mathscr{C} -module of \mathscr{R} -linear endomorphisms of \mathscr{C} . We say that $X \in \operatorname{End}_{\mathscr{R}} \mathscr{C}$ is a *derivation* if the Leibniz rule

$$X(f \cdot g) = X(f) \cdot g + f \cdot X(g)$$

is satisfied for all $f, g \in \mathscr{C}$. It is clear that the set $\operatorname{Der}_{\mathscr{R}} \mathscr{C}$ of \mathscr{R} -linear derivations is a Lie subalgebra of $(\operatorname{End}_{\mathscr{R}} \mathscr{C}, [\cdot, \cdot])$, where the bracket denotes the commutator $[X, Y] := X \circ Y - Y \circ X$.

Recall that a Lie algebroid over \mathscr{C} is a triple $(\mathscr{A}, q, [\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathscr{A}})$ consisting of a faithful \mathscr{C} -module \mathscr{A} , together with a Lie bracket $[\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathscr{A}}$ on \mathscr{A} , and a \mathscr{C} -module morphism $q : \mathscr{A} \to \operatorname{End}_{\mathscr{R}} \mathscr{C}$, compatible with the Lie bracket by

$$[a, fb]_{\mathscr{A}} = f[a, b]_{\mathscr{A}} + q(a)(f)b,$$

for all $f \in \mathscr{C}$, $a, b \in \mathscr{A}$. The \mathscr{C} -module \mathscr{A} is called the *total space*, and the \mathscr{C} -module morphism $q : \mathscr{A} \to \operatorname{End}_{\mathscr{R}} \mathscr{C}$ is called the *anchor*. The previous formula is called the *Leibniz rule*. By the faithfulness of \mathscr{A} and the Leibniz rule, straightforward computations show that q is a representation of \mathscr{A} on \mathscr{C} by derivations, that is, $q(a) \in \operatorname{Der}_{\mathscr{R}} \mathscr{C}$, and $q[a, b]_{\mathscr{A}} = [q(a), q(b)]_{\mathscr{A}}$ for all $a, b \in \mathscr{A}$.

Example C.1. A well-known example of a Lie algebroid over a commutative \mathscr{R} -algebra \mathscr{C} is the *Lie algebroid of derivations*, ($\mathscr{A} := \operatorname{Der}_{\mathscr{R}} \mathscr{C}, \operatorname{Id}_{\mathscr{A}}, [\cdot, \cdot]$), where the anchor is precisely the identity map, and $[\cdot, \cdot]$ denotes the commutator of derivations.

Let us consider the dual of \mathscr{A} as a \mathscr{C} -module, $\mathscr{A}^* := \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathscr{C}}(\mathscr{A}, \mathscr{C})$. We now assume that the following condition holds,

$$\bigcap_{\alpha \in \mathscr{A}^*} \ker(\alpha) = \{0\},\tag{C.1}$$

which is equivalent to say that every element $a \in \mathscr{A}$ is uniquely determined by the values $\alpha(a) \in \mathscr{C}$, where α runs over all \mathscr{A}^* . In other words, the canonical map $\mathscr{A} \ni a \mapsto i_a \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathscr{C}}(\mathscr{A}^*, \mathscr{C})$, given on each $\alpha \in \mathscr{A}^*$ by $i_a \alpha := \alpha(a)$, is injective.

For each $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, let \mathcal{C}^k be the \mathscr{C} -module of \mathscr{C} -multilinear skew-symmetric maps

$$\alpha: \underbrace{\mathscr{A} \times \cdots \times \mathscr{A}}_{k \text{ times}} \to \mathscr{C}.$$

In particular, $C^1 = \mathscr{A}^*$ is the dual \mathscr{C} -module of \mathscr{A} , $C^0 = \mathscr{C}$, and $C^k = \{0\}$ for k < 0. Then, $C^{\bullet} := \bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} C^k$ is a graded commutative and associative \mathscr{C} -algebra with the exterior product \wedge defined as usual. The Lie algebroid structure of \mathscr{A} naturally induces a derivation on \mathcal{C} , which is a coboundary operator on \mathcal{C} of degree 1, $\partial \in \operatorname{Der}^{1}_{\mathscr{C}} \mathcal{C}$. Indeed, for each $\alpha \in \mathcal{C}^{k}$, $\partial \alpha \in \mathcal{C}^{k+1}$ is given by the Koszul's formula

$$\partial \alpha(a_1, \dots, a_{k+1}) := \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(1,k+1)}} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma) \operatorname{q}(a_{\sigma_1})(\alpha(a_{\sigma_2}, \dots, a_{\sigma_k}))$$

$$-\sum_{\sigma \in S_{(2,k)}} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma) \alpha([a_{\sigma_1}, a_{\sigma_2}]_{\mathscr{A}}, a_{\sigma_3}, \dots, a_{\sigma_{k+1}}),$$
(C.2)

where $a_1, \ldots, a_{k+1} \in \mathscr{A}$. Here, $S_{(i,j)}$ denotes the set of all shuffle permutations $\sigma \in S_{i+j}$, with $\sigma_1 < \cdots < \sigma_i$, and $\sigma_{i+1} < \cdots < \sigma_{i+j}$. A similar notation applies for $S_{(i,j,k)}$. Then, the Lie algebroid cohomology of \mathscr{A} is defined by $H^{\bullet}(\mathscr{A}) := H^{\bullet}(\mathcal{C}, \partial)$.

To see that $\partial^2 = 0$, fix $\alpha \in \mathcal{C}^k$ and $a_1, \ldots, a_{k+2} \in \mathscr{A}$. Then, a straightforward computation leads

$$\begin{split} \partial^2 \alpha(a_1, \dots, a_{k+2}) &= \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(1,1,k)}} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma) \operatorname{q}(a_{\sigma_1})(\operatorname{q}(a_{\sigma_2})(\alpha(a_{\sigma_3}, \dots, a_{\sigma_{k+2}}))) \\ &\quad - \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(1,2,k-1)}} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma) \operatorname{q}(a_{\sigma_1})(\alpha([a_{\sigma_1}, a_{\sigma_2}]_{\mathscr{A}}, a_{\sigma_3} \dots, a_{\sigma_{k+2}})) \\ &\quad - \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(2,k)}} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma) \operatorname{q}[a_{\sigma_1}, a_{\sigma_2}]_{\mathscr{A}}(\alpha(a_{\sigma_3}, \dots, a_{\sigma_{k+2}}))) \\ &\quad + \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(1,2,k-1)}} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma) \operatorname{q}(a_{\sigma_1})(\alpha([a_{\sigma_1}, a_{\sigma_2}]_{\mathscr{A}}, a_{\sigma_3} \dots, a_{\sigma_{k+2}})) \\ &\quad + \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(2,1,k-1)}} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma) \alpha([[a_{\sigma_1}, a_{\sigma_2}]_{\mathscr{A}}, a_{\sigma_3}]_{\mathscr{A}}, a_{\sigma_4}, \dots, a_{\sigma_{k+2}})) \\ &\quad + \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(2,2,k-2)}} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma) \alpha([a_{\sigma_1}, a_{\sigma_2}]_{\mathscr{A}}, [a_{\sigma_3}, a_{\sigma_4}]_{\mathscr{A}}, a_{\sigma_5} \dots, a_{\sigma_{k+2}}). \end{split}$$

Clearly, the second and fourth sums cancel out with each other. Moreover, the last sum is identically zero, due to the skew-symmetry of α . Since q is a representation, the first and third sums also cancel out with each other. Finally, the fifth sum is zero due to the Jacobi identity of $[\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathscr{A}}$. A similar computation shows that $\partial \in \operatorname{Der}^{1}_{\mathscr{C}} \mathcal{C}$. Furthermore, condition (C.1) implies that the coboundary operator ∂ is determined by a unique Lie algebroid structure on \mathscr{A} . Indeed, the anchor map q and the Lie bracket can be expressed in terms of ∂ in (C.2) for k = 0 and k = 1, respectively.

Now, recall that for each $a \in \mathscr{A}$, the insertion $i_a : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{C}$, given by

$$\mathbf{i}_a \, \alpha(a_1, \dots, a_{l-1}) := \alpha(a, a_1, \dots, a_{l-1}), \qquad \alpha \in \mathcal{C}^l, \quad a_i \in \mathscr{A},$$

is a graded derivation of degree -1, $i_a \in \operatorname{Der}_{\mathscr{C}}^{-1} \mathcal{C}$. More generally, if $K : \mathscr{A} \times \cdots \times \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}$ is a k-linear (over \mathscr{C}) skew-symmetric map, then $i_K \in \operatorname{Der}_{\mathscr{C}}^{k-1} \mathcal{C}$, where

$$\mathbf{i}_{K} \alpha(a_{1}, \dots, a_{k+l-1}) := \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(k,l-1)}} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma) \alpha(K(a_{\sigma_{1}}, \dots, a_{\sigma_{k}}), a_{\sigma_{k+1}}, \dots, a_{\sigma_{k+l-1}}), \quad \alpha \in \mathcal{C}^{l}, \quad a_{i} \in \mathscr{A}.$$

Hence, $L_K^{\partial} := [i_K, \partial]$ is a graded derivation of degree $k, L_K^{\partial} \in \operatorname{Der}_{\mathscr{C}}^k \mathcal{C}$. In particular, if $K = \operatorname{Id}_{\mathscr{A}}$ is the identity map on \mathscr{A} , then $i_{\operatorname{Id}_{\mathscr{A}}} \alpha = k\alpha$ for all $\alpha \in \mathcal{C}^k$, and hence, $L_{\operatorname{Id}_{\mathscr{A}}}^{\partial} = \partial$.

Bigrading on \mathscr{C} -modules. Let \mathscr{A} be a module over the commutative \mathscr{R} -algebra \mathscr{C} . An endomorphism $p \in \operatorname{End}_{\mathscr{C}} \mathscr{A}$ is said to be a *connection* on \mathscr{A} if it is a projection map, $p^2 = p$. Let us define the p-horizontal and p-vertical submodules of \mathscr{A} by $\mathcal{H}^p := \ker(p)$ and $\mathcal{V}^p := \operatorname{im}(p)$. We will drop the superscript p when the choice of the connection is clear. Observe that $\mathscr{A} = \mathcal{H} \oplus \mathcal{V}$. Furthermore, the transpose (dual) map $p^* \in \operatorname{End}_{\mathscr{C}} \mathscr{A}^*$ is a projection on \mathscr{A}^* such that $\ker(p^*) = \operatorname{Ann}(\mathcal{V})$ and $\operatorname{im}(p^*) = \operatorname{Ann}(\mathcal{H})$. In particular, $\mathscr{A}^* = \operatorname{Ann}(\mathcal{V}) \oplus \operatorname{Ann}(\mathcal{H})$.

Remark C.2. Note that the role of the horizontal and vertical submodules \mathcal{H}^{p} and \mathcal{V}^{p} is symmetric. In fact, if p is a connection, then $\mathrm{Id}_{\mathscr{A}} - p$ is another connection such that $\mathcal{H}^{\mathrm{Id}_{\mathscr{A}} - p} = \mathcal{V}^{p}$ and $\mathcal{V}^{\mathrm{Id}_{\mathscr{A}} - p} = \mathcal{H}^{p}$.

Let us extend the bigrading of $\mathcal{C}^1 = \mathscr{A}^*$ to the whole algebra \mathcal{C} . We define

$$\mathcal{C}^{p,q} := \{ \alpha \in \mathcal{C}^{p+q} \mid \alpha(a_1, \dots, a_{k-s}, b_1, \dots, b_s) = 0 \quad \forall s \neq q, \ a_i \in \mathcal{H}, b_j \in \mathcal{V} \}$$

as the submodule of \mathscr{C} -linear skew-symmetric maps of bidegree (p,q). It is straightforward to check that $\mathcal{C}^{p,q} \wedge \mathcal{C}^{p',q'} \subseteq \mathcal{C}^{p+p',q+q'}$ for all $p,p',q,q' \in \mathbb{Z}$. On the other hand, since $p: \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{C}$ is \mathscr{C} -linear, it induces the derivation $i_p \in \operatorname{Der}^0_{\mathscr{C}} \mathcal{C}$ of degree 0 in \mathcal{C} . The elements of $\mathcal{C}^{p,q}$ turn out to be the *q*-eigenvectors of i_p on \mathcal{C}^{p+q} , $i_p \alpha = q\alpha$ if $\alpha \in \mathcal{C}^{p,q}$ (equivalently, $i_{\operatorname{Id}_{\mathscr{A}} - p} \alpha = p\alpha$). The converse is also true if \mathscr{C} is free as \mathbb{Z} -module.

Clearly, $\mathcal{C}^{i,j} = \{0\}$ whenever i < 0 or j < 0, and $\mathcal{C}^{p,q} \cap \mathcal{C}^{p',q'} = \{0\}$ whenever $p \neq p'$ or $q \neq q'$. Furthermore,

Lemma C.3. For each $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, one has

$$\mathcal{C}^k = \bigoplus_{p+q=k} \mathcal{C}^{p,q}$$

Proof. For the purposes of this proof, let us denote $p_0 := Id_{\mathscr{A}} - p$, and $p_1 := p$. Now, for each $k, p, q \in \mathbb{Z}$, denote by $A_k := \{0, 1\}^k$ the set sequences of length k consisting of 0's and 1's, and by $A_{p,q}$ the subset of A_{p+q} which take the value 0 exactly p times, and hence, the value 1 exactly q times. Now, fix $\alpha \in \mathcal{C}^k$. Since $p_0 + p_1 = Id_{\mathscr{A}}$, and $\bigcup_{p+q=k} A_{p,q} = A_k$, it is easy to see that, for any $a_1, \ldots, a_k \in \mathscr{A}$,

$$\alpha(a_1, \dots, a_k) = \sum_{p+q=k} \sum_{s \in A_{p,q}} \alpha(\mathbf{p}_{s_1} \, a_1, \dots, \mathbf{p}_{s_k} \, a_k).$$
(C.3)

Moreover, it is straightforward to verify that, for each $p, q \in \mathbb{Z}$ with p + q = k, the map $\alpha_{p,q} : \mathscr{A} \times \cdots \times \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{C}$, given on $a_1, \ldots, a_k \in \mathscr{A}$ by

$$\alpha_{p,q}(a_1,\ldots,a_k) := \sum_{s \in A_{p,q}} \alpha(\mathbf{p}_{s_1} a_1,\ldots,\mathbf{p}_{s_k} a_k),$$

is \mathscr{C} -multilinear, skew-symmetric, and has bidegree (p,q), $\alpha_{p,q} \in \mathcal{C}^{p,q}$. By (C.3), one has $\alpha = \sum_{p+q=k} \alpha_{p,q}$, as desired.

Finally, consider the \mathscr{C} -submodule $\operatorname{Der}_{\mathscr{R}}^{r,s} \mathcal{C} \subseteq \operatorname{Der}_{\mathscr{R}}^{r+s} \mathcal{C}$ consisting of the \mathscr{R} -linear derivations D of bidegree (r,s), that is, such that $D(\mathcal{C}^{p,q}) \subseteq \mathcal{C}^{p+r,q+s}$ for all $p,q \in \mathbb{Z}$. It is straightforward to

check that $[i_p, D] = sD$ and, equivalently, $[i_{Id_{\mathscr{A}}-p}, D] = rD$, for all $D \in \operatorname{Der}_{\mathscr{R}}^{r,s} \mathcal{C}$. Here, $[D, D'] := D \circ D' - (-1)^{|D||D'|} D' \circ D$ denotes the graded commutator of endomorphisms. Finally, we denote by

$$\widehat{\operatorname{Der}}^k_{\mathscr{R}}\mathcal{C} := \bigoplus_{r+s=k} \operatorname{Der}^{r,s}_{\mathscr{R}}\mathcal{C}$$

the set of graded derivations which admit a bigraded decomposition. For each $D \in \widehat{\operatorname{Der}}^k_{\mathscr{R}}\mathcal{C}$, the corresponding element in $\operatorname{Der}^{r,s}_{\mathscr{R}}\mathcal{C}$ will be denoted by $D^{\mathrm{p}}_{r,s}$.

Bigrading on Lie algebroids. Now, assume that \mathscr{A} is the total space of a Lie algebroid $(\mathscr{A}, q, [\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathscr{A}})$ over the commutative \mathscr{R} -algebra and free \mathbb{Z} -module \mathscr{C} . Let us fix a connection p on $\mathscr{A}, p^2 = p$. Because of the Leibniz rule on the Lie algebroid, and the skew-symmetry of $[\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathscr{A}}$, the maps $\mathbb{R}^p, \mathbb{S}^p : \mathcal{C} \times \mathcal{C} \to \mathscr{A}$ given by

$$R^{\mathbf{p}}(a,b) = \mathbf{p}[(\mathrm{Id}_{\mathscr{A}} - \mathbf{p})a, (\mathrm{Id}_{\mathscr{A}} - \mathbf{p})b]_{\mathscr{A}}, \qquad \qquad S^{\mathbf{p}}(a,b) = (\mathrm{Id}_{\mathscr{A}} - \mathbf{p})[\mathbf{p}\,a,\mathbf{p}\,b]_{\mathscr{A}}$$

are \mathscr{C} -bilinear and skew-symmetric. It is clear that $\mathcal{H} := \ker(p)$ and $\mathcal{V} := \operatorname{im}(p)$ are Lie \mathscr{R} -subalgebras of \mathscr{A} if and only if $\mathbb{R}^p = 0$ and $\mathbb{S}^p = 0$, respectively. [35]. Thus, \mathbb{R}^p and \mathbb{S}^p are said to be the *curvature* and *co-curvature* of p, respectively.

Proposition C.4. Consider the cochain complex (\mathcal{C}, ∂) associated with $(\mathscr{A}, q, [\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathscr{A}})$. For any connection p on \mathscr{A} , one has

$$\partial = \partial_{-1,2}^{\mathbf{p}} + \partial_{0,1}^{\mathbf{p}} + \partial_{1,0}^{\mathbf{p}} + \partial_{2,-1}^{\mathbf{p}}.$$

Furthermore,

$$\partial_{-1,2}^{p} = -i_{S^{p}}, \quad \partial_{0,1}^{p} = L_{p}^{\partial} + 2i_{S^{p}} - i_{R^{p}}, \quad \partial_{1,0}^{p} = L_{\mathrm{Id}_{\mathscr{A}}-p}^{\partial} + 2i_{R^{p}} - i_{S^{p}}, \quad and \quad \partial_{2,-1}^{p} = -i_{R^{p}}.$$

Proof. To prove the first part, we have to check that $\partial_{i,j} = 0$ whenever i < -1 or j < -1. Fix $\alpha \in C^{p,q}$, $a_1, \ldots, a_{p+i} \in \mathcal{H}$ and $a_{p+i+1}, \ldots, a_{p+q+1} \in \mathcal{V}$. By definition,

$$\partial_{i,j}\alpha(a_1,\ldots,a_{p+q+1}) = \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(1,k+1)}} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma) \operatorname{q}(a_{\sigma_1})(\alpha(a_{\sigma_2},\ldots,a_{\sigma_k})) - \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(2,k)}} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma)\alpha([a_{\sigma_1},a_{\sigma_2}]_{\mathscr{A}},a_{\sigma_3},\ldots,a_{\sigma_{k+1}}).$$

If i < 0 (resp. j < 0), then on every term in the first sum α has less (resp. more) than p arguments belonging to \mathcal{H} . So, it follows that the first sum is zero whenever i or j is negative. A similar argument shows that the second sum is zero whenever i < -1 or j < -1. This proves the first part. Now, let us show, for i = 2, j = -1, that $\partial_{2,-1} = -i_{R^p}$. To do so, it suffices to prove that

$$\alpha([a_{\sigma_1}, a_{\sigma_2}]_{\mathscr{A}}, a_{\sigma_3}, \dots, a_{\sigma_{k+1}}) = \alpha(\mathbf{p}[(\mathrm{Id}_{\mathscr{A}} - \mathbf{p})a_{\sigma_1}, (\mathrm{Id}_{\mathscr{A}} - \mathbf{p})a_{\sigma_2}]_{\mathscr{A}}, a_{\sigma_3}, \dots, a_{\sigma_{k+1}})$$

holds for each shuffle permutation σ . In the case when $\sigma_2 \leq p+2$, such identity follows from $a_{\sigma_1}, a_{\sigma_2} \in \mathcal{H}$ and $\alpha \in \mathcal{C}^{p,q}$. If $\sigma_2 > p+2$, then both sides are identically zero. The proof of $\partial_{-1,2}^p = -i_{S^p}$ is analogous. Finally, taking into account the properties of $[i_p, \cdot]$, we get

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{L}_{\mathbf{p}}^{\partial} &= [\mathbf{i}_{\mathbf{p}}, \partial] = [\mathbf{i}_{\mathbf{p}}, \partial_{-1,2}^{\mathbf{p}}] + [\mathbf{i}_{\mathbf{p}}, \partial_{0,1}^{\mathbf{p}}] + [\mathbf{i}_{\mathbf{p}}, \partial_{1,0}^{\mathbf{p}}] + [\mathbf{i}_{\mathbf{p}}, \partial_{2,-1}^{\mathbf{p}}] \\ &= 2\partial_{-1,2}^{\mathbf{p}} + \partial_{0,1}^{\mathbf{p}} - \partial_{2,-1}^{\mathbf{p}} = -2\,\mathbf{i}_{S^{\mathbf{p}}} + \partial_{0,1}^{\mathbf{p}} + \mathbf{i}_{R^{\mathbf{p}}} \,. \end{split}$$

This proves $\partial_{0,1}^p = L_p^{\partial} + 2i_{S^p} - i_{R^p}$. The proof of $\partial_{1,0}^p = L_{Id_{\mathscr{A}}-p}^{\partial} + 2i_{R^p} - i_{S^p}$ is analogous.

Remark C.5. If \mathscr{A} is a finitely generated and projective \mathscr{C} -module, then $\mathcal{C}^k = \wedge^k \mathscr{A}^*$. In this case, $\widehat{\operatorname{Der}}_{\mathscr{R}}\mathcal{C} = \operatorname{Der}_{\mathscr{R}}\mathcal{C}$. Furthermore, $D = D_{-1,2} + D_{0,1} + D_{1,0} + D_{2,-1}$ for any $D \in \operatorname{Der}^1_{\mathscr{R}}\mathcal{C}$. Indeed, the fact that $D_{i,j} = 0$ whenever i < -2 or j < -2, follows from the well-known property that the only derivation of $\wedge^k \mathscr{A}^*$ vanishing on $\mathcal{C}^0 = \mathscr{C}$ and $\mathcal{C}^1 = \mathscr{A}^*$ is the zero derivation. Moreover, $D_{2,-1}$ and $D_{-1,2}$ are also of the form i_K and i_L for some $K \in \mathcal{C}^{2,0} \otimes \mathscr{A}$ and $L \in \mathcal{C}^{0,2} \otimes \mathscr{A}$. Similar formulas can be derived for $D_{1,0}$ and $D_{0,1}$.

The following fact can be found in [26, Section 5] for the case of connections of zero co-curvature on the tangent Lie algebroid of a manifold.

Corollary C.6. Let p be a connection on the Lie algebroid $(\mathscr{A}, q, [\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathscr{A}})$. If the vertical submodule \mathcal{V} is involutive, then the bigraded components of the exterior differential satisfy

$$\partial^{p}_{-1,2} = 0, \qquad \partial^{p}_{1,0} = L^{\partial}_{\mathrm{Id}_{\mathscr{A}} - p} + 2i_{R^{p}}, \qquad \partial^{p}_{0,1} = L^{\partial}_{p} - i_{R^{p}}, \qquad \partial^{p}_{2,-1} = -i_{R^{p}}, \qquad (\partial^{p}_{1,0})^{2} = L^{\partial}_{R^{p}}.$$

In particular, if \mathcal{H} is also an involutive submodule, then $\partial_{2,-1}^{p} = 0$, and $\partial_{1,0}^{p}$ is a coboundary.

Proof. Recall that \mathcal{V} is involutive if and only if $S^{p} = 0$. By Proposition C.4, we get $\partial_{-1,2}^{p} = 0$. So, it remains to prove that $(\partial_{1,0}^{p})^{2} = L_{R^{p}}^{\partial}$. Since $\partial = \partial_{1,0}^{p} + \partial_{0,1}^{p} + \partial_{2,-1}^{p}$ and $(\partial^{p})^{2} = 0$, it follows that

$$(\partial_{1,0}^{p})^{2} = -(\partial_{0,1}^{p}\partial_{2,-1}^{p} + \partial_{0,1}^{p}\partial_{2,-1}^{p}) = -[\partial_{0,1}^{p}, \partial_{2,-1}^{p}] = -[\partial, \partial_{2,-1}^{p}] = [\partial, i_{R^{p}}] = L^{\partial}_{R^{p}}.$$

Thus, if \mathcal{H} is involutive, then $R^{p} = 0$, which implies that $\partial_{2,-1}^{p} = 0$, and $(\partial_{1,0}^{p})^{2} = 0$.

Corollary C.7. Let p be a connection on the Lie algebroid $(\mathscr{A}, q, [\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathscr{A}})$ such that the vertical submodule satisfy the following properties:

- 1. The isotropy algebra contains $\mathcal{V}: \mathcal{V} \subseteq \ker(q)$.
- 2. The vertical submodule is an ideal: $[\mathcal{V}, \mathscr{A}]_{\mathscr{A}} \subseteq \mathcal{V}$.
- 3. The vertical submodule is an Abelian Lie subalgebra of $\mathscr{A} : [\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{V}]_{\mathscr{A}} = \{0\}.$

Then, $\partial^{p}_{-1,2} = 0$, and $\partial^{p}_{0,1} = 0$.

Proof. Since $[\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{V}]_{\mathscr{A}} = \{0\}$, it is clear that \mathcal{V} is involutive, so $\partial_{-1,2}^{p} = 0$. It is left to show that $\partial_{0,1}^{p} = 0$. Fix $\alpha \in \mathcal{C}^{p,q}$, $a_1, \ldots, a_p \in \mathcal{H}$, and $a_{p+1}, \ldots, a_{p+q+1} \in \mathcal{V}$. By definition,

$$\partial_{0,1}^{\mathbf{p}}\alpha(a_1,\ldots,a_{p+q+1}) = \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(1,k+1)}} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma) \operatorname{q}(a_{\sigma_1})(\alpha(a_{\sigma_2},\ldots,a_{\sigma_{p+q+1}})) - \sum_{\sigma \in S_{(2,k)}} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma)\alpha([a_{\sigma_1},a_{\sigma_2}]_{\mathscr{A}},a_{\sigma_3},\ldots,a_{\sigma_{p+q+1}}).$$

If $\sigma \in S_{(1,k+1)}$ is such that $\sigma_1 \geq p+1$, then $a_{\sigma_1} \in \mathcal{V} \subseteq \ker(q)$, so $q(a_{\sigma_1}) = 0$. If, on the contrary, $\sigma \in S_{(1,k+1)}$ satisfies $\sigma_1 \leq p$, then $a_{\sigma_1} \in \mathcal{H}$, so the sequence $(a_{\sigma_2}, \ldots, a_{\sigma_{p+q+1}})$ consists of p-1 elements of \mathcal{H} and q+1 elements of \mathcal{V} . Since $\alpha \in \mathcal{C}^{p,q}$, we get $\alpha(a_{\sigma_2}, \ldots, a_{\sigma_{p+q+1}}) = 0$. In any case, every term of the first sum is zero. For the second sum, we consider the following cases:

• If $\sigma_1 \ge p+1$, then $a_{\sigma_1}, a_{\sigma_2} \in \mathcal{V}$, and hence $[a_{\sigma_1}, a_{\sigma_2}]_{\mathscr{A}} = 0$.

- If $\sigma_1 \leq p$ and $\sigma_2 \geq p+1$, then $a_{\sigma_1} \in \mathcal{H}$, and $a_{\sigma_2} \in \mathcal{V}$. Since \mathcal{V} is an ideal, one has $[a_{\sigma_1}, a_{\sigma_2}]_{\mathscr{A}} \in \mathcal{V}$. Thus, $([a_{\sigma_1}, a_{\sigma_2}]_{\mathscr{A}}, a_{\sigma_3}, \dots, a_{\sigma_{p+q+1}})$ consists of p-1 elements in \mathcal{H} and q+1 elements in \mathcal{V} .
- If $\sigma_2 \leq p$, then $a_{\sigma_1}, a_{\sigma_2} \in \mathcal{H}$, and hence the sequence $([a_{\sigma_1}, a_{\sigma_2}]_{\mathscr{A}}, a_{\sigma_3}, \dots, a_{\sigma_{p+q+1}})$ has as least q+1 elements in \mathcal{V} .

Since $\alpha \in \mathcal{C}^{p,q}$, in any case we get $\alpha([a_{\sigma_1}, a_{\sigma_2}]_{\mathscr{A}}, a_{\sigma_3}, \ldots, a_{\sigma_{p+q+1}}) = 0.$

Corollary C.8. Let p be a connection on the Lie algebroid $(\mathscr{A}, q, [\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathscr{A}})$ such that the vertical submodule \mathcal{V} is involutive, and the horizontal submodule satisfy the following properties:

- 1. The isotropy algebra contains $\mathcal{H}: \mathcal{H} \subseteq \ker(q)$.
- 2. The horizontal submodule is an ideal: $[\mathcal{H}, \mathscr{A}]_{\mathscr{A}} \subseteq \mathcal{H}$.
- 3. The horizontal submodule is an Abelian Lie subalgebra of $\mathscr{A} : [\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{H}]_{\mathscr{A}} = \{0\}.$

Then, $\partial = \partial_{0,1}^{p}$.

Proof. By interchanging the role of \mathcal{H} and \mathcal{V} , we conclude from Corollary C.7 that $\partial_{2,-1}^{p} = 0$ and $\partial_{1,0}^{p} = 0$. Furthermore, the involutivity of \mathcal{V} implies that $\partial_{-1,2}^{p} = 0$.

Bibliography

- [1] ABOUQATEB, A., AND BOUCETTA, M. The modular class of a regular Poisson manifold and the Reeb class of its symplectic foliation. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris 337, 1 (2003), 61–66.
- [2] ARNOL'D, V. I. Normal forms of functions near degenerate critical points, the Weyl groups A_k, D_k, E_k and Lagrangian singularities. Funkcional. Anal. i Priložen. 6, 4 (1972), 3–25.
- [3] AVENDAÑO CAMACHO, M., VALLEJO, J. A., AND VOROBIEV, Y. Higher order corrections to adiabatic invariants of generalized slow-fast Hamiltonian systems. J. Math. Phys. 54, 8 (2013), 082704, 15.
- [4] AVENDAÑO CAMACHO, M., AND VOROBIEV, Y. The averaging method on slow-fast phase spaces with symmetry. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series* 343, 1 (2012), 012127.
- [5] BHASKARA, K. H., AND VISWANATH, K. Poisson algebras and Poisson manifolds, vol. 174 of Pitman Research Notes in Mathematics Series. Longman Scientific & Technical, Harlow; copublished in the United States with John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, 1988.
- [6] BOTT, R., AND TU, L. W. Differential forms in algebraic topology, vol. 82 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York-Berlin, 1982.
- [7] BRAHIC, O. Extensions of Lie brackets. J. Geom. Phys. 60, 2 (2010), 352–374.
- [8] BRAHIC, O. Infinitesimal gauge symmetries of closed forms. Journal of Geometric Mechanics 3, 3 (2011), 277–312.
- [9] BURSZTYN, H. On gauge transformations of Poisson structures. In Quantum field theory and noncommutative geometry, S. W. Ursula Carow-Watamura, Yoshiaki Maeda, Ed., vol. 662 of Lecture Notes in Phys. Springer, Berlin, 2005, pp. 89–112.
- [10] BURSZTYN, H., LIMA, H., AND MEINRENKEN, E. Splitting theorems for Poisson and related structures. Journal für die reine und angewandte Mathematik (Crelles Journal) (2017).
- [11] CASEIRO, R., AND FERNANDES, R. L. The modular class of a Poisson map. Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 63, 4 (2013), 1285–1329.
- [12] CONN, J. F. Normal forms for smooth Poisson structures. Ann. of Math. (2) 121, 3 (1985), 565–593.
- [13] COURANT, T. J. Dirac manifolds. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 319, 2 (1990), 631-661.
- [14] CRAINIC, M. Differentiable and algebroid cohomology, van Est isomorphisms, and characteristic classes. Comment. Math. Helv. 78, 4 (2003), 681–721.

- [15] CRAINIC, M., AND FERNANDES, R. L. Stability of symplectic leaves. Invent. Math. 180, 3 (2010), 481–533.
- [16] CRAINIC, M., AND MĂRCUT, I. A normal form theorem around symplectic leaves. J. Differential Geom. 92, 3 (2012), 417–461.
- [17] DAZORD, P., AND HECTOR, G. Intégration symplectique des variétés de Poisson totalement asphériques. In Géométrie globale des systèmes hamiltoniens complètement intégrables et variables action-angle avec singularités. 1991, pp. 37–72.
- [18] DORFMAN, I. Dirac structures and integrability of nonlinear evolution equations. Nonlinear Science: Theory and Applications. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd., Chichester, 1993.
- [19] DORFMAN, I. Y. Dirac structures of integrable evolution equations. Phys. Lett. A 125, 5 (1987), 240–246.
- [20] DUFOUR, J.-P., AND WADE, A. On the local structure of Dirac manifolds. Compos. Math. 144, 3 (2008), 774–786.
- [21] DUFOUR, J.-P., AND ZUNG, N. T. Poisson structures and their normal forms, vol. 242 of Progress in Mathematics. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 2005.
- [22] EVENS, S., LU, J.-H., AND WEINSTEIN, A. Transverse measures, the modular class and a cohomology pairing for Lie algebroids. Quart. J. Math. Oxford Ser. (2) 50, 200 (1999), 417–436.
- [23] FERNANDES, R. L. Lie algebroids, holonomy and characteristic classes. Adv. Math. 170, 1 (2002), 119–179.
- [24] FREJLICH, P., AND MĂRCUŢ, I. The normal form theorem around Poisson transversals. Pacific J. Math. 287, 2 (2017), 371–391.
- [25] GAMMELA, A. An approach to the tangential Poisson cohomology based on examples in duals of Lie algebras. Pac. J. Math. 203 (2002), 283–320.
- [26] GARCÍA-BELTRÁN, D., VALLEJO, J. A., AND VOROBIEV, Y. Lie algebroids generated by cohomology operators. *Journal of Geometric Mechanics* 7, 3 (2015), 295–315.
- [27] GEL'FAND, I. M., AND DORFMAN, I. Y. Hamiltonian operators and the classical Yang-Baxter equation. Funktsional. Anal. i Prilozhen. 16, 4 (1982), 1–9, 96.
- [28] GINZBURG, V. L., AND GOLUBEV, A. Holonomy on Poisson manifolds and the modular class. Israel J. Math. 122 (2001), 221–242.
- [29] GOTAY, M., LASHOF, R., ŠNIATICKY, J., AND WEINSTEIN, A. Closed forms on symplectic fibre bundles. *Commentarii mathematici Helvetici* 58 (1983), 617–621.
- [30] GUILLEMIN, V., MIRANDA, E., AND PIRES, A. R. Codimension one symplectic foliations and regular Poisson structures. Bull. Braz. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 42, 4 (2011), 607–623.
- [31] HURDER, S. The Godbillon measure of amenable foliations. J. Differential Geom. 23, 3 (1986), 347–365.

- [32] HURDER, S. Dynamics and the Godbillon-Vey class: a history and survey. In *Foliations: geometry and dynamics (Warsaw, 2000)*, R. L. T. T. Paweł Walczak, Lawrence Conlon, Ed. World Sci. Publ., River Edge, NJ, 2002, pp. 29–60.
- [33] ITSKOV, V., KARASEV, M., AND VOROBJEV, Y. Infinitesimal Poisson cohomology. In Coherent transform, quantization, and Poisson geometry, vol. 187 of Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. Ser. 2. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1998, pp. 327–360.
- [34] KARASËV, M. V., AND MASLOV, V. P. Nonlinear Poisson brackets, vol. 119 of Translations of Mathematical Monographs. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1993. Geometry and quantization, Translated from the Russian by A. Sossinsky [A. B. Sosinskiĭ] and M. Shishkova.
- [35] KOLÁŘ, I., MICHOR, P. W., AND SLOVÁK, J. Natural operations in differential geometry. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1993.
- [36] KOSMANN-SCHWARZBACH, Y. Modular vector fields and Batalin Vilkovisky algebras. In Poisson geometry (Warsaw, 1998), P. U. Janusz Grabowski, Ed., vol. 51 of Banach Center Publ.
- [37] KOSMANN-SCHWARZBACH, Y. Quasi, twisted, and all that...in Poisson geometry and Lie algebroid theory. In *The breadth of symplectic and Poisson geometry*, vol. 232 of *Progr. Math.* Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, 2005, pp. 363–389.
- [38] KOSMANN-SCHWARZBACH, Y. Poisson manifolds, Lie algebroids, modular classes: a survey. SIGMA Symmetry Integrability Geom. Methods Appl. 4 (2008), Paper 005, 30.
- [39] KOSMANN-SCHWARZBACH, Y. Courant algebroids. A short history. SIGMA Symmetry Integrability Geom. Methods Appl. 9 (2013), Paper 014, 8.
- [40] KOSMANN-SCHWARZBACH, Y., AND MAGRI, F. Poisson-Nijenhuis structures. Annales de l'I.H.P. Physique théorique 53, 1 (1990), 35–81.
- [41] KOSZUL, J.-L. Crochet de Schouten Nijenhuis et cohomologie. In Élie Cartan et les mathématiques d'aujourd'hui, vol. Numéro Hors Série of Astérisque. Société Mathématique de France, 1985, pp. 257–271.
- [42] LANIUS, M. Poisson cohomology of a class of log symplectic manifolds. arxiv:1605.03854 [math.sg].
- [43] LIBERMANN, P., AND MARLE, C.-M. Symplectic geometry and analytical mechanics, vol. 35 of Mathematics and its Applications. D. Reidel Publishing Co., Dordrecht, 1987. Translated from the French by Bertram Eugene Schwarzbach.
- [44] LICHNEROWICZ, A. Les variétés de Poisson et leurs algèbres de Lie associées. J. Differential Geometry 12, 2 (1977), 253–300.
- [45] LIU, Z.-J., WEINSTEIN, A., AND XU, P. Manin triples for Lie bialgebroids. J. Differential Geom. 45, 3 (1997), 547–574.
- [46] MAC LANE, S. Homology. Berlin-Göttingen-Heidelberg. Springer-Verlag, 1963.

- [47] MCCLEARY, J. A user's guide to spectral sequences, second ed., vol. 58 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2001.
- [48] MIRANDA, E., AND ZUNG, N. T. A note on equivariant normal forms of Poisson structures. Math. Res. Lett. 13, 5-6 (2006), 1001–1012.
- [49] MONNIER, P. Poisson cohomology in dimension two. Israel J. Math. 129 (2002), 189–207.
- [50] MĂRCUŢ, I. Normal forms in Poisson geometry. PhD. Thesis, Utrecht University. arxiv:1301.4571 [math DG], 2013.
- [51] MĂRCUŢ, I. Rigidity around poisson submanifolds. Acta Math. 213, 1 (2014), 137–198.
- [52] NAKANISHI, N. On the structure of infinitesimal automorphisms of linear Poisson manifolds. I. J. Math. Kyoto Univ. 31, 1 (1991), 71–82.
- [53] NAKANISHI, N. On the structure of infinitesimal automorphisms of linear Poisson manifolds. II. J. Math. Kyoto Univ. 31, 1 (1991), 281–287.
- [54] NAKANISHI, N. Integrability of infinitesimal automorphisms of linear Poisson manifolds. Proc. Japan Acad. Ser. A Math. Sci. 71, 6 (1995), 119–122.
- [55] PEDROZA, A., VELASCO-BARRERAS, E., AND VOROBIEV, Y. Unimodularity criteria for Poisson structures on foliated manifolds. *Lett. Math. Phys.* 108, 3 (Mar 2018), 861–882.
- [56] RADKO, O. A classification of topologically stable Poisson structures on a compact oriented surface. J. Symplectic Geom. 1, 3 (2002), 523–542.
- [57] ROYTENBERG, D. Courant algebroids, derived brackets and even symplectic supermanifolds. Ph.D. Thesis, New York University. 1993.
- [58] STEFAN, P. Integrability of systems of vector fields. J. London Math. Soc. (2) 21, 3 (1980), 544–556.
- [59] STERNBERG, S. Minimal Coupling and the Symplectic Mechanics of a Classical Particle in the Presence of a Yang-Mills Field. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. 74 (1977), 5253–5254.
- [60] SUSSMANN, H. J. Orbits of families of vector fields and integrability of distributions. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 180 (1973), 171–188.
- [61] VAISMAN, I. Cohomology and Differential Forms. Lecture notes in pure and applied mathematics. M. Dekker, 1973.
- [62] VAISMAN, I. Remarks on the Lichnerowicz-Poisson cohomology. Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 40, 4 (1990), 951–963 (1991).
- [63] VAISMAN, I. On the geometric quantization of Poisson manifolds. J. Math. Phys. 32, 12 (1991), 3339–3345.
- [64] VAISMAN, I. Lectures on the geometry of Poisson manifolds, vol. 118 of Progress in Mathematics. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 1994.

- [65] VAISMAN, I. Coupling Poisson and Jacobi structures on foliated manifolds. Int. J. Geom. Methods Mod. Phys. 1, 5 (2004), 607–637.
- [66] VAISMAN, I. Poisson structures on foliated manifolds. Travaux math. 16 (2005), 139–161.
- [67] VAISMAN, I. Foliation-coupling Dirac structures. J. Geom. Phys. 56, 6 (2006), 917–938.
- [68] VALLEJO, J. A., AND VOROBIEV, Y. Invariant Poisson realizations and the averaging of Dirac structures. SIGMA Symmetry Integrability Geom. Methods Appl. 10 (2014), Paper 096, 20.
- [69] VALLEJO, J. A., AND VOROBIEV, Y. G-invariant deformations of almost-coupling Poisson structures. SIGMA Symmetry Integrability Geom. Methods Appl. 13 (2017), Paper No. 022, 13.
- [70] VELASCO-BARRERAS, E. Bigraded differential operators in Poisson geometry. MS Thesis, Universidad de Sonora. posgrado.mat.uson.mx/tesis/maestria/eduardo_velasco.pdf, 2014.
- [71] VELASCO-BARRERAS, E., AND VOROBIEV, Y. On the splitting of infinitesimal Poisson automorphisms around symplectic leaves. *Diff. Geom. Appl.* 59 (2018), 12 34.
- [72] VOROB'EV, Y. M. On the linearization of Hamiltonian systems on Poisson manifolds. Mat. Zametki 78, 3 (2005), 323–330.
- [73] VOROB'EV, Y. M. The linearizability of Poisson structures on singular symplectic leaves. Mat. Zametki 80, 6 (2006), 825–837.
- [74] VOROB'EV, Y. M., AND KARASËV, M. V. Poisson manifolds and the Schouten bracket. Funktsional. Anal. i Prilozhen. 22, 1 (1988), 1–11, 96.
- [75] VOROB'EV, Y. M., AND KARASËV, M. V. Deformation and cohomologies of Poisson brackets [in topological and geometric methods of analysis (Russian), 75–89, Voronezh. Gos. Univ., Voronezh, 1989; MR1047671 (91g:58098)]. In Global analysis—studies and applications, IV, vol. 1453 of Lecture Notes in Math. Springer, Berlin, 1990, pp. 271–289.
- [76] VOROBIEV, Y. On Poisson realizations of transitive Lie algebroids. J. Nonlinear Math. Phys. 11, suppl. (2004), 43–48.
- [77] VOROBJEV, Y. Coupling tensors and Poisson geometry near a single symplectic leaf. In Lie algebroids and related topics in differential geometry (Warsaw, 2000), R. W. Jan Kubarski, Paweł Urbański, Ed., vol. 54 of Banach Center Publ. Polish Acad. Sci. Inst. Math., Warsaw, 2001, pp. 249–274.
- [78] VOROBJEV, Y. Poisson equivalence over a symplectic leaf. In Quantum algebras and Poisson geometry in mathematical physics, M. V. Karasev, Ed., vol. 216 of Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. Ser. 2. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2005, pp. 241–277.
- [79] ŠEVERA, P., AND WEINSTEIN, A. Poisson geometry with a 3-form background. Progr. Theoret. Phys. Suppl., 144 (2001), 145–154. Noncommutative geometry and string theory (Yokohama, 2001).

- [80] WADE, A. Nambu-Dirac structures for Lie algebroids. Lett. Math. Phys. 61, 2 (2002), 85–99.
- [81] WADE, A. Poisson fiber bundles and coupling Dirac structures. Ann. Global Anal. Geom. 33, 3 (2008), 207–217.
- [82] WEINSTEIN, A. The local structure of Poisson manifolds. J. Differential Geom. 18, 3 (1983), 523–557.
- [83] WEINSTEIN, A. The modular automorphism group of a Poisson manifold. J. Geom. Phys. 23, 3-4 (1997), 379–394.
- [84] XU, P. Poisson cohomology of regular Poisson manifolds. Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 42, 4 (1992), 967–988.